
Page 1 of 3 

 

City Council Meeting and Workshop         

December 15, 2014 

Agenda 
                                    
 
 
                                                                             
 

 

5:30 P.M.  Workshop  

A. Audit Presentation – Jill Eastman (30 minutes) 

B. Norway Savings Bank Arena Management and Financial Update – Tim Holden (60 minutes) 

 

After each workshop item is presented, the public will be given an opportunity to comment. 

         

7:00 P.M.  City Council Meeting 

 

Roll call votes will begin with Councilor Hayes 

 

Pledge of Allegiance   

I. Consent Items – All items listed with an asterisk (*) are considered as routine and will be approved 

in one motion.   There will be no separate discussion of these items unless a Councilor or citizen 

so requests.  If requested, the item will be removed from the consent agenda and considered in the 

order it appears on the agenda.   

 

1. Order 100-12152014* 

Accepting the 2014 Audit. 

 

II.    Minutes  

 November 24, 2014 Special Council Meeting 

 December 1, 2014 Regular Council Meeting 

 

III.   Reports*  

*For trial period, Council agree to shift Reports to the last item on the meeting agenda.  To do so, a motion should 

be made "To suspend the rules and move item III. Reports on the agenda to immediately after item VIII. Executive 

Session".  

 

Mayor’s Report  

             City Councilors’ Reports   

 City Manager Report  

 

            Finance Director, Jill Eastman - November 2014 Monthly Finance Report 

 

IV.    Communications, Presentations and Recognitions   

Communication – Letter from the Sabattus Selectmen to the Androscoggin County Commissioners 

regarding Commissioner compensation.  

 



Au b u r n  C i t y  C o u n c i l  M e e t i n g  &  W o r k s h o p  
 December 15, 2014 

 

Page 2 of 3 

 

V.     Open Session – Members of the public are invited to speak to the Council about any issue directly 

related to City business which is not on this agenda.  Time limit for open sessions, by ordinance, is 45 

minutes.    

                                        

VI.    Unfinished Business  

 

2. Ordinance 10-12012014 

Approving the proposed ordinance amendment in Chapter 2, Article VI, section 2-485 (Council 

action on budget increase). Second reading. 

 

VII.    New Business  

 

3. Order 101-12152014 

 Approving the Special Amusement Permit for Jasmine Café, located at 730 Center Street. 

Public hearing. 

 

4. Order 102-12152014 

 Approving the Hartt Transportation TIF (Tax Increment Financing). Public hearing. 

 

5. Order 103-12152014 

 Approving an Auto Graveyard/Junkyard permit for Morris Auto Parts located on 940 

Washington Street. Public hearing. 

 

VIII. Executive Session 

 Discussion regarding real estate matter, pursuant to 1 M.R.S.A. 405(6)(C) with possible action to 

follow. 

 Discussion regarding labor contracts, pursuant to 1 M.R.S.A. 405(6)(D) with possible public 

presentation and action to follow. 

 

IX.      Open Session - Members of the public are invited to speak to the Council about any issue directly related to 

City business which is not on this agenda. 

 

X. Adjournment 

 
Executive Session:  On occasion, the City Council discusses matters which are required or allowed by State law to be considered 

in executive session.  Executive sessions are not open to the public.  The matters that are discussed in executive session are 

required to be kept confidential until they become a matter of public discussion.  In order to go into executive session, a Councilor 

must make a motion in public.  The motion must be recorded, and 3/5 of the members of the Council must vote to go into 

executive session.  An executive session is not required to be scheduled in advance as an agenda item, although when it is known 

at the time that the agenda is finalized, it will be listed on the agenda. The only topics which may be discussed in executive session 

are those that fall within one of the categories set forth in Title 1 M.R.S.A. Section 405(6).  Those applicable to municipal 

government are: 

A. Discussion of personnel issues 

B. Discussion or consideration by a school board of suspension of expulsion 

C. Discussion or consideration of the condition, acquisition or the use of real or personal property permanently attached to 

real property or interests therein or disposition of publicly held property or economic development only if premature 

disclosures of the information would prejudice the competitive or bargaining position of the body or agency   

D. Labor contracts 



Au b u r n  C i t y  C o u n c i l  M e e t i n g  &  W o r k s h o p  
 December 15, 2014 

 

Page 3 of 3 

 

E. Contemplated litigation 

F. Discussions of information contained in records made, maintained or received by a body or agency when access by the 

general public to those records is prohibited by statute; 

G. Discussion or approval of the content of examinations administered by a body or agency for licensing, permitting or 

employment purposes; consultation between a body or agency and any entity that provides examination services to that 

body or agency regarding the content of an examination; and review of examinations with the person examined; and 

H. Consultations between municipal officers and a code enforcement officer representing the municipality pursuant to Title 

30-A, section 4452, subsection 1, paragraph in the prosecution of an enforcement matter pending in District Court when 

the consultation relates to that pending enforcement matter.  



City Council 

Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

 

  

 
 

 

Subject: Acceptance of the FY14 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) 

 

Information: The FY 14 CAFR is complete and needs to be accepted. 

 

 

 

Advantages: N/A 

 

 

Disadvantages: N/A 

 

 

City Budgetary Impacts: None 

 

 

Staff Recommended Action: Passage 

 

Previous Meetings and History: Presentation by the auditing firm Runyon Kersteen and Ouellette at the 

workshop on 12/15/14. Printed documents were distributed to Council at the December 1, 2014 meeting. 

 

Attachments:  

2014 CAFR (Members of the City Council received copies on 12/1/2014) 

Order 100-12152014 

Council Workshop or Meeting Date: 12/15/14  Order  100-12152014* 

Author:   Jill Eastman, Finance Director 



City of Auburn, Maine  

Comprehensive Annual Financial Report  

For Fiscal Year Ended 
June 30, 2014  

©Chris Bilodeau  www.bilodeauphotography.com  



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE   
Finance Department 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL  
FINANCIAL REPORT 

  
For Fiscal Year Ended  

June 30, 2014 
  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
      

 Prepared By: 
 Finance and Management 

 



This page left blank intentionally. 



 

i 

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
 

COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 
 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2014 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

  Page(s) 
   
INTRODUCTORY SECTION    
   
 Letter of Transmittal   1-11 
 GFOA Certificate of Achievement  13 
 Organizational Chart  15 
 List of Elected and Appointed Officials   16 
    
   
 Statement Page(s) 
   
FINANCIAL SECTION   
   
 Report of Independent Auditors  19-21 
   
 Management’s Discussion and Analysis   23-32 
   
 Basic Financial Statements:   
   
 Government-wide Financial Statements:   
 Statement of Net Position 1 35 
 Statement of Activities 2 36 
   
 Fund Financial Statements:   
 Balance Sheet – Governmental Funds 3 37 
 Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – 
  Governmental Funds 

 
4 

 
38 

 Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes   
 In Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities 5 39 
 Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance –    
 Budget and Actual – General Fund 6 40-42 
                  Statement of Net Position – Proprietary Funds  7 43 
 Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position –    
 Proprietary Funds 8 44 
                  Statement of Cash Flows – Proprietary Funds 9 45 
 Statement of Fiduciary Net Position – Fiduciary Funds 10 46 

  Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position – Fiduciary Funds 11 47 
   
              Notes to the Financial Statements  48-76 
   

Required Supplementary Information – Schedule of Funding Progress of City      
Pension Plan and Retiree Healthcare Plan 

 

  
77 

    
   

 



 

ii 

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
 

COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 
 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2014 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS, Continued 
  

   
 Exhibit Page 
   
 COMBINING AND INDIVIDUAL FUND STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES:   
    
 Combining Balance Sheet – Nonmajor Governmental Funds A-1 81 
   
 Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in   
 Fund Balances – Nonmajor Governmental Funds A-2 82 
   
 Combining Balance Sheet – Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds B-1 83 
   
 Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes   
 In Fund Balances – Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds B-2 84 
   
 Combined Balance Sheet – Nonmajor Permanent Funds C-1 85 
   
 Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes   
 In Fund Balances – Nonmajor Permanent Funds C-2 85 
    
            Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities – Agency Funds D 89 
  
            Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund 

  

 Balances – Tax Increment Financing Fund E 93 
   
   
 Table Page 
   
STATISTICAL SECTION   
   
 Government-wide Information:   
 Net Position by Component  1 99 
   
 Change in Net Position 2 100-101 
   
 Fund Information:   
 Fund Balances 3 102 
   
 Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 4 103-104 
    

 
 

 
 



 

iii 

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
 

COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 
 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2014 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS, Continued 
 
 Table Page 
   
 Assessed Value to Actual Value of Taxable Property  5 105 
    
 Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates 6 106 
   
 Principal Property Taxpayers 7 107 
   
 Property Tax Levies and Collections 8 108 
   
 Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type 9 109 
   
 Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding 10 110 
   
 Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt 11 111 
   

Legal Debt Management 12 112 
     
 Demographic and Economic Statistics 13 113 
   
 Principal Non-Governmental Employers 14 114 
   
 Number of Employees 15 115 
   
 Demand for Level of Service 16 116 
   
 Capital Assets Statistics – Net Book Value 17 117 



 

 

This page left blank intentionally.



 

 

INTRODUCTORY SECTION 



This page left blank intentionally. 



City of Auburn, Maine 
“Maine’s City of Opportunity” 

___________________________      ______ 
Financial Services 

 

60 Court Street • Suite 411 • Auburn, ME 04210 
(207) 333-6600 Voice • (207) 333-6601 Automated • (207) 333-6620 Fax 

www.auburnmaine.org 
 

1 

 
 
November 24, 2014 
 
Honorable Mayor Labonte and 
   Members of the City Council 
Auburn, Maine 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen:  
 
The comprehensive annual financial report of the City of Auburn, Maine for the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2014, is hereby submitted in accordance with the requirements of both our City Charter and State 
statutes. The Charter and statutes require that the City issue an annual report of its financial position and 
activity, and that this report be audited by an independent firm of certified public accountants. This is the 
twelfth year that the City’s Financial Services Department has prepared this report using the reporting 
requirements prescribed by Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 34. 
Responsibility for both the accuracy of the data presented, and the completeness and fairness of the 
presentation including all disclosures, rests with the City. To the best of our knowledge and belief, the 
enclosed data is accurate in all material respects and is reported in a manner that presents fairly the 
financial position and results of operations of the City of Auburn on a government-wide and fund basis. 
All disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain the maximum understanding of the City’s activities 
have been included. 
 
The City is required to undergo an annual single audit in conformity with the provisions of the Single Audit 
Act of 1984, and the U.S. Office of Management and Budget’s Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local 
Governments and Non-Profit Organizations. The “Single Audit” is designed to meet the special needs of 
federal grantor agencies. The standards governing Single Audit engagements require the independent 
auditor to report not only on the fair presentation of the financial statements, but also on the internal 
controls and compliance with legal requirements, with special emphasis on internal controls and legal 
requirements involving the administration of federal awards. Information related to this single audit, 
including a schedule of federal awards, findings, recommendations and the independent auditor’s report 
on compliance for each major program and on internal control over compliance, are included in a 
separately issued single audit report. 

 
Accounting Principles Generally Accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) require that 
management provide a narrative introduction, overview and analysis to accompany the basic financial 
statements in the form of Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). This letter of transmittal is 
designed to complement MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it. The City’s MD&A can be found 
immediately following the report of the independent auditors. 

 
 
 

http://www.auburnmaine.org/


 

2 

Governmental Structure 
 
The City of Auburn, incorporated in 1869, is located on the west bank of the Androscoggin River, in the 
south central section of the State and is the fourth largest City in the State of Maine. The City of Auburn 
continues to be a key area within the State in which industrial and commercial companies are investing. 
Auburn has a land area of 64 square miles and a population of 23,602. The City is empowered to levy a 
property tax on both real and personal property located within its boundaries. 
 
The City operates under the council-manager form of government. Policy-making and legislative authority 
are vested in the City Council, which consists of a mayor and a seven-member council. The Council is 
elected on a non-partisan basis. The mayor and council members are elected to two-year terms. Five of 
the council members are elected from within their respective districts. The mayor and the two remaining 
council members are elected at large. The City Council is responsible for, among other things, passing 
ordinances, adopting the budget, appointing committees and hiring the City Manager. The City Manager 
is responsible for carrying out the policies and ordinances of the City Council, for overseeing the day-to-
day operations of the City, and for appointing the heads of the City’s departments. 
 
The City of Auburn provides a full range of services, including police and fire protection, sanitation 
services, the construction and maintenance of highways, streets and infrastructure, solid waste collection, 
public education, health and social welfare, recreation, general administration and economic 
development. 
 

Major Initiatives during Fiscal Year 2014 
 
Economic Development   
 
The City works continually to improve the economic development climate in Auburn in an effort to attract 
new and retain existing quality jobs, expand the City’s tax base and offer a quality of life that people 
desire. Although impacted, similar to every other community, by the economic downturn; Auburn has 
continued to experience a slow and steady recovery with our local unemployment rate reflecting a 
stronger position than either the State of Maine or the United States. 
 
The City has a three-prong approach to economic development to ensure that we continue the 
diversification of our tax base and the balanced development of our community by encouraging growth in 
all sectors. Auburn’s efforts are focused in three areas: 1) development of industrial parks, 2) the 
downtown and 3) the mall area. Significant progress was made in all three areas. 
 
The City, in partnership with Auburn Business Development Corporation (a private, nonprofit 
development corporation), is moving forward on the City’s newest industrial park. All permitting is 
completed and infrastructure improvements have begun. This development includes 174 acres and is 
located near the Auburn-Lewiston Municipal Airport and the intermodal facility. 
 
The City hired a new assistant to the Economic Development Director, whose primary focus is the 
downtown. He has begun the process of developing citizen involvement by conducting walking tours of 
the downtown and various discussion groups around downtown development. 
 
The commercial-service center of Auburn has seen significant new investment. In November, a new 
73,000 square foot dual sheet ice arena was opened that replaces Ingersoll Arena. A private developer 
donated the land to the City and built the arena, which the City is leasing until such time they decide to 
purchase. This development has sparked new interest in the Mall area by many entities. The new arena 
opened November 15, 2013. Ingersoll Arena will be undergoing a repurposing and will become an indoor 
turf facility that can be used for various sports teams to practice in inclement weather. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

3 

Financial Management 
 
The City is committed to ensuring sound financial management of the public’s funds. This includes a five 
year Financial Plan, a five year Capital Improvement Plan, maintaining a sufficient fund balance, and 
adhering to the highest management standards.  The City Council adopted a Fund Balance Policy in 
2004 and updated it in 2011, to provide on-going guidance to elected officials to strengthen the fund 
balance.  City employees perform their daily work with guidance from these plans and policies. The City 
met and exceeded its fund balance goal in fiscal year 2014.  
 
Capital Improvements and Debt Service 
 
The City maintains an ongoing five year Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) that serves as a tool for the 
Mayor and City Council to make strategic investments in the community. In fiscal year 2014, the Capital 
Improvement budget included $2.935 million to fund street, sidewalk, infrastructure and drainage 
improvements; $1.5 million to fund School Department capital projects and $1.365 million for building 
improvements and equipment replacements.  The City of Auburn maintains an “AA-” rating from Standard 
& Poor’s and an Aa3 rating from Moody’s for the City’s general obligation debt.  
 
Education 
 
One of the hallmarks of a great community is an excellent public school system. Schools are one of 
several determining factors businesses and parents consider when deciding whether to locate in a city. 
With their vision of empowering life-long learners to succeed in a world yet imagined, the Auburn School 
Department works diligently to offer an educational program from Pre-K to grade 12 that ensures the 
success of every student and community learner. We have long been recognized for numerous individual 
and district-wide accomplishments. 
 
Educational Excellence  
Auburn School Department adopted Vision 2020 in 2010, which has been the document that leads the 
direction of the School Department.  To support the implementation of Vision 2020, the department 
recognizes the importance of Customized Learning, as a foundational piece of the work. Customized 
Learning honors the principles that students learn in different ways and in different timeframes.  It strives 
to create a system where students are receiving the instruction they are ready for and are held to 
proficiency on learning targets before moving to the next learning.  At this point in time, all levels of the 
system are somewhere along the path to full implementation of customized learning. 
 
Auburn's K-3, 7-8 and 9-12 students are provided with an iPad. The iPad is an essential tool for learning 
as it provides students the opportunity to practice skills, problem-solve, communicate ideas, be creative 
and much more. The use of technology is essential to our students developing 21st century knowledge 
and skills that will allow them to be successful in a world yet imagined.  
 
Auburn's staff is provided ongoing customized professional development aimed at refining their 
implementation of a workshop model of instruction in literacy and math.  This approach helps them best 
meet the needs of all students in their classrooms. It is important that our staff know how to use student 
data to inform their instruction and to make adjustments accordingly to meet the needs of all students. It 
is as important to provide interventions for students who are not proficient in meeting identified standards 
as it is to provide those students meeting proficiency levels with an opportunity to move forward in their 
learning.  
 
This year, Auburn will be writing its strategic design to articulate measurable steps toward reaching 
Vision 2020 with community feedback. The strategic design document will be meant as a guide, which is 
flexible and responsive to needs of the District. 
 
All the work at the various levels is showing great promise.  As Auburn continues down the road toward a 
new educational system, community education and participation will be key.  The District is making an 
intentional effort to keep the community well informed and to involve individual community members in a 
variety of ongoing efforts aimed to support the move to Customized Learning and our Vision 2020. 



 

4 

Leveraging Learning Institute 
Auburn Schools hosted its third annual Leveraging Learning Institute November 13-15, 2013. 
Approximately 130 participants, mostly from across Maine, but also from North Carolina, New York, 
Pennsylvania, and Massachusetts, descended on the Hilton Garden Inn Riverwatch to explore lessons 
learned from Auburn's first-in-the-country iPads in primary grades initiative. Many of session were led by 
Auburn School Department's own teachers and administrators and included topics in four strands: 
Leadership and Professional Development; Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment; Data and 
Research; and Technical Project Management. Featured speakers included Yellow Light Breen, 
Executive Vice President and Chief Strategic Officer at Bangor Savings Bank, and Dr. Bill Rankin, 
Director of Learning at Apple Inc. 
 
School Building Infrastructure and Fleet Improvements  
The School Department continued its work to improve the quality of the City’s school facilities 
infrastructure. The facilities are property of the City and the School Department is steward and maintains 
the City facilities. The School Department’s facilities have a total replacement value of $95,030,315; 
thereby, the School Department’s Capital Improvement needs for Fy14 were submitted for review and 
recommendation to the City Council at $3,450,645, which represents 3.6% of capital asset values.  The 
City Councilors approved and authorized $1,500,000 in CIP Bond issuance for the School Department in 
their August 2013 Bond Issuance. This is a capital asset renewal of 1.5% of replacement value into 
school facilities infrastructure.         
                
The School Department also submitted to the State Department of Education for the State Revolving 
Renovation Loan Program three Priority#1 projects that received approval and funding via Maine 
Municipal Bond Bank.  The approved amount was $384,760, of which 55% of the loan is forgiven and the 
remaining amount is repaid at 0% over 5 years. 
 
The following projects were executed in Fy14 with final project acceptance by September 2014: 
 

Location Project Description 

Edward Little High School 

Asbestos Floor Tiles Replacement [Phase II] 
Library Carpet Replacement 
Boiler Conversion to Natural Gas 
Security Surveillance Equipment & Control Door Access 
Underground Oil Tank Removal 
Tennis Court Repair & Resurface-Phase II 
Visual & Performing Arts Equipment 
Security Access Card Photo/Printer 

Franklin Alternative School New Ventilation System 
Asbestos Removal – last phase 

Walton School 

New Shingled Roof 
New LED Parking Lot Lighting 
Control Door Access 
Underground Oil Tank Removal 
New Catch Basins, Parking Lot Paving and Striping 
New Exterior Security Lighting  
New Stage Curtains 

Auburn Middle School 

Skylight Replacements 
Drainage, Parking Lot Paving & Striping  
Underground Oil Tank Removal 
Security Surveillance Equipment & Control Door Access 
Cafeteria Windows Replacement 

 
Fairview School 

Asbestos Floor Tile Replacement [Phase III] 
Control Door Access 
Underground Oil Tank Removal 
Cafeteria Tables Replacement 



 

5 

Washburn School Underground Oil Tank Removal 
Park Avenue School Control Door Access 

Industry Ave 
Replacement #2 fuel boilers to Natural Gas [Phase1} 
Replace old propane bus fueling system with upgrade 
w/increase fuel output 

 

We continued to implement the Verification and Measurement of the final phase of our Performance 
Contract with Siemens Technology. The Year-5 Savings Report of 2014 is an important measure to 
solidify that the anticipated savings have been realized.  The Verification and Measurement Year-4 
Savings Report was conducted and analysis revealed that the Siemens guaranteed annual savings of 
$221,057 was not only met, but in fact a savings of $428,883 was realized. The savings is $207,826 
greater than originally projected. Approximately 35% of the annual savings can be attributed to our 
energy conversion to natural gas from #2 fuel on nine school facilities. The energy savings each fiscal 
year is used to reimburse Siemens Technology for the energy efficiency projects conducted five years 
ago.  Siemens has guaranteed the savings; thus, if the savings are not realized, Siemens will reimburse 
the School Department the difference.  The Annual Savings Reports will continue into the distant future 
to insure that savings are generated per agreement. Over the last five fiscal years, we have saved a total 
of $1,560,516 in energy costs. 
 
The School Department continues the replacement of older school buses, with the assistance of the 
State Department of Education Bus Purchase/Replacement program.  We were fortunate to receive Fy13 
DOE approval for the replacement in Fy14 budget of one new school bus, which replaces a 2001 
International school bus with type C and regular 77-passenger. The DOE Bus Purchase/Replacement 
program requires that the school bus be eligible for replacement when they reach ten-years-old and have 
in excess of 125,000 miles. The DOE Bus Purchase/Replacement program schedule allows the Auburn 
School Department to maintain a bus fleet in conformance with the State DOE replacement guidelines 
and a fleet that this community can be proud of. The reimbursement from DOE is a direct allocation that 
is provided one year after the purchase; therefore, it behooves us to participate in the Bus 
Purchase/Replacement program and upgrade our bus fleet with State DOE funding assistance.  
 
As we continue to explore alternative energy fuel, our Fy14 bus purchases included a propane-fired 
engine. These propane engines have better gas mileage and lower maintenance costs.  The added cost 
to install a propane engine is $7,200 per bus. After deducting the added cost of converting from diesel to 
propane, and taking into account the life expectancy of propane buses, we will generate a savings of 
$42,800 per school bus, a projected annual savings of $5,000 per school bus, at minimum, and 
representing a payback in 1.44 years.  It is our intention to move the Auburn School Department bus fleet 
from diesel to propane over the course of 8 years, contingent of replacing two new buses each year; that 
is subject to State DOE approval. We currently have six school buses that operate on propane-fired 
engines. Aside from producing an annual savings, we are lessening our greenhouse gas emissions into 
the atmosphere.    
 
 

School Messenger [Continuation from previous year] 
 
Our grant collaboration with the Lewiston School Department has awarded a $5 million dollar grant that 
is specific to School Safety. This five-year grant and last year of said grant continues to afford us the 
ability to submit competitive grants relative to School Safety.  During Fy14, we were successful in 
submitting school security projects for Safe Schools grants that received awards for the implementation 
of School Messenger.  Our School Messenger is a fully integrated software that affords Auburn School 
Department the ability to alert law enforcement officials, staff, and parents with emergency notifications. 
Alert notifications are transmitted via landlines, mobile phones, or email addresses and are also multi-
dimensional; whereby information can be disseminated simultaneously using multiple mediums.  The 
cost for 6 years of alert notification, software, licensing and training, is $40,291.  During the last year of 
Safe Schools grant, our School Messenger was acknowledged by Federal Grantee, as an important tool 
in alerting law enforcement officials, community and staff of pending emergencies, whereby we received 
an additional two years toward the alert notification, software, licensing and training.  An overall value 
savings of $20,145 for 5 years. 



 

6 

Grant Office  
The Auburn School Department was awarded directly or through joint applications 44 grants in Fiscal 
Year 2013-14 for a total of $631,697. 

Federal   3 
State of Maine 15  
Foundation 25 
Donation   1   

Although the following grants do not have a monetary value attached to them, they have provided 
exceptional opportunities to our students and staff including: 

• Erin Towns, Edward Little High School (ELHS), was awarded a Fulbright-Hays Summer Seminar 
Abroad Fellowship. Erin traveled throughout China for a month learning about Chinese history, 
the economy, society and art.  She brought this knowledge to life for her students in the 
classroom. 

• Challenge 20/20 is an Internet-based program sponsored by the National Association of 
Independent Schools which pairs classes from schools in the U.S. with their counterpart classes 
in schools from other countries; together, the teams (of two or three schools) find local 
solutions to one of 20 global problems. ELHS was assigned the global problem of global 
infectious diseases and partnered with schools in New Jersey and South Africa.   

• A group of ELHS students and their teachers are participating in a grant received by UMO. The 
Engineering Innovative Solutions to Storm Water Problems Through Diverse Community 
Participation Project empowers female and minority high school students and their teachers and 
communities, to create innovative local solutions to a pervasive environmental problem: storm 
water. Students and a teacher attended a 5-day Summer Storm Water Institute at UMO. They are 
now working with the Auburn Water Department collecting data and water samples that are sent 
to UMO every other month for analysis.  High school teachers will be trained in the area of storm 
water, sensor technology, environmental science, and data management. The project will provide 
permanent lab equipment to the high school, e.g. spectrophotometers and water quality sensor 
packages. 
 

Several teachers throughout the District obtained funding for their projects through DonorsChoose, an 
on-line charity, which connects classrooms in need with prospective donors. Teachers received supplies, 
instruments, books, and materials. An example of one of the projects funded follows: 

Students tutored their peers after school at Auburn Middle School.  They used white boards to 
practice math facts and spelling words and demonstrate concepts. 

Highlights of grants received during 2013-14 are: 
 

After School Academic Support and Enrichment 
 
21st Century Community Learning Centers 
Auburn has one of the longest-running 21st Century Community Learning Center (CLC) programs in 
Maine.  Continuously funded exclusively by grants and program revenues since 1999, CLC programs 
served 689 students in the 2013-14 school year and summer of 2013. Students in eight Auburn schools 
had the opportunity to extend their learning; develop new skills and interests; establish positive 
relationships with caring adults and their peers; and become involved in service to their school and 
community.   
 
CLC Continuation Grant, Year 1  
The first year of this three-year continuation grant award from Maine’s Department of Education’s 21st 
Century Community Learning Center program benefited students in grades 4-8, through after-school 
programs at Auburn Middle, Sherwood Heights, and Walton Schools.  Students from Merrill Hill attended 
a tutoring extension of the AMS program. Eighty percent of the 322 students served were academically 
low performing, 66% were low-income students, 23% qualified for special services, and 7% were English 
Language Learners.  
 



 

7 

After school programs were maintained four days a week at Auburn Middle and Sherwood Heights 
Schools and three days a week at Walton School.  School-day teachers and educational technicians 
staffed the program; thirteen community volunteers aided weekly or for special events, including six 
students from Bates College who tutored at the middle school and two high school students who helped 
with the LEGO Robotics program at the middle school.  A variety of student-centered programming, 
including academic skill supplements, homework help, technology enrichment, wellness/recreation, arts, 
and community service was delivered at each site.  At Sherwood Heights, students also received high-
quality language and cultural enrichment through a partnership with the Maine French Heritage 
Language Program. Teachers reported consistent improvement in classroom performance and 
homework completion for a majority of participating students.  Student surveys showed a high level of 
connection to adults in the program, increased levels of activity, and a sense of belonging—all-important 
developmental assets for the elementary and middle years. 
 
CLC District Grant, Year 5   
The fifth year of this five-year grant award from Maine’s Department of Education benefited students in 
grades 3-6 at Park Avenue and Washburn Schools and grades 9-12 at Edward Little High School.  
Students from Franklin Alternative School accessed services at Edward Little. Seventy-eight percent of 
the 367 students served were academically low performing, 60% were low-income students, 19% 
qualified for special services, and 18% were English Language Learners. Programs at the elementary 
level focused on reading/literacy, math, arts, health/wellness and community service. High School 
students in grades 11 & 12 focused on meeting graduation requirements with ELPM, a credit recovery 
program. With the help of credit recovery, 60 students graduated between July 1, 2013 and June 30, 
2014 and 175 academic half-credits were earned.  EL Connect, a program serving students in grades 9 
& 10, worked with students on study skills, aspirations, community building, credit recovery, and 
homework completion. Both high school programs focused on mentoring, raising student aspirations, and 
post-secondary planning, in addition to achieving academic success in high school. 
 
While this grant ends this year, we wrote a successful application for continuation funding.  The program 
will be funded for an additional three years, serving grades 3-6 at Park Avenue and Washburn Schools 
and grades 9-12 at Edward Little High School starting in July 2014. 
 
After school programs at six Auburn Schools have each received a $500 mini-grant from Healthy 
Androscoggin through the Let's Go! After School Enhancement Program.  Auburn Middle, Edward Little 
High, Park Avenue, Sherwood, Walton and Washburn Schools received this funding to purchase 
equipment and supplies that promote healthy eating and active living.  Programs are engaging students 
in helping to choose items for purchase in the fall of 2014 so that they will be well used after school for 
this coming year and beyond. 
 
Prevention & Treatment Programs 
The Student Intervention and Reintegration Program (SIRP) targets ELHS and Franklin Alternative at-
risk youth between the ages of 15-18 who experiment with drugs and/or alcohol but do not qualify for 
treatment. The program’s focus is to make healthy decisions and reduce risk for problems. SIRP has 
been funded by grants from the State of Maine Department of Human Services for five years. This year 
the district is working collaboratively with Healthy Androscoggin (HA) to implement the SIRP program as 
well as a community marijuana prevention program. The programs are funded through a federal grant 
from the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) and were awarded to 
HA.   
 
College Access 
The MELMAC Foundation awarded a multi-year grant, Connecting Aspirations to a Plan, to support 
college access at Edward Little High School. The grant aids ELHS in increasing their rate of post-
secondary enrollment and broadens the range of post secondary experiences through one-on-one 
mentoring, college visits, and other initiatives. 
 
 
 



 

8 

FAME awarded a college access grant to provide services to at-risk students at ELHS and Franklin. A 
coordinator and mentors provided individualized support to students and their families, assisting with the 
college admission/financial aid processes, helping complete FAFSAs, coordinating small group or 
individual campus visits, and maintaining ongoing contact with students. 
 
Literacy 
An annual award from the L/A Fund allows students to integrate technology and art with writing by 
creating an original book in accordance with publication guidelines. The books are then judged and the 
winning entry is “published”. The entire program culminates with a book-signing event at the local library. 
 
The Barbara Bush Foundation has funded the Teen Trendsetters Program which pairs teens at ELHS 
with 3rd grade students at Park Ave and Washburn that are about 6 months behind in reading. The teens 
are matched with their younger buddies and read to them at least one hour a week during the school 
year. Parents of the younger children agree to read to the child at home to reinforce skills. Younger 
children receive 15 take home books each year to encourage reading. In addition, the foundation 
provides curriculum, supplemental materials and professional development for teens and their advisors. 
The program typically sees about a year’s growth in elementary students skills. 
 
Science Grants 
The Maine Math & Science Alliance (MMSA) was awarded a three- year grant from the Maine 
Department of Education to work with 16 teachers in grades K-8 to integrate science, engineering and 
mathematics concepts and practices by engaging in design challenges. The district is participating in 
year two of the grant which provides professional development, access to online resources and experts 
in the engineering fields, networking with other schools sharing strategies and effective instructional 
approaches, and the development of exemplars of student work in engineering. 
 
The American Chemical Society (ACS) funded Chemistry Through Agriculture to engage non-traditional 
students at ELHS in an in-depth study of hydroponics. Students will create and maintain a hydroponics 
system in the school’s greenhouse. Hydroponics is one of the fastest growing sectors of agriculture and 
is a cohesive pairing of chemistry and real world application. 
 
Ninety students at EL will participate in living classroom experiences, which will provide them with a solid 
foundation in sustainable agriculture practices and gain an awareness of career/jobs in the agriculture 
field.  Students will leave the traditional classroom often and demonstrate mastery of chemical standards 
through hands-on activities at the Auburn Land Lab, in the EL greenhouse, at the EL orchard and at local 
farms. Maine Agriculture In the Classroom funded the grant. 
 
The Lewiston Auburn Children’s Foundation funded the Garden Buddies program. ELHS students 
helped younger students at Park Avenue to plan and design a garden, plant the garden and teach the 
students about the importance of agriculture and growing their own food. 
 
Auburn Middle School (AMS) expanded their gardens and added more beds as well as a pallet garden 
for strawberries. A special education teacher and two science teachers headed the garden project. Some 
of the topics covered included; soil testing, sustainable agriculture, container gardening, carbon cycles, 
ecosystems and acid rain. Kitchen Gardeners International supported the project through its Sow It 
Forward grant. 
 
Field Experiences  
The Maine Arts Commission funded several field experiences for students through its Ticket to Ride 
grants.  

• Two fourth grade social study classes at Walton went to the Maine State Museum. The trip 
brought history to life for these learners as they made arrowheads and relief rubbings as people 
did many years ago.  

• Two teachers at Walton School took their classes to Old Fort Western. They participated in the 
educational program: 300 Years of Maine History: 1698-1919. Hands-on learning occurred at 
various locations at the site, including the dock, trading post, store, fort, and house 



 

9 

• The 2nd and 3rd grade team at Walton School went to the Public Theater to see a live puppet 
theatre performance of “The Princess and the Pea”. 

• ELL students at the high school went to the Telling Room to write their stories in a memoir that 
was put into a book and a blog. 

• Team Bradbury at AMS went to Bates Olin Arts Center as part of the 1000 Word Project. 
• Students at AMS also visited the Bates College Museum of Art 

The Maine Engineering Promotional Council funded a trip to the 2014 Engineering Expo at Orono. 
Students at Park Ave attended and participated in hands-on learning activities.  Students at AMS visited 
the Challenger Learning Center where they participated in simulated space missions, observed the orbit 
of a comet and problem solved to identify space matter.  The trip was funded through a grant from Wal-
Mart. 
 
Health and Physical Fitness Grants  
A multi-year grant awarded to Community Clinical Services from the Maine Department of Health and 
Human Services and support from St. Mary’s Regional Medical Center provides primary care, preventive 
dental services, and mental health services to students at ELHS and AMS at our School-based Health 
Centers.  The school-based health centers focus on promoting healthy lifestyles and indentifying illness 
early to help prevent more serious illness later on. 
 
Through the State of Maine’s “Fresh Fruits and Vegetables” grant program, Park Avenue, Washburn, 
Sherwood Heights and Walton Schools received fresh produce for its students. This program provides 
daily healthy snacks to students, giving them the necessary vitamins and minerals, which they need to 
maximize their learning.  
 
A weight room at AMS was created where students feel comfortable, motivated, and exercise so they 
learn proper form at a young age.  The key is to get students engaged in enjoyable activities, get their 
bodies moving and teach them activities they can participate in for the rest of their lives.  The grant was 
funded by Lowe’s Toolbox for Education Fund. 
 
Walton's Discovery Spaces will be an engaging natural outdoor learning and recreation site that 
challenges and stimulates children while teaching them about the natural world.  The site is designed 
around a river theme and includes areas such as “Rainbow Rapids”, “Reading Island” and the “SS 
Walton” (a wooden boat-shape structure). There are play spaces to climb on and areas to engage in 
dramatic play and create language rich experiences. Discovery Spaces is funded through a Community 
Development Block Grant. 
 
AMS students will set goals around their heart rates, record on a chart and regularly assess how they are 
doing. Students are able to measure if they are performing to their best ability and can work to improve 
their heart rate.  The Lewiston and Auburn Children’s Foundation awarded a grant to fund this project. 
 
Other Grant /Awards 
The Lewiston and Auburn Children’s Foundation provided funds for the following: 

• an iPad for support staff in the Guidance Office at ELHS to communicate with students, parents, 
and colleges 

• a portable amplification system in a classroom at Sherwood Heights enabled students with 
auditory disorders to hear clearly and consistently and enhance their ability to hear instruction 
and learn. 

• a camera to take photos of sporting events, activities, dances and award ceremonies for the AMS 
year book 

• an introductory welding course at New England School of Metalworks for at-risk students at ELHS 
• a bridge at AMS so students can access their outdoor classroom more easily 

The Wal-Mart Foundation upgraded/replaced kitchen equipment at RETC/SOS in order for Deali’s (a 
student run business that provides lunches to staff throughout the district and City Hall) to operate more 
efficiently. 

Private donor funds enabled the Music Department at AMS to purchase a cello. 



 

10 

Looking Ahead:  Fiscal Year 2015 Goals 
 
The City of Auburn worked with the City of Lewiston and the Lewiston Auburn Economic Growth Council 
(LAEGC) to redefine what services both cities wanted to receive and the future direction they wanted for 
LAEGC. A new director has been hired to run LAEGC and implement the plan that was drafted by the 
joint City Councils. Auburn will continue to work on downtown redevelopment, marketing the new 
industrial park and the mall area. 
 
The City Manager and Department Directors will continue working to improve the Capital Improvement 
Program, by providing a ten-year projection of needed improvements with greater detail on projects to 
help the City Council set priorities. The City Manager and Finance Director will be working with the City’s 
financial advisor on a Debt Management Policy. 
 
The City Manager and staff will be working to improve the budgeting process by relating budget 
objectives to the goals of the City Council and continuing to improve the program, performance based 
budgeting that was begun with the Fy15  budget process. 
 
Financial Information 

 
The City’s Financial Services Department is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal 
control structure designed to ensure that the assets of the City are protected from loss, theft, or misuse 
and to ensure that adequate accounting data is compiled to allow for the preparation of financial 
statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
The internal control structure being used is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance 
that these objectives are met. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that the costs of control 
procedures are weighed against the expected benefits to be derived, and that the evaluation of costs and 
benefits requires educated estimates and professional judgments by management. All of the City’s 
internal accounting control evaluations occur within this framework. 

 
As a recipient of federal, state and local financial assistance, the City is also responsible for ensuring that 
adequate internal controls are in place to ensure and document compliance with applicable laws and 
regulations related to these programs. This internal control structure is subject to periodic evaluation by 
management and the finance department staff of the City. 

 
The City adopts fiscal year budgets that are established in accordance with the various laws that govern 
the City’s operations as authorized by the Council. The budget is divided into monthly budget allocations 
based on expenditure expectations and on historical trends, whenever possible. These allocations are 
reviewed monthly against actual expenditures, and variances are addressed in the financial report 
presented each month to the Council. At mid-year, unless conditions dictate an earlier need, budgets are 
reviewed; year-end projections made, and adjustments to the financial plan considered and any 
necessary changes are legally adopted through the passage of an appropriation and revenue resolve.  
 

Other Information 
 

Independent Audit   
 
State Statute and the City Charter require an annual audit of all financial records by independent certified 
public accountants. The audit of fiscal year 2014 was performed for the City Council by the firm of 
Runyon Kersteen Ouellette, PA, a firm of licensed Certified Public Accountants. The goal of the 
independent audit was to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements of the City of 
Auburn, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014, are free of material misstatement. The independent 
audit involved examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements; assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management; and evaluation of the overall financial statement presentation. The independent auditor 
concluded, based upon the audit, that there was a reasonable basis for rendering an unmodified opinion 
that the City of Auburn’s financial statements for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2014, are fairly 
presented in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 



 

11 

The independent auditor’s report is presented as the first component of the financial section of this report. 
In addition to meeting the requirements set forth in state statutes, the audit was also designed to meet 
the requirements of the federal Single Audit Act of 1984 and the related U.S. Office of Management and 
Budget’s Circular A-133. Auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards set forth in the General Accounting Office’s Government Auditing Standards were used by the 
auditors in conducting the engagement. The auditors’ reports on internal controls and compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations can be found in a separately issued single audit report. 
 
Awards   
 
The Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of Achievement for 
Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City for its comprehensive annual financial report for the year 
ended June 30, 2013. This was the twenty first consecutive year that the City received this prestigious 
award. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, the City published an easily readable and 
efficiently organized comprehensive annual financial report. This report satisfied both accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America and applicable legal requirements. 

 
A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe that our current 
comprehensive annual financial report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s 
requirements and are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate. 
 
Acknowledgments   
 
This report is the result of many hours of dedicated work by Gina Klemanski, Jill Cunningham and Nancy 
Bosse in the Financial Services Department. I am also pleased to acknowledge the services and 
assistance of independent auditors, Runyon Kersteen Ouellette, in the preparation and production of this 
report.  

 
Sincerely, 

 
Jill M Eastman 
Finance Director 
 



This page left blank intentionally. 



 

 

 

 

ORGANIZATIONAL CHART 

2014 

15 



 

16 

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
 

LIST OF ELECTED AND APPOINTED OFFICIALS 
 

June 30, 2014 
 

Elected Officials 
 

Mayor Jonathan P. Labonte 
Council Member – Ward 1 Tizz E. Crowley 
Council Member – Ward 2 Robert P. Hayes 
Council Member – Ward 3 Mary Kozicki Lafontaine 
Council Member – Ward 4 Adam Lee 
Council Member – Ward 5 Leroy G. Walker 
Council Member – At Large Belinda Gerry 
Council Member – At Large David C. Young 
School Committee – Chair, Ward 4 Tracey Levesque 
School Committee – Vice Chair, Ward 5 Larry Pelletier 
School Committee – Ward 1 Vacant 
School Committee – Ward 2 Bonnie J. Hayes 
School Committee – Ward 3 Thomas Kendall 
School Committee – At Large Ron Potvin 
School Committee – At Large Laurie Tannenbaum 
School Committee – Mayor’s Representative Mary LaFontaine 
 

Appointed Officials 
 

City Manager Clinton E. Deschene 
            Finance Director Jill M. Eastman 

School Superintendent Katherine Grondin 
School Business Manager Jude Cyr 
City Clerk Susan Clements-Dallaire 
Tax Collector Nancy Bosse 
Assessor Karen Scammon 
Fire Chief Frank Roma 
Human Resources Director Deborah Grimmig 
Police Chief Phil Crowell 
Public Works Director Denis D’Auteuil 
Parks & Recreation Director Ravi Sharma 
Health & Social Services Director Dorothy Meagher 

 
 



 

 

FINANCIAL SECTION 
 



This page left blank intentionally. 



 
 

19 
 

Certified Public Accountants and Business Consultants 

 
 

Report of Independent Auditors 
 
 
 

City Council 
City of Auburn, Maine: 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the 
City of Auburn, Maine as of and for the year ended June 30, 2014, and the related notes to the 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in 
the table of contents.   
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this 
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinions.   



 

20 

City Council 
City of Auburn, Maine 
 
 
Opinions 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each 
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Auburn, Maine, as of 
June 30, 2014, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash 
flows thereof and the budgetary comparison for the General Fund for the year then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management’s discussion and analysis and the schedule of funding progress of city pension 
plan and retiree healthcare plan as listed in the table of contents be presented to supplement 
the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to 
be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an 
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited 
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management 
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency 
with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an 
opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not 
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.  
 
Other Information 
  
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the City of Auburn, Maine’s basic financial statements.  The introductory 
section, combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements and statistical section are 
presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the financial 
statements.   
 
The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements are the responsibility of 
management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the basic financial statements.  Such information has been subjected to 
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain 
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the 
basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the 
combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements are fairly stated in all material 
respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
 
 



 

21 

City Council 
City of Auburn, Maine 
 
The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an 
opinion or provide any assurance on them. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
November 24, 2014, on our consideration of the City of Auburn, Maine’s internal control over 
financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.  The purpose of that report is to describe 
the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial 
reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance 
with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City of Auburn, Maine’s internal control 
over financial reporting and compliance. 
 

 
 
 
November 24, 2014 
South Portland, Maine 
 
 
 
 
 
 



This page left blank intentionally. 



 

23 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2014 

 
As management of the City of Auburn, Maine, we offer this narrative overview and analysis of the 
financial activities of the City of Auburn, Maine for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014.  We encourage 
readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with additional information that we 
have furnished in our letter of transmittal to this report.   
 
Financial Highlights 
 
• The assets of the City of Auburn exceeded its liabilities at the close of the most recent fiscal year by 

$84,522,677 (net position).  
• The City of Auburn’s total net position decreased by $1,156,491. This decrease is a direct result of: 

$6 million reduction in cash and cash equivalents; $1 million reduction in receivables offset by a $7.7 
million investment in infrastructure and equipment. Although most of the capital investment was 
funded with general obligation bonds, repayments more than offset new proceeds, which resulted in 
a decrease in overall indebtedness by $2.7 million. 

• As of the end of the current fiscal year, the City of Auburn’s governmental funds reported combined 
ending fund balances of $23,993,400, a decrease of $4,669,566 in comparison with the prior year.   

• At the end of the current fiscal year, total assigned and unassigned fund balance for the General 
Fund was $9,464,102, or 13.6% of total General Fund expenditures (on a budgetary basis). 

• The City of Auburn issued bonds totaling $5,625,000 for its Capital Improvement Plan during the 
current fiscal year.  The new issue included $3.565 million to fund street, sidewalk, infrastructure and 
drainage improvements; $1.455 million to fund School Department facilities and $605 thousand for 
building improvements and equipment replacements. 
 

Overview of the Financial Statements 
  
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City of Auburn’s basic financial 
statements.  The City of Auburn’s basic financial statements are comprised of three components:  1) 
government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial 
statements.  This report also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial 
statements themselves. 

 
Government-wide financial statements 
 
The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the 
City of Auburn’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business. 
 
The statement of net position presents information on all of the City of Auburn’s assets and liabilities, 
with the difference between the two reported as net position.  Over time, increases or decreases in net 
position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is improving or 
deteriorating. 
 
The statement of activities presents information showing how the City’s net position changed during the 
most recent fiscal year.  All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving 
rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Thus, revenues and expenses 
are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods 
(e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave). 
 
Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City of Auburn that are 
principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other 
functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and 
charges (business-type activities).  The governmental activities of the City include general government; 
public safety; health, welfare and recreation; public works, including highways, streets, and solid waste 
disposal; other agencies; education; and interest on debt.  The City has three business-type activities, 
the Ingersoll Ice Arena, the Norway Savings Bank Ice Arena and Centralized School Lunch.  The 
government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 35-36 of this report. 



 

24 

 
Fund financial statements 
 
A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been 
segregated for specific activities or objectives.  The City of Auburn, like other state and local 
governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal 
requirements.  All of the funds of the City can be divided into three categories:  governmental funds, 
proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds. 
 
Governmental funds   
 

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental 
activities in the government-wide financial statements.  However, unlike the government-wide financial 
statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of 
spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal 
year.  Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term financing requirements. 
 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  By doing 
so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the City’s near-term financing decisions.  Both 
the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, 
and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between 
governmental funds and governmental activities. 
 
The City of Auburn maintains individual governmental funds.  Information is presented separately in the 
governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, 
and changes in fund balances for the General Fund, the Community Development Programs, Tax 
Increment Financing, and the Capital Projects Fund, which are considered to be major funds.  Data from 
the other governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation.  Individual fund data 
for each of these nonmajor governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements 
elsewhere in this report. 
 
The City of Auburn adopts an annual appropriated budget for its General Fund.  A budgetary comparison 
statement has been provided for the General Fund to demonstrate compliance with this budget. 
 
The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 37-42 of this report. 
 
Proprietary funds   
 

The City of Auburn maintains one type of proprietary fund. The enterprise fund is used to report the same 
functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements.  The City of 
Auburn uses the enterprise fund to account for its operations of Ingersoll Ice Arena, Norway Savings 
Bank Ice Arena and Centralized School Lunch. 
 
Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, 
only in more detail.  
 
The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 43-45 of this report.   
 
Fiduciary funds   
 

Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the City.  
Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statement because the resources of 
those funds are not available to support the City of Auburn’s own programs.  The accounting used for 
fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds.  The basic fiduciary fund financial statements 
can be found on pages 46-47 of this report. 
 
 



 

25 

Notes to the financial statements  
 
The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in 
the government-wide and fund financial statements.  The notes to the financial statements can be found 
on pages 48-76 of this report. 
 
Other information   
 
In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents certain 
required supplementary information concerning the City of Auburn’s progress in funding its obligation to 
provide pension and retiree healthcare benefits to its employees.  Required supplementary information 
can be found on page 77 of this report. 
 
The combining statements referred to earlier in connection with nonmajor governmental funds are 
presented immediately following the required supplementary information.  The combining and individual 
fund statements and schedules can be found on pages 81-89 of this report. 
 
Government-wide Financial Analysis 
 
As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial 
position.  In the case of the City of Auburn, assets exceeded liabilities by $84,522,677 at the close of the 
most recent fiscal year.  

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Current and other 
assets 29,866,066$    33,702,153$    600,770$     634,699$     30,466,836$   34,336,852$   
Capital assets 121,890,406    120,832,594    548,461       708,368       122,438,867   121,540,962   

Total assets 151,756,472$ 154,534,747$  1,149,231$    1,343,067$  152,905,703$ 155,877,814$ 

Long-term liabilities 
outstanding 54,903,540      57,731,633      -                     -                     54,903,540     57,731,633     
Other liabilities 13,454,614      12,460,513      24,872          6,500            13,479,486     12,467,013     

Total liabilities 68,358,154$    70,192,146$    24,872$       6,500$          68,383,026$   70,198,646$   

Net investment in 
capital assets 67,831,558      61,542,514      548,461       708,368       68,380,019     62,250,882     
Restricted 11,793,625      11,871,042      -                     34,042          11,793,625     11,905,084     
Unrestricted 3,773,135        10,929,045      575,898       594,157       4,349,033        11,523,202     

Total net position 83,398,318$    84,342,601$    1,124,359$  1,336,567$  84,522,677$   85,679,168$   

City of Auburn's Net Position

Governmental
Activities

Business-type
Activities Total

 
By far, the largest portion of the City of Auburn’s net position (80.9% or $68,380,019) reflects its investment 
in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, machinery, and equipment); less any related debt used to acquire 
those assets that is still outstanding. The City has made a conscious effort to continue its investments in 
long-term infrastructure improvements such as storm water separation, roadways, traffic improvements, 
sidewalks, facilities, and large equipment. The City uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; 
consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City’s investment in its 
capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this 
debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate 
these liabilities. 



 

26 

An additional portion of the City of Auburn’s net position (13.95%) represents resources that are subject 
to external restrictions on how they may be used.  The remaining unrestricted net position is $4,349,033. 
 
At the end of the current fiscal year, the City of Auburn is able to report positive balances in all three 
categories of net position, both for the government as a whole, as well as for its separate governmental 
and business-type activities. The same situation held true for the prior fiscal year. 
 

Total
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Revenues:
Program revenues:
Charges for services 2,070,803$     2,128,112$     1,139,096$    669,015$     3,209,899$    2,797,127$      
Operating grants and
    contributions 31,349,557     29,939,559     1,090,354      1,159,343    32,439,911    31,098,902      
Capital grants and
    contributions -                      -                     -                    -                   -                     -                      
General revenues:
Property and other taxes 44,522,766     42,759,291     -                    -                   44,522,766    42,759,291      
Grants and contributions
    not restricted to specific
    programs 4,336,314       4,330,113       -                    -                   4,336,314      4,330,113        
Other 251,275          183,383          1,176             757              252,451         184,140           
Total revenues 82,530,715$   79,340,458$   2,230,626$    1,829,115$  84,761,341$  81,169,573$    

Expenses:
General government 12,031,662     13,391,002     -                    -                   12,031,662    13,391,002      
Public safety 9,404,183       8,468,689       -                    -                   9,404,183      8,468,689        
Health, welfare and
recreation 2,172,119       2,266,012       -                    -                   2,172,119      2,266,012        
Public works 12,427,048     8,086,620       -                    -                   12,427,048    8,086,620        
Other agencies 3,400,687       3,560,926       -                    -                   3,400,687      3,560,926        
Education 43,917,231     41,810,979     -                    -                   43,917,231    41,810,979      
Interest on debt 122,068          2,418,356       -                    -                   122,068         2,418,356        
Ingersoll Ice Arena -                      -                     604,369         490,593       604,369         490,593           
Norway Savings Bank Arena -                      -                     525,814         -                   525,814         -                      
Centralized School Lunch -                      -                     1,312,651      1,421,308    1,312,651      1,421,308        
Total Expenses 83,474,998$   80,002,584$   2,442,834$    1,911,901$  85,917,832$  81,914,485$    

Transfer in (out) -                      13,275            -                    (13,275)        -                     -                      

Change in net position (944,283)         (648,851)        (212,208)       (96,061)        (1,156,491)     (744,912)         

Net position-July 1 84,342,601     84,991,452     1,336,567      1,432,628    85,679,168    86,424,080      

Net position - June 30 83,398,318$   84,342,601$   1,124,359$    1,336,567$  84,522,677$  85,679,168$    

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities

City of Auburn's Changes in Net Position

Governmental Activities   
 
Governmental activities decreased the City of Auburn’s net position by $944,283, thereby accounting for 
81.65% of the total reduction in the City’s net position. Unclassified expenses have been reclassified in 
general government. Key elements of this decrease are as follows: 

• Charges for services decreased by $57,309 (2.7%). The decrease was attributed less fees 
collected and a decline in education’s tuitions. 

• Operating grants and contributions increased by $1,409,998 (4.71%) due to a reduction in 
Community Development Block Grant Funding and an increase in Education Grants. 

• Total expenses increased by $3,472,414 (4.3%) with the bulk of the increase attributable to an 
increase in public works ($4,340,428).  



 
 

27 

 
 
 

 

 $-  

 $5,000,000  

 $10,000,000  

 $15,000,000  

 $20,000,000  

 $25,000,000  

 $30,000,000  

 $35,000,000  

 $40,000,000  

 $45,000,000  

General 
Government 

Public 
Safety 

Health, 
welfare and 
recreation 

Public 
Works 

Other 
agencies 

Education Interest on 
debt 

Expenses and Program Revenues - Governmental Activities 
For the Year Ending June 30, 2014 

 

Expenses Revenues 

3% 

38% 

0% 

50% 

4% 5% 0% 0% 

Revenues by Source - Governmental Activities  
For the Year Ended June 30, 2014 

Charges for Services 3%  Operating Grants & Contributions 38% 

Capital Grants & Contributions 0% Property Taxes 50% 

Excise Taxes 4% Unrestricted Grants & Contributions 5% 

Unrestricted Investment Earnings 0% Miscellaneous Revenue 0% 



 

28 

Business-type Activities   
 
The City’s three business-type activities, its Ingersoll Ice Arena, Norway Savings Bank Arena and 
Centralized School Lunch, decreased the City of Auburn’s net position by $212,208.  
 
Revenues for business-type activities increased by $401,511 or 22.00%. The Norway Savings Bank 
Arena was new this year and will replace Ingersoll Arena. Ingersoll Arena will be repurposed as an 
indoor turf facility during FY15. 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 $-    

 $200,000  

 $400,000  

 $600,000  

 $800,000  

 $1,000,000  

 $1,200,000  

 $1,400,000  

Ingersoll Ice Arena NSB Arena Specialized School Lunch 

Expenses and Program Revenues - Business -Type Activities 
For Year Ending June 30, 2014  

Expenses Program Revenues 

51% 
49% 

Revenue by Source - Business-type Activities 
For Year Ending June 30, 2014 

Charges for Services Operating Grants and Contributions 



 
 

29 

Financial Analysis of the Government’s Funds 
 
As noted earlier, the City of Auburn uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with 
finance-related legal requirements.  
 
Governmental Funds  
 
The focus of the City of Auburn’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, 
outflows, and balances of spendable resources.  Such information is useful in assessing the City’s 
financing requirements.  In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a 
government’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 
 
As of the end of the current fiscal year, the City of Auburn’s governmental funds reported combined 
ending fund balances of $23,993,400, a decrease of $4,669,566, in comparison with the prior year. This 
total consists of: General Fund $12,063,359; Community Development Programs Funds, $4,355,077; 
Tax Increment Financing, $752,441; Capital Projects Fund, $5,400,034 and Other Governmental Funds, 
$1,422,489. These fund balances are intended, and in some cases restricted, committed or assigned, for 
specific purposes. 
 
The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City of Auburn. At the end of the current fiscal year, 
unassigned fund balance of the general fund was $8,651,216. As a measure of the General Fund’s 
liquidity, it may be useful to compare unassigned fund balance to total fund budget.  Unassigned fund 
balance represents 12.39% of the total General Fund expenditures (on a budgetary basis) at June 30, 
2014.  The City Council adopted a Fund Balance Policy in June, 2011 establishing a goal of having a 
General Fund unassigned fund balance equal to 12.5% of the City’s municipal and school budgets.  
Rating agencies look favorably upon the establishment of fund balance policies by communities, which 
signifies the recognition that a healthy fund balance is imperative to the good financial standing of the 
community. 
 
The Community Development Program Fund fund balance decreased by $141,330.  The decrease was 
due to the timing of drawdowns and the reduction of grants receivable. 
 
The Tax Increment Financing Fund fund balance decreased by $828,057 due to an increase in capital 
improvement expenditures for infrastructure improvements. 
 
The Capital Projects Fund fund balance decreased by $2,247,566 primarily due to bond proceeds that 
were received during FY 2013 and spent during FY 2014. 
 
Proprietary Funds   
 
The City of Auburn’s proprietary fund provides the same type of information found in the government-
wide financial statements, but in more detail. 
 
Unrestricted net position of the City’s proprietary funds, which include Ingersoll Ice Arena, Norway 
Savings Bank Arena and the Centralized School Lunch Program, amounted to $575,898. The total 
decrease in net position was $212,208. 
 
General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
 
There were no supplemental appropriations for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2014. Carry forward 
amounts from June 30, 2014 are reflected in the final budget in statement 6. 
 
 
 



 
 

30 

For the current fiscal year, the total revenue was above budgetary projections and the total expenditures 
were below budgetary projections.  During the current fiscal year, the fund balance of the City of 
Auburn’s General Fund decreased by $316,383. Contributing factors to this decrease included: 
 

• Motor vehicle excise taxes were above budgetary projections by $326,082. 
• Property taxes were above budgetary projections by $246,701, due to an increased collection of 

prior year taxes 
• State Revenue Sharing was above budgetary projections by $34,374. 
• Budgeted use of fund balance, to bring the total fund balance into compliance with the City’s 

Fund Balance Policy. 
 

Capital Asset and Debt Administration 
 
Capital Assets   
 
The City of Auburn’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as of 
June 30, 2014 amounts to $122,438,867 (net of accumulated depreciation).  This investment in capital 
assets includes land, buildings, land improvements, machinery and equipment, vehicles and infrastructure.  
The total increase in the City of Auburn’s investment in capital assets for the current fiscal year was 0.7 
percent. For more detail, refer to Capital Assets in the Detail Notes for All Funds on Pages 57-58. 
 

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Land 7,489,841$       7,489,841$        -$               -$                 7,489,841$        7,489,841$         
Buildings and 
   improvements 41,951,234       43,347,568        252,578    240,877      42,203,812        43,588,445         
Equipment 1,319,943         1,221,155          291,264    458,914      1,611,207           1,680,069           
Infrastructure 62,159,600       60,031,347        -                 -                   62,159,600        60,031,347         
Construction in progress 5,536,128         5,041,731          -                 -                   5,536,128           5,041,731           
Vehicles 3,433,660         3,700,952          4,619         8,577          3,438,279           3,709,529           
Total  121,890,406$  120,832,594$   548,461$  708,368$    122,438,867$    121,540,962$    

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities

City of Auburn's Capital Assets
(net of depreciation)

Total

 
Major capital asset events during the current fiscal year included the following: 
 

•  A variety of street and sidewalk maintenance and construction projects throughout the City were 
undertaken during the year, including paving and reclamation totaling $4,818,102; completion of  
South Main St. reconstruction totaling $884,922; Helm Bridge project totaling $291,084; various 
road reconstruction projects totaling $878,889 for overall project expenditures of $6,671,367 at 
fiscal year end. 

• The Education Department funded building improvements in the following schools: Industry Ave 
Maintenance Garage (boiler conversion) totaling $22,602; Edward Little High School (flooring and 
greenhouse construction) totaling $20,365; Walton (new roof) totaling $86,105; and Auburn Middle 
School (HVAC replacement) totaling $1,242,380. 

• Police department purchased two Ford Explorers at a total cost of $48,870;  
• Public Works heating system was replaced and converted to natural gas at a total cost of $204,349. 
• Parks and recreation replaced the heating system at Hasty Memorial Armory at the total cost of 

$68,513. 
• Fire department replaced a boiler and converted to natural gas for a total cost of $71,758. 

 
 
Long-term Debt   



 
 

31 

 
At the end of the current fiscal year, the City of Auburn had total general obligation bonded debt 
outstanding of $56,826,591.  The City’s entire debt is backed by the full faith and credit of the City. For 
more detail, refer to Long-term Debt in the Detail Notes for All Funds on pages 61-62. 
 

City of Auburn's Outstanding Debt
General Obligation Bonds

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities

2014 2013 2014 2013

56,826,591$ 59,534,323 -                       -                        
 
During the current fiscal year, the City of Auburn’s total bonded debt decreased by $2,707,732. The City 
issued general obligation bonds totaling $5,625,000 for the annual capital improvement program for the 
City, and School Department. 
 
The City of Auburn maintained an “Aa3” rating from Moody’s on October 31, 2013 and received an “AA-” 
rating from Standard & Poor’s for its general obligation debt. Please refer to the agencies reports for a 
comprehensive explanation of its rating assessment.  
 
State statutes limit the amount of general obligation debt a municipality may issue to 15 percent of its 
total state assessed valuation.  The current debt limitation for the City of Auburn is $288,930,000 that is 
significantly in excess of the City of Auburn’s outstanding general obligation debt.  
 
Next Year’s Goals, the Economic Climate, and the Budget and Tax Rates 
 
The City of Auburn has made great progress over the last year.  The most notable progress exhibited 
through Staff’s efforts to incorporate performance measurement in the budget.  Performance 
measurement is a process that will utilize goals and benchmarks for budgeting.  The process to 
implement can be time consuming and it is best if the approach and expectations are tied to a multi-year 
implementation.  This is a learning process for staff, residents, and elected officials.  Building 
understanding will allow for more support and value in the benefits. 
 
The evolution of goals and initiatives continues.  Learning that annual tasks or outcomes need to link to 
the overall goal or vision of the City is a process that will also take time.  Using performance 
measurement will allow the City to determine its success.  The struggle remains in a vision and unified 
voice by the Council.  These proactive measures to make Auburn successful for the long-term are 
always connected to annual taxes.  Understanding that the tax commitment of the City is the determining 
factor of higher and lower taxes will provide consistency to yearly budgets.   
 
Moving forward, it appears that more forecasting for three, five, or ten years will allow a strategy to 
develop to meet our goals.  The current budget adopted did a lot to look back at what had occurred over 
the last 25 years.  As said by George Santayana, “Those who cannot remember the past are condemned 
to repeat it.”  With high turnover in management and staff the 2014 – 2015 worked at defining data from 
our past to measure growth moving forward. 
 
The goal for this year in developing a budget is to add the most recent year to the historical data and also 
report out the success and failures of the performance measures.  As a City, we need to improve setting 
our goals and measures to determine success, but we also must begin the understanding of learning 
from our decisions by measuring the outcomes and adapting to increase results and become more 
efficient in services. 
 
Economic Factors 



 
 

32 

 
The volatility of State Revenue Sharing and Aid to Education continues as it has for many years.  
Whether the City is viewed as a non-for-profit or a business, the unpredictable nature of the two largest 
revenue sources other than taxes is a concern.  It is becoming necessary to consider the possibility that 
State Revenue Sharing may never return and eventually even be eliminated.  Auburn and other large 
service centers must advocate at the State level that if our cities are not supported, our State will fail.  
Cities are built to create jobs and support them.  Whether it is fire, police, roads, water, sewer, etc. the 
towns and cities of Maine must unite to support a greater, larger, State economy.  Any model that leaves 
cities or towns out will fail.  If all Revenue Sharing is lost and no changes are made to the system, 
Auburn will suffer from significant cuts and increases to local taxes.   
 
The positive side of the loss in revenue is that Auburn has a long history of economic development that is 
beginning to reemerge from the recent recession.  HARTT transportation is investing in the Kittyhawk 
Park to open a new facility with other lots available for development.  Hobby Lobby is opening on a lot 
adjacent to Kohl’s.  Mechanic’s Savings Bank has plans for a new facility on their current property on 
Minot Avenue.   These 3 projects alone signal the resurgence of development for Auburn. 
 
The Budget and Tax Rates 
 
The City is growing more aware of the cost of taxes regardless of the mil rate.  Recent steps to reduce 
staff and lower costs had an adverse impact on sustaining growth.  Last year the Council reinstated staff 
reductions to return capacity to staff to grow the economy.  As a result all external services are being 
reviewed for productivity and prioritization.  The City has an objective to maximize the value of dollars 
being spent by reorganizing the duties of staff and agencies so that all priorities of the City are carried 
out to maximize the growth of the City and region. 
 
Requests for Information 
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City of Auburn’s financial condition 
for all those with an interest in the City’s finances.  Questions concerning any of the information provided 
in this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the Finance Director 
or City Manager, 60 Court Street, Auburn, Maine. 
 



 

 

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 



This page left blank intentionally. 



35

Statement 1

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2014
Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Total

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 5,002,941$       406,895                   5,409,836              
Investments 14,094,606       -                              14,094,606            
Receivables:  

Accounts, net of allowance 1,020,296         14,521                     1,034,817              
Intergovernmental 1,590,131         49,447                     1,639,578              
Taxes 2,064,263         -                              2,064,263              
Loans, net of allowance 5,990,632         -                              5,990,632              

Internal balances (95,049)             95,049                  -                            
Prepaid expenses 198,246            -                            198,246                 
Inventories -                        34,858                     34,858                   
Capital assets, not being depreciated 13,025,969       -                              13,025,969            
Capital assets, being depreciated, net 108,864,437     548,461                   109,412,898          

Total assets 151,756,472     1,149,231                152,905,703          

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and other current liabilities 1,579,589         18,394                     1,597,983              
Accrued payroll and benefits payable 2,500,781         6,478                       2,507,259              
Noncurrent liabilities:

Due within one year 9,374,244         -                              9,374,244              
Due in more than one year 54,903,540       -                              54,903,540            

Total liabilities 68,358,154       24,872                     68,383,026            

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 67,831,558       548,461                   68,380,019            
Restricted for:

Nonexpendable: 
Long-term receivables 1,520,404         -                              1,520,404              
Principal 69,475              -                              69,475                   

Tax Increment Financing districts 2,341,428         -                              2,341,428              
Other purposes:

City Services 742,485            -                              742,485                 
Education 2,571,512         -                              2,571,512              
Community Development Programs 4,355,077         -                              4,355,077              
Permanent Funds 193,244            -                              193,244                 

Unrestricted 3,773,135         575,898                   4,349,033              

Total net position 83,398,318$     1,124,359                84,522,677            
See accompanying notes to financial statements.



36

Statement 2

 

Operating Capital
Charges for grants and grants and Governmental Business-type

Functions/programs Expenses services contributions contributions activities activities Total

Primary government:
Governmental activities:

General government 12,031,662$     456,624         1,357,852        -                       (10,217,186)     -                        (10,217,186)     
Public safety 9,404,183         920,429         626,624           -                       (7,857,130)       -                        (7,857,130)        
Health, welfare and recreation 2,172,119         279,854         22,884             -                       (1,869,381)       -                        (1,869,381)        
Public works 12,427,048       1,549             1,946,233        -                       (10,479,266)     -                        (10,479,266)     
Other agencies 3,400,687         -                     -                       -                       (3,400,687)       -                        (3,400,687)        
Education  43,917,231       412,347         27,395,964      -                       (16,108,920)     -                        (16,108,920)     

 Interest on debt 122,068            -                     -                       -                       (122,068)          -                        (122,068)           
Total governmental activities 83,474,998       2,070,803      31,349,557      -                       (50,054,638)     -                        (50,054,638)     

 
Business-type activities:

Ingersoll Ice Arena 604,369            53,511           -                       -                       -                   (550,858)           (550,858)           
Norway Savings Bank Ice Arena 525,814            873,741         -                       -                       -                   347,927            347,927            
Centralized School Lunch 1,312,651         211,844         1,090,354        -                       -                   (10,453)             (10,453)             

Total business-type activities 2,442,834         1,139,096      1,090,354        -                       -                   (213,384)           (213,384)           

Total primary government 85,917,832$     3,209,899      32,439,911      -                       (50,054,638)     (213,384)           (50,268,022)     

General revenues, unrestricted:
Property taxes, levied for general purposes 40,997,787      -                        40,997,787       
Motor vehicle excise taxes 3,394,582        -                        3,394,582         
Interest on delinquent taxes 130,397           -                        130,397            
Grants and contributions not restricted to specific programs:
    State Revenue Sharing      1,683,844        -                        1,683,844         
    Homestead and BETE exemptions 1,981,614        -                        1,981,614         
    Other State aid 670,856           -                        670,856            
Unrestricted investment earnings 2,829               1,176                4,005                
Miscellaneous revenues 248,446           -                        248,446            

Total general revenues 49,110,355      1,176                49,111,531       

Change in net position (944,283)          (212,208)           (1,156,491)        

Net position, beginning of year 84,342,601      1,336,567         85,679,168       

Net position, end of year 83,398,318$    1,124,359         84,522,677       
See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Program Revenues in net position
Primary Government

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014
Net (expense) revenue and changes



37

Statement 3
CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE

Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds

June 30, 2014
 Community Other Total

Development Tax Increment Governmental  Governmental  
General Programs Financing Capital Projects Funds Funds

ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 5,002,941     -                          -                            -                               -                           5,002,941           
Investments 316,894        -                          1,119,397             12,088,839              569,476               14,094,606         
Receivables:

Taxes 2,064,263     -                          -                            -                               -                           2,064,263           
Accounts, net of allowance 818,048        3,475                  -                            -                               198,773               1,020,296           
Interfund receivables 8,116,581     -                          -                            -                               373,544               8,490,125           
Intergovernmental -                   518,505              -                            -                               1,071,626            1,590,131           
Loans, net of allowance 431,257        4,038,971           -                            -                               1,520,404            5,990,632           

Prepaid expenditures 198,246        -                          -                            -                               -                           198,246              
Total assets  $ 16,948,230   4,560,951           1,119,397             12,088,839              3,733,823            38,451,240         

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 568,395        84,828                6,054                    692,060                   133,891               1,485,228           
Accrued payroll and benefits payable 2,480,654     -                          -                            -                               20,127                 2,500,781           
Escrow funds payable 43,526          50,835                -                            -                               -                           94,361                
Interfund payables -                   70,211                360,902                5,996,745                2,157,316            8,585,174           

Total liabilities 3,092,575     205,874              366,956                6,688,805                2,311,334            12,665,544         

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unavailable revenue - property taxes 1,792,296     -                          -                            -                               -                           1,792,296           

Total deferred inflows of resources 1,792,296     -                          -                            -                               -                           1,792,296           

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable - long-term receivables 431,257        4,038,971           -                            -                               1,520,404            5,990,632           
Nonspendable - principal -                   -                          -                            -                               69,475                 69,475                
Nonspendable - prepaid expenditures 198,246        -                          -                            -                               -                           198,246              
Restricted 1,969,754     316,106              2,341,428             -                               1,537,487            6,164,775           
Committed -                   -                          -                            5,400,034                355,605               5,755,639           
Assigned 812,886        -                          -                            -                               -                           812,886              
Unassigned 8,651,216     -                          (1,588,987)            -                               (2,060,482)           5,001,747           

Total fund balances 12,063,359   4,355,077           752,441                5,400,034                1,422,489            23,993,400         
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
  resources, and fund balances  $ 16,948,230   4,560,951           1,119,397             12,088,839              3,733,823            

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different because:
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and, therefore are not reported in the funds. 121,890,406       
Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current-period expenditures and, therefore, are deferred in the funds. 1,792,296           
Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current period and therefore are not reported in the funds:

   Bonds and notes payable (57,321,488)        
   Unamortized debt premiums (1,169,513)          
   Accrued compensated absences (2,208,737)          
   Accrued self insurance liability (469,022)             
   Other post employment benefits liability (1,138,847)          
   City pension liability (816,665)             
   Accrued landfill liability (579,458)             
   Accrued interest on debt (574,054)             

Net position of governmental activities 83,398,318$       
See accompanying notes to financial statements.



38

Statement 4

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

 Community Other Total
Development Tax Increment Capital Governmental Governmental

General Programs Financing Projects Funds Funds

Revenues:
Taxes  $ 44,563,151    -                          -                        -                     -                        44,563,151      
Intergovernmental 27,995,212    783,248              -                        -                     6,546,819         35,325,279      
Licenses and permits 325,476         -                          -                        -                     -                        325,476           
Charges for services 1,304,187      -                          -                        -                     495,538            1,799,725        
Other 326,044         113,794              -                        41,919           119,842            601,599           

Total revenues 74,514,070    897,042              -                        41,919           7,162,199         82,615,230      

Expenditures:
Current:

General government 8,528,776      1,038,372           1,430,257         -                     365,388            11,362,793      
Public safety 8,415,846      -                          -                        -                     572,085            8,987,931        
Health, welfare and recreation 1,669,587      -                          -                        -                     267,817            1,937,404        
Public works 4,706,164      -                          -                        -                     2,905,653         7,611,817        
Other agencies 3,400,687      -                          -                        -                     -                        3,400,687        
Education  39,453,998    -                          -                        -                     4,052,310         43,506,308      
Unclassified 325,139         -                          -                        -                     235                   325,374           

Capital outlay -                      -                          438,380            8,101,430      -                        8,539,810        
Debt service 6,330,682      -                          1,043,452         -                     134,941            7,509,075        

Total expenditures 72,830,879    1,038,372           2,912,089         8,101,430      8,298,429         93,181,199      

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures 1,683,191      (141,330)             (2,912,089)        (8,059,511)     (1,136,230)        (10,565,969)    

Other financing sources (uses):
General obligation bonds issued -                      -                          -                        5,625,000      -                        5,625,000        
Premium on issuance of debt -                      -                          -                        186,945         -                        186,945           
Proceeds from notes payable 84,458            -                          -                        -                     -                        84,458             
Transfers to/from other funds (2,084,032)     -                          2,084,032         -                     -                        -                       

Total other financing sources (uses) (1,999,574)     -                          2,084,032         5,811,945      -                        5,896,403        

Net change in fund balances (316,383)        (141,330)             (828,057)           (2,247,566)     (1,136,230)        (4,669,566)      

Fund balances, beginning of year 12,379,742    4,496,407           1,580,498         7,647,600      2,558,719         28,662,966      

Fund balances, end of year  $ 12,063,359    4,355,077           752,441            5,400,034      1,422,489         23,993,400      
See accompanying notes to financial statements.



39

Statement 5

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures,

and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds (from Statement 4) (4,669,566)$    

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of
  activities (Statement 2) are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.
  However, in the statement of activities, the cost of those assets
  is allocated over their estimated useful lives as depreciation expense.
  This is the amount by which capital outlay exceeded
  depreciation expense in the current period:
      Capital outlays recorded as expenditures in governmental funds 7,417,706       
      Depreciation and losses on dispositions not reported in governmental funds (6,359,894)      

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources
  are not reported as revenues in the funds. This represents the change in unavailable
  revenue - property taxes. (40,385)           

The issuance of long-term debt (e.g., bonds, notes and leases) provides current financial
  resources to governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of
  long-term debt consumes the current financial resources of governmental
  funds.  Neither transaction, however, has any effect on net position.  Also, governmental
  funds report the effect of premiums, discounts and similar items when debt is first
  issued, whereas these amounts are deferred and amortized in the statement of
  activities.  This is the amount by which repayments exceeded proceeds:
      Bond and note proceeds recorded as other financing sources in governmental funds (5,709,458)      
      Principal payments on debt recorded as expenditures in governmental funds 8,426,811       
      Premium on issuance of debt (186,945)         
      Amortization of bond premium 70,183            
      Amounts held in escrow (22,152)           

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use
  of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as 
  expenditures in governmental funds; alternatively, some expenditures using
  current financial resources are not expenses in the statement of activities:
         Compensated absences 74,848            
         Self-insurance expenses 303,363          
         Other post employment benefits (202,840)         
         City pension (80,982)           
         Accrued landfill liability (53,843)           
         Accrued interest on debt 88,871            

Change in net position of governmental activities (see Statement 2) (944,283)$       
See accompanying notes to financial statements.

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014
to the Statement of Activities



40

Statement 6

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
General Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in 
Fund Balance -- Budget and Actual
For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

Variance with
final budget

 positive
Original Final Actual (negative)

Revenues:
Taxes:

Real and personal property 40,791,471$       40,791,471$        41,038,172         246,701              
Excise and registrations 3,068,500           3,068,500            3,394,582           326,082              
Interest on delinquent taxes 140,000              140,000               130,397              (9,603)                 

Total taxes 43,999,971         43,999,971          44,563,151         563,180              

Intergovernmental:
State Revenue Sharing 1,649,470           1,649,470            1,683,844           34,374                
School subsidy 20,137,028         20,137,028          20,137,029         1                         
Homestead 482,575              482,575               511,362              28,787                
BETE 1,230,000           1,230,000            1,470,252           240,252              
Other:

School Department 306,246              306,246               393,903              87,657                
Tax sharing/in lieu of 235,000              235,000               256,802              21,802                
Municipal 641,102              641,102               670,856              29,754                
Total intergovernmental 24,681,421         24,681,421          25,124,048         442,627              

Other revenue:
Licenses and permits 256,300              256,300               325,476              69,176                
Charges for services:

Municipal 937,390              937,390               888,645              (48,745)               
School 466,572              466,572               365,622              (100,950)             

Fines, forfeits and penalties 43,000                43,000                 31,084                (11,916)               
Interest:

Municipal 22,000                22,000                 1,965                  (20,035)               
Miscellaneous 135,000              135,000               248,446              113,446              

Total other revenue 1,860,262           1,860,262            1,861,238           976                     

Total revenues 70,541,654         70,541,654          71,548,437         1,006,783           

Budgeted Amounts



41

Statement 6 (con't)

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
General Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in 
Fund Balances -- Budget and Actual

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014
Variance with
final budget

 positive
Original Final Actual (negative)

Expenditures:
General government:

Mayor and Council 71,079$     71,079         63,338          7,741              
Economic Development 318,933     318,933       320,878        (1,945)             
City Manager 238,903     238,903       252,517        (13,614)           
Assessing 172,277     172,277       175,756        (3,479)             
City Clerk 162,045     162,045       176,786        (14,741)           
Finance 405,976     405,976       409,572        (3,596)             
Human resources 139,566     141,017       132,091        8,926              
Information Communication Technology 395,350     428,171       386,683        41,488            
Engineering 280,188     283,525       253,159        30,366            
Legal services 100,000     100,000       84,239          15,761            
Planning and permitting 775,230     799,816       811,835        (12,019)           
Facilities 715,667     719,791       609,456        110,335          
Worker's compensation (transfer to reserve) 431,446     431,446       431,446        -                      
Benefits and wage increases 4,397,585  4,397,585    4,417,878     (20,293)           

Total general government 8,604,245  8,670,564    8,525,634     144,930          

Public safety:
Fire 4,024,789  4,024,789    4,200,291     (175,502)         
Police 3,589,583  3,631,559    3,613,476     18,083            
Water and sewer 558,835     558,835       576,219        (17,384)           

Total public safety 8,173,207  8,215,183    8,389,986     (174,803)         

Health, welfare and recreation:
Health and social services 83,557       83,557         83,171          386                 
Health and social services - public assistance 105,982     105,982       139,177        (33,195)           
Library 946,737     946,737       936,987        9,750              
Parks and recreation 567,334     583,798       510,252        73,546            

Total health, welfare and recreation 1,703,610  1,720,074    1,669,587     50,487            

Public works 4,730,432  4,910,919    4,703,896     207,023          

Other agencies:
County tax 2,029,513  2,029,513    2,029,512     1                     
Auburn-Lewiston Airport 105,000     105,000       105,000        -                      
Lewiston-Auburn Transit Committee 235,496     235,496       235,373        123                 
Lewiston-Auburn E911 Center 1,036,409  1,036,409    1,030,802     5,607              

Total other agencies 3,406,418  3,406,418    3,400,687     5,731              

Budgeted Amounts



42

Statement 6 (con't)

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
General Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in 
Fund Balances -- Budget and Actual

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014
Variance with
final budget

 positive
Original Final Actual (negative)

Expenditures, continued:
Education 37,128,028$ 37,128,028    36,498,376     629,652          

Other appropriations:
Tax sharing 270,000        270,000         256,525          13,475            
Overlay/abatements -                    -                    68,614            (68,614)           
Debt service - principal 5,329,623     5,329,623      5,330,266       (643)                
Debt service - interest and other 991,961        991,961         1,000,416       (8,455)             
Emergency reserve 375,289        375,289         -                      375,289          

Total other appropriations 6,966,873     6,966,873      6,655,821       311,052          

Total expenditures 70,712,813   71,018,059    69,843,987     1,174,072       

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under)
  expenditures (171,159)       (476,405)       1,704,450       2,180,855       

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in from other funds 520,000        520,000         500,000          (20,000)           
Transfers to other funds (2,555,723)    (2,555,723)    (2,584,032)      (28,309)           
Budget use of surplus - City 1,350,000     1,350,000      -                      (1,350,000)      
Use of carryforwards - City -                    305,246         -                      (305,246)         
Budget use of surplus - School 856,882        856,882         -                      (856,882)         

Total other financing sources (uses) 171,159        476,405         (2,084,032)      (2,560,437)      

Net change in fund balance - budgetary basis -                    -                    (379,582)         (379,582)         

To adjust to modified accrual basis:
To reflect net change in reserves 63,199            

  Net change in fund balance - GAAP basis (316,383)         

Fund balance, beginning of year 12,379,742     

Fund balance, end of year 12,063,359$   
See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Budgeted Amounts



43

Statement 7

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2014

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds
Ingersoll NSB Ice Centralized
Ice Arena Arena School Lunch Totals

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 249,645$           200              157,050                406,895            
Accounts receivable -                        -                   14,521                  14,521              
Due from other governments -                        -                   49,447                  49,447              
Interfund receivables -                        126,407       3,265                    129,672            
Inventory -                        -                   34,858                  34,858              

Total current assets 249,645             126,607       259,141                635,393            

Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets:

Buildings 672,279             35,905         -                            708,184            
Equipment 66,415               285,813       86,333                  438,561            
Vehicles -                        -                   38,789                  38,789              
Land improvements 18,584               -                   -                            18,584              
     Less accumulated depreciation (524,986)           (82,386)        (48,285)                 (655,657)           

Total noncurrent assets 232,292             239,332       76,837                  548,461            
Total assets 481,937             365,939       335,978                1,183,854         

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 382                    18,012         -                            18,394              
Accrued benefits payable -                        -                   6,478                    6,478                
Interfund payables 34,623               -                   -                            34,623              

Total liabilities 35,005               18,012         6,478                    59,495              

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 232,292             239,332       76,837                  548,461            
Unrestricted 214,640             108,595       252,663                575,898            

Total net position 446,932$           347,927       329,500                1,124,359         
See accompanying notes to financial statements.



44

Statement 8

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014
Ingersoll NSB Ice Centralized
Ice Arena Arena School Lunch Totals

Operating revenues:
Charges for services 53,511$         873,741         211,844             1,139,096         
Intergovernmental revenue -                    -                    1,090,354          1,090,354         

Total operating revenues 53,511           873,741         1,302,198          2,229,450         

Operating expenses:
Personnel 70,931           188,814         575,331             835,076           
Food -                    -                    624,505             624,505           
Supplies 6,799             78,807           -                         85,606             
Utilities 59,918           104,231         -                         164,149           
Repairs and maintenance 27,630           2,387             85,030               115,047           
Depreciation 30,379           26,386           8,904                 65,669             
Other expenses 3,717             125,189         18,881               147,787           

Total operating expenses 199,374         525,814         1,312,651          2,037,839         

Operating income (loss) (145,863)        347,927         (10,453)              191,611           

Nonoperating revenue (expense):
Interest income 942                -                    234                    1,176               
Loss on sale of equipment (315,131)        -                    -                         (315,131)          
Interest expense (89,864)          -                    -                         (89,864)            

Total nonoperating revenue (expense) (404,053)        -                    234                    (403,819)          

Change in net position (549,916)        347,927         (10,219)              (212,208)          

Net position, beginning of year 996,848         -                    339,719             1,336,567         

Net position, end of year 446,932$       347,927         329,500             1,124,359         
See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds



45

Statement 9

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds
Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014
Ingersoll NSB Ice Centralized
Ice Arena Arena School Lunch Totals

Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash received from customers 72,336$                 873,741                 210,278                  1,156,355          
Cash received from federal and state grants -                             -                             1,080,169               1,080,169          
Cash paid to suppliers for goods and services (104,182)                (292,602)                (732,424)                 (1,129,208)         
Cash paid to employees for services (70,931)                  (188,814)                (568,853)                 (828,598)            

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (102,777)                392,325                 (10,830)                   278,718             

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
Interfund loans 139,492                 (126,407)                -                              13,085               

  Net cash provided by (used in) noncapital financing activities 139,492                 (126,407)                -                              13,085               

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Sale (Purchase) of capital assets 52,600                   (265,718)                (7,775)                     (220,893)            
Interest paid on general and limited revenue obligation bonds (89,864)                  -                             -                              (89,864)              

 Net cash used in capital and related financing activities (37,264)                  (265,718)                (7,775)                     (310,757)            

Cash flows from investing activities:
Interest on investments 942                        -                             234                         1,176                 

Net cash provided by investing activities 942                        -                             234                         1,176                 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 393                        200                        (18,371)                   (17,978)              

Cash and cash equivalents, July 1 249,252                 -                             175,421                  424,673             

Cash and cash equivalents, June 30 249,645$               200                        157,050                  406,695             

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Operating income (loss) (145,863)                347,927                 (10,453)                   191,611             

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation expense 30,379                   26,386                   8,904                      65,669               
Changes in assets and liabilities:
    Accounts receivable 18,825                   -                             (1,566)                     17,259               
    Due from other governments -                             -                             (10,185)                   (10,185)              
    Due from other funds -                             -                             (3,192)                     (3,192)                
    Inventory -                             -                             (816)                        (816)                   
    Accounts payable (6,118)                    18,012                   6,478                      18,372               
    Accrued benefits payable -                             -                             -                              -                        
                          Total adjustments 43,086                   44,398                   (377)                        87,107               

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (102,777)$              392,325                 (10,830)                   278,718             
See accompanying notes to financial statements.



46

Statement 10

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

Fiduciary Funds
June 30, 2014

Private-
Agency purpose
Fund Trust Funds

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 158,873            124,861            

Total assets 158,873            124,861            

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable -                       15,992              
Amounts held for others 158,873            -                       

Total liabilities 158,873            15,992              

 NET POSITION
  Held in trust $ -                       108,869            

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



47

Statement 11

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Fiduciary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

Private-
purpose

Trust Funds

Additions:
Investment income $ 4,038                

Total additions 4,038                

Deductions:
Current:

Scholarships 6,379                
Total deductions 6,379                

 Change in net position (2,341)              

Net position, beginning of year 111,210            

Net position, end of year  $ 108,869            
See accompanying notes to financial statements.



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2014 

48 

 
I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
A. Reporting Entity 

 
The City of Auburn, Maine was incorporated in 1869 under the laws of the State of Maine. The 
City operates under a Mayor-Council and City Manager form of government and provides the 
following services: general governmental services, public safety, public works (highways, streets 
and sidewalks), health and social services, sanitation, culture and recreation, planning and 
permitting, education and public improvements. The Council is made up of seven members and 
one mayor elected by registered voters.  
 
The criteria used to determine which accounting entities, agencies, commissions, boards and 
authorities are part of the City’s operations include how the budget is adopted, whether debt is 
secured by general obligation of the City, the City’s duty to cover any deficits that may occur, and 
supervision over the accounting functions. There are no agencies, organizations or activities 
meeting any of the above criteria that are excluded from the City reporting entity. 
 
The accounting policies of the City of Auburn conform to accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America as applicable to governmental units. The following is a summary 
of the more significant of such policies. 

 
B. Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements 

 
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement 
of activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the primary government and 
its component units. For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from 
these statements. Government activities, which normally are supported by taxes and 
intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a 
significant extent on fees and charges for support.  
 
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given 
function or segment is offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly 
identifiable with a specific function or segment. Program revenues include 1) charges to 
customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges 
provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to 
meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and 
other items not properly included among program revenues are reported instead as general 
revenues. 
 
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and 
fiduciary funds, even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial 
statements. Major individual governmental funds are reported as separate columns in the fund 
financial statements. 

 
C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation 

 
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund and fiduciary 
fund financial statements. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded 
when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are 
recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are 
recognized as revenues as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been 
met. 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued 

June 30, 2014 

49 

 
I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 

 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as 
soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when 
they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the 
current period. The City considers all revenues available if they are collected within 60 days of the 
end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is 
incurred, except for unmatured interest on general long-term debt which is recognized when due, 
and certain compensated absences and claims and judgments which are recognized when the 
obligations are expected to be liquidated with expendable available financial resources. 

 
Property taxes, investment earnings and charges for services are susceptible to accrual. Other 
receipts and taxes become measurable and available when cash is received by the government 
and are recognized as revenue at that time. Entitlements and shared revenues are recorded at 
the time of receipt or earlier if the susceptible to accrual criteria are met. Expenditure-driven 
grants are recognized as revenue when the qualifying expenditures have been incurred and all 
other grant requirements have been met. 
 
The City reports the following major governmental funds: 

 
 The General Fund is the City’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources 

of the general government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 
 

 The Community Development Block Grant Special Revenue Fund accounts for the federal 
grants obtained and expended under the Housing and Community Development Act of 
1974, as amended, for the development of viable urban communities. 

 
 The Tax Increment Financing Special Revenue Fund accounts for the capturing of new tax 

revenue and expenditures the City is allowed to allocate to pay for public purpose economic 
development projects and job creation. 

  
 The Capital Projects Fund accounts for the financial resources and expenditures related to 

the City’s annual capital improvement program, which includes improvements to School 
Department buildings and other municipal facilities, general street rehabilitation and the 
purchase of major capital items. 

 
The government reports the following major enterprise funds: 
 

 The Ingersoll Ice Arena fund accounts for the activities of the Arena.  The Arena operates 
the ice rink for residents of the City. Ingersoll Ice Arena was closed in December 2013 when 
a new dual sheet arena was opened. 

 
 The Norway Savings Bank Arena fund account for the activities of the Arena. The Arena 

operates a dual rink for residents, youth hockey organizations and school teams. Norway 
Savings Bank Arena was opened in November 2013. 

 
 The Centralized School Lunch fund accounts for the School Department’s lunch program, 

including breakfast and lunch provided for the students of the City’s School system. 
 
Additionally, the City reports the following fund types: 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued 

June 30, 2014 

50 

 
I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 

 
Private-purpose Trust Funds are used to report the activity for bequests left for charitable 
payments of scholarship awards. These assets are held by the City in a trustee capacity, 
whereby the original bequest is preserved as nonexpendable and the accumulated 
interest earnings are available to provide for educational awards. 

 
Agency funds are custodial in nature and do not present results of operations or have a 
measurement focus.  Agency Funds account for assets held by the City as an agent for 
individuals, private organizations, other governments and/or funds. The City of Auburn 
serves as an agent for the various school activity accounts.   

 
 As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide 

financial statements.  Exceptions to this general rule are charges between the City’s governmental 
activities and business-type activities.  Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs 
and program revenues reported for the various functions concerned.   

 
 Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods, 

services, or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and 
contributions, including special assessments.  Internally dedicated resources are reported as 
general revenues rather than as program revenues.  Likewise, general revenues include all taxes. 

 
 Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.  

Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and 
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations.  The principal 
operating revenues of the City’s proprietary fund are charges to users; operating expenses include 
the cost of services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets.  All revenues and 
expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses. 

 
D.  Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows of Resources and Net Position/Fund Balance 

 
1. Deposits and Investments 

 
The City’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits 
and short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of 
acquisition. City policy is that deposits can only be made in financial institutions insured by the 
FDIC. The City’s investment policy authorizes investments in obligations of the U.S. Treasury 
and U.S. Agencies, repurchase agreements, certain corporate bonds, certain certificates of 
deposit and certain money market funds. The City invests its funds in an effort to ensure 
preservation of capital, remain sufficiently liquid and attain a reasonable market rate of return, 
while remaining within the guidelines as provided by the City’s Investment Policy. 
 
Investments are reported at fair value. 

 
2. Receivables and Payables 
 

Transactions between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements 
outstanding at the end of the fiscal year are referred to as “interfund receivables/payables.” 

 
Receivables are shown net of allowances for uncollectibles as necessary. 

 
 Interest at the rate of 7% per annum was charged on any amounts remaining unpaid after 

these respective due dates. 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued 

June 30, 2014 

51 

 
I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 

 
Under State law, tax liens are placed on real property if the taxes become delinquent. The lien 
process may commence after the expiration of eight months and within one year after the 
date of the tax commitment. The City has the authority to foreclose on real property if the tax 
lien and associated costs of filing the lien remain unpaid eighteen months after the date of 
filing. 

 
Property taxes levied during the year were recorded as receivables at the time the levy was 
made. The receivables collected during the year and during the first sixty days following the 
end of the fiscal year have been recorded as revenues. The remaining receivables have been 
recorded as deferred inflows of resources - unavailable revenues. 

 
3. Inventories and Prepaid Items 

 
Inventories are valued at cost, which approximates market, using the first-in/first-out (FIFO) 
method. Inventories (consisting of food and supplies) include the value of government surplus 
items donated to the School Lunch Program. The costs of all other governmental fund type 
inventories are recorded as expenditures when purchased rather than when consumed. 
 
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are 
recorded as prepaid items. 

 
4. Capital Assets 

 
Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, 
bridges, sidewalks, and similar items), are reported in the applicable governmental or business-
type activities columns in the government-wide financial statements.  Capital assets are defined 
by the City as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $10,000 and an estimated 
useful life in excess of two years.  Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated 
historical cost if purchased or constructed.  Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated 
fair market value at the date of donation. 
 
The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or 
materially extend assets’ lives are not capitalized.  Major outlays for capital assets and 
improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed.  Interest incurred during the 
construction phase of capital assets of business-type activities is included as part of the 
capitalized value of the assets constructed.  All depreciable capital assets are depreciated using 
the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives as follows: 
 

Vehicles  3 – 15 years 
Equipment  5 – 15 years 
Buildings and Building Improvements  10 – 40 years 
Improvements other than Buildings  10 years 
Infrastructure  10 – 60 years 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued 

June 30, 2014 

52 

 
I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 

 
5. Deferred Inflows of Resources 

 
In addition to liabilities, the balance sheet will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred inflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of 
resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so 
will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.  The government 
has only one type of item, which arises only under a modified accrual basis of accounting, 
that qualifies for reporting in this category.  Accordingly, the item, unavailable revenue, is 
reported only in the governmental funds balance sheet. The governmental funds report 
unavailable revenues from one source, property taxes. This amount is deferred and 
recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become available. 

 
6. Compensated Absences 

 
Under terms of union contracts and personnel administration policies, employees are granted 
vacation and sick leave in varying amounts and are, in some cases, entitled to payment for 
unused vacation and sick leave upon termination or retirement. All vacation pay and vested 
sick leave is accrued as a liability in the government-wide financial statements. 

 
7. Long-term Obligations 

 
In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund financial 
statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the 
applicable governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statement 
of net position.  Bond premiums and discounts, if material to basic financial statements, are 
deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight-line method.   

 
In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and 
discounts, as well as bond issuance costs, during the current period.  The face amount of debt 
is reported as other financing sources.  Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as 
other financing sources while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses.  
Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as 
debt service expenditures. 

 
8. Fund Equity 

 
Governmental Fund fund balances are reported in five classifications that comprise a 
hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which the City is bound to honor constraints on the 
specific purposes for which those funds can be spent.  The Finance Director is authorized to 
classify the fund balances through the Fund Balance Policy adopted by the Auburn City 
Council on June 20, 2011. The five classifications of fund balance for the Governmental 
Funds are as follows: 

 
• Nonspendable – resources which cannot be spent because they are either a) not in 

spendable form or; b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 
• Restricted – resources with constraints placed on the use of resources which are either a) 

externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors, contributors 
or laws or regulations of other governments or; b) imposed by law through constitutional 
provisions or enabling legislation. 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued 

June 30, 2014 

53 

 
I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 
 

• Committed – resources which are subject to limitations the government imposes on itself 
at its highest level of decision making authority, the City Council by formal action as 
required by the Fund Balance Policy adopted by City Council on June 11, 2011, and that 
remain binding unless removed in the same manner.   

• Assigned – resources that are constrained by the government’s intent to be used for 
specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed.  The City Council has by 
resolution authorized the Finance Director to assign fund balance.  The Council may also 
assign fund balance as it does when appropriating fund balance to cover a gap between 
estimated revenue and appropriations in the subsequent year’s appropriated budget.  
Unlike commitments, assignments generally only exist temporarily.  In other words, an 
additional action does not normally have to be taken for the removal of an assignment.  
Conversely, as discussed above, an additional action is essential to either remove or 
revise a commitment. 

• Unassigned – resources which have not been assigned to other funds and that have not 
been restricted, committed, or assigned to specific purposes within the General Fund.  
The General Fund should be the only fund that reports a positive unassigned fund 
balance amount. 

 
The City Council has the responsibility for committing fund balance amounts and likewise 
would be required to modify or rescind those commitments.  Likewise, management or City 
Council may assign unspent budgeted amounts to specific purposes in the General Fund at 
year end based on Department requests.   
 
Although not a formal policy, when both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for 
use, it is the government’s intent to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as 
they are needed.  When committed, assigned and unassigned resources are available for use, 
it is the government’s intent to use committed or assigned resources first, and then unassigned 
resources as they are needed. 

 
9. Use of Estimates 

 
Preparation of the City’s financial statements requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent items at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses/expenditures during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 

 
II. STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

 
A. Budgetary Information 

 
Budgets are adopted for the General Fund only and are adopted on a basis consistent with 
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) except as noted on Statement 6. All 
unexpended annual appropriations, other than encumbrances, lapse at the close of the fiscal 
year. 

 
Each year, all departments of the City submit requests for appropriations to the City’s Manager so 
that a budget may be prepared. On or before April 30, the proposed budget is presented to the 
City Council for review. The Council holds public hearings and a final budget must be prepared 
and adopted no later than June 30. 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued 

June 30, 2014 

54 

 
II. STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY, Continued 

 
The appropriated budget is prepared by department. The department managers may make 
transfers of appropriations within a department. Transfers of appropriations between departments 
require the approval of the City Manager. The legal level of budgetary control (level at which 
expenditures may not legally exceed appropriations without seeking approval of the City Council) 
is the total appropriation resolve level. Supplemental budgetary appropriations must be approved 
by the City Council. There were no supplemental budgetary appropriations during fiscal year 
2014. 

 
Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts, and other commitments for 
the expenditure of funds are recorded in order to reserve that portion of the applicable 
appropriation, is employed in the governmental funds. Encumbrances do not constitute 
expenditures or liabilities because the commitments will be reappropriated and honored during 
the subsequent year. 

 
 B. Excess of Expenditures over Appropriations 

 
For the year ended June 30, 2014, expenditures exceeded appropriation in the following general 
fund categories: Economic Development, $1,945; City Manager, $13,614; Assessing, $3,479; 
City Clerk, $14,741, Finance, $3,596; Planning and Permitting, $12,019, Benefits and wage 
increases, $20,293; Fire, $175,502; Water and Sewer, $17,384; Health & Social Services-Public 
Assistance, $33,195; Debt service – principal, $643, Debt service – interest, $8,455. In total, the 
City’s expenditures were $1,174,072 less than total appropriations. 

 
C. Deficit Fund Equity 

 
At June 30, 2014, the City had the following funds with deficit fund balances:    
 
City Special Revenue $ 50,731 Maine DOT 101,092 
HEAPP 4,075 Safe School Health 4,527  
Underage Drinking 5,029 Energov Grant 1,724    
Joint Land Use Grant 16,649 American Firefighters 10,509  
Teen Driver Safety 108 EDI Grant 1,299,734 
211 Fairview 566,304 TIF 1,588,987 
    
Revenue to offset the 211 Fairview deficit is expected from a future property sale in fiscal year 
2015 – 2017 to Bedard Medical Equipment and Supplies.  Future revenues and transfers from the 
General Fund are expected to fund the remaining deficit fund balances. 

 
D. Budget Basis of Accounting vs. GAAP Basis of Accounting 

 
 The City's budget is reported on a modified accrual basis except that in the current year, certain 

workers compensation and unemployment payments were not budgeted, which were included in 
General Fund reserves.  

 
 Additionally, certain on-behalf payments made by the State of Maine to the Maine Public 

Employees Retirement System (Maine PERS) for teachers and certain other School employees 
are not budgeted.  Such on-behalf payments amounted to $2,871,164 in 2014.   



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued 

June 30, 2014 

55 

 
III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS 
 

A. Deposits and Investments 
 

1. Deposits 
 

Custodial Credit Risk:  Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the 
City’s deposits may not be returned to it. As of June 30, 2014, the City deposits amounted to 
$19,788,176 with bank balances of $21,706,843.  The City does not have a deposit policy for 
custodial credit risk. None of the City's total bank balance was exposed to custodial credit risk. 

 
2. Investments  

 
Maine statutes authorize the City to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury and U.S. 
Agencies, repurchase agreements, and certain corporate stocks and bonds.  The City has an 
Investment Policy, adopted by the City Council in 1995, which further defines the investments 
in which the City’s available funds are permitted to be invested.  At June 30, 2014, all the 
City’s investments were in money market accounts or certificates of deposits both of which 
have been included above under the disclosure on deposits. 
 
Deposits and investments have been reported as either cash and cash equivalents or as 
investments as follows in the financial statements: 
 

Reported in governmental funds $ 19,097,547  
Reported in proprietary funds 406,895 
Reported in fiduciary funds 283,734 
 
 Total reported $ 19,788,176 
 
Disclosed as deposits (above) $  5,693,570 
Disclosed as investments (above) 14,094,606     
  
 Total reported $ 19,788,176 

 
B.  Receivables 

 
Receivables as of June 30, 2014, for the City’s individual major funds, non major and business-
type enterprise funds in the aggregate, including applicable allowances for uncollectible accounts, 
are as follows: 
 

    Community  Other  
    Dev. Enterprise  Governmental  
   General Programs Funds Funds Total 
 Receivables: 
 Taxes  $ 2,064,263 -    -     -    2,064,263 
 Accounts  895,048 3,475    14,521 198,773   1,111,817 
 Loans  431,257 4,202,007 -     1,520,404 6,153,668 
 Intergovernmental -    518,505 49,447 1,071,626  1,639,578     
 Gross receivables 3,390,568 4,723,987 63,968 2,790,803 10,969,326 
 Less: allowance for 
    uncollectibles (77,000) (163,036)  -    -    (240,036) 
 Net total 
     receivables $ 3,313,568  4,560,951 63,968 2,790,803 10,729,290 

 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued 

June 30, 2014 

56 

 
III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS, Continued 

 
Property taxes levied during fiscal year 2014 are recorded as receivables.  The receivables 
collected during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014 and during the 1st 60 days of fiscal year 2015 
are recognized as revenues in the Governmental Funds, in fiscal year 2014.  Receivables of 
$1,792,296, estimated to be collectible subsequent to the 60 day period are considered to be 
unavailable revenues.  Prior year tax levies were recorded using the same principle. 

 
C. Property Taxes 

 
The City's property tax is levied on the assessed value listed as of the prior April 1 for all real and 
taxable personal property located in the City.  Assessed values are periodically established by the 
Assessor at 100% of the assumed market value.  Property taxes were levied August 21, 2013 on 
the assessed values of real property as of April 1, 2013.  Taxes were due September 25, 2013 
and March 15, 2014.  This assessed value of $2,005,721,383 was 104% of the 2014 state 
valuation of $1,926,200,000. 

 
The City is permitted by the laws of the State of Maine to levy taxes up to 105% of its net 
budgeted expenditures for the related fiscal period.  The amount raised in excess of 100% is 
referred to as overlay, and amounted to $425,900 for the year ended June 30, 2014. 
 
Tax liens are placed on real property within twelve months following the tax commitment date if 
taxes are delinquent.  The City has the authority to foreclose on property eighteen months after 
the filing of the lien if tax liens and associated costs remain unpaid. 

 
Property taxes levied during the year ended were recorded as receivables at the time the levy was 
made.  The receivables collected during the year ended and in the first sixty days following the 
end of the fiscal year have been recorded as revenues.  The remaining receivables have been 
recorded as unavailable revenues.   
 
The following summarizes the periods ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 levies: 
 

 2014 2013 
 Valuation: 
  Real property $1,823,040,083 1,820,465,334  
       Personal property 182,681,300 190,045,000 
  
 Assessed value (less exempt properties)  2,005,721,383  2,010,510,334 
 Tax rate (per $1,000) 20.43 19.59 

 
 Commitment 40,976,888 39,385,897  
 Supplemental taxes assessed 10,542 69,660 

    40,987,430 39,455,557  
 Less: 
 Collections and abatements 39,889,671 38,386,284 

 
 Receivable at June 30 $       1,097,759  1,069,273 

 
Due date(s) 9/25/13 9/15/12 

 3/15/14 3/15/13 
 

Interest rate charged on delinquent taxes 7.0% 7.0%  
Collection rate      97.3%   97.3%  



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued 

June 30, 2014 
 

57 

III.  DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS, Continued 
 

D. Capital Assets 
 

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2014 was as follows: 
  
 Balance   Balance 
 June 30,   June 30, 
 2013 Increases Decreases 2014 
 Governmental activities: 
 Capital assets, not being depreciated:  
 Land  $    7,489,841 -    -    7,489,841 
 Construction in progress     5,041,731 3,638,052 3,143,655 5,536,128 
 Total capital assets, not being depreciated 12,531,572 3,638,052 3,143,655 13,025,969 
 Capital assets, being depreciated: 
 Buildings and building improvements 74,783,919 497,104 -    75,281,023 
 Equipment 5,114,791 432,802 -    5,547,593 
 Vehicles 9,857,534 498,042 388,603 9,966,973 
 Infrastructure 90,774,446 5,495,361 -    96,269,807 
 Total capital assets being depreciated 180,530,690 6,923,309 388,603 187,065,396 
 Less accumulated depreciation for: 
 Buildings and building improvements 31,436,351 1,893,438 -    33,329,789 
 Equipment 3,893,636 334,014 -    4,227,650 
 Vehicles 6,156,582 753,221 376,490 6,533,313 
 Infrastructure 30,743,099 3,367,108 -    34,110,207 
 Total accumulated depreciation 72,229,668 6,347,781 376,490 78,200,959 
 
 Total capital assets being depreciated, net 108,301,022 575,528 12,113 108,864,437 
 Governmental activities  
      capital assets, net $ 120,832,594 4,213,580 3,155,768 121,890,406 

 
 Balance   Balance 
 June 30,   June 30, 
 2013 Increases Decreases 2014 
 Business-type activities: 
 Capital assets, being depreciated: 
 Improvements other than buildings $    18,584 -    -    18,584 
 Buildings and building improvements 672,279 35,905 -    708,184 
 Equipment 905,469 237,588 704,496  438,561 
 Vehicles 38,789  -    -        38,789 
 Total capital assets being depreciated 1,635,121 273,493 704,496 1,204,118 
 Less accumulated depreciation for: 
 Improvements other than buildings 18,584 -    -    18,584 
 Buildings and building improvements 431,402 24,204 -    455,606 
 Equipment 446,555 37,507 336,765 147,297 
 Vehicles 30,212 3,958 -    34,170 
 Total accumulated depreciation 926,753 65,669 336,765 655,657 
 
 Total capital assets being depreciated, net 708,368 207,824 367,731 548,461 
 Business-type activities capital 
     assets, net $   708,368 207,824 367,731 548,461 
 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued 

June 30, 2014 
 

58 

III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS, Continued 
 
Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows: 

 
Governmental activities: 

 General government   $   514,247  
   Public safety   416,252 
  Public works, including depreciation of general infrastructure assets 3,639,284 
  Health, welfare and recreation   234,715 
  Education   1,543,283 

   
    Total depreciation expense – governmental activities $ 6,347,781 
 

Business-type activities: 
  Ingersoll Ice Arena   $ 30,379 
  Norway Savings Bank Ice Arena     26,386 
  Centralized School Lunch   8,904 
 

     Total depreciation expense – business-type activities $ 65,669 
 

E.  Tax Increment Financing Districts 
 

The City currently has seventeen tax increment financing (TIF) districts, eleven of which were 
active during the year ended June 30, 2014.  Two of the seventeen districts never became active, 
and four have expired, leaving eleven active TIF districts (numbers 4 – 17 below, less #5, #7, #11 
and #15, which is combined with #14).  The objective of these TIF districts is to stimulate new 
investment in the community by financing, through various tax increment financing projects, 
various public improvements.  Taxes derived from increased assessed valuation within the 
districts can be "captured" for approved uses.  Expenditures in any given year may exceed 
captured values in that year as a result of balances available in TIF accounts from prior periods.   
 
The following is a brief description of each: 

 
#4 TAMBRANDS - This TIF was established in 1998 and encompasses 40 acres, all the value of 
which is represented by personal property.  The original value was $1,702,000.  100% of the tax 
revenue associated with increased value within the TIF is captured, 35% of which is used to fulfill 
the obligations under a credit enhancement agreement.  During 2014, $1,216,206 was captured, 
of which $790,534 was recorded in the General Fund and $425,672 was recorded in the TIF 
Fund.  During 2014, $1,216,206 was expended, of which $790,534 was expended in the General 
Fund and $425,672 was expended in the TIF Fund.  
 
#6 TAMBRANDS II - This TIF was established in 2001 and encompasses 84 acres.  The original 
value was $520,900.  100% of the tax revenue associated with increased value within the TIF is 
captured, 40% of which is used to fulfill the obligations under a credit enhancement agreement.  
During 2014, $179,719 was captured, of which $107,832 was recorded in the General Fund and 
$71,887 was recorded in the TIF Fund.  During 2014, $571,887 was expended, of which 
$500,000 was expended in the General Fund and $71,887 was expended in the TIF Fund. 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued 

June 30, 2014 
 

59 

III.  DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS, Continued 
 

#8 Gates Form Fiber - This TIF was established in 2001 and encompasses 54 acres.  The 
original value was $366,000.  100% of the tax revenue associated with increased value within the 
TIF can be captured, 40% of which is used to fulfill the obligations under a credit enhancement 
agreement.  During 2014, $76,190 was captured, of which $45,714 was recorded in the General 
Fund and $30,476 was recorded in the TIF Fund.  During 2014, $76,190 was expended, of which 
$45,714 was expended in the General Fund and $30,476 was expended in the TIF Fund. 
 
#9 Mall Area - This TIF was established in 2002 and amended in both 2006 and 2007.  The TIF 
as amended encompasses 57.74 acres. The amended base value is $5,956,300.  100% of the 
tax revenue associated with increased value within the TIF is captured and used for public 
improvements.  During 2014, $351,161 was captured and recorded in the TIF Fund and $810,113 
was expended in the TIF Fund. 
 
#10 The Downtown Area - This TIF was established in 2002, and encompasses 119.31 acres.  
The original value was $80,676,600.  100% of the tax revenue associated with increased value 
within the TIF can be captured.  During 2014, $706,081 was captured and recorded in the TIF 
Fund, $500,000 was transferred to the General Fund and $494,556 was expended in the TIF 
Fund. 
 
#12 Auburn Industrial Park - This TIF was established in 2006 and encompasses 144 acres. The 
original value was $334,200. 100% of the tax revenue associated with the increased value within 
the TIF is captured and will be dedicated to public improvements. During 2014, $139,049 was 
captured and recorded in the TIF Fund and $177,163 was expended in the TIF Fund. 

 
#13 Retail Development - This TIF was established in 2007 and encompasses 29.67 acres. The 
original value was $5,425,400. 100% of the tax revenue associated with the increased value 
within the TIF can be captured with a sliding scale of 30% to 40% to be used to fulfill obligations 
under a credit enhancement agreement that has established benchmarks triggering payments for 
growth in value and the balance restricted for public infrastructure improvements. During 2014, 
$302,991 was captured and recorded in the TIF Fund and $127,256 was expended in the TIF 
Fun. 
 
#14 & #15 Auburn Mall - This TIF was established in 2005 and encompasses 47.44 acres.  The 
original value was $12,719,900.  100% of the tax revenue associated with increased value within 
the TIF can be captured, 47% of which is used to fulfill the obligations under a credit 
enhancement agreement.  During 2014, $576,318 was captured, of which $76,362 was recorded 
in the General Fund and $499,956 was recorded in the TIF Fund.  During 2014, $1,158,168 was 
expended, of which $439,961 was expended in the General Fund and $718,207 was expended in 
the TIF Fund. 
 
#16 Webster School Housing - This TIF was established in 2010 and encompasses 1.4 acres. 
The original value was $522,800. 100% of the tax revenue associated with increased value within 
the TIF can be captured, 60% of which is used to fulfill the obligations under a credit 
enhancement agreement. During 2014, $45,491 was captured, of which $18,196 was recorded in 
the General Fund and $27,295 was recorded in the TIF Fund.  During 2014, $45,491 was 
expended, of which $18,196 was expended in the General Fund and $27,295 was expended in 
the TIF Fund. 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued 

June 30, 2014 
 

60 

III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS, Continued 
 
#17 Bedard Medical - This TIF was established in 2011 and encompasses 3.8 acres. The original 
value was $468,800. 100% of the tax revenue associated with increased value within the TIF can 
be captured, 40% of which is used to fulfill the obligations under a credit enhancement 
agreement. During 2014, $73,660 was captured, of which $44,196 was recorded in the General 
Fund and $29,464 was recorded in the TIF Fund.  During 2014, $73,660 was expended, of which 
$44,196 was expended in the General Fund and $29,464 was expended in the TIF Fund 
 

F. Interfund Receivables and Payables and Transfers 
 

The composition of interfund balances as of June 30, 2014 is as follows: 
 
 Interfund Interfund Transfers Transfers 
 Receivable Payable In Out 
 

 General Fund $ 8,116,581    -     500,000 2,584,032 
 Community Dev. Programs   -    70,211 -     -    
 Capital Projects -    5,996,745 -     -    
 Tax Incrementing Financing  -    360,902 2,584,032    500,000  
 Other Governmental Funds 373,544 2,157,316 -     -    
 Enterprise Fund: 
    Ingersoll Ice Arena -    34,623 -     -    
  Norway Savings Bank Ice Arena 126,407 -     -     -    
  Centralized School Lunch 3,265 -     -     -     
 
        Totals $ 8,619,797 8,619,797 3,084,032 3,084,032 
 

Interfund receivables and payables represent outstanding balances between funds that result 
from timing differences between when transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and 
when payments between funds are settled.   
 
Transfers are used to move revenues from the general fund to finance various other fund’s 
programs or activities in accordance with budgetary authorizations.   
 

G. Construction Contracts and Other Commitments 
 

The following is a list of the City’s open contracts as of June 30, 2014:  
  

  Funding Total Balance as of 
  Source Contract June 30, 2014 
 
 2014 Paving  Capital Projects Fund $    717,800       286,791 
 2014 Reconstruction Capital Projects Fund 731,380 473,265 
 Industrial Park EDA Grant 2,185,000 908,236 
 Parking Lot Hampshire St CDBG Grant 69,756 22,756 
 MPI Projects MDOT Grant 989,065 980,140 
 Park Ave/Mt Auburn Intersection MDOT Grant 442,500 224,641 
 Park Ave Phase II MDOT Grant 979,500 922,225 
 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued 

June 30, 2014 
 

61 

III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS, Continued 
 

As discussed in note II.A, Budgetary information, encumbrance accounting is utilized to the extent 
necessary to assure effective budgetary control and accountability and to facilitate effective cash 
planning and control.  At year end, the amount of encumbrances expected to be honored upon 
performance by the vendor in the next year were as follows: 

 
 General fund $    292,886 
 Special revenue funds 2,551,030 
 Capital project funds 3,007,455 
 
 Total $ 5,851,371 
  

H. Long-term Debt 
 
The City issues general obligation bonds to provide funds for the acquisition and construction of 
major capital facilities. General obligation bonds have been issued for both governmental and 
business-type activities.  On November 12, 2013, General Obligation Bonds totaling $5,625,000 
were issued and dedicated to the capital improvement program for the City and School 
Department. 
 
General obligation bonds are direct obligations and pledge the full faith and credit of the 
government. These bonds generally are issued as ten year serial bonds with equal amounts of 
principal maturing each year. Additionally, Androscoggin County, who’s bonded debt would be 
considered overlapping with the City of Auburn, had no outstanding debt at June 30, 2014.  
General obligation bonds and notes payable currently outstanding are as follows: 

 
       Interest   Outstanding 
    Issued Original Matures rate   balance 

Bonds: 
 School Construction Bonds   10/31/96 $ 8,400,000 11/01/16 5.183%-5.733% 1,260,000  
 General Obligation Bonds 04/30/02 6,000,000 11/01/22 3.05%-5.25% 2,700,000  
 General Obligation Bonds 10/31/02 8,200,000 11/01/22 2.031%-5.031% 3,690,000 
 MMWAC Bonding 09/11/04 11,950,000 11/01/14 4.00% 200,000 
 General Obligation Bonds 09/15/04 8,180,000 09/01/24 4.00%-4.25% 815,000 
 General Obligation Bonds 10/18/05 15,281,000 09/01/25 4.00%-4.50% 2,545,000 
 General Obligation Bonds 11/01/06 13,000,000 09/01/16 4.00%-4.25% 7,160,000 
 General Obligation Bonds 12/01/07 6,000,000 09/01/17 3.47% 2,400,000 
 General Obligation Bonds 10/15/08 6,430,000   09/01/18 3.65% 3,205,000 
 QZAB 12/11/10 1,000,000 12/11/19 0.40% 600,000 
 General Obligation Bonds   10/15/09 5,500,000 09/01/19 3.00% 3,300,000 
 General Obligation Bonds 11/01/10 7,900,000 09/01/20 2.00%-2.50% 5,530,000 
 General Obligation Bonds 11/01/11 4,500,000 09/01/21 2.00%-2.75% 3,600,000 

QZAB 07/13/12 1,057,323 07/13/22 4.40% 951,591 
General Obligation Bonds 09/27/12 13,835,000 09/01/27 2.00%-4.50% 13,245,000 

 General Obligation Bonds 11/19/13 5,625,000 09/01/27 2.00%-3.00% 5,625,000 
   Bonds payable      56,826,591 
 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued 

June 30, 2014 
 

62 

III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS, Continued 
 
Notes:  

School Revolving Loan 08/11/05 $ 704,970 08/11/15 0.00% 99,244 
School Revolving Loan 12/29/10 444,565 07/01/20 0.00% 311,195 
School Revolving Loan 09/13/13 188,313 09/13/18 0.00% 84,458 
 Notes payable     494,897 

 
 Total bonds and notes payable     $ 57,321,488 

 
Annual debt service requirements to maturity for general obligation bonds are as follows: 

 
Year Ending Bonds Payable Notes Payable   
June 30, Principal Interest            Principal Interest  

   
2015 $  8,455,732 1,755,699 110,970 -     
2016 7,810,732 1,496,195 110,970 -     
2017 7,345,732 1,239,702 61,348 -     
2018 6,470,732 1,025,191 61,348 -     
2019 5,785,732 831,146 61,348 -     
2020-2024 18,207,931 1,766,613 88,913 -     
2025-2029 2,750,000 131,891 -    -          

 
 Total $ 56,826,591 8,246,437 494,897 -          

 
For the year ended June 30, 2014, interest expense of the General Fund was $1,000,416. 
 
The City is subject to a statutory limitation by the State of Maine of its general long-term debt equal 
to 15% of the State’s valuation of the City. At June 30, 2014, the statutory limit for the City was 
$288,930,000. The City’s outstanding long-term debt of $56,826,591 at June 30, 2014 was 
$232,103,409 less than the statutory limit. 
 
Changes in General Long-term Liabilities. Long-term liability activity for the year ended June 30, 
2014 was as follows: 

 Beginning   Ending Due Within 
 Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year 
 Governmental activities: 
  Bonds payable 
      General obligation bonds  $ 59,534,323 5,625,000 8,332,732 56,826,591 8,455,732 
      Premium   1,052,751 186,945      70,183    1,169,513 82,646 
        Total bonds payable  60,587,074     5,811,945 8,402,915 57,996,104 8,538,378 
  Notes payable 504,518 84,458    94,079 494,897 110,970 
  Accrued compensated absences 2,283,585 -    74,848 2,208,737 74,848 
  Other post employment benefits 936,007 202,840 -     1,138,847 -     
  Accrued self-insurance liability 772,385 -    303,363 469,022 -     
    Net pension obligation: 
   City pension plan 735,683 80,982   -     816,665 -     
  Landfill postclosure care costs 525,615 53,843 -     579,458 75,994 
  Accrued interest on debt 662,925 -    88,871 574,054 574,054 
   Governmental activity 
     long-term liabilities $ 67,007,792 6,234,068 8,964,076 64,277,784 9,374,244 
 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued 

June 30, 2014 
 

63 

III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS, Continued 
 
General Fund and Special Revenue accounts have been used to liquidate the liability for 
compensated absences, landfill postclosure cost, net pension obligation and other post 
employment benefits.  

 
   I. Fund Balances 
  

 As of June 30, 2014, fund balances components consisted of the following: 
 

    Other  
   General Governmental 
   Fund Funds Total 

Nonspendable: 
 Prepaid expenditures $    198,246      -       198,246 
 Long-term receivables 431,257     5,559,375 5,990,632 
 Principal for permanent funds -     69,475 69,475 
Total nonspendable 629,503 5,628,850 6,258,353   

Restricted:  
 Education 1,969,754 601,758 2,571,512 
 City Special Revenue -     742,485 742,485 
 Community Development Programs -     316,106 316,106 
    Tax Increment Financing -     2,341,428 2,341,428 
 Permanent funds -     193,244 193,244 
Total restricted 1,969,754 4,195,021 6,164,775 
 
Committed: 
 Parking services -     51,587 51,587 
 Parks and recreation   -     304,018 304,018 
 Capital projects -     5,400,034 5,400,034 
Total committed -     5,755,639 5,755,639 
 
Assigned: 
   Reserves         50,978 -     50,978 
   Self insurance 469,022 -     469,022 
   Encumbrances 292,886 -     292,886 
Total assigned 812,886 -     812,886 
 

Unassigned 8,651,216 (3,649,469) 5,001,747 
   
Total fund balance $ 12,063,359 11,930,041 23,993,400 

 
 J.  Landfill Postclosure Care Costs 
 

State and federal laws require that the City place a final cover on its landfills when waste is no 
longer accepted and perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions at the sites for thirty 
years after closure. In addition to operating expenditures related to current activities of the landfill, a 
liability for the postclosure care costs are recorded in the governmental activities on the statement 
of net position (Statement 1).  



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued 

June 30, 2014 
 

64 

III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS, Continued 
 
The $579,458 reported as landfill postclosure care liability at June 30, 2014, represents the 
estimated liability for postclosure care costs at that date. The cost is comprised of $114,000 for 
post closure care costs (12 years) for a brush landfill that stopped accepting debris during fiscal 
year 1996. The additional cost of $465,458 represents the estimated future postclosure care cost (7 
years) of a previously closed ash landfill. 

 
The estimated total current cost of landfill postclosure care of $579,458 is based on the amount 
that would be paid if all equipment, facilities, and services required to close, monitor, and maintain 
the landfill were acquired as of June 30, 2014. Actual cost may be higher due to inflation, changes 
in technology, and changes in laws or regulations, or may be reduced if another governmental 
agency reimburses the City for a portion of the cost. 
 

K.  Net Position 
 
Net position represents the difference between assets and liabilities.  Net investment in capital 
assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding 
balance of bonds and notes payable and adding back any unspent proceeds.  Net position is 
reported as restricted when there are limitations imposed on their use either through the enabling 
legislations adopted by the City through external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors or laws 
or regulations of other governments.  The City’s net investment in capital assets was calculated as 
follows at June 30, 2014: 
 

  Governmental Business-type 
 Capital assets $  200,091,365 $  1,204,118 
 Accumulated depreciation (78,200,959) (655,657) 
 Bonds payable (56,826,591) -    
 Notes payable (494,897) -    
 Unspent bond proceeds 4,274,942    -    
 Unamortized debt premium (1,169,513) -    
 Non capital related 
      Unamortized debt premium 157,211 -        
     Total net investment in 
         capital assets $  67,831,558 $  548,461 

 
IV. OTHER INFORMATION 

 
A. Risk Management 
 

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to theft of, damage to and destruction of assets, 
errors and omissions and natural disasters for which the City is insured through the Maine 
Municipal Association Risk Pool, a state-chartered risk pool established exclusively for Maine 
municipalities. If the assets of the Pool are at any time actuarially determined to be insufficient to 
enable the Pool to discharge its legal liabilities and other obligations and to maintain actuarially 
sound reserves, the Pool has the power to make up the deficiency by the levy of a pro-rated 
assessment upon Pool Members for the amount needed to make up the deficiency. Management 
believes that no such deficiency exists at June 30, 2014. 
 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued 

June 30, 2014 
 

65 

IV. OTHER INFORMATION, Continued 
 
The City established a self-insured worker’s compensation program in May 1982. This program 
provides coverage for up to a maximum of $500,000 for each worker’s compensation claim. This 
amount totaled $469,022 at June 30, 2014. 
 
The City purchases commercial insurance for claims in excess of coverage provided by the self-
insurance program and for all other risks of loss. Settled claims have not exceeded this commercial 
coverage in any of the past three fiscal years. All departments of the City participate in the program 
and the General Fund budget is based on actuarial estimates of the amounts needed to pay prior 
and current year claims and to establish a reserve for estimated future payment of incurred losses. 
The total liability of $469,022 reported in the Statement of Net Position is based on the 
requirements of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, which requires that a liability for 
claims be reported if information prior to the issuance of the financial statements indicates that it is 
probable that a liability has been incurred at the date of the financial statement and the amount of 
the loss can be reasonably estimated. These losses include an estimate of claims that have been 
incurred but not reported. A discount rate of 4.5% has been used in calculating the liability.  

  
The following summarizes the claims activity with respect to the City’s self-insured workers’ 
compensation program. 

  Fiscal Year Fiscal Year 
  2014 2013 
 
 Unpaid claims as of July 1 $ 772,385  805,204 
 Incurred claims (including claims incurred but not 
  reported as of June 30) 3,725 294,586 
  
 Total claim payments 307,088 327,405 
 
 Current claims liability 21,229 17,270 
 Long-term claims liability 447,793 755,115 
 
  Total unpaid claims liability $ 469,022  772,385 
 

The City assigns a portion of its General Fund fund balance for both workers compensation and a 
reserve for unemployment.  This amounted totaled $469,022 at June 30, 2014. 

 
B. Joint Ventures 

 
The City of Auburn has entered into several ventures with other entities. The following joint 
ventures result from a contractual arrangement (interlocal agreement) in which the City retains an 
ongoing financial responsibility. The following joint ventures’ existence depends on continued 
funding by the governments: 
 
 Auburn-Lewiston Municipal Airport 
 Lewiston-Auburn Economic Growth Council 
  Lewiston-Auburn Transit Committee 
  Lewiston-Auburn 9-1-1 Committee 
 
The interlocal agreements for these four joint ventures do not stipulate that the participants have 
a present or future claim to the net resources of the organization, except upon dissolution.  
 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued 

June 30, 2014 
 

66 

IV. OTHER INFORMATION, Continued 
 
Therefore, no equity interest has been reported in the financial statements for these joint 
ventures. 
 
Mid Maine Waste Action Corporation is a joint venture that provides for waste disposal for the 
City and eleven other participating governments. The City is responsible for disposing of its 
municipal solid waste at the facility and therefore has an ongoing financial responsibility to it.  
 
Additionally, as described in the interlocal agreement, the City is responsible for funding certain 
deficits the organization may incur. 

 
Information pertaining to each of these five joint ventures follows: 

 
Auburn-Lewiston Municipal Airport 
 
The Auburn-Lewiston Municipal Airport is operated jointly by the Cities of Auburn and Lewiston by 
a seven-member board currently comprised of three members from the City of Auburn and three 
members from the City of Lewiston appointed by the respective City Councils, and one member 
from Auburn Chamber of Commerce. The Airport’s governing Board selects management staff, 
sets user charges, establishes budgets, and controls all aspects of its operations. The City of 
Auburn is responsible, through the budget process, to fund 50% of the annual anticipated 
operating and capital needs of the airport. In the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014, the City of 
Auburn contributed $105,000 for airport operations. 
 
The following is selected information for the years ending June 30, 2014 and June 30, 2013: 

 
       June 30,           June 30, 
       2014           2013 
Total assets $ 8,462,728 $ 9,081,302 
Total liabilities 74,929 61,538 
Net position 8,387,799          9,019,764 
Change in net position   (631,965) (273,980) 

 
In addition to contributions from the two municipalities, the Airport derives revenues through user 
fees, interest on investments in time deposits and from federal and state grants. For the year ended 
June 30, 2014, the Airport had total revenues of $1,410,371 and expenditures of $2,042,336, 
including depreciation of $537,472. 
 
The separate audited financial statements of the Auburn-Lewiston Municipal Airport may be 
obtained from the City’s Finance Department. 
 
Lewiston-Auburn Economic Growth Council 
 
The Lewiston-Auburn Economic Growth Council (LAEGC) is a nonprofit corporation formed to 
stimulate industrial and commercial development and expansion in the cities of Auburn and 
Lewiston. Auburn participates equally in this joint venture with the City of Lewiston, the Lewiston 
Development Corporation, and the Auburn Business Development Corporation. 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued 

June 30, 2014 
 

67 

IV. OTHER INFORMATION, Continued 
 
The Growth Council is administered by a twelve-member board comprised of three members from 
each participant. The six members who represent the Cities of Auburn and Lewiston are appointed 
by the Mayors of those cities. The other board members are appointed by their respective 
corporations. 
 
The Growth Council’s governing Board selects management staff, establishes budgets and controls 
all aspects of its operations. The City of Auburn is responsible through the budget process, to fund 
25% of the annual anticipated operating needs of the Council. 
 
In the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014, the City of Auburn did not contribute to the Growth Council. 
 
The following is selected information for the years ending June 30, 2013 and June 30, 2012 (the 
latest information available): 

 
      June 30,      June 30, 
       2013       2012 
Total assets $ 1,928,143 $ 2,354,608 
Total liabilities 1,471,563 1,866,872 
Net assets 456,580 487,736 
Change in net assets (31,156)             (43,855) 

 
The Council derives the bulk of its revenues from the participants, but also receives some funds 
from federal and state grants. During the year ended June 30, 2013, revenues totaled $570,628 
while total expenditures amounted to $601,784. 
 
The separate audited financial statements of the Lewiston-Auburn Economic Growth Council may 
be obtained from the City’s Finance Department. 

 
Lewiston-Auburn Transit Committee 
 
The Lewiston-Auburn Transit Committee is a joint venture of the Cities of Lewiston and Auburn. 
The Committee was formed for the purpose of planning and implementing short-term and long-term 
bus transit development, and to apply for and administer federal and state capital acquisition and 
operating assistance grants for mass transit benefiting the Lewiston-Auburn area. The Committee 
is made up of six members, three each from the Cities of Auburn and Lewiston, appointed by their 
respective City Councils. The Committee’s governing board selects management staff, sets user 
charges, establishes budgets and controls all aspects of its operations. 
 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014, the City of Auburn contributed $235,373 for operating 
expenses. 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued 

June 30, 2014 
 

68 

IV. OTHER INFORMATION, Continued 
 

The following is selected information for the years ending September 30, 2013 and September 30, 
2012 (the latest information available): 

 
   September 30, September 30, 
      2013 2012 
Total assets $ 2,164,692 $ 2,314,385 
Total liabilities 661,446 645,720 
Net assets 1,503,246 1,668,665 
Change in net assets (165,419) (393,468) 

 
Total revenues for the year ended September 30, 2013 were $1,603,670; expenditures were 
$1,769,089, including depreciation on contributed assets of $220,784.  
 
The separate audited financial statements of the Lewiston-Auburn Transit Committee may be 
obtained from the City’s Finance Department. 

 
Lewiston-Auburn 9-1-1 Committee 
 
The Lewiston-Auburn 9-1-1 Committee is a joint venture of the Cities of Auburn and Lewiston. 
Incorporated on January 26, 1978, the committee provides an emergency communication system 
for the Auburn-Lewiston area. The Committee is made up of seven members, the police and fire 
chiefs and one councilor from each city and a citizen-at-large from either city elected by those six 
members. The at-large member serves as Committee Chairman. 
 
The committee’s primary source of revenues consists of equal contributions from the Cities of 
Auburn and Lewiston. In the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014, the City of Auburn contributed 
$1,030,802. 
 
The following is selected financial information for the years ending June 30, 2014 and June 30, 
2013 (the latest information available):  

 
        June 30, June 30, 
        2014 2013 
Total assets and other debits $ 1,026,833 $ 670,683  
Total liabilities and other credits 549,941 315,119 
Net position and other credits 476,892 355,564 

  Change in net position and other credits 121,328 (92,050) 
 

Total revenues for the year ended June 30, 2014 were $2,221,079; expenditures were $2,099,751.  
The separate audited financial statements of the Lewiston-Auburn 9-1-1 Committee may be 
obtained from the City’s Finance Department. 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued 

June 30, 2014 
 

69 

IV. OTHER INFORMATION, Continued 
 

Mid-Maine Waste Action Corporation 
 
Mid-Maine Waste Action Corporation (MMWAC) is a joint venture of the City of Auburn and eleven 
other Maine municipalities. The Corporation was formed in March 1986 for the purpose of razing the 
old Auburn Energy Recovery Facility and constructing a regional waste to energy facility. MMWAC is 
governed by the provisions of its Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws, and by the interlocal 
agreement between MMWAC and each of the participating municipalities. Each of the participating 
municipalities has also entered into a Waste Handling Agreement with MMWAC pursuant to which 
the municipality is obligated to send all of its waste to MMWAC for the term of the agreement. The 
Corporation is administered by a twelve-member board comprised of one member from each 
participating municipality. Each member is entitled to one vote for all corporate business except for 
bonding which matures more than three years from the date of issuance and for adoption of the 
annual budget in which case votes are weighted by community population and requires an 85% 
majority for passage. The City of Auburn accounts for approximately 70% of the population of the 
twelve municipalities participating in MMWAC. 

 
The following is selected financial information for MMWAC for the years ending June 30, 2013 and 
June 30, 2012 (the latest information available): 

 
     2013      2012 
Total assets $ 17,116,117 $ 18,373,730 
Total liabilities 352,547 361,455 
Members’ equity 16,763,570 18.012,275 
Operating revenue 6,270,326 6,247,540 
Operating expenses 5,894,444 5,690,568 
Depreciation and amortization 1,658,520 1,665,764 
Other expenses  26,391 -    
Non operating revenue  60,324 66,967 
Net income before depreciation and     

amortization 
 
375,882 556,972 

   
Net change in members equity (1,248,705) (1,041,825) 

 
The Waste Handling Agreement obligates each member municipality to pay its “proportionate 
share” of all liabilities and expenses of MMWAC to the extent MMWAC does not have sufficient 
funds therefore. In September 1994 a consensus of the member communities concluded that the 
most cost effective method of funding MMWAC’s obligations was for each of the member 
communities to issue general obligation debt to fund the communities’ share of certain of 
MMWAC’s obligations. Accordingly such debt was issued and the proceeds contributed to MMWAC 
to liquidate these obligations. 
 
The separate audited financial statements of the MMWAC may be obtained from the City’s Finance 
Department. 
 

C. Subsequent Events 
 
On October 30, 2014, the City of Auburn issued $6,800,000 of non-taxable General Obligation 
Bonds for the Fiscal Year 2015 Capital Improvements. The interest rate on the bonds range from 
2.00 – 4.00 percent and the maturity date is September 1, 2024. 
 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued 

June 30, 2014 
 

70 

IV. OTHER INFORMATION, Continued 
 
D. Deferred Compensation Plan 
 

The City offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with the Internal 
Revenue Code Section 457. The plan, available to all full-time municipal employees, permits them 
to defer a portion of their salary until future years. All assets and income of the plan are held in trust 
for the exclusive benefit of the participants and their beneficiaries. The deferred compensation is 
not available to employees until termination of employment, unforeseeable emergency or 
retirement. In the event of an employee’s death, the beneficiary is eligible to receive the full value of 
the account, including earnings. 

 
E. Employee Retirement Systems and Plans 
 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan 
 
Plan Description. The City of Auburn contributes to the Consolidated Plan for Participating Local 
Districts (CPPLD) a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by 
the Maine Public Employees Retirement System (Maine PERS). Maine PERS is established and 
administered under the Maine PERS Laws, Title 5 M.R.S.A., C. 421, 423, 425. CPPLD provides 
retirement and disability benefits, annual cost-of living adjustments, and death benefits to plan 
members and beneficiaries. The authority to establish and amend benefit provisions rests with the 
State legislature. Maine PERS issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial 
statements and required supplementary information for the CPPLD. That report may be obtained 
by writing to Maine Public Employees Retirement System, 46 State House Station, Augusta, Maine 
04333-0046 or by calling 1-800-451-9800. 

 
Funding Policy. Plan members are required to contribute 6.5% of their annual covered salary and 
the City is required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate. The rate for the year ended June 
30, 2014, is 6.5% of covered payroll for the regular plan and 7.9% of covered payroll for the special 
plan which covers police and fire employees. The contribution requirements of the plan members 
and the City are established by and may be amended by the Maine Public Employees Retirement 
System Board of Trustees. The City’s contribution to the CPPLD for the years ending June 30, 
2014, 2013, and 2012, $714,403, $622,065, and $485,427, respectively, equal to the required 
contribution for each year. 

 
Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability. Effective July 1, 1994, the City joined the CPPLD of the 
Maine Public Employees Retirement System (Maine PERS).  Upon entry, the City ceased to be an 
individual sponsor of PLD #27 and instead became a participant in CPPLD. As a participant of the 
plan, the City was required to fund its remaining Initial Unfunded Unpooled Actuarial Liability 
(IUUAL) over a period of 15 years. At June 30, 2003, the remaining balance was $1,088,521.  In 
September 2003, the City issued taxable general obligation bonds for the purpose of extinguishing 
its IUUAL obligation and delivered to Maine PERS full payment for its obligation at that date.  
Subsequent to the delivery of bond proceeds, all investments became the responsibility of Maine 
PERS and any future investment gains and losses experienced by Maine PERS do not result in 
any additional payment by the City in regard to its extinguished IUUAL obligation. 
 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued 

June 30, 2014 
 

71 

IV.  OTHER INFORMATION, Continued 
 
School Employees’ Retirement Plan. Teachers and certain other School Department employees 
also participate in Maine PERS through the Teachers Retirement Plan, an agent, multiple 
employer, defined benefit pension plan. School employees participating in the Age 60 Plan are 
eligible for normal retirement upon attaining age 60 provided they have 25 years of creditable 
service. Employees are penalized 2.25% for each year of early retirement. School employees 
participating in the Age 62 Plan are eligible for normal retirement upon attaining age 62 provided 
they have 25 years of creditable service. Employees are penalized 6.0% for each year of early 
retirement. The authority to establish and amend benefit provisions rests with the State legislature. 
Maine PERS issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and 
required supplementary information for the Teachers Retirement Plan. That report may be obtained 
by writing the Maine Public Employees Retirement System, 46 State House Station, Augusta, 
Maine 04333-0046. 

 
Employees are required by State statute to contribute 7.65% of their compensation to the 
retirement system. As of July 1, 2013, as a result of the State of Maine Biennial budget, the City of 
Auburn Department of Education became responsible for approximately half the normal cost of the 
teacher’s plan.  This is 2.65% of earned compensation. 
 
Contributions paid by the State to the plan for the years ending June 30, 2014, 2013, and 2012 
were $2,871,164, $3,110,952, and $2,992,015, respectively, equal to the required contribution for 
each year. The current year amount has been recognized as a revenue and expenditure/expense 
during the period. 
 
Defined Contribution Pension Plan 
 

The City contributes to the International City Manager’s Money Purchase Plan, which is a defined 
contribution pension plan administered by the International City Manager’s Association Retirement 
Corporation. 
 
 

A defined contribution pension plan provides pension benefits in return for services rendered, 
provides an individual account for each participant, and specifies how contributions to the 
individual’s account are to be determined instead of specifying the amount of benefits the individual 
is to receive. Under a defined contribution pension plan, the benefits a participant will receive 
depend solely on the amount contributed to the participant’s account, the returns earned on 
investments of those contributions, and forfeitures of other participant’s benefits that may be 
allocated to such participant’s account. As established by council resolve, all municipal employees 
of the City have the option of participating in the plan or the Maine Public Employees Retirement 
System.  
 
Contributions made by both the employee and the employer vest immediately. An employee who 
leaves the employment of the City is entitled to all contributions and earned income in his account 
at that time. Each employee must contribute a minimum of 5% of his or her gross earnings to the 
pension plan, while the City is required to contribute an amount equal to 6% of the employee’s 
gross earnings. 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued 

June 30, 2014 
 

72 

IV. OTHER INFORMATION, Continued 
 
During the year, the City’s required and actual contributions amounted to $158,085, which was 
5.4% of its current-year covered payroll. The covered payroll amounted to $2,879,327. Employees’ 
required contributions amounted to $131,740, which was 4.6% of the City’s current year covered 
payroll. 

 
No pension provision changes occurred during the year that affected the required contributions to 
be made by the City or its employees. 
 
The I.C.M.A. Money Purchase Plan held no securities of the City or other related parties during the 
year or as of the close of the year. 
 

City Pension Plan 
 

Plan Description. The City Pension Plan is a contributory single employer defined benefit pension 
plan, and covers certain police and fire employees who joined prior to the City’s participation in the 
Maine PERS. Once the City elected to participate in the Maine PERS, employees were no longer 
eligible to join this plan. 
 
A pensioner’s benefit is adjusted annually based on the current compensation level of the position 
from which the pensioner retired.  
 

At June 30, 2014, the plan consisted of 13 retirees and beneficiaries. The last active employee 
retired on March 31, 1992.  
 

Funding Policy. No funds have been accumulated, nor are any funds expected to be accumulated 
for the payment of these benefits. All benefits are paid directly by the City as they come due. 

 
Annual Pension Cost and Net Pension Obligation. The City’s annual pension cost and net pension 
obligation for the year ended June 30, 2014, were as follows: 
 

  Interest on net pension obligation $   37,899 
  Differences between expected and actual experience 47,849 
  Changes of assumptions, including discount rate 47,862 
   Annual pension cost 133,610 
  Contributions made (149,845) 
          Increase (decrease) in net pension obligation (16,235) 
  Net pension obligation beginning of year 832,900 
 

     Net pension obligation end of year $ 816,665 
 

The annual required contribution for the current year was determined as part of the July 1, 2014 
actuarial valuation using the Entry Age Normal Cost Method. The actuarial assumptions included 
(a) 3.50% discount rate and (b) 3.0% future benefit increases. The unfunded actuarial accrued 
liability is being recognized as a level dollar amount on a closed basis. The remaining amortization 
period at June 30, 2014 was 9 years. 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued 

June 30, 2014 
 

73 

IV. OTHER INFORMATION, Continued 
 

The following provides three-year trend information, a schedule of employee contributions and a 
schedule of funding programs for the City’s pension plan. 

 
                      Three-Year Trend Information 

 

Fiscal Year Annual % of Annual   
Ending Pension  Pension Cost Net Pension 

June 30, Cost    Contributed Obligation 
    

2012 
2013 
2014 

    $ 91,702 
106,240 
133,610 

183% 
147% 
112% 

861,133 
832,900 
816,665 

 
 
                                        Schedule of Employer Contributions 

 
 Actuarial  
 Required Percentage 

Fiscal Contribution of ARC 
Year End (ARC) Contributed 

   
6/30/2004 $ 195,334 115% 
6/30/2005 196,372 110% 
6/30/2006 196,129 113% 
6/30/2007 205,136 107% 
6/30/2008   212,154 87% 
6/30/2009   191,601 98% 
6/30/2010 206,838 93% 
6/30/2011 
6/30/2012 

239,226 
244,464 

75% 
69% 

6/30/2013 289,758 54% 
6/30/2014 149,845 100% 

   
Funded status and funding progress.  As of July 1, 2014, the most recent actuarial valuation date, 
the funded status of the plan was as follows: 
 
 Actuarial accrued liability (AAL) $ 816,665 
 Actuarial value of plan assets -        
      
 Unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) $ 816,665 
  
 Funded ratio (actuarial value of plan assets/AAL) 0%   
 
 Covered payroll $         -  
 
 UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll   0% 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued 

June 30, 2014 
 

74 

IV. OTHER INFORMATION, Continued 
 

Actuarial methods and assumptions.  The ARC for the plan was determined as part of the July 1, 
2013 actuarial valuation using the following methods and assumptions: 
  
 Discount Rate 3.50% per year 
 Investment Rate of Return N/A 
 Retirement Age All members are currently receiving benefits 
 Mortality RP2000 Mortality Tables for Male and Female 

Retirees static projected to 2014  and fully 
projected thereafter 

 Disabled Mortality None 
 Marriage Assumptions None 
 Cost of living adjustments 3.00% 
  
Other Post Employment Benefits 
   
GASB Statement 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment 
Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB), was implemented, as required, by the City of Auburn for 
the year ended June 30, 2009.  Under this pronouncement, it requires that the long-term cost of 
retirement health care and obligations for other postemployment benefits be determined on an 
actuarial basis and reported similar to pension plans. 

 
The City is a member of the Maine Municipal Employees Health Trust.  The Trust is a multiple 
employer Voluntary Employee’s Beneficiary Association.  The City is an individually rated 
member within the Association.  The Trust issues a publicly available financial report.  That report 
may be obtained by writing to the Maine Municipal Association at 60 Community Drive, Augusta, 
ME 04332. The Health Trust contracted with an outside consultant to assist in the determination 
and valuation of the City’s OPEB liability under GASB Statement 45.  An OPEB liability actuarial 
valuation was completed by the consultants in October 2013. 

 
Plan Descriptions – In addition to providing pension benefits, the City provides health care 
benefits for certain retired employees.  Eligibility to receive health care benefits follows the same 
requirements as MainePERS.  Eligible retirees are required to pay 100% of the health insurance 
premiums to receive health benefit coverage. 

  
Funding Policy and Annual OPEB Cost – GASB Statement 45 does not mandate the 
prefunding of postemployment benefits liability.  The City currently plans to fund these benefits on 
a pay-as-you-go basis. No assets have been segregated and restricted to provide 
postemployment benefits.  The annual required contribution (ARC), an actuarial determined rate, 
represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal cost 
each year and amortize unfunded actuarial liabilities over a period not to exceed thirty years. 

 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued 

June 30, 2014 
 

75 

 
IV.  OTHER INFORMATION, Continued  

 
The following table represents the OPEB costs for the FY 2014, 2013, 2012, 2011, 2010, and 
2009 and the annual required contribution: 

 
 FY 2014 FY 2013 FY 2012 FY2011 FY2010   FY2009  
 
Normal Cost 

 
$    77,550 

 
77,550 

 
  56,128     56,128 38,217 38,217 

Amortization of Unfunded 196,031 196,031 217,081 217,081 163,649 163,649 
Interest 42,858 34,550 25,991 17,281 10,035 3,997 
Adjustment to ARC (54,129) (42,118) (29,754) (17,161) (8,729) -  
   Annual Required Contribution 262,310 266,013 269,446 273,329 203,172 205,863 
Contributions Made (59,470) (58,309) (55,650)   (55,571) (57,360)  (54,926) 
Increase in Net OPEB 202,840 207,704 213,796 217,758 145,812 150,937  
 
Net OPEB Obligation – beginning of year 

 
936,007 

 
728,303 

 
514,507 296,749 150,937 -  

 
Net OPEB Obligation - end of year 

 
$ 1,138,847 

 
$ 936,007 

 
728,303 

  
514,507 

 
 296,749 

  
150,937 

 
The following table represents the OPEB costs, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed 
to the plan, and the net OPEB obligation for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014 and the five 
preceding years.  The City implemented GASB 45 effective with fiscal year ended June 30, 2009 
and data for the year ended June 30, 2008 is not available. 

  
Percentage of 

 
 

Annual Annual OPEB Cost Net OPEB 
Fiscal Year End OPEB Costs Contributed Obligation 

    June 30, 2009  $      205,863  26.68%        150,937  
June 30, 2010          203,172  28.23%       296,749  
June 30, 2011          273,329              20.33%        514,507  
June 30, 2012          269,446             20.65%        728,303 
June 30, 2013 266,013 21.91% 936,007 
June 30, 2014 262,310 22.67% 1,138,847 

 
Funding Status and Funding Progress – The City’s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of 
annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan, and the net OPEB obligation for the year ending June 
30, 2014 and three preceding years are as follows: 

 

  
FY 2014 FY 2013   FY2012 

Actuarial accrued liability 
 

$    3,525,364   $    3,525,364       3,903,927  
Plan assets 

 
        -                 -                    -                    

Unfunded actuarial accrued liability $    3,525,364       3,525,364      3,903,927   
Funded ratio 

 
0% 0% 0% 

Covered payroll 
 

$  12,075,857 $  11,859,085   11,513,675  
Unfunded actuarial accrued liability  

     as a percentage of covered payroll 29.19% 29.73% 33.91% 
 
 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued 

June 30, 2014 
 

76 

IV. OTHER INFORMATION, Continued 
 
Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about 
the probability of events in the future.  Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the 
plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are subject to continual revision as 
actual results are compared to past expectations and new estimates are made about the future.  
The required schedule of funding progress presented as required supplementary information 
provides multiyear trend information that shows whether the actuarial value of plan assets is 
increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liability for benefits. 

 
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions – Projections of benefits are based on the substantive 
plan (the plan as understood by the employer and plan members) and include the types of 
benefits in force at the valuation date and the pattern of sharing benefit costs between the City 
and plan members at that point.  Actuarial calculations reflect a long-term perspective and employ 
methods and assumptions that are designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued 
liabilities and the actuarial value of plan assets.  Significant methods and assumptions were as 
follows: 
 

 Actuarial valuation date 1/1/13 
 Actuarial cost method Projected Unit Credit 
 Amortization method Level dollar open 
 Open amortization period 30 years 
 Discount Rate 4.0% 
 Rate of Salary Increases 3.0% 
 Ultimate Rate of Medical Inflation 4.25%  
 

Health Care Cost Trend Rate - The trend rates of incurred claims represent the rate of increase 
in employer claim payments: 

 
  Year  Pre-Medicare Medicare-Eligible 
  2013  8.91% 10.02% 
  2014  8.61% 9.65% 
  2015  8.30% 9.28% 
  2016  8.00% 8.90% 
  2017  7.69% 8.52% 
  2018  7.38% 8.14% 
  2019  7.07% 7.75% 
  2020  6.76% 7.37% 
  2021  6.45% 6.98% 
  2022  6.14% 6.60% 
  2023  5.82% 6.21% 
  2024  5.51% 5.82% 
  2025  5.19% 5.43% 
  2026  4.88% 5.03% 
  2027  4.57% 4.64% 
  2028+  4.25% 4.25% 
   

Future Plan Changes – It is assumed that the current plan and cost-sharing structure remains in 
place for all future years. 
 
Payroll Growth – For the level percentage of pay amortization method, total payroll is assumed to 
grow at 3.00% per year. 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Required Supplementary Information 

June 30, 2014 
 

77 

Schedule of Funding Progress 
 

City Pension Plan 
 

Actuarial  Actuarial 
Valuation Plan Accrued 

Date Assets Liability 
   

6/30/2005  $      -       1,546,846 
6/30/2006 -   1,509,819 
6/30/2007 -   1,443,008 
6/30/2008 -            1,189,800 
6/30/2009 - 1,154,649 
6/30/2010 
6/30/2011 

- 
- 

1,176,354 
1,029,771 

6/30/2012 -   1,039,516 
6/30/2013 - 832,900 
6/30/2014 - 816,665 

                                                                                                              
 
 

Retiree Healthcare Plan 
 
 Actuarial  UAAL as a 
  Actuarial Accrued  Unfunded   Percentage 
 Actuarial Value of Liability (AAL) – AAL Funded Covered of Covered 
Fiscal  Valuation Assets Entry Age (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll 
Year Date  (a)   (b)   (b-a)   (a/b)   (c)   [(b-a) /c] 
 
2009 1/1/09 $        -         $2,943,011 $2,943,011 0.00% $11,162,860 26.36% 
2010 1/1/09        -         2,943,011 2,943,011 0.00% 11,434,678 25.74% 
2011 1/1/11 -         3,903,927 3,903,927 0.00% 11,287,917 34.59% 
2012 1/1/11 -         3,903,927 3,903,927 0.00% 11,513,675 33.91% 
2013 1/1/13 -         3,525,364 3,525,364 0.00% 11,859,085 29.73% 
2014 1/1/13 -         3,525,364 3,525,364 0.00% 12,075,857 29.19%



This page left blank intentionally. 



 

 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
 

Special Revenue Funds 
 
Special revenue funds are used to account for specific revenues that are restricted either by law or by 
administrative action, to expenditure for particular purposes. 
 

Permanent Funds 
    
Permanent funds are used to report resources that are legally restricted to the extent that only earnings, 
not principal, may be used for purposes that support the City’s programs. 
 
Frank Boomer – This fund is used to account for principal trust amounts received and related interest 
income. The interest portion of the trust can be used to benefit the poor and needy families of the City. 
 
Ella Foss – This fund is used to account for principal trust amounts received and related interest income. 
The interest portion of the trust can be used to benefit the needy and indigent residents of the City for 
food, shelter, clothing and medical treatment. 
 
George Stetson – This fund is used to account for principal trust amounts received and related interest 
income. The interest portion of the trust can be used to benefit the poor of the City. 
 
Cemetery Perpetual Care – This fund is used to account for principal trust amounts received and 
related interest income. The interest portion of the trust can be used to maintain various City cemeteries.



This page left blank intentionally. 



81

Exhibit A-1

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Combining Balance Sheet

Nonmajor Governmental Funds
June 30, 2014

Nonmajor
Special Nonmajor Total Other

Revenue Permanent Governmental
Funds Funds Funds

ASSETS
Investments $ 303,198          266,278          569,476              
Receivables:  

Accounts 198,773          -                      198,773              
Loans receivable 1,520,404       -                      1,520,404            
Interfund receivables 373,544          -                      373,544              
Intergovernmental 1,071,626       -                      1,071,626            

Total assets  $ 3,467,545       266,278          3,733,823            

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 133,891          -                      133,891              
Accrued payroll and benefits payable 20,127            -                      20,127                
Interfund payables 2,153,757       3,559              2,157,316            

Total liabilities 2,307,775       3,559              2,311,334            

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable - long-term receivables 1,520,404       -                      1,520,404            
Nonspendable - principal -                     69,475            69,475                
Restricted 1,344,243       193,244          1,537,487            
Committed 355,605          -                      355,605              
Unassigned (2,060,482)      -                      (2,060,482)          

Total fund balances 1,159,770       262,719          1,422,489            

Total liabilities and fund balances  $ 3,467,545       266,278          3,733,823            



82

Exhibit A-2

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Nonmajor Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

Nonmajor
Special Nonmajor Total Other

Revenue Permanent Governmental
Funds Funds Funds

Revenues:
Intergovernmental  $ 6,546,819        -                           6,546,819                
Charges for services 495,538           -                           495,538                   
Other revenue 119,397           -                           119,397                   
Interest revenue -                       445                      445                          

Total revenues 7,161,754        445                      7,162,199                

Expenditures:
Current:

General government 365,388           -                           365,388                   
Public Safety 572,085           -                           572,085                   
Culture and recreation 267,817           -                           267,817                   
Public Works 2,905,653        -                           2,905,653                
Education 4,052,310        -                           4,052,310                
Miscellaneous -                       235                      235                          

Debt service 134,941           -                           134,941                   
Total expenditures 8,298,194        235                      8,298,429                

Net change in fund balances (1,136,440)       210                      (1,136,230)               

Fund balances, beginning of year 2,296,210        262,509               2,558,719                

Fund balances, end of year $ 1,159,770        262,719               1,422,489                



83

Exhibit B-1

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Combining Balance Sheet

Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds
June 30, 2014
City School 211 Parks and

Special Special Fairview Parking Recreation Totals

ASSETS
Investments $ 104,927        -                   -                198,271   -                 303,198             
Receivables:

Accounts 140,026        36,238         -                17,707     4,802          198,773             
Loans receivable 1,520,404     -                   -                -              -                 1,520,404          
Interfund receivables -                   69,940         -                -              303,604      373,544             
Intergovernmental 537,543        534,083       -                -              -                 1,071,626          

Total assets $ 2,302,900     640,261       -                215,978   308,406      3,467,545          
 

LIABILITIES  
Accounts payable 110,800        18,376         -                327          4,388          133,891             
Accrued payroll and benefits payable -                   20,127         -                -              -                 20,127               
Interfund payables 1,423,389     -                   566,304     164,064   -                 2,153,757          

Total liabilities 1,534,189     38,503         566,304     164,391   4,388          2,307,775          

FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS)
Nonspendable - long-term receivables 1,520,404     -                   -                -              -                 1,520,404          
Restricted 742,485        601,758       -                -              -                 1,344,243          
Committed -                   -                   -                51,587     304,018      355,605             
Unassigned (1,494,178)   -                   (566,304)   -              -                 (2,060,482)         

Total fund balances (deficits) 768,711        601,758       (566,304)   51,587     304,018      1,159,770          

Total liabilities and fund balances $ 2,302,900     640,261       -                215,978   308,406      3,467,545          



84

Exhibit B-2 

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

City School 211 Parks and
Special Special Fairview Parking Recreation Totals

Revenues:
Intergovernmental $ 2,552,951         3,993,868          -                     -                -                6,546,819    
Charges for services 85,482              -                         -                     130,202    279,854     495,538       
Other income 119,065            -                         -                     332           -                119,397       

Total revenues 2,757,498         3,993,868          -                     130,534    279,854     7,161,754    

Expenditures:
Current:

General government 207,381            -                         -                     158,007    -                365,388       
Public Safety 572,085            -                         -                     -                -                572,085       
Culture and recreation 33,156              -                         -                     -                234,661     267,817       
Public Works 2,905,653         -                         -                     -                -                2,905,653    
Education -                       4,052,310          -                     -                -                4,052,310    

Debt service 134,941            -                         -                     -                -                134,941       
Total expenditures 3,853,216         4,052,310          -                     158,007    234,661     8,298,194    

Net change in fund balances (1,095,718)        (58,442)              -                     (27,473)     45,193       (1,136,440)   

Fund balances (deficit), beginning of year 1,864,429         660,200             (566,304)        79,060      258,825     2,296,210    

Fund balances (deficit), end of year $ 768,711            601,758             (566,304)        51,587      304,018     1,159,770    



85

Exhibit C-1

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Combined Balance Sheet

Nonmajor Permanent Funds
June 30, 2014

ASSETS
Investments 266,278$       

Total assets 266,278         

LIABILITIES
Interfund payables 3,559             

Total liabilities 3,559             

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable - principal 69,475           
Restricted 193,244         

Total fund balances 262,719         

Total liabilities and fund balances 266,278$       

Exhibit C-2

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Nonmajor Permanent Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

Revenues:
Investment income $ 445                

Total revenues  445                

Expenditures:
Current:

Other miscellaneous 235                
Total expenditures 235                

Net change in fund balances 210                

Fund balances, beginning of year 262,509         

Fund balances, end of year  $ 262,719         



This page left blank intentionally. 



 

 

AGENCY FUNDS



This page left blank intentionally. 



89

Exhibit D

Balance Balance
July 1, 2013 Additions Deductions June 30, 2014

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 153,958           494,778         489,863          158,873            

Total assets 153,958           494,778         489,863          158,873            

LIABILITIES
Amounts held for others 153,958           494,778         489,863          158,873            

Total liabilities $ 153,958           494,778         489,863          158,873            

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities

Fiduciary Funds
Agency Funds



This page left blank intentionally. 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TAX INCREMENT FINANCING FUND 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 



This page left blank intentionally. 



93

Exhibit E

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Tax Increment Financing Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

TIF 7 TIF 8 TIF 9 TIF 11 TIF 13 TIF 14 & 15 TIF 16 TIF 17
 TIF 4

Tambrands I 
 TIF 5

J Enterprises 
 TIF 6

Tambrands 2 
 J & A

Properties 
 Formed

Fiber 
 Mall
Area 

 TIF 10
Downtown 

 Safe
Handling 

 TIF 12
I Park 

 Auburn
Plaza 

 Auburn
Plaza II 

 Webster
School 

 Bedard
Pharmacy Totals

Revenues:
Other income -                    -                       -                      -                  -              -               -                   -              -               -                -                    -               -                -                    

Total revenues -                    -                       -                      -                  -              -               -                   -              -               -                -                    -               -                -                    

Expenditures:
Current:

General government 425,672        -                       71,887             -                  30,476    -               -                   -              -               127,256     718,207        27,295     29,464      1,430,257      
Capital Outlay -                    -                       -                      -                  -              370,151   68,229         -              -               -                -                    -               -                438,380         
Debt service -                    -                       -                      -                  -              439,962   426,327       -              177,163    -                -                    -               -                1,043,452      

Total expenditures 425,672        -                       71,887             -                  30,476    810,113   494,556       -              177,163    127,256     718,207        27,295     29,464      2,912,089      

Deficiency of revenues under expenditures (425,672)       -                       (71,887)            -                  (30,476)   (810,113)  (494,556)      -              (177,163)   (127,256)    (718,207)       (27,295)    (29,464)     (2,912,089)     

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers from other funds 425,672        -                       71,887             -                  30,476    351,161   706,081       -              139,049    302,991     499,956        27,295     29,464      2,584,032      
Transfers to other funds -                    -                       -                      -                  -              -               (500,000)      -              -               -                -                    -               -                (500,000)        

Total other financing sources (uses) 425,672        -                       71,887             -                  30,476    351,161   206,081       -              139,049    302,991     499,956        27,295     29,464      2,084,032      

Net change in fund balances -                    -                       -                      -                  -              (458,952)  (288,475)      -              (38,114)    175,735     (218,251)       -               -                (828,057)        

Fund balances (deficit), beginning of year (127,348)       14,500             (471,230)          2,558          105,066  306,422   1,264,410    50,184    (264,722)   1,016,701  (316,792)       360          389           1,580,498      

Fund balances (deficit), end of year $ (127,348)       14,500             (471,230)          2,558          105,066  (152,530)  975,935       50,184    (302,836)   1,192,436  (535,043)       360          389           752,441         



This page left blank intentionally. 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

STATISTICAL SECTION 



 

 

 
 

STATISTICAL SECTION 
 
This part of the City of Auburn, Maine’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report presents 
detailed information as a context for understanding what the information in the financial 
statements, note disclosures, and required supplementary information says about the 
government’s overall financial health. 
 
Contents Tables 
 
Financial Trends 1-4 
  
 These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand 
 how the City’s financial performance and well-being have changed over time. 
 
Revenue Capacity 5-8 
 
 These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the City’s most 
 significant local revenue source, the property tax. 
 
Debt Capacity 9-12 
 
 These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability 
 of the City’s current levels of outstanding debt and the City’s ability to issue 
 additional debt in the future. 
 
Demographic and Economic Information 13-14 
 
 These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader 
 understand the environment within which the City’s financial activities 
 take place. 
 
Operating Information 15-17 
 
 These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader 
 understand how the information in the government’s financial report relates  
 to the services the government provides and the activities it performs. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  97

Table 1

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Net Position by Component

Last Ten Fiscal Years
From Government-wide Statement of Net Position

Fiscal Year
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Governmental activities:
Net investment in capital assets $ 34,037,355   $ 47,187,231   $ 48,954,306   $ 54,681,797   $ 59,484,907   $ 59,140,618   $ 56,084,796    $ 53,111,954    $ 61,542,514    $ 67,831,558   
Restricted 3,804,784     4,094,386     3,574,150     3,446,488     3,765,201     4,607,888     11,707,875    10,879,129    11,871,042    11,793,625   
Unrestricted (4,374,264)    (2,347,823)   3,655,088     6,449,247     6,738,835     13,892,494   12,166,714    21,012,904    10,929,045    3,773,135     

Total governmental activities net position 33,467,875   48,933,794   56,183,544   64,577,532   69,988,943   77,641,000   79,959,385    85,003,987    84,342,601    83,398,318   

Business-type activities:
Net investment in capital assets 345,741        344,398        390,008        416,684        1,033,634     928,388        829,060         781,208         708,368         548,461        
Restricted -                    -                   -                    -                   -                   -                   -                     -                     34,042           -                   
Unrestricted 156,985        183,842        168,242        189,487        296,012        326,230        353,997         651,420         594,157         575,898        

Total business-type activities net position 502,726        528,240        558,250        606,171        1,329,646     1,254,618     1,183,057      1,432,628      1,336,567      1,124,359     

Primary government:
Net investment in capital assets 34,383,096   47,531,629   49,344,314   55,098,481   60,518,541   60,069,006   56,913,856    53,893,162    62,250,882    68,380,019   
Restricted 3,804,784     4,094,386     3,574,150     3,446,488     3,765,201     4,607,888     11,707,875    10,879,129    11,905,084    11,793,625   
Unrestricted (4,217,279)    (2,163,981)   3,823,330     6,638,734     7,034,847     14,218,724   12,520,711    21,664,324    11,523,202    4,349,033     

Total primary government net position $ 33,970,601   $ 49,462,034   $ 56,741,794   $ 65,183,703   $ 71,318,589   $ 78,895,618   $ 81,142,442    $ 86,436,615    $ 85,679,168    $ 84,522,677   



Table 2

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Change in Net Position
Last Ten Fiscal Years

From Government-wide Statement of Activities

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
Expenses:
Governmental activities:

General government $ 9,670,878        $ 8,637,448         $ 12,052,878      $ 13,595,025       $ 12,782,124      $ 11,366,632      $ 13,450,586     $ 14,680,105      $ 13,391,002      $ 12,031,662    
Public safety 6,274,025        6,387,319         6,795,667        7,363,307         8,013,617        7,899,897        7,673,153       8,001,972        8,468,689        9,404,183      
Health, welfare and recreation 1,679,385        1,719,937         1,758,864        3,331,984         2,225,779        2,068,401        2,072,398       2,117,014        2,266,012        2,172,119      
Public works 5,837,814        4,765,921         6,046,292        4,943,719         6,554,513        6,013,582        9,876,176       6,059,774        8,086,620        12,427,048    
Other agencies 2,881,660        2,963,430         2,949,122        3,154,009         3,277,800        3,099,855        3,278,312       3,389,283        3,560,926        3,400,687      
Education  37,065,404      37,738,620       38,682,079      36,575,423       39,285,952      39,952,843      42,408,444     42,418,741      41,810,979      43,917,231    
Unclassified 836,636           900,891            3,127,839        1,849,876         -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                     

 Interest on debt 1,928,429        2,468,116         1,699,824        1,306,563         1,983,816        1,706,264        1,646,166       758,377           2,418,356        122,068         
  Total governmental activities expenses 66,174,231      65,581,682       73,112,565      72,119,906       74,123,601      72,107,474      80,405,235     77,425,266      80,002,584      83,474,998    

Business-type activities:
Ingersoll Ice Arena 131,898           162,790            192,310           144,519            296,500           506,301           482,686          539,555           490,593           604,369         
Norway Savings Bank Arena -                       -                        -                       -                        -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       525,814         
Centralized School Lunch -                       -                        -                       -                        -                       -                       -                      -                       1,421,308        1,312,651      
  Total business-type activities expenses 131,898           162,790            192,310           144,519            296,500           506,301           482,686          539,555           1,911,901        2,442,834      

Total primary government expenses 66,306,129      65,744,472       73,304,875      72,264,425       74,420,101      72,613,775      80,887,921     77,964,821      81,914,485      85,917,832    

Program Revenues
Governmental activities:

Charges for services:
General government 962,712           276,319            234,353           148,023            1,240,811        1,204,104        710,124          532,771           480,870           456,624         
Public safety 79,315             -                        -                       -                        50,221             87,882             285,365          701,234           841,366           920,429         
Health, welfare and recreation 255,933           228,780            160,146           257,162            286,052           290,936           287,013          308,403           318,635           279,854         
Public works -                       -                        -                       -                        -                       -                       50,334            3,158               2,674               1,549             
Other agencies -                       -                        -                       -                        -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                     
Education  597,118           863,397            1,083,731        1,283,420         689,325           584,258           676,120          514,390           484,567           412,347         

Operating grants and contributions 21,993,769      25,822,043       26,991,891      27,379,368       29,718,646      29,999,705      31,521,140     33,003,967      29,939,559      31,349,557    
Capital grants and contributions -                       2,884,801         -                       -                        -                       -                       602,210          -                       -                       -                     

Total governmental activities program revenues 23,888,847      30,075,340       28,470,121      29,067,973       31,985,055      32,166,885      34,132,306     35,063,923      32,067,671      33,420,360    

Business-type activities:
Charges for services 169,090           185,113            218,333           191,828            330,268           425,328           424,614          433,375           669,015           1,139,096      
Operating grants and contributions -                       -                        -                       -                        -                       -                       -                      -                       1,159,343        1,090,354      
Capital grants and contributions -                       -                        -                       -                        -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                     

Total business-type activities program revenues 169,090           185,113            218,333           191,828            330,268           425,328           424,614          433,375           1,828,358        2,229,450      

Total primary government program revenues 24,057,937      30,260,453       28,688,454      29,259,801       32,315,323      32,592,213      34,556,920     35,497,298      33,896,029      35,649,810    

98

Fiscal Year



Table 2, cont.

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Change in Net Position
Last Ten Fiscal Years

From Government-wide Statement of Activities

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Net (expense)/revenue:
Governmental activities $ (42,285,384)     $ (35,506,342)      $ (44,642,444)     $ (43,051,933)      $ (42,138,546)     $ (39,940,589)     $ (46,272,929)    $ (42,361,343)     (47,934,913)     (50,054,638)   
Business-type activities 37,192             22,323              26,023             47,309              33,768             (80,973)            (58,072)           (106,180)          (83,543)            (213,384)        

Total primary government net expense (42,248,192)     (35,484,019)      (44,616,421)     (43,004,624)      (42,104,778)     (40,021,562)     (46,331,001)    (42,467,523)     (48,018,456)     (50,268,022)   

General Revenues and Other Changes in Net Position
Governmental activities:

Taxes 40,819,989      44,679,412       45,422,662      44,232,811       41,640,678      41,158,334      42,962,974     43,192,698      42,759,291      44,522,766    
Grants not restricted to specific programs 3,008,472        3,049,515         3,781,007        4,009,459         4,681,432        4,651,989        4,103,025       4,172,425        4,330,113        4,336,314      
Unrestricted investment earnings 308,270           535,503            684,283           600,248            382,621           80,246             70,562            65,072             16,581             2,829             
Miscellaneous revenues 4,878,144        2,707,831         1,978,852        2,603,404         1,534,722        1,707,975        1,013,764       230,549           166,802           248,446         

Total governmental activities general revenues 49,014,875      50,972,261       51,866,804      51,445,922       48,239,453      47,598,544      48,150,325     47,660,744      47,272,787      49,110,355    

Business-type activities:
Unrestricted investment earnings 1,660               3,191                3,987               613                   211                  47                    -                      51                    757                  1,176             

Total business-type activities general revenues 1,660               3,191                3,987               613                   211                  47                    -                      51                    757                  1,176             

Total primary government 49,016,535      50,975,452       51,870,791      51,446,535       48,239,664      47,598,591      48,150,325     47,660,795      47,273,544      49,111,531    

Change in Net Position
Governmental activities 6,729,491        15,465,919       7,224,360        8,393,989         5,411,411        7,652,057        1,890,885       5,312,676        (662,126)          (944,283)        
Business-type activities 38,852             25,514              30,010             47,922              723,475           (75,028)            (71,561)           (119,404)          (96,061)            (212,208)        

Total primary government $ 6,768,343        $ 15,491,433       $ 7,254,370        $ 8,441,911         $ 6,134,886        $ 7,577,029        $ 1,819,324       $ 5,193,272        (758,187)          (1,156,491)     

Beginning FY 2009 Unclassified expenses were reclassed.

99

Fiscal Year



100

Table 3

Fiscal Year
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 (a) 2012 2013 2014

General Fund
Reserved* $ -                       $ 558,178          $ 478,065         $ 587,024        $ 110,672          $ 55,566           $ -                    $ -                    $ -                    $ -                    
Unreserved:
  Designated 1,066,274         1,291,770       1,224,436      1,790,409     2,337,962       1,737,562      -                    -                    -                    -                    
  Undesignated 3,587,200         5,088,428       7,898,295      8,783,174     8,405,631       9,599,911      -                    -                    -                    -                    
Nonspendable -                       -                     -                     -                    -                     -                    226,255        97,171          75                 629,503        
Restricted -                       -                     -                     -                    -                     -                    2,679,579     1,840,047     2,449,945     1,969,754     
Committed -                       -                     -                     -                    -                     -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
Assigned -                       -                     -                     -                    -                     -                    1,087,851     942,172        1,154,572     812,886        
Unassigned -                       -                     -                     -                    -                     -                    9,108,868     10,734,773   8,775,150     8,651,216     

Total general fund $ 4,653,474         $ 6,938,376       $ 9,600,796      $ 11,160,607   $ 10,854,265     $ 11,393,039    $ 13,102,553   $ 13,614,163   12,379,742   12,063,359   

All Other Governmental Funds
Reserved $ 5,789,631         $ 3,945,171       $ 5,553,478      $ 3,448,001     $ 9,149,416       $ 9,449,895      $ -                    $ -                    $ -                    $ -                    
Unreserved, reported in:
  Special revenue funds 2,820,744         5,516,940       4,769,893      3,987,906     3,503,209       3,414,932      -                    -                    -                    -                    
  Capital project funds 7,157,634         9,719,595       13,480,577    10,147,915   5,082,615       5,545,423      -                    -                    -                    -                    
  Permanent funds 159,863            169,201          12,092           20,356          22,118            22,960           -                    -                    -                    -                    
Nonspendable -                       -                     -                     -                    -                     -                    5,922,783     5,813,531     5,712,143     5,628,850     
Restricted -                       -                     -                     -                    -                     -                    3,105,513     3,464,347     3,710,739     4,195,021     
Committed -                       -                     -                     -                    -                     -                    10,104,760   10,998,530   7,985,485     5,755,639     
Assigned -                       -                     -                     -                    -                     -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
Unassigned -                       -                     -                     -                    -                     -                    (841,666)       (694,644)       (1,125,143)    (3,649,469)    

Total all other governmental funds $ 15,927,872       $ 19,350,907     $ 23,816,040    $ 17,604,178   $ 17,757,358     $ 18,433,210    $ 18,291,390   $ 19,581,764   16,283,224   11,930,041   

 * Includes reserves for long-term receivables which were part of Unreserved, Undesignated from 2003-2005.
(a) The City of Auburn adopted the provisions of GASB 54 for the year ended June 30, 2011, which changed the classifications of fund balances.

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Fund Balances

Last Ten Fiscal Years
From Governmental Funds Balance Sheet



101

Table 4

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(modified accrual basis of accounting)

Fiscal Year
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Revenues
      Taxes 40,779,413$  44,494,827$  44,952,500$  43,935,273$  41,667,416$  41,488,299$  42,742,974$  42,960,856$  42,749,449$  44,563,151$    
      Intergovernmental 28,130,003    32,204,039    29,750,266    31,426,596    34,400,078    34,651,694    34,919,262    36,258,176    33,631,641    35,325,279      
      Licenses and permits 312,511         336,466         485,045         340,375         285,951         243,924         303,183         266,852         374,011         325,476           
      Charges for services 1,544,534      1,654,166      2,355,904      1,857,235      1,532,589      1,615,603      1,699,004      1,750,848      1,720,625      1,799,725        
      Other 2,096,686      2,173,518      2,323,048      2,656,878      2,365,212      2,095,873      1,710,401      1,191,668      854,889         601,599           
Total revenues 72,863,147    80,863,016    79,866,763    80,216,357    80,251,246    80,095,393    81,374,824    82,428,400    79,330,615    82,615,230      

Expenditures
      General government 9,232,637      8,718,247      11,380,493    13,074,585    10,908,351    11,947,264    11,666,157    12,532,558    11,881,126    11,362,793      
      Public safety 6,022,608      6,459,529      6,544,970      6,941,313      7,717,089      7,703,785      7,367,139      7,717,441      8,063,515      8,987,931        
     Health, welfare and recreation 1,614,052      1,759,136      1,690,272      1,807,107      1,986,595      1,800,326      1,847,549      1,876,392      2,022,319      1,937,404        

      Public works 4,404,716      4,240,085      4,439,555      4,836,864      4,574,186      4,058,000      4,191,424      4,285,363      4,524,288      7,611,817        
     Other agencies 2,881,660      2,963,430      2,949,122      3,154,009      3,277,800      3,099,855      3,278,312      3,389,283      3,560,926      3,400,687        
     Education  36,289,346    38,964,083    37,502,885    38,138,372    42,253,675    41,550,748    42,954,361    42,273,954    42,137,967    43,506,308      
     Unclassified 609,504         670,448         499,326         271,918         305,995         310,093         303,539         403,753         405,669         325,374           
     Self insurance 227,131         230,443         323,581         692,607         348,629         470,524         671,092         517,299         383,566         -                       

Capital projects 8,682,736      14,519,496    10,212,556    10,286,851    8,540,966      6,024,814      7,158,898      4,855,507      9,800,219      8,539,810        
Debt Service:
      Principal 5,213,666      7,295,571      7,316,079      7,121,719      6,758,858      6,747,858      6,854,251      6,894,785      7,912,000      7,204,057        
      Interest expense 2,890,720      2,625,919      2,905,760      2,643,237      2,062,090      1,680,602      1,513,494      1,511,411      161,050         305,018           
Total expenditures 78,068,776    88,446,387    85,764,599    88,968,582    88,734,234    85,393,869    87,806,216    86,257,746    90,852,645    93,181,199      

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under)
      expenditures (5,205,629)    (7,583,371)    (5,897,836)     (8,752,225)    (8,482,988)    (5,298,476)    (6,431,392)    (3,829,346)    (11,522,030)  (10,565,969)     



102

Table 4, cont.

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Other financing sources (uses)
      Proceeds - bonds 23,130,000$   12,281,000$  13,000,000$      6,000,000$     6,430,000$    6,500,000$   7,900,000$     4,500,000$     14,892,323$  5,625,000$     
      Proceeds - notes -                  1,010,307      -                          -                  -                 -                1,024,625       -                  -                      84,458            

Premium on issuance of debt -                  -                 -                          -                  -                 -                85,597            83,077            1,052,751      186,945          
Payment to refunded bond escrow agent -                  -                 -                          -                  -                 -                -                  -                      (9,118,353)     -                      

      Transfers in 3,497,933       3,514,367      3,475,757          3,089,839       2,500,434      2,345,005     2,190,819       2,215,395       2,345,053      2,084,032       
      Transfers out (3,497,933)      (3,514,367)     (3,475,757)         (3,089,839)      (2,500,434)     (2,331,903)    (2,177,330)     (2,202,120)     (2,331,778)     (2,084,032)      
Total other financing sources (uses) 23,130,000     13,291,307    13,000,000        6,000,000       6,430,000      6,513,102     9,023,711       4,596,352       6,839,996      5,896,403       

Net change in fund balances 17,924,371$   5,707,936$    7,102,164$        (2,752,225)$    (2,052,988)$   1,214,626$   2,592,319$     767,006$        (4,682,034)$   (4,669,566)$    

Debt service as a percentage of
   noncapital expenditures 11.68% 13.42% 13.53% 12.41% 11.00% 10.62% 9.95% 10.38% 9.96% 8.87%

Fiscal Year

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(modified accrual basis of accounting)



103

Table 5

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Assessed Value to Actual Value of Taxable Property

Last Ten Fiscal Years
Ratio of Total

Assessed Assessed Assessed
Value - Value - Total Estimated Value to

Fiscal Real Personal Assessed Actual Total Estimated Total Tax/
year Property Property Value Value Actual Value (Mil) Rate

2005 1,032,643,700$     235,563,400$        1,268,207,100$     1,547,750,000$     81.9% 29.38

2006 1,003,562,800       316,435,600          1,319,998,400       1,658,250,000       79.6% 30.48

2007 1,399,344,100       293,111,800          1,692,455,900       1,922,200,000       88.0% 24.35

2008 1,797,817,200       276,822,200          2,074,639,400       2,086,700,000       99.4% 19.28

2009 1,813,049,300       262,829,700          2,075,879,000       1,981,600,000       104.8% 18.41

2010 1,829,692,800       238,980,400          2,068,673,200       2,054,450,000       100.7% 18.31

2011 1,847,854,620       220,930,500          2,068,785,120       1,991,800,000       103.9% 19.30

2012 1,850,235,678       208,348,600          2,058,584,278       1,980,250,000       104.0% 19.39

2013 1,820,465,334       190,045,000          2,010,510,334       1,954,400,000       102.9% 19.59

2014 1,823,040,083       182,681,300          2,005,721,383       1,926,200,000       104.1% 20.43
  



104

Table 6
 

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates

Last Ten Fiscal Years
Fiscal Total Tax/
Year (Mil) Rate

2005 12.31            37.40% 5.57               18.97% 11.50              39.14% 29.38              

2006 12.51            36.58% 5.80               19.05% 12.17              39.96% 30.48              

2007 10.12            37.27% 4.56               18.74% 9.66                39.69% 24.35              

2008 8.43              39.06% 3.44               17.83% 7.41                38.45% 19.28              

2009 7.72              36.72% 3.41               18.53% 7.28                39.56% 18.41              

2010 7.91              38.44% 3.28               17.90% 7.12                38.89% 18.31              

2011 8.89              41.30% 3.29               17.07% 7.12                36.89% 19.30              

2012 9.01              41.62% 3.31               17.07% 7.07                36.46% 19.39              

2013 9.01              45.94% 3.20               16.36% 7.38                37.70% 19.59              

2014 9.62              47.08% 3.15               15.43% 7.66                37.49% 20.43              

During 2007 and 2008 a revaluation was initiated and phased in over the two year period.

Education
General

Government
General Fund
Debt Service



105

Table 7

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Principal Property Taxpayers

Current Year and Nine Years Ago
June 30, 2014

Assessed % of Total Cumulative
Taxpayer Business Value Tax Base %

1 Tambrands Personal Products 72,718,500$       3.63% 3.63%
2 Auburn Plaza, Inc Regional shopping 30,364,600         1.51% 5.14%
3 Wal-Mart Real Estate Retail 24,128,900         1.20% 6.34%
4 Central Maine Power Company Electric Utility 23,681,489         1.18% 7.52%
5 Pioneer Plastics Laminates 22,359,700         1.11% 8.64%
6 Gates Formed Fiber Automotive Products 18,364,100         0.92% 9.55%
7 Cascades Auburn Fiber Paper Reprocessor 14,643,300         0.73% 10.28%
8 FPL Energy Maine Hydro LLC Electric Utility 14,569,100         0.73% 11.01%
9 Riverwatch LLC Lodging 14,360,400         0.72% 11.73%

10 Lowes Home Centers Retail 13,987,200         0.70% 12.42%
249,177,289$     

Assessed % of Total Cumulative
Taxpayer Business Value Tax Base %

1 Tambrands Personal Products 100,026,000$     8.28% 8.28%
2 PPC Acquisition Corp Plastic Laminates 24,225,800         2.01% 10.29%
3 Wal-Mart Real Estate Retail 20,832,800         1.73% 12.02%
4 Gates Formed Fiber Automotive Products 16,051,800         1.33% 13.35%
5 Central Maine Power Company Electric Utility 13,642,700         1.13% 14.48%
6 Cascades Auburn Fiber Paper Reprocessor 13,574,700         1.12% 15.60%
7 General Electric Company Electrical Components 13,089,600         1.08% 16.68%
8 FPL Energy, Maine Hydro LLC Electric Utility 12,689,300         1.05% 17.73%
9 Greenland Vistas Real Estate 11,939,000         0.99% 18.72%

10 International Paper Cardboard Containers 10,409,800         0.86% 19.58%
236,481,500$     

June 30, 2005



106

Table 8

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Property Tax Levies and Collections

Last Ten Fiscal Years
Total

Percent of Collections
Fiscal Gross Tax Net Tax Collections  Net Levy Collections Total as a Percent
year Levy Abatements Levy In Current Year Collected in Later Years Collections of Net Levy

2005 37,378,635$     254,933$          37,123,702$     36,348,878$       97.91% 703,445$            37,052,323$     99.81%

2006 40,488,967       369,260            40,119,707       38,994,735         97.20% 1,076,571           40,071,306       99.88%

2007 41,211,301       350,703            40,860,598       39,748,652         97.28% 1,075,623           40,824,275       99.91%

2008 39,999,048       199,632            39,799,416       37,963,612         95.39% 1,778,051           39,741,663       99.85%

2009 38,216,932       139,750            38,077,182       36,718,256         96.43% 1,310,687           38,028,943       99.87%

2010 37,999,926       219,262            37,780,664       36,929,246         97.75% 772,455              37,701,701       99.79%

2011 39,984,486       192,788            39,791,698       38,721,670         97.31% 658,055              39,379,725       98.96%

2012 39,948,404       118,447            39,829,957       38,713,505         97.20% 329,858              39,043,363       98.03%

2013 39,455,557       123,605            39,331,952       38,262,685         97.28% 597,471              38,860,156       98.80%

2014 40,987,430       68,614              40,918,816       39,821,057         97.32% -                          39,821,057       97.32%
  



107

Table 9

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type

Last Ten Fiscal Years
Total

Long-term
General Total General Total Total Debt Per Capita

Fiscal Obligation Long-term Obligation Long-term Long-term Net of State To Assessed Net of State
year Bonds Notes Debt Bonds Notes Debt Debt Subsidy Value Per Capita Subsidy

2005 60,043,000$ 205,668$   60,248,668$  80,008$    -        80,008$      60,328,676$ 56,712,684$     4.8% 2,556.08   2,402.88     

2006 67,817,000   1,170,200  68,987,200    53,342      -        53,342        69,040,542   55,575,884       5.2% 2,925.20   2,354.71     

2007 72,629,000   745,801     73,374,801    26,676      -        26,676        73,401,477   60,160,522       4.3% 3,109.97   2,548.96     

2008 70,267,000   618,562     70,885,562    -                -        -                  70,885,562   57,617,931       3.4% 3,003.37   2,441.23     

2009 67,925,000   495,078     68,420,078    -                -        -                  68,420,078   52,369,513       3.3% 2,898.91   2,218.86     

2010 65,973,000   371,595     66,344,595    -                -        -                  66,344,595   50,080,604       3.2% 2,877.67   2,172.22     

2011 65,461,000   692,675     66,153,675    -                -        -                  66,153,675   48,634,442       3.2% 2,869.39   2,109.50     

2012 61,239,000   598,596     61,837,596    -                -        -                  61,837,596   51,652,300       3.0% 2,682.18   2,240.39     

2013 59,534,323   504,518     60,038,841    -                -        -                  60,038,841   53,811,066       2.9% 2,604.16   2,334.03     

2014 56,826,591   494,897     57,321,488    -                -        -                  57,321,488   51,238,970       2.9% 2,486.29   2,222.47     
    

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Ratio of Total Debt



108

Table 10

Total
Governmental

General Activity Debt Per Capita
Fiscal Obligation To Estimated Net of State Net of State
year Bonds Actual Value Per Capita Subsidy Subsidy

2005 60,043,000           3.9% 2,543.98           56,507,016             2,404                    

2006 67,817,000           4.1% 2,873.36           54,405,684             2,734                    

2007 72,629,000           3.8% 3,077.24           59,414,721             2,939                    

2008 70,267,000           3.4% 2,977.16           56,999,369             2,840                    

2009 67,925,000           3.3% 2,877.93           51,874,435             2,198                    

2010 65,973,000           3.2% 2,795.23           49,709,009             2,122                    

2011 65,461,000           3.2% 2,839.34           47,941,767             2,079                    

2012 61,239,000           3.0% 2,656.21           51,053,704             2,214                    

2013 59,534,323           2.9% 2,604.16           53,306,548             2,312                    

2014 56,826,591           2.9% 2,486.29           50,744,073             2,201                    
  

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding

Last Ten Fiscal Years



109

Table 11

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt

Last Ten Fiscal Years
Direct and Overlapping Debt

Auburn's Overlapping
Direct Debt - Direct Debt - Share of Debt - Percent of

Fiscal City of Androscoggin Androscoggin Androscoggin Assessed Per
Year Auburn County County Debt County Total Debt Value Capita

2005 60,043,000$   1,855,000$       26.33% 488,422$          60,531,422$   4.77% 2,565$       

2006 67,817,000     1,410,000         25.22% 355,602            68,172,602     5.16% 2,888         

2007 72,629,000     965,000            25.75% 248,488            72,877,488     4.31% 3,088         

2008 70,267,000     516,800            25.75% 133,076            70,400,076     3.39% 2,983         

2009 67,925,000     75,000              23.72% 17,788              67,942,788     3.27% 2,879         

2010 65,973,000     -                        24.47% -                        65,973,000     3.19% 2,795         

2011 66,153,675     -                        24.47% -                        66,153,675     3.20% 2,869         

2012 61,837,596     -                        24.64% -                        61,837,596     3.00% 2,682         

2013 60,038,841     -                        24.64% -                        60,038,841     2.99% 2,604         

2014 57,321,488     -                        25.36% -                        57,321,488     2.86% 2,486         



110

Table 12

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Legal Debt Management

Last Ten Years
Computation of Legal Debt Margin

June 30, 2014

Total State Valuation 1,926,200,000$     
Legal Debt Limitation:

15% of State Valuation 288,930,000          

Debt Applicable to Debt Limitation:

Dollar Legal State
Purpose Percentage Amount Amount Maximum Valuation

Municipal & School 15.0% 288,930,000$   56,826,591            19.67% 2.95%

Margin for Additional Borrowing: 232,103,409$        

Legal Debt Debt Legal Debt Debt Outstanding/
Limit Outstanding Margin Legal Debt Limit

2005 232,162,500$    60,123,008$     172,039,492$   25.9%
2006 248,737,500      68,987,200       179,750,300     27.7%
2007 288,330,000      72,629,000       215,701,000     25.2%
2008 313,005,000      70,267,000       242,738,000     22.4%
2009 297,240,000      67,925,000       229,315,000     22.9%
2010 308,167,500      65,973,000       242,194,500     21.4%
2011 298,770,000      65,461,000       233,309,000     21.9%
2012 297,037,500      61,239,000       235,798,500     20.6%
2013 293,160,000      59,534,323       293,160,000     20.3%
2014 288,930,000      56,826,591       232,103,409     19.7%

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Bonded General Obligation Debt

Legal Maximum As a Percent of

Historical Legal Debt Margin



111

Table 13

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Demographic and Economic Statistics

Last Ten Calendar Years
(2) (2)

Total Per Capita Annual Average
Fiscal (1) Personal Personal Unemployment
Year Population Wages Wages Rate

2005 23,602                 500,172,959$       21,192$               4.4%

2006 23,602                 524,603,224         22,227                 4.4%

2007 23,602                 516,644,872         21,890                 4.5%

2008 23,602                 525,502,169         22,265                 4.6%

2009 23,602                 486,782,327         20,625                 8.9%

2010 23,055                 799,501,290         34,678                 7.9%

2011 23,055                 811,097,955         35,181                 7.8%

2012 23,055                 827,005,905         35,871                 7.2%

2013 23,055                 834,406,560         36,192                 7.8%

2014 23,055                 853,449,990         37,018                 5.5%

(1) Source: US Census Bureau
(2) Source: Maine Department of Labor
 



112

Table 14

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Principal Non-Governmental Employers

Current Year and Nine Years Ago
June 30, 2014

Total Number Percent of
Rank Employer of Employees Total Employees

1 Wal-Mart Supercenter 559                               4.8%
2 Tambrands Inc. 544                               4.7%
3 Lepage Bakeries 515                               4.5%
4 Pioneer Plastics 502                               4.3%
5 Gates Formed Fiber Products 446                               3.9%
6 Clover Living Center 265                               2.3%
7 Hannaford 182                               1.6%
8 General Electric 161                               1.4%
9 Shaw's Supermarkets 156                               1.3%
10 Thomas Moser Cabinetmakers 128                               1.1%

All Other Employers 8,103                            70.1%

Total Employees 11,561                          

Principal Non-Governmental Employers
June 30, 2005

Total appr. number Percent of
Rank Employer of employees Total Employees

1 Pioneer Plastics Corp. 619 4.0%
2 Tambrands 525 3.4%
3 Gates Formed Fibre 450 2.9%
4 Clover Manor Inc. 305 2.0%
5 General Electric 300 1.9%
6 Shaw's Supermarket 240 1.5%
7 Wal-Mart Associates 230 1.5%
8 Hannaford Bros. 190 1.2%
9 Advantage Business Services 180 1.2%
10 Auburn Shoe 175 1.1%

All Other Employers 12,315 79.3%

Total Employees 15,529

Source: Maine Department of Labor



113

Table 15

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Number of Employees
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal General Public Health, Welfare Public Ice
Year Government Safety & Recreation Services Education Arena Total

2005 38.00                  116.50                11.50                  69.00                  638.40                1.00                    874.40                

2006 38.25                  119.50                11.00                  70.00                  628.80                1.00                    868.55                

2007 41.50                  120.00                10.00                  69.00                  623.30                1.00                    864.80                

2008 40.75                  120.50                12.00                  69.00                  645.00                1.00                    888.25                

2009 42.50                  117.50                11.50                  62.00                  614.00                1.00                    848.50                

2010 40.00                  125.00                13.00                  55.00                  589.00                2.00                    824.00                

2011 44.00                  117.00                20.00                  53.00                  679.00                2.00                    915.00                

2012 42.00                  123.00                14.00                  55.00                  585.00                2.00                    821.00                

2013 45.00                  124.00                5.00                    55.00                  585.00                2.00                    816.00                

2014 39.00                  128.00                5.00                    59.00                  564.00                5.00                    800.00                
   

Source:  Various City departments



114

Table 16

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Demand for Level of Service

Last Ten Fiscal Years
General Public Health, Welfare Public Ice

Government Safety & Recreation Works Education Arena

Service Units: Service Units: Service Units: Service Units: Service Units: Service Units:

Police / Fire Libraries / Parks /
Fiscal City No. of Service Cemeteries Miles of Road No. of Hours of Ice
Year Population Calls Maintained Maintained Students Time Rented

2005 23,602                27,974 / 4,109 1 / 16 / 18 223                     3,478                  1,116                  

2006 23,602                29,536 / 4,306 1 / 16 / 18 223                     3,399                  1,026                  

2007 23,602                28,741 / 4,222 1 / 16 / 18 223                     3,497                  991                     

2008 23,602                28,960 / 4,137 1 / 19 / 16 226                     3,534                  915                     

2009 23,602                24,282 / 3,877 1 / 19 / 16 226                     3,534                  1,540                  

2010 23,055                22,186 / 3,196 1 / 19 / 16 225                     3,568                  2,121                  

2011 23,055                23,924 / 3,365 1 / 19 / 16 225                     3,634                  1,684                  

2012 23,055                26,195 / 3,545 1 / 19 / 17 237                     3,650                  1,798                  

2013 23,055                24,110 / 3,560 1 / 19 / 17 237                     3,744                  1,798                  

2014 23,055                26,626 / 3,535 1 / 19 / 17 237                     3,623                  1,832                  
  

Source:  Various City departments



115

Table 17

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Capital Assets Statistics - Net Book Value

Last Ten Fiscal Years
Fiscal General Public Health, Welfare Public Ice
Year Government Safety & Recreation Works Education Arenas

2005 21,129,290$       1,961,819$         3,210,913$         39,515,536$       15,436,665$       425,749$            

2006 24,467,276         1,909,891           3,246,882           40,030,178         25,991,089         397,740              

2007 24,988,416         2,101,812           3,215,236           43,740,199         25,991,089         416,684              

2008 24,228,799         2,469,571           3,731,189           51,477,507         26,525,978         416,684              

2009 23,607,655         2,203,282           3,655,392           57,109,583         27,619,073         1,033,634           

2010 28,824,479         2,109,338           8,982,225           51,600,320         27,133,850         928,388              

2011 30,016,043         1,954,048           8,743,446           49,696,710         27,098,225         829,059              

2012 33,680,128         1,844,090           8,507,608           47,535,463         27,830,918         729,731              

2013 34,145,986         2,020,995           6,001,834           46,166,780         27,536,761         630,402              

2014 32,439,570         1,806,175           5,813,288           49,100,585         28,482,183         471,624              
  

Source:  Various City departments



 
Runyon Kersteen Ouellette Certified Public Accountants and Business Consultants 

November 24, 2014 

To the Audit Committee 
City of Auburn, Maine 

We have audited the financial statements of the governnnental activities, the business-type activities, 
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Auburn, Maine for the 
year ended June 30, 2014. Professional standards require that we provide you with information about 
our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing Standards and 

OMB Circular A-133, as well as certain information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit. 
We have connmunicated such information in our engagement letter to you dated April 21, 2014 and in 
our meeting with the Audit Committee on June 9, 2014. Professional standards also require that we 
communicate to you the following information related to our audit. 

Our Responsibilities under U.S. Genera llv Accepted Auditing Standards, Government Auditing Standards,  

and OMB Circular A-133  

As stated in our engagement letter dated April 21, 2014, our responsibility, as described by professional 
standards, is to express opinions about whether the financial statements prepared by management with 
your oversight are fairly presented, in all material respects, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles. Our audit of the financial statements does not relieve you or management of 
your responsibilities. 

ln planning and performing our audit, we considered the City of Auburn, Maine's internal control over 
financial reporting in order to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our 
opinions on the financial statements and not to provide assurance on the internal control over financial 
reporting. We also considered internal control over compliance with requirements that could have a 
direct and material effect on a major federal program in order to determine our auditing procedures for 
the purpose of expressing our opinion on compliance and to test and report on internal control over 

compliance in accordance with OMB Circular A-133. 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Auburn, Maine's financial 
statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grants. However, providing an opinion on compliance with 
those provisions was not an objective of our audit. Also, in accordance with OMB Circular A-133, we 
examined, on a test basis, evidence about the City of Auburn, Maine's compliance with the types of 
compliance requirements described in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133 
Compliance Supplennent applicable to each of its major federal programs for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the City of Auburn, Maine's compliance with those requirements. While our audit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion, it does not provide a legal determination on the City of 

Auburn, Maine's compliance with those requirements. 



Audit Com mittee 
Page 2 

Significant Audit Findings 

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant 
accounting policies used by the City of Auburn, Maine are described in the notes to financial statements. 
No new accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies was not changed 
during 2014. We noted no transactions entered into by the City of Auburn, Maine during the year for 
which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have been 
recognized in the financial statements in the proper period. 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are 
based on managements knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions 
about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance 
to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ 
significantly from those expected. 

The most sensitive estimates affecting the financial statements were: 

• Managements estimate of the historical cost of certain assets, including infrastructure, and the 
related depreciation expense, which is based on the estimated useful lives of assets. If 
historical cost of an asset was unknown, the cost was estimated based on current replacement 
costs indexed for inflation. 

• Managements estimates of the allowance for CDBG loan receivables, which is based on 
historical collection rates. 

• Managements estimates of the other post employment benefits liability, which is based on 
actuarial calculations. 

• Managements estimates of the landfill postclosure care liability, which is based on the amount 
that would be paid if all equipment, facilities, and services required to close, monitor, and 
maintain the landfill were acquired as ofJune 30, 2014. 

We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the estimates in determining that they 
are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to financial 
statement users. The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing 

our audit. 

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during 
the audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of 
management. Management has corrected all such misstatements, some of which were material (see 
attached schedule of "Adjusting Journal Entries"). 



Audit Committee 
Page 3 

Additionally, the attached schedule entitled "Passed Adjusting Journal Entries" summarizes an 
uncorrected misstatement within the financial statements. Management has determined that the effect 
of this entry is immaterial to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

Disagreements with Management 

For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or 
auditing nnatter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial 
statements or the auditors report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during 
the course of our audit. 

Management Representations 

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the attached 
management representation letter dated November 24, 2014. 

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 

In some cases, management nnay decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and 
accounting matters, similar to obtaining a "second opinion" on certain situations. If a consultation 
involves application of an accounting principle to the City of Auburn, Maine's financial statements or a 
determination of the type of auditors opinion that nnay be expressed on those statements, our 
professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the 
consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other 
accountants. 

Other Audit Findings or Issues 

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the City of Auburn, Maine's auditors. 
However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our 
responses were not a condition to our retention. 

Other Matters 

We applied certain limited procedures to managements discussion and analysis and schedule of funding 
progress for retiree healthcare plan and city pension plan, which are required supplementary 
information (RSI) that supplements the basic financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries 
of management regarding the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with managements responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and 
do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI. 



Audit Committee 
Page 4 

We were engaged to report on the schedule of expenditures of federal awards and the combining and 
individual fund financial statements, which accompany the financial statements but are not RSI. With 
respect to this supplementary information, we made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the 
form, content, and methods of preparing the information to determine that the information complies 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the method of preparing 
it has not changed from the prior period, and the information is appropriate and complete in relation to 
our audit of the financial statements. We compared and reconciled the supplementary information to 
the underlying accounting records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial 
statements themselves. 

We were not engaged to report on introductory material or statistical data, which accompany the 
financial statements but are not RSI. We did not audit or perform other procedures on this other 
information and we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on it. 

Restriction on Use 

This information is intended solely for the use of the City Council, School Committee, Audit Committee 
and management of the City of Auburn, Maine and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by 
anyone other than these specified parties. 

Very truly yours, 

447144 



94,158.72 

56,066.61 

17,430.79 

123,303.00 

73,535.81 
16,649.43 

5,597.95 

94,158.72 

41,723.59 
10,264.80 

632.47 
3,445.75 

17,430.79 

73,535.81 

139,952.43 

5,597.95 

City of Auburn 
Adjusting Journal Entries 

6/30/2014 

Account Number 	 Account 
	

Debit 
	

Credit 

1) 10222061-611000 	PD Wages 
20382265-656101 	CAT Team 
(to correct posting of wages) 

2) 20332261-613022 	School Safety COPS Grant 
10222061-611000 	PD Wages 
10117061-617000 	Health Insurance 
10117061-617001 	Medicare 
10117061-617004 	MSRS 
(to correct posting of wages) 

3) 2046-037000 
	

Ctrl Total - Encumbrances 
2046-037201 
	

Ctrl Total - Bud FB Des 
2046-037301 
	

Ctrl Total - Bud FB Undes 
2046-047000 
	

Ctrl Total - Revenues 
2046-057000 
	

Ctrl Total - Expenditures 
2046-057001 
	

Ctrl Total - Appropriations 
2046-037103 
	

FB Restricted City 
(to correct closeout of FB) 

4) 1931-037120 	 FB Unassigned - Flag Donations 
1931-047000 	 Control - Revenue 
(to correct closeout of F8) 

	

5) 20032265-656101 
	

Byrne Jag 2011 
	

939.80 

	

20032240-440001 
	

Byrne Jag 2011 
	

939.80 

	

10222062-629000 
	

Police Training 
	

52.18 

	

20032265-656101 
	

Byrne Jag 2013 
	

52.18 

(to correct posting error - PBC) 

6) 	 CDBG Grant Revenue 20201140-440001 CD001 
15,244.46 HOME Grant Revenue 20201540-440001 H001 

(to correct revenue charged between the two HUD programs to match expenditures) 

15,244.46 

7) 10103063-632000 	Economic Development 
1000-024210 	 A/P 
(to record AP) 

36,154.50 
36,154.50 

29,295.98 8) 10221062-628020 
1000-024210 
(to record AP) 

9) 6000-012410 
60006029-650099 
6000-012900 
60006029-650099 
6000-012410 
6000-012900 

Fire - Vehicle Repairs 
A/P 

Machinery & Equip 
Loss on Sale of Property 
Accumulated Depreciation 
Loss on Sale of Property 
Machinery & Equip 
Accumulated Depreciation 

29,295.98 

52,600.00 
52,600.00 

321,764.82 
367,731.22 

689,496.04 

15,000.00 



6000-012410 	 Machinery & Equip 	 15,000.00 
(to record sale and removal offixed assets) 

10) 1902-011530 	 A/R 	 43,648.80 
1902-011500 	 Loans Receivable 	 17,766.51 
19021929-429006 	Reim Debt 	 25,882.29 
(to reverse posting of loan payments not received) 

11) 2040-011530 	 Accounts Receivable 	 34,375.20 
20405920-402800 	Cable Revenue 	 34,375.20 
(to record AR) 

12) 2020-011511 	 Loans Rec-Home Buyer 	 84,379.64 
20201910-690045 	Homebuyer assistance 	 84,379.64 
2020-011512 	 Loan Rec-Home Rehab 	 11,097.50 
20201930-690045 	Homeowner Rehab Loan 	 11,097.50 
2020-011509 	 Home Down Payment 	 15,500.00 
20201910-690044 	Home Buyer Assistance 	 15,500.00 
2020-011514 	 Security Deposits 	 27,247.56 
20201955-690068 	Security Deposits 	 27,247.56 
2020-011553 	 NSP-Letter of Credit 	 44,766.00 
2020-024823 	 NSP-Unearned Grant Revenue 	 44,766.00 
2020-011507 	 Loan Rec-Commercial 	 15,000.00 
20200911-690084 	Small Business Loans 	 15,000.00 

20201930-690045 	Homeowner Rehab Loan 	 61,239.55 

2020-011512 	 Loan Rec-Home 	 61,239.55 
20200000-690019 	CDBG Bad Debt 	 11,376.19 
20201561-690019 	Home Bad Debt 	 13,767.28 

2020-011540 	 Allowance for Uncollect 	 25,143.47 

(to correct posting of CDBG activity) 

13) 2008-011530 	 A/R 
20082240-440001 	Federal Grant 
(to record AR) 

14) 19041564-628019 	Misc expenditure 	 2,748.78 

1904-011530 	 A/R 
20000062-628000 	Misc expenditure 	 5,501.07 

2000-011530 	 A/R 
60006020-420902 	Ice Rental 	 430.00 
6000-011530 	 A/R 
(to write off old, uncollectible AR) 

15) 2005-011530 	 Accounts Receivable 
20051030-430413 	Court St Slip Lane 
20051030-430417 	Court St/Great Falls 
20051030-430419 	S Main St 
20051030-430415 	Helm Bridge 
20051030-430421 	Park Ave/Mt Auburn Intersection 
20051030-430424 	Park Ave Phase II 
20051030-430427 	Route 4 
(to record AR) 

105,651.57 
105,651.57 

2,748.78 

5,501.07 

430.00 

536,602.67 
139,566.23 

70,070.31 
141,023.70 
35,492.01 
86,453.62 
30,748.50 
33,248.30 



Auburn School Department 
Adjusting Journal Entries 

6/30/2014 

Account Number Account Debit Credit 

1)  1000-0000-0000-11020-000-00-00-00 Cash - Payroll Checking 319,095.75 
1000-0000-0000-24625-000-00-00-00 MePERS Employer Deduction 2.65% 319,095.75 

2)  4000-0000-0000-24210-000-00-00-00 

(to reclass posting of EFT not submitted until July, 

Accounts Payable 491,197.45 
4000-0000-2690-54500-060-07-00-26 Construction Services - Fairview 98,433.95 
4000-0000-2690-54500-070-10-00-26 Construction Services - AMS 71,582.50 
4000-0000-2690-54500-070-10-00-26 Construction Services - AMS 321,181.00 

(to record A/P) 

3)  2000-0000-0000-23000-000-00-00-00 Accrued Payable 10,972.17 

2400-0000-0000-23000-000-00-00-00 Accrued Payable 18,291.90 
2000-1100-1000-56100-300-13-00-53 Agriculture Grant: Supplies 452.66 

2000-2800-2160-56000-950-00-00-24 General Supplies OT - Other Spcl Progra 47.50 

2000-8000-0000-56100-950-00-00-00 CLC Instructional Supplies 2,170.76 

2000-8000-0000-56100-950-00-00-00 CLC Instructional Supplies 2,138.09 

2000-1100-1000-56100-030-03-00-40 Title IA Instructional Supplies - SH 215.63 

2000-1100-1000-53000-020-04-00-40 Title IA Purchased Prof Svcs - Wash 1,050.00 

2000-2800-2160-56000-950-00-00-24 General Supplies OT - Other Spcl Progra 151.90 

2000-2200-1000-56100-990-00-00-28 L.E. - Inst Supplies - SOS 98.99 

2000-1100-1000-56100-010-01-00-40 Title IA Instructional Supplies - EA 1,558.49 

2000-2200-1000-56100-990-00-00-28 L.E. - Inst Supplies - SOS 49.60 

2000-0000-2213-53300-950-00-00-00 Reading Recovery-Professional Develop 295.00 

2400-8000-0000-56100-950-00-00-00 CLC Sustainability Supplies 2,061.93 

2000-2800-2160-56000-950-00-00-24 General Supplies OT - Other Spcl Progra 651.62 

2000-1100-1000-56100-300-13-00-53 Agriculture Grant: Supplies 30.00 

2400-8000-2700-55100-950-00-00-00 CLC Sustainability Student Transport S 7,840.19 

2400-8000-0000-56100-950-00-00-00 CLC Sustainabililty - Supplies 7,486.90 

2400-8000-0000-56100-950-00-00-00 CLC Sustainability - Supplies 255.50 

2400-0000-0000-56300-030-03-00-46 Food - Sherwood 81.15 

2400-8000-0000-58000-950-00-00-00 CLCS:Other expenditures 349.00 

2400-8000-0000-58000-950-00-00-00 CLCS:Other expenditures 500.00 

2400-8000-0000-58000-950-00-00-00 CLCS:Other expenditures 1,700.00 

2400-0000-0000-56100-060-07-00-46 Instructional Supplies - Fairview 34.86 

2400-0000-0000-56300-060-07-00-46 Food - Fairview 44.30 

(to reverse posting of accrued expenses) 

4)  2000-0000-0000-12200-000-00-00-00 Accounts Receivable 8,132.58 

2000-0000-0000-44562-000-00-00-00 Local Entitlement 999.61 

2000-0000-0000-44110-010-00-00-00 Community Learning Center - DOE 4,308.85 

2000-0000-0000-44517-000-00-00-40 Title IA 2,824.12 
(to reverse posting of grant A/R) 

5)  6000-0000-0000-12410-000-00-00-00 Capital Assets - Central Lunch - Equip 7,775.00 

6000-0000-3140-56027-900-60-00-60 Maint. Misc 7,775.00 

(to record Lunch fixed assets) 

6)  9130-0000-0000-11010-000-00-00-00 ELHS Student Activities Cash Account 4,234.11 

9130-0000-0000-11011-000-00-00-00 ELHS Scholarship/CD Account - Cash 4,223.89 

9130-0000-0000-11900-000-00-00-00 Student Activity Cash Clearing 10.22 

(to record entry provided by client) 



7)  6000-0000-3140-57900-900-60-00-60 Depreciation Expense - Central Lunch 8,903.85 

6000-0000-0000-12420-000-00-00-00 Accumulated Depreciation 8,903.85 

(to record Lunch depreciation) 

8)  1000-1200-1030-51011-300-13-00-26 Salary / Teacher Math - ELHS 17,376.91 

1000-1200-1030-52110-300-13-00-26 Health - EL Math 2,248.28 

1000-1200-1030-52212-300-13-00-26 Medicare - EL Math 236.85 

1000-1200-1030-52311-300-13-00-26 MSRS 2.65% 460.53 

1000-4900-1000-51011-990-13-00-26 Salary / Teacher G&T - ELHS 17,376.91 

1000-4900-1000-52110-990-13-00-26 Health - Teach/Guid/Nurse/Library 2,248.28 

1000-4900-1000-52212-990-13-00-26 Medicare - Teach-Gifted and Talented 236.85 

1000-4900-1000-52311-990-13-00-26 MePers 2.65% 460.53 

(to reclass V. Ackley's salary/benefits from Math to G&T, 



Auburn School Department 

Passed Adjusting Journal Entries 

6/30/2014 

Account Number 	 Account 	 Debit 	 Credit 

	

1) 1000-0000-0000-11810-000-00-00-00 
	

Prepaid expenditures 
	

44,456.49 

	

1000-0000-5100-58320-040-19-00-26 
	

Interest/State Appr Bonds & Notes 
	

44,456.49 

(to recloss posting of debt payment) 



Finance Department 
Ti' 

NOm bed,42014 

' City of Aíuurn, Maine 
"Mdine's City ofiOpportunity" 

Runyon Kersteen Ouellette 
20 Long Creek Drive 
South Portland, Maine 04106 

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of the City of Auburn, 
Maine, which comprise the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each 
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information as ofJune 30, 2014, and the respective changes in financial 
position and, where applicable, cash flows for the year then ended, and the relateci notes to the financial statements, for 
the purpose of expressing opinions as to whether the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects, in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP). 

Certaín representations in this letter are described as being limíted to matters that are material. Items are considered 
material, regardless of size, if they involve an omission or misstatement of accounting information that, in light of 
surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the judgment of a reasonable person relying on the information would 
be changed or influenced by the omission or misstatement. An omission or misstatement that is monetarily small in 
amount could be considered material as a result of qualitative factors. 

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, as of November 24, 2014, the following representations made to you 

during your audit. 

Financial Statements 

1) We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit engagement letter dated April 21, 2014, 
including our responsibility for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
U.S. GAAP and for preparation of the supplementary information in accordance with the applicable criteria. 

2) The financial statements referred to above are fairly presented in conformity with U.S. GAAP and inclucle all 
properly classífied funds and other financial information of the primary governrnent required by generally 
accepted accounting principles to be included in the financial reporting entity. 

3) We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant 
to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error. 

4) We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, ímplementation, and maintenance of internal control to prevent 
and detect fraud. 

60 Court Street • Aubum, ME 04210 

(207) 333-6600 Voice • (207) 333-6601 Automated • (207) 333-6620 Fax 

www.auburnmaine.org  



Runyon Kersteen Ouellette 
Page 2 

5) Significant assumptions we used in making accounting estimates, including those measured at faír value, are 
reasonable. 

6) Related party relationships and transactions, including revenues, expenditures/expenses, loans, transfers, leasing 
arrangements, and guarantees, and amounts receivable from or payable to related parties have been 
appropríately accounted for and disclosed in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 

7) Adjustments or disclosures have been made for all events, including instances of noncompliance, subsequent to 
the date of the financial statements that would require adjustment to or disclosure in the financial statements or 
in the schedule of findings and questioned costs. 

The effects of uncorrected rnisstatements are immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial 
statements as a whole for each opinion unit. A list of the uncorrected misstatements is attached to the 
representation letter. 

9) 	The effects of all known actual or possible litigation, claims, and assessments have been accounted for and 
disclosed in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 

10) 	Guarantees, whether written or oral, under which the City is contingently liable, if any, have been properly 
recorded or disclosed. 

Information Provided 

11) 	We have provided you with: 

a) Access to all information, of which we are aware, that is relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements, such as records, documentation, and other matters and all audit or relevant 
monitoring reports, if any, received from funding sources. 

b) Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit. 
c) Unrestricted access to persons within the City from whom you determined it necessary to obtain audit 

evidence. 
d) Minutes of the meetings of the City Council and School Committee or summaries of actions of recent 

meetings for which minutes have not yet been prepared. 

12) 	All material transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial 
statements and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards. 

13) 	We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be materially 
misstated as a result of fraud. 

14) 	We have no knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud that affects the City and involves: 

Management 
Employees who have significant roles in internal control, or 

• Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

15) 	We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the City's financial statements 
communicated by employees, former employees, analysts, regulators, or others. 

16) 	We have no knowledge of instances of noncompliance or suspected noncompliance with provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, or grant agreements, or abuse, whose effects should be considered when preparing 

financial statements. 



Runyon Kersteen Ouellette 
Page 3 

17) We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation, claims, and assessments whose effects should be 
considered when preparing the financial statements. 

18) We have clisclosed to you the iclentity of the City's related parties and all the related party relationships and 
transactions of which we are aware. 

Government - specific 

19) There have been no communications from regulatory agencies concerning noncompliance with, or deficiencies in, 
financial reporting practices. 

20) We have taken timely and appropriate steps to remedy fraud, noncompliance with provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, or abuse that you have reported to us. 

21) We have a process to track the status of audit findings and recommendations. 

22) We have identified to you any previous audits, attestation engagements, or other studies related to the audit 
objectives and whether related recommendations have been implemented. 

23) We have providecl our vievvs on reported findings, conclusions, and recommendations, as well as our planned 
corrective actions, for the report. 

24) The City has no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of assets, liabilities, 
or equity. 

25) We are responsible for compliance with the laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts and grant agreements 
applicable to us, including tax or debt limits and debt contracts; and legal and contractual provisions for reporting 
specific activities in separate funds. 

26) We have identified and disclosed to you all instances, which have occurred or are likely to have occurred, of fraud 
and noncompliance with provisions of laws and regulations that we believe have a material effect on the financial 
statements or other financial data significant to the audit objectives, and any other instances that warrant the 
attention of those charged with governance. 

27) We have identified and disclosed to you all instances, which have occurred or are likely to have occurred, of 
noncompliance with provisions of contracts and grant agreements that we believe have a material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts or other financial data significant to the audit objectives. 

28) We have identified and clisclosed to you all instances that have occurred or are likely to have occurred, of abuse 
that could be quantitatively or qualitatively material to the financial statements or other financial data significant 

to the audit objectives. 

29) There are no violations or possible violations of budget ordinances, laws and regulations (including those 
pertaining to adopting, approving and amending budgets), provisions of contracts and grant agreements, tax or 
debt limits, and any related debt covenants whose effects should be considered for disclosure in the financial 
statements, or as a basis for recording a loss contingency, or for reporting noncompliance. 



Runyon Kersteen Ouellette 
Page 4 

30) As part of your audit, you assisted with preparation of the School Department financial statements and related 
notes, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards, and adjusting journal entries. We acknowledge our 
responsibility as it relates to those nonaudit services, including that we assume all management responsibilities; 
oversee the services by designating an individual, preferably within senior management, who possesses suitable 
skill, knowledge, or experience; evaluate the adequacy and results of the services performed; and accept 
responsibility for the results of the services. We have reviewed, approved, and accepted responsibility for those 
financial statements and related notes and schedule of expenditures of federal awards. 

31) The City has satisfactory title to all owned assets, and there are no liens or encumbrances on such assets nor has 
any asset been pledged as collateral. 

32) The City has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material effect on the financial 
statements in the event of noncompliance. 

33) The financial statements include all component units as well as joint ventures with an equity interest, and properly 
disclose all other joint ventures and other related organízations. 

34) The financial statements properly classify all funds and activities, in accordance with GASB Statement No. 34. 

35) All funds that meet the quantitative criteria in GASBS Nos. 34 and 37 for presentation as major are identified and 
presented as such and all other funds that are presented as major are particularly important to financial statement 
users. 

36) Components of net position (net investment in capital assets; restricted; and unrestricted), and components of 
fund balance (nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned) are properly classified and, if 
applicable, approved. 

37) Investments, derívative instruments, and land and other real estate held by endowments are properly valued. 

38) Provisions for uncollectible receivables have been properly identified and recordeci. 

39) Expenses have been appropriately classified in or allocated to functions and programs in the statement of activities, 
and allocations have been made on a reasonable basis. 

40) Revenues are appropriately classified in the statement of activities within program revenues, general revenues, 
contributions to term or permanent endowments, or contributions to permanent fund principal. 

41) Interfund, internal, and intra-entity activity and balances have been appropriately classified and reported. 

42) Deposits and investrnent securities and derívative instruments are properly classified as to risk and are properly 
disclosed. 

43) Capital assets, including infrastructure and intangible assets, are properly capitalized, reported, and if applicable, 
depreciated. 

44) We have appropriately disclosed the City of Auburn, Maine's policy regarding whether to first apply restricted or 
unrestricted resources when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net 
position is available and have determined that net position is properly recognized under the policy. 

45) We are following GASB Statement No. 54, paragraph 18, to determine the fund balance classifications for financial 

reporting purposes. 



Runyon Kersteen Ouellette 
Page 5 

46) 	We acknowledge our responsibility for the required supplementary information (RSI). The RSI is measured and 
presented within prescribed guidelines and the methods of measurement and presentation have not changed 
from those used in the prior period. We have disclosed to you any significant assumptions and interpretations 
underlying the measurement and presentation of the RSI. 

47) 	With respect to the schedule of federal expenditures and the combining and individual fund schedules: 

a) We acknowledge our responsibility for presenting the supplementary information listed above in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and we believe the supplementary 
information, including its form and content, is fairly presented in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepteci in the United States of America. The methods of measurement and presentation of the supplementary 
information listed above have not changed from those used in the prior period, and we have disclosed to you any 
significant assumptions or interpretations underlying the measurement and presentation of the supplementary 
information. 

b) If the supplementary information listed above is not presented with the audited financial statements, we will make 
the audited financial statements readily available to the intended users of the supplementary information no later 
than the date we issue the supplementary information and the auditors report thereon. 

48) 	With respect to federal award programs: 

We are responsible for understanding and complying with and have complied with the requirements of 
OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Govemments, and Non-Profit Organizations, including 
requirements relating to preparation of the schedule of expenditures of federal awards. 

b) 	We acknowledge our responsibility for presentíng the schedule of expenditures of federal awards (SEFA) 
in accordance with the requirements of OMB Circular A-133 §310.b. and we believe the SEFA, including its 
form and content, is fairly presented in accordance with the Circular. The methods of measurement or 
presentation of the SEFA have not changed from those used in the prior period and we have disclosed to 
you any significant assumptions and interpretations underlying the measurement and presentation of the 
SEFA. 

c) 	If the SEFA is not presented with the audited financial statements, we will make the audited financial 
statements readily available to the intenclecl users of the SEFA no later than the date we issue the 
supplementary information and the auditors report thereon. 

We have identified and disclosed to you all of our government programs and related activities subject to 
OMB Circular A-133 and have included in the SEFA expenditures made during the audit period for all 
awards provided by federal agencies in the form of grants, federal cost-reimbursement contracts, loans, 
loan guarantees, property (including donated surplus property), cooperative agreements, interest 
subsidies, insurance, food commodities, direct appropriations, and other direct assistance. 

e) 	We are responsible for understanding and complying with, and have complied with in all material respects, 
the requirements of laws, regulations, and the provisions of contracts and grant agreements related to 
each of our federal programs and have identified and disclosed to you the requirements of laws, 
regulations, and the provisions of contracts and grant agreements that are considered to have a direct 
and material effect on each major federal program. 



Runyon Kersteen Ouellette 
Page 6 

We are responsible for establishing and maintaining, and have established and maintained, effective 
internal control over compliance for federal programs that provides reasonable assurance that we are 
managing our federal awards in compliance with laws, regulations, and the provisions of contracts and 
grant agreements that could have a material effect on our federal programs. We believe the internal 
control over compliance or other factors to the date of this letter that might significantly affect internal 
control, including any corrective action taken with regard to control deficiencies reported ín the schedule 
of findings and questioned costs, is adequate and is functioning as intended. 

We have made available to you all contracts and grant agreements (including amendments, if any) and 
any other correspondence with federal agencies or pass-through entities relevant to federal programs 
and related activities. 

h) We have received no requests from a federal agency to audit one or more specific programs as a major 
program. 

i) We have complied with the direct and material compliance requirements (except for noncompliance 
disclosed to you), including when applicable, those set forth in the OMB Circular A-133 Compliance 
Supplement, relating to federal awards and have identified and disclosed to you all amounts questioned 
and all known noncompliance with the direct and material requirements of federal awards. 

ll 	We have disclosed any communications from grantors and pass-through entities concerning possible 
noncompliance with the direct and material compliance requirements, including communications 
received from the end of the period covered by the compliance audit to the date of the auditor 's report. 

k) 	We have disclosed to you the findings received and related corrective actions taken for previous audits, 
attestation engagements, and internal or external monitoring that directly relate to the objectives of the 
compliance audit, including findíngs received and corrective actions taken from the end of the period 
covered by the compliance audit to the date of the auditors report. 

Amounts claimed or used for matching were determined in accordance with relevant guidelines in OMB 

Circular A-87, Cost Principles for State, Local, and Tribal Govemments, and OMB's Uniform Administrative 
Requirements for Grants and Cooperative Agreements to State and Local Governments. 

m) We have disclosed to you our interpretation of compliance requirements that may have varying 
interpretations. 

n) We have made available to you all documentation related to compliance with the direct and material 
compliance requirements, including information related to federal program financial reports and claims 
for advances and reimbursements. 

o) We have disclosed to you the nature of any subsequent events that provide addítional evidence about 
conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period affecting noncompliance duríng the reporting 

period. 

P) 	There are no such known instances of noncompliance with direct and material compliance requirements 
that occurred subsequent to the period covered by the auditors report. 

No changes have been made in internal control over compliance or other factors that might significantly 
affect internal control, including any corrective action we have taken regarding significant deficiencies or 
material weaknesses in internal control over compliance, subsequent to the date as of which compliance 

was audited. 



Runyon Kersteen Ouellette 
Page 7 

Federal program financial reports and claims for advances and reimbursements are supported by the 
books and records from which the financial statements have been prepared. 

s) The copies of federal program financial reports provided you are true copies of the reports submitted, or 
electronically transmitted, to the respective federal agency or pass-through entity, as applicable. 

t) We have monitored subrecipients to determine that they have expended pass-through assistance in 
accordance with applicable laws and regulations and have met the requirements of OMB Circular A-133. 

u) We have taken appropriate action, including issuing management decisions, on a timely basis after receipt 
of subrecipients auditors reports that identified noncompliance with laws, regulations, or the provisions 
of contracts or grant agreements and have ensured that subrecipients have taken the appropriate and 
timely corrective action on findings. 

v) We have considered the results of subrecipient audits and have made any necessary adjustments to our 
books and records. 

w) We have charged costs to federal awards in accordance with applicable cost principles. 

x) We are responsible for and have accurately prepared the summary schedule of prior audit findings to 
include all findings required to be included by OMB Circular A-133 and we have provided you with all 
information on the status of the follow-up on prior audit findings by federal awarding agencies and pass-
through entities, including all management decisions. 

Y) 	We are responsible for and have accurately prepared the auditee section of the Data Collection Form as 
required by OMB Circular A-133. 

z) 
	

We are responsible for preparing and implementing a corrective action plan for each audit finding. 

igned 	 • Signed 

111,411z./  
Date 	 Date 

Signed 

Date 



RKO 
Runyon Kersteen Ouellette 	 Certified Public Accountants and Business Consultants 

November 24, 2014 

To the Management of the 
City of Auburn, Maine: 

ln planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of 
Auburn, Maine as of and for the year ended June 30, 2014, in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, we considered the City of Auburn, Maine's internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing auditing procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Auburn, 
Maine's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of 
Auburn, Maine's internal control. 

Our consideration of the internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding 
paragraph and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies and, therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies 
may exist that were not identified. However, as discussed below, we identified a certain deficiency in 
internal control that we consider a significant deficiency. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the City's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a 
timely basis. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material 
weaknesses. 

A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less 
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. We consider the deficiency in Arena and Recreation segregation of duties to be a 
significant deficiency. 

Additionally, during our audit we becanne aware of several matters that are opportunities for 
strengthening internal controls and operating efficiency. They have been identified in the attached 
Schedule of Comments and Responses. 

This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, City Council, School 
Committee, and others within the entity and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone 
other than these specified parties. 

1 



Management of the 
City of Auburn, Maine 

Page 2 

We wish to express our appreciation for the cooperation and assistance we received from the officials 
and employees of the City of Auburn, Maine, including the Department of Education, during the course 
of our audit. We will review the status of these comnnents during our next audit engagennent. We have 
already discussed these issues with various City and School personnel, and we will be pleased to discuss 
it in further detail at your convenience, or to assist you in implementing the reconnmendations. 

Very truly yours, 

2 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Schedule of Comments and Responses 

June 30, 2014 

SIGNIFICANT DEFICIENCY 

Segregation of Duties — Arena and Recreation 

During our testing of Arena and Recreation cash receipts, we found there is a lack of segregation of duties in the 
receiving, depositing and recording of cash receipts. To provide effective control, it would be necessary to 
separate each of these duties. At the present time, the cashier's duties include all of these functions to some 
degree. During subsequent conversations, it is apparent that at this time, it is not possible to separate each of 
these duties. lt would appear advisable to at least set up some form of control over cash receipts, such as a list 
of remittances received to be prepared at the time the mail is opened, use of prenumbered receipts, and 
reconciling cash registers to the register tape. All of these tasks would be connpleted by an employee other than 
the one preparing the deposit. 

Managements response/corrective action plan: As soon as this was brought to the attention of staff, 
procedures were implemented to correct this issue. Currently one staff member closes out the cash register daily 
and reconciles the cash receipts to the tape. This same employee opens all mall and lists each check in a check 
log as it is received. This employee initials all work and then gives the work to the administrative assistant, who 
makes out the deposit. We will continue to monitor the cash receipts process and refine as necessary with the 
limited staff. 

OTHER COMMENTS 

School Activitv Funds 

During our testing of activity funds, we noticed that there are activity funds that do not appear to be for the 
benefit of the students, such as the Administration, General or Wellness funds. We also noted there are 50/50 
raffles conducted and the proceeds are used for faculty baskets. The true purpose of activity funds is to 
account for student activity progranns, where students have participation in their management. We 
recommend the Department of Education review their activity funds to determine if they are being properly 
reported in the financial statements. 

Managements response/corrective action plan: During the 14-15 school year, we will review the funds being 
run through activity funds to see if they are properly placed there, or if any should be moved to a different fund 
and be accounted for in a different way by the school administrator solely. The 50/50 raffles were being run 
through the staff fund at the high school. This fund consisted solely of funds donated by staff members, for use 
at the staff's discretion for such things as purchasing flowers for a sick staff member, or donating to a needy 
family. After review of this fund and discussion with the auditors, management decided that activity funds are 
not an appropriate place to have a staff fund. The balances of the staff funds at all schools have been retumed 
to the staff, and the School District will no longer have any participation or oversight in this type of fund, or any 
50/50 raffles. 

3 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Schedule of Comments and Responses, Continued 

June 30, 2014 

OTHER COMMENTS, CONTINUED 

High School Activitv Funds 

During our review of the June 30, 2014 High School Activity Fund bank statement reconciliation, we noted 
several old, outstanding items, including deposits and checks dating as far back as 2009. This causes additional 
time to be spent by personnel to reconcile the bank accounts each month. lf any of these checks should 
ultimately be voided, the possibility of using these funds currently is eliminated. The State of Maine requires 
holders of unclaimed property, which includes any type of outstanding check, to identify the unclaimed 
property by listing them on a form supplied by the State and then trying to locate the owners of the unclaimed 
property. Attempts to locate owners should be done between July 1 and September 1. The State also provides 
an Owner Identification sample letter to use. On November 1, the holders are required to send the Holder 
Report Form along with the funds to the Office of the State Treasurer. Checks should be made payable to the 
Treasurer, State of Maine. We recommend that this process be completed as soon as possible so that checks 
can be removed from the bank reconciliation and the original transactions reversed. 

Managements response/corrective action plan: The majority of the old, outstanding items are not actual checks 
or deposits, but adjusting entries that were made several years ago to reconcile accounts within the accounting 
software. We believe most of these entries will offset each other. The Business Office Manager and High School 
secretary will review these items and have all of them cleared or corrected by the end of 2015. 

School Journal Entries 

During our review of Department of Education journal entries, we noted that there is no evidence that they 
have been approved, even if they may be periodically reviewed by the Business Manager. The School 
Department should consider implementing a system in which journal entries over a certain dollar annount be 
approved by the Business Manager and documented by a signature. 

Managements response/corrective action plan: Beginning in July 2014, the Business Manager will review 
a monthly journal entries report, as created by Tyler accounting software, and sign off on the reports to 

indicate acknowledgement of review and approval. 

4 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Schedule of Comments and Responses, Continued 

June 30, 2014 

OTHER COMMENTS, CONTINUED 

Highwav Planning and Construction Drawdowns 

During our testing of the Highway Planning and Construction grants, we determined that drawdowns are not 
completed in a timely manner. To avoid the use of General Fund monies for extended periods of time, it is an 
important aspect of cash management to recover expended funds in a timely manner. We recommend that 
drawdowns be completed monthly, or as expended, to ensure expended funds are replenished in a timely 
manner. 

Managements response/corrective action plan: The Finance Department staff met with the City Engineer, as 
going forward the Finance Department will be doing the drawdowns. On large projects, we will do monthly 
drawdowns and on small projects, we will determine if we need to do more than one drawdown based on the 
length of the project. This change has already been implemented. 

Tax Increment Financing Districts Agreements 

During our review of Tax Increment Financing (TIF) agreements with the City, we noted a few areas in need of 
improvement. We noted one instance where the credit enhancement payment exceeded the amount of 
captured taxes. This is a violation of the TIF agreement, which indicates funds can only be paid out up to the 
amount captured. We also noted that most amounts recorded in the TIF fund only account for the credit 
enhancement agreement portion of the TIF. The remaining captured amount, to be spent by the City on 
specific items depending on which TIF they originate, is maintained in the General Fund and spent from the 
General Fund. ln order to ensure compliance with the City's TIF agreements, we would reconnmend that the 
entire captured amount be transferred to the TIF fund and expended from that fund in its entirety. This will 
ensure that monies spent from TIF funds are easily traceable to the expenditures to ensure compliance with the 
TIF agreements. 

Managements response/corrective action plan: We will address the íssues in our next budget cyde (FY16 

budget). 

Person responsible for corrective action of School comments: 

Adam Hanson, Business Office Supervisor, Auburn School Department 
Phone: (207) 784-6431, ext. 1425 

Antícipated completion date: 
Corrective action will be complete within 12 months. 

Person responsible for corrective action of City comments: 

Jill Eastman, Finance Director, (207) 333-6600 

Anticipated completion date: 
Corrective action will be complete within 12 months. 

5 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 

Reports Required by Govemment Auditing 
Standards and OMB Circular A-133 

For the Year Ended 
June 30, 2014 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Reports Required by Government Auditing Standards 

and OMB Circular A-133 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014 

Report 	 Page 

Independent Auditors Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and 

Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards 

	
1-2 

Independent Auditors Report on Compliance for Each Major Program and on Internal Control Over 

Compliance Required by OMB Circular A-133 	 3-5 

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 	 6-7 

Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 	 8 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs: 

Section I - Summary of Auditors Results 	 9 

Section II - Findings Required to be Reported Under Government Auditing Standards 	 10 

Section III - Findings and Questioned Costs for Federal Awards 	 11 

Section IV - Sumrnary Schedule of Prior Year Audit Findings for Federal Awards 	 12 



RKO 
Runyon Kersteen Ouellette 	 Certified Public Accountants and Business Consultants 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 
AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

To the City Council and School Committee 
City of Auburn, Maine 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information 
of the City of Auburn, Maine, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2014, and the related notes to the 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the City of Auburn, Maine's basic financial statements, 
and have issued our report thereon dated November 24, 2014. 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

ln planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City of Auburn, 
Maine's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Auburn, 
Maine's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of 
Auburn, Maine's internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a 
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to nnerit attention by those charged 
with gove rna nce. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or, significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. We did identify a certain deficiency in internal 
control, described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as item 2014-001 that 
we consider to be a significant deficiency. 

1 



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 

AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS, CONTINUED 

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Auburn, Maine's financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have 
a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing 
an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we 
do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or 
other matters that are required to be reported under Govemment Auditing Standards. 

We noted certain matters that we reported to management of the City of Auburn, Maine in a separate 
letter dated November 24, 2014. 

City of Auburn, Maine's Response to Findings 

The City of Auburn, Maine's response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. The City of Auburn, Maine's response was not 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, 
we express no opinion on it. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity's internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

ashit( 

November 24, 2014 
South Portland, Maine 

2 



RK0 
Runyon Kersteen Ouellette 	 Certified Public Accountants and Business Consultants 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL 

CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY OMB CIRCULAR A-133 

To the City Council and School Committee 
City of Auburn, Maine 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 

We have audited the City of Auburn, Maine's compliance with the types of compliance requirements 

described in the OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material 

effect on each of the City of Auburn, Maine's major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2014. 
The City of Auburn, Maine's major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditors results 
section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 

Managements Responsibility 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and 
grants applicable to its federal programs. 

Auditors Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the City of Auburn, Maine's major 
federal programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We 
conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 

United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Govemment Auditing 

Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and OMB Circular A-133, Audits of 

States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. Those standards and OMB Circular A-133 

require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct 
and material effect on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence about the City of Auburn, Maine's compliance with those requirements and performing such 

other procedures, as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major 
federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City of Auburn, 

Maine's compliance. 

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

ln our opinion, the City of Auburn, Maine complied, in all material respects, with the types of 
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its 
major federal programs identified in the summary of auditors results section of the accompanying 

schedule of findings and questioned costs for the year ended June 30, 2014. 

3 



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL 

CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY OMB CIRCULAR A-133, CONTINUED 

Report on Internal Control over Compliance 

Management of the City of Auburn, Maine, is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective 
internal control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In 
planning and performing our audit of compliance, we considered the City of Auburn, Maine's internal 
control over compliance with the types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on a 
major federal program to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for each major federal program and to test and 
report on internal control over compliance in accordance with OMB Circular A-133, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Auburn, Maine's internal control 
over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Auburn, 
Maine's internal control over compliance. 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their 
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over 

compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that 
there is a reasonable possibility that a material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement 
of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant 

deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe 
than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention 
by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of the internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, 
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of 
OMB Circular A-133. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

4 



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL 

CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY OMB CIRCULAR A-133, CONTINUED 

Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by OMB Circular A-133 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, 
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Auburn, Maine, as of and 
for the year ended June 30, 2014, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise the City of Auburn, Maine's basic financial statements. We issued our report thereon dated 
November 24, 2014, which contained unmodified opinions on those financial statements. Our audit was 
conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise 
the basic financial statements. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is 
presented for the purposes of additional analysis as required by OMB Circular A-133 and is not a 
required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management 
and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing 
and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other 
additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. In our opinion, the scheduled of expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated in all material 
respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole. 

November 24, 2014 
South Portland, Maine 

5 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014 

Federal Grantor/Pass-through 
Grantor/Program Title 

Federal 
CFDA 

number 
ARRA 
Funds 

Pass- 
through 
number 

Program or 
award 

amount 

Balance at 
June 30, Revenue Recognized Expenditures Recognized 

Balance at 
June 30, 

2014 2013 Federal 	Other Federal 	Other 

U.S. Department of Education: 
Direct Program: 

Safe Schools Healthy Students 84.184 N/A $ 	22,000 (4,977) 4,977 
Passed through Maine Department of Education: 

Adult Basic Education 84.002 6296 23,220 22,885 22,885 
Title IA 84.010 3107 1,139,701 1,213,999 1,213,999 
Title 1A Continuous Improvement Program 84.010 3056 32,892 56 56 
Local Entitlement 84.027 3046 922,503 961,960 961,960 
PreSchool Part B Section 619 84.173 6247 12,458 12,458 12,458 
Twenty-First Century Community Learning Centers 84.287 3356 268,205 309,893 309,893 
Title III - Language acquisition 84.365 3115 23,278 23,775 23,775 
Title IIA - Improving Teacher 84.367 3042 193,062 178,175 178,175 

Passed through the University of Maine: 

Reading Recovery 84.396 N/A 1,850 461 152 309 
Passed through Maine Department of Substance Abuse: 

Drug Free Communities 84.186 N/A 4,815 3,150 4,589 4,557 3,182 
Total U.S. Department of Education (1,310) 2,732,711 2,727,854 3,547 

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, passed through Maine 

Department of Education: 

Refugee Resettlement 93.576 3120 9,585 - 11,776 7,956 3,820 
SIRP 93.959 6401 12,467 3,416 9,051 12,467 

Total U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 3,416 20,827 20,423 3,820 

U.S. Department of Homeland Security 

Passed through Maine Emergency Management Agency: 

Homeland Security - 2010 Metro 97.067 N/A 188,775 92,511 12,849 105,360 	- 
Homeland Security - 2011 Metro 97.067 N/A 130,890 38,097 52,309 90,406 
Homeland Security - 2012 Metro 97.067 N/A 61,914 - 61,914 53,895 8,019 
Homeland Security - 2013 Metro 97.067 N/A 94,311 16,540 - 16,540 

Passed through Federal Emergency Management Agency: 
Assistance to Firefighters Grant 97.044 N/A 86,074 - 76,570 87,079 (10,509) 

Total U.S. Department of Homeland Security 130,608 220,182 336,740 14,050 

U.S. Department of Defense: 
Community Economic Adjustment Planning Assistance 12.610 N/A 149,998 (59,068) 98,524 56,105 	- (16,649) 

U.S. Department of Commerce: 

National Telecommunications and Information Administration 11.558 Y N/A 5,000 5,000 5,000 

6 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards, Continued 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014 

Federal Grantor/Pass-through 
Grantor/Program Title 

Federal 
CFDA 

number 
ARRA 
Funds 

Pass- 
through 
number 

Program or 
award 

amount 

Balance at 
June 30, Revenue Recognized Expenditures Recognized 

Balance at 
June 30, 

2014 2013 Federal Other Federal Other 

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development: 

Direct programs: 

Community Development Block Grant - Entitlement 14.218 N/A $ 	522,224 561,238 561,238 
Home Investment Partnership Program 14.239 N/A 366,886 275,404 275,404 

Passed-through the Maine Department of Economic and Community Development: 
Neighborhood Stabilization Program 14.228 N/A 1,021,889 125,829 125,829 - 
Neighborhood Stabilization Program 14.228 N/A 969,766 - 75,901 75,901 

Passed through the City of Lewiston, Maine: 

Lead-Based Paint Hazard Control 14.907 Y N/A 919,745 7,046 - 7,046 
Total U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 7,046 1,038,372 1,038,372 7,046 

U.S. Department ofJustice: 

Direct programs: 
COPS Hiring Recovery Program 16.710 N/A 250,000 2,117 53,269 - 57,796 (2,410) 
COPSAP 16.803 Y N/A 269,205 51,205 _ 51,205 
Equitable Sharing Program 16.922 N/A 33,583 19,683 36,676 24 56,335 
2010 Edward Byrne Justice Assistance Grant 16.804 N/A 18,295 (2,216) 11,788 5,863 3,709 
2011 Edward Byrne Justice Assistance Grant 16.804 N/A 16,309 11,744 11,740 4 
2012 Edward Byrne Justice Assistance Grant 16.804 N/A 15,307 265 165 100 
2013 Edward Byrne Justice Assistance Grant 16.804 N/A 14,582 9,192 8,746 446 

Passed through the Maine Department of Health and Human Services: 
Enforcing Underage Drinking Laws 16.727 N/A 4,250 _ _ 4,165 4,165 

Total U.S. Department of Justice 70,789 122,934 4,165 88,499 109,389 

U.S. Department of Transportation, 

Passed through the Maine Department of Transportation: 

Highway Planning and Construction - South Maine Street 20.205 N/A 1,147,320 (337,477) 1,175,946 1,027,944 (189,475) 
Highway Planning and Construction - Park Avenue Trail 20.205 N/A 711,360 (179,844) 86,454 (93,390) 
Highway Planning and Construction - Park Avenue Reconstruction 20.205 N/A 640,000 (238,278) 30,749 - 125,492 (333,021) 
Highway Planning and Construction - Riverside Drive 20.205 N/A 220,000 (58,822) 50,000 - _ (8,822) 
Highway Planning and Construction - Court St Slip Lane 20.205 N/A 180,000 (84,583) 209,636 137,239 (12,186) 
Highway Planning and Construction - Helm Bridge 20.205 N/A 337,500 (7,090) 326,576 260,357 59,129 
Highway Planning and Construction - Route 2 20.205 N/A 400,000 33,248 33,248 
Highway Planning and Construction - Minot Ave Bin Wall 20.205 N/A 556,000 _ 11,542 (11,542) 

Passed through the Maine Bureau of Highway Safety: 

2013 DriveSober, Maine! Impaired Driving 20.600 N/A 9,862 9,986 - 8,487 1,499 
2014 Click It or Ticket Campaign 20.600 N/A 3,000 2,800 2,352 448 
2014 Speed Enforcement Program 20.600 N/A 10,000 10,320 8,512 1,808 

Total U.S. Department of Transportation (906,094) 1,935,715 1,615,173 (585,552) 

U.S. Department of Agriculture, passed through the Maine Department 
of Education: 

National School Lunch Program 10.555 3024 N/A 339,719 715,601 154,192 715,601 157,933 335,978 
Food Donation Program 10.555 6134 N/A 82,407 82,407 
School Breakfast Program 10.553 3014 N/A 215,299 215,299 
Summer Food Service Program 10.559 3016 N/A 71,174 71,174 
Fresh Fruit and Vegetable Program 10.582 3028 N/A 63,759 63,759 

Total U.S. Department of Agriculture 339,719 1,148,240 154,192 1,148,240 157,933 335,978 

Totals $ (414,894) 7,322,505 158,357 7,036,406 157,933 (128,371) 
See accompanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards. 

7 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

June 30, 2014 

PURPOSE OF THE SCHEDULE 

Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133 requires a Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 
showing total expenditures for each federal award program as identified in the Catalog of Federal Domestic 
Assistance (CFDA). 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

A. Reporting Entity - The accompanying schedule includes all federal award programs of the City of Auburn, 
Maine for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014. The reporting entity is defined in Notes to Basic Financial 
Statements of the City of Auburn, Maine. 

B. Basis of Presentation - The information in the accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards is 
presented in accordance with OMB Circular A-133. 

1. Pursuant to OMB Circular A-133, federal awards are defined as assistance provided by a federal agency, 
either directly or indirectly, in the form of grants, contracts, cooperative agreements, loans, loan 
guarantees, property, interest subsidies, insurance, or direct appropriations. 

2. Major Programs - OMB Circular A-133 establishes the levels of expenditures or expenses to be used in 
defining major federal financial award programs. Major programs for the City of Auburn, Maine have 
been identified in the attached Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs - Summary of Auditors 
Results. 

C. Basis of Accounting - The information presented in the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards is 
presented on the modified accrual basis of accounting, which is consistent with the reporting in the City's 
fund financial statements. 

8 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

June 30, 2014 

Section I - Summary of Auditors Results 

Financial Statements 

Type of auditors report issued: Unmodified 

Internal control over financial reporting: 
Material weaknesses identified? 	 no 
Significant deficiencies identified? 	 yes 

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? 	 no 

Federal Awards 

Internal Control over major programs: 
Material weaknesses identified? 	 no 
Significant deficiencies identified? 	 none reported 

Type of auditors report issued on compliance 
for major programs: 	 Unmodified 

Any audit findings disclosed that are required 
to be reported in accordance with 
Circular A-133, Section .510(a)? 

	
no 

Identification of major programs: 

CFDA Numbers 	 Name of Federal Program or Cluster 

84.010 	 Title IA  
84.287 	 Twentv-First Century Communitv Learning Centers 
14.218 	 CDBG Entitlement  
20.205 	 Highwav Planning and Construction  

Dollar threshold used to distinguish 
between Type A and Type B programs: 	 $300,000 

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? 	 No 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs, Continued 

Section II - Findings Required to be Reported Under Govemment Auditing Standards 

SIGNIFICANT DEFICIENCIES 

2014-001 — SeRregation of Duties — Arena and Recreation  

During our testing of Arena and Recreation cash receipts, we found there is a lack of segregation of duties in the 
receiving, depositing and recording of cash receipts. To provide effective control, it would be necessary to 
separate each of these duties. At the present time, the cashier's duties include all of these functions to some 
degree. During subsequent conversations, it is apparent that at this time, it is not possible to separate each of 
these duties. lt would appear advisable to at least set up some form of control over cash receipts, such as a list 
of rennittances received to be prepared at the time the mail is opened, use of prenumbered receipts, and 
reconciling cash registers to the register tape. All of these tasks would be completed by an employee other than 

the one preparing the deposit. 

Managements response/corrective action plan: As soon as this was brought to the attention of staff, 
procedures were implemented to correct this issue. Currently, one staff member closes out the cash register daily 
and reconciles the cash receipts to the tape. This same employee opens all mall and lists each check in a check 
log as it is received. This employee initials all work and then gives the work to the administrative assistant, who 
makes out the deposit. We will continue to monitor the cash receipts process and refine as necessary with the 

limited staff. 

Person responsible for corrective action: 

Jill Eastman, Finance Director, (207) 333-6600 

Anticipated completion date: 
Corrective action will be complete within 12 months. 

10 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs, Continued 

Section III - Findings and Questioned Costs for Federal Awards 

None 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs, Continued 

Section IV - Summary Schedule of Prior Year Audit Findings for Federal Awards 

None 



Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  David Young, At Large 

Adam Lee, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 

 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

ORDER 100-12152014 

 
ORDERED, that the Auburn City Council accept the Fiscal Year 2014 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 

as presented by Runyon Kersteen Ouellette on December 15, 2014. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
       



City Council 

Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

 

  

 
 

 

Subject: Business Plan for Norway savings Bank Arena, Revised Budget, Expenses, Revenue FY15 

 

Information: Business plan including spreadsheets and graphs with 10 year projection 

 

Advantages: Updating the City and the Council so they have the most current and up to date information 

regarding then financials of the Arena. 

 

 

Disadvantages: This will show that the Arena is not hitting the projected revenue for FY 15. 

 

 

City Budgetary Impacts: This will impact the FY 15 budget as certain line items have been adjusted to reflect 

actual usage and expenses. 

 

 

Staff Recommended Action: Discussion only 

 

Previous Meetings and History: This is our first meeting regarding the financials of the Arena. 

 

 

Attachments:  

Table of contents 

Ice scheduling philosophy 

Arena business plan 

Usage statistics 

Revised projected revenue FY15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Council Workshop or Meeting Date: 12-15-2014    

Author:   Tim Holden, Jason Paquin 



 
985 Turner Street Auburn, ME 04210 

 

____________________Table of Contents____________________ 
 
Ice Scheduling and Programming Philosophy    
 
Executive Summary      1 - 2 
 
Company Summary 

 Company Ownership     2 

 Business Description     2 
 
Market Analysis   

 Consumer Trends      3-4 

 National Market      4-6 

 Local Market      7 

 Market Segmentation     8-9 

 Target Market Segment Strategy   9 

 Competition       9-10 

 User Groups      10 
 
Strategy and Implementation Summary  

 Competitive Edge      12 

 Sales Strategy      13 

 Management Summary     13 

 Business Summary     13-14  
 
Financial Assumptions      

 Financing       18 

 Income       18 

 Suggested Rink Schedules     19-20 

 Hourly Rental by User Group    16-20 

 Assumption Summary     21 
 
Financial Statements 

 Projected Qtr Income Statement – Year 1  22 

 Revenue Graph - Year 1     23 

 Expense Graph - Year 1     24 

 Monthly Income – Year 1     25 

 Income Statement – 10 Year    26 

 Income and Expense Graph – 10 Year   27 

 Actual Usage Statistics (Current Peak Season)      

 Revised Projected Revenue and Expenses FY15 
 



 

 

 

 

 Ice Arena Scheduling and Programming Philosophy 
 

 

 

In order to obtain maximum revenue, rink management must provide a “balanced schedule”.  This 

is sometimes difficult as special interest groups pursue contracting as many prime hours as are 

available.  Prime hours can be defined on weekdays between 5:00 & 10:00pm and on weekends 

between 8:00am & 10:00pm. 

 

A balanced schedule will provide consistent revenue on a year-round basis and continue to build 

programs with a new influx of skaters.   

 

In a new rink it is much easier to control and program a facility schedule from the very beginning.  

The first priority should be public skating sessions. These should be scheduled at times when the 

general public is most likely to be seeking entertainment during their leisure hours such as, Friday 

and Saturday evenings and Saturday and Sunday afternoons.  It is also a good idea to offer after 

school hours at least once a week from 4:00 – 5:30pm.  The length of public skating sessions can 

vary from 90 minutes to 3 hours.  The important thing to remember is that public skating sessions 

are the key to building success in other program areas.  

 

While public skaters are at the arena they should have access to materials that promote learn-to-

skate classes, hockey initiation programs, birthday parties and other special events that will make 

them a regular guest of the facility.  Public sessions need to be consistently scheduled and rarely 

relinquished for hockey tournaments, competitions, etc.  User groups will put pressure on 

management to secure these prime times for their special events but it is not sound business 

practice to disrupt the consistency of these sessions designated for the general public.  The goal 

should be for the public to know your hours and not expect them to change on a sporadic basis.   

 

After establishing the public skating hours, the next priority should be “learn-to-skate” classes.  

Again, this is very important because these skaters will feed into the competitive figure skating, 

precision skating, and hockey programs.  It is wise to schedule at least two sessions per week, one 

on a weekday late afternoon time slot and one on Saturday morning.  These sessions should be 60 

– 90 minutes in length with each student attending a thirty-minute class once or twice a week.  

Five to seven classes can be taught on designated coned-off strips during each thirty-minute 

session.   

 

Once the public skating and “learn-to-skate” classes are scheduled one can divide up the 

remaining hours accordingly.  Based on existing numbers, one group may require more time than 

another and those requests must be considered as part of the big picture and the need to utilize and 

schedule ice throughout the year.  Typically, figure skating is scheduled during the early 

afternoons on the weekdays and to a lesser extent on Saturday mornings.  

 

Once a program is fully established it is not uncommon for figure skaters to use the early morning 

times before school.  Youth hockey programs usually begin between 5:00 and 6:00pm on 

weekdays and continue until about 9:00 or 10:00pm at night.  Again, once the program builds and 

requires more ice time, early weekday mornings can be contracted to the youth hockey players as 

well as the figure skaters. 

 

 

 

 

  



 1 

 
Executive Summary 

 
 
The Norway Savings Bank Arena is a premier two-surface, NHL size, ice-skating facility 
located in Auburn, Maine.  Our goal is to provide the community with a state-of-the-art 
recreational ice facility with a safe, healthy environment for children, teens, and adults.  
Our competitive edge will be strengthened with an unwavering focus on exemplary 
customer service. 
 
The main objectives and keys to success of the development of this new arena are: 

 
o To provide exceptional service that leaves a positive impression so customers 

and guests will return. 
o To maintain tight control of costs, operations, and cash flow through diligent 

management and automated computer control. 
o A great management team that is comprised of Tim Holden, Jason Paquin, and 

Jennifer Banker. 
o Effective programming and scheduling of the facility to maximize utilization 

resulting in long-term success. 
o Provide top-quality food selection and service for our customers and guests. 
o Market the facility to specifically targeted demographic bases that are likely to be 

long-term customers and guests. 
o Provide a consistent entertaining atmosphere during public skating sessions.  
o Work with the local Amateur Hockey Associations to contract weekday evening 

and weekend ice.   
o Manage internal finances and cash flow to assure an attractive return on 

investment for the tax payers of Auburn. 
o Seek key sponsors and advertising partners as ancillary income providers. 
o Establish permitting for the addition of a mini or full-sized ice sheet to the facility, 

in order to minimize issues of expansion, if appropriate, in the future. 
 
 
 
The key elements of the Ice Arena concept are as follows: 
 

o Two NHL size ice skating surfaces enhanced with a refrigeration system that will 
provide superior ice quality. 

o An inventory of 700 pairs of high quality, well-maintained hockey and figure rental 
skates.  Sizes will range from a youth size 6 to an adult size 13 in order to 
accommodate most guests. (Currently subleased to Penalty Box Inc.) 

o Research a large Video Wall and specialty lighting installed in Rink #2 to provide 
music and video entertainment during our public skating sessions.  Very few ice 
arenas in the country have taken advantage of this concept; the arenas that have 
installed these systems have been extremely successful. 

o Large locker rooms with restrooms and showers to accommodate hockey and 
figure skating needs.  Regular cleaning and maintenance of these areas is critical 
to good customer service. 

o Currently researching the potential of developing a fitness center inside The 
Norway Savings Bank Arena to create an outside revenue source. 

o Develop several meeting/party rooms for community meetings, birthday parties, 
tournament hospitality, and similar events. 



 2 

o Pro shop that specializes in high-profit consumables to provide equipment 
necessary to participate in ice hockey, figure skating, and broomball as well as 
clothing and souvenir items that relate to ice sports. (Currently subleased to Blue 
Line Sporting Goods.) 

o Concession area with special attention given to the level of food quality and 
healthful options.  A simple menu offering foods ranging from fried foods to 
hamburgers, chicken and salads. (Currently Subleased to penalty Box Inc.) 

o Small Coffee shop to provide specialty coffee drinks and smoothies. 
o Exceptional service – In order to reach and maintain a unique image of quality, 

The Norway Savings Bank Arena will provide attentive and friendly service 
through a high ratio of service personnel to customers, clean and modern 
facilities, and a wide variety of programs appropriate for all ages and levels of 
skating expertise. 

 
 
 
 

COMPANY SUMMARY 
 

Company Ownership 
 

George Schott –Slap shot LLC;  Is a local entrepreneur who provided the funding to 

build The Norway Savings Bank Arena in the City of Auburn.  

 

Mr. Schott serves as the leassor of The Norway Savings Bank Arena to the City of 

Auburn. 

The City of Auburn– Operates the Norway Savings Bank Arena under the direction of 

the City Manager and its management staff.   

 

 
 
Business Description 
 
The Norway Savings Bank Arena’s central location, demographics, and lack of direct 
competition in the dual ice surface market are major advantages to this facility.  The 
growth of Norway Savings Bank Arena will provide a local solution to ever growing need 
of an ice-skating facility in the Auburn area. 
 
The intention of The Norway Savings Bank Arena is to maintain and expand an indoor 
ice arena that caters to the sports enthusiasts of recreational ice-skating, figure skating, 
and ice hockey.  Norway Savings Bank Arena will target the greater Lewiston/ Auburn 
area as well as Central and Southern Maine as a focus for this two NHL size ice surface 
facility.  Throughout the country numerous communities have adopted ice sports as a 
means of fun and excitement, and arenas designed for this sport have proven to be 
successful ventures in the right demographic base.   
 
Norway Savings Bank Arena is committed to providing a positive skating experience for 
the citizens of the Lewiston, Auburn area and visitors by establishing safe, reliable and 
affordable programs at a facility in which the community can take pride in.  Additionally, 
having experienced hands on management will ensure the professionalism of the staff, 
as well as the utmost cleanliness, safety and maintenance of the facility. 



 3 

 
The facility will be open year-round with operational hours from 6:00am – Midnight, 
seven days a week.  The arena will draw primarily from the Lewiston/Auburn area, as 
well as the Central and Southern Maine markets while attracting ice enthusiasts from 
throughout the region for hockey tournaments and interstate league competition.  The 
Development of figure skating events such as ice shows, test sessions, and 
competitions will also draw participants and spectators from throughout the region. 
 
 
Projected future revenue sources: 
 
Addition of off-season indoor turf field 
On-site fitness center 
Public programming 
Developmental training camps 
Addition of mini ice sheet or NHL sized ice sheet 
 
 
 
 

Market Analysis 
 
The Norway Savings Bank Arena is the only dual ice arena complex in Maine. Typically 
when a market is reviewed with a goal toward building an entertainment or recreation 
facility that market is within 5 - 10 miles from the potential site location.  In the ice skating 
industry, the market extends many miles. An ice skating enthusiast is willing to travel up 
to 40 miles or more to participate in their favorite sport. Roller skating rinks are 
considered neighborhood businesses.  Ice skating rinks are considered regional 
businesses.  An ice skating rink will draw skaters for many more miles than a theater, 
bowling alley, or roller rink, just to name a few.   
 
Because of the diversity in the activities and programs available at The Norway Savings 
Bank Arena, our market segments vary from dedicated hockey and figure skating 
enthusiasts to people who just want a few hours of fun and recreation. 
 
 
 

Consumer Trends 
 
On a national level, ice sports have experienced rapid growth in popularity and continue 
to be one of the fastest growing segments of the family entertainment industry.  
 
Over the years, two factors influencing the popularity of ice sports were repeatedly cited 
by key contacts:  the popularity of Disney’s Miracle on Ice  in theaters and on DVD, and 
ABC’s renewed commitment to televising professional figure skating.  
 
The Winter Olympic Games have also been important to ice facility development as 
these games historically provide increased interest in all ice related sports.  Television 
and print coverage of ice-skating and hockey in Salt Lake City, Turin, Vancouver and 
Sochi produced the typical “post-Olympic” surge of interest among both youth and 
adults.  The fact that the 2002 Winter Olympic games were in America increased 



 4 

coverage by the media on a timely basis, which also increased the number of viewers of 
the ice skating events. 
 
The Winter Olympic games of 2010, which took place in Vancouver, B.C. and the 2014 
games which took place in Sochi, Russia, were heavily televised in the United States, 
and provided an additional surge of interest in both figure skating and hockey. 
 
In a 2009 report by ESPN and Chilton Sports, a survey of females revealed their favorite 
sport is ice-skating.  Another report published by USA Today stated that figure skating 
was the fourth most popular spectator sport, with 7% of the vote, behind football, 
basketball and baseball.  However, since Michelle Kwan left the spotlight of the skating 
world with a hip injury in 2006, a high profile role model for figure skating has not yet 
emerged but very well could when the next Winter Games take place in PyeongChang, 
South Korea.  

 
 

National Market 
 
On a national level, ice sports have experienced rapid growth in popularity and continue 
to be one of the fastest growing segments of the family entertainment industry.  
 
There has been a meteoric rise in ice sport participation in the last dozen years before a 
U.S. hosted Olympics.   Roughly 600 ice facilities have opened in the United States in 
the past ten years, representing one-quarter of the approximate 2,400 rinks in operation 
today.  
 
The latest ice boom began in 2002, shortly after Sarah Hughes won the Olympic gold 
medal in women's figure skating. In the months following the Winter Games, thousands 
of girls stepped onto the ice with dreams of emulating her victory.  
 
The Olympic year is one of the most important marketing components of U.S. Figure 
Skating — for both sponsorship and membership. Figure skating has benefited from 
extraordinary TV ratings in the last decade, and that in turn led to a $100 million contract 
between the USFSA and ABC Sports. 
 
Though winter sports normally see a bump in participation after the Olympics, the Salt 
Lake Games sparked an unprecedented response.    
 
When Salt Lake City organizers extinguished the Olympic flame in 2002, the United 
States bid farewell to its most successful Winter Games ever.  Ice arena managers were 
inundated with phone calls from “wannabe Olympians”, who were inquiring about 
everything from skating to hockey to curling.  Interest was so high; the sports' national 
governing bodies struggled to keep up with the demand.  
 

U.S. Figure Skating is one of the strongest and fastest growing governing bodies within 
the Olympic movement with more than 173,000 members. It is comprised of member 
clubs, collegiate clubs, school-affiliated clubs and individual members.  

U.S. Figure Skating's national headquarters, located in Colorado Springs, Colo., is also 
home to the World Figure Skating Museum and Hall of Fame, which is toured by more 
than 15,000 visitors annually. 



 5 

More than 1,000 volunteers serve on U.S. Figure Skating's Executive Committee, Board 
of Directors and numerous committees. Thousands of additional volunteers dedicate 
their time to club activities, judging, officiating and competition management. 

USA Hockey 

 
USA Hockey, Inc., is the national governing body for the sport of hockey in the United 
States.  As such, its mission is to promote the growth of hockey in America and provide 
the best possible experience for all participants by encouraging, developing, advancing 
and administering the sport.  
 
We use USA Hockey registration as a tool, but please keep in mind there are many 
programs in facilities throughout the country that do not participate as USA Hockey 
members in order to save on registration fees.   

 
There has been a greater than 160% increase in USA Hockey registered members in 
just over 10 years. The increase in registered players is due to many factors, including 
the growth of new facilities in non-traditional hockey markets around the country.   
 
“The increase in participation with USA Hockey has been dramatic over the last ten 
years, the popularity of hockey as a participant sport has risen with every new rink that 
was built.  In many parts of the country, local hockey programs have had waiting lists.  
As soon as a new rink has opened, more players have had the chance to hit the ice.” 
 
-- Rae Briggle, Director of Member Services for USA Hockey 

 
This past November, the Maine Gladiators Youth Hockey Organization participated in 
USA Hockey's Try Hockey for Free Day.  This program offers the opportunity for children 
ages 4 to 9 years old to play the game of hockey for free.  The event is a component of 
the NHL's Hockey is for Everyone campaign and this year introduced hockey to over 
14,000 kids for the first time nationwide.  The Try Hockey Free Day gives children the 
chance to try the sport with little investment and offers the program twice a year. The 
next scheduled event is February 21, 2015 as part of Hockey Weekend Across America. 
 
USFS  (United States Figure Skating) 

U.S. Figure Skating is the national governing body for the sport of figure 
skating in the United States.  It is comprised of member clubs, collegiate 
clubs, school-affiliated clubs, individual members, and Friends of Figure 

Skating and Basic Skills programs. 

U.S. Figure Skating is one of the strongest and largest governing bodies 
within the winter Olympic movement with more than 178,500 members 

representing 1,634 clubs and Basic Skills programs. 

USFS Registration Totals on the Rise 
 
 
U.S. Figure Skating registrations are divided into 2 member types:   
 

1) There are Basic Skills members, which are the entry-level skaters in their first 
several years of progress from a Basic Skills program to a more advanced level. 



 6 

 
2) Club Members, who participate as members of a local club and typically compete 

in state, regional, and national competitions.  These members may also be 
motivated to pass tests and eventually become professional instructors. 

 
 
U.S. Figure Skating membership has steadily increased throughout the past 20 years: 
 

 Total membership (U.S. Figure Skating Basic Skills and regular membership 
combined) for 1988-89 surpassed 64,000 members.  

 1991-92 marked the first year membership hit the 100,000 total with 102,647.  

 1993-94 saw an increase that surpassed 125,000.  

 2005-06 marked the first year total membership topped 175,000.  

 The post 2006 Olympic surge brought membership to 184,000 in 2007. 

 The final 2007-08 membership settled in at 178,500. 

 
** Source: United States Figure Skating Association – 2008-2009 fact sheet. 

 
U.S. Figure Skating on TV 

During the 2009 U.S. Championships, almost 3 million households were tuned into ABC 
Family for the ladies free skate. That added up to a 3.45 rating, making it the most-
viewed skating event ever shown on cable television. Past TV viewing audiences have 
numbered as large as 16 million households for a single session, and live coverage of 
the 2001 U.S. Championships ladies final was seen in six million households nationwide. 

During the 2007-08 season, ABC Sports produced 14 shows featuring U.S. skaters, 
totaling more than 40 hours and reaching more than 47 million homes (not including 
ESPN or ESPN2 ratings). ESPN and ESPN2 also featured figure skating. 

As a testament to the continued public interest in figure skating, in 2005 ABC Sports was 
nominated for five Emmy Awards for their coverage of the 2004 World Figure Skating 
Championships. 

 
In April 2009, NBC Sports and U.S. Figure Skating announced a three year partnership 
under which NBC agreed to broadcast live high-definition coverage of the U.S. Figure 
Skating Championships, including Saturday night primetime coverage of the ladies free 
skate, as well as Skate America.  NBC’s unprecedented coverage of the 2008 U.S. 
Figure Skating Championships attracted almost 12.5 million viewers. 
 
Developing a figure skating program and group is paramount for The Norway Savings 
Bank Arena as there are currently no organized figure skating groups north of Falmouth, 
Maine. 
 

 

 
Local Market 
 
There are currently no dual surface ice-skating facilities in the target market area.   

 

 



 7 

In a new untapped market it is very important to develop a well-balanced program that 
will provide long-term users of the facility.  This is accomplished through prioritizing 
recreational programs and continuing to develop a loyal following of guests by offering a 
clean, safe, well-managed arena while maximizing revenues and minimizing expenses. 

 
The target market area and beyond has a long history of enthusiasm over ice sports.  
Some of the current programs in place that will become consistent users of The Norway 
Savings Bank Arena are: 

 

 

MMaaiinnee  GGllaaddiiaattoorrss  YYoouutthh  HHoocckkeeyy  iiss  aa  nnoonn--pprrooffiitt  yyoouutthh  hhoocckkeeyy  lleeaagguuee  iinn  tthhee  

LLeewwiissttoonn,,  AAuubbuurrnn  aarreeaa..    BBooyyss  aanndd  ggiirrllss  ffrroomm  tthhee  aaggeess  ooff  ffoouurr  ttoo  sseevveenntteeeenn  ppaarrttiicciippaattee  iinn  77  

ddiivviissiioonnss  ((TTiieerr  22,,  33,,  aanndd  44))..    TThhee  mmaajjoorriittyy  ooff  tthhee  llooccaall  yyoouutthh  pprrooggrraammss  mmeemmbbeerrss  sskkaattee  

ffrroomm  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  tthhrroouugghh  MMaayy,,  aanndd  ssoommee  tteeaammss  sskkaattee  tthhrroouugghh  tthhee  ssuummmmeerr..  
  

  SSeeccoonndd  llaarrggeesstt  aassssoocciiaattiioonn  iinn  tthhee  RReeggiioonnaall  DDiissttrriicctt  ooff  UUSSAA  HHoocckkeeyy  

  OOvveerr  440000  sskkaatteerrss  

  CCuurrrreennttllyy  ppuurrcchhaasseess  oovveerr  11000000  hhoouurrss  ooff  iiccee  aannnnuuaallllyy  

 SSuucccceessssffuull  ggiirrllss  hhoocckkeeyy  pprrooggrraamm 
 

AAdduulltt  HHoocckkeeyy  

 

  OOvveerr  330000  aaccttiivvee  aadduulltt  ppllaayyeerrss  iinn  tthhee  LLeewwiissttoonn,,  AAuubbuurrnn  AArreeaa    

  RRoooomm  ttoo  ddeevveelloopp  aann  AAdduulltt  LLeeaarrnn  ttoo  PPllaayy  HHoocckkeeyy  pprrooggrraamm  

  WWiillll  ddrraaww  ffrroomm  CCeennttrraall  aanndd  SSoouutthheerrnn  MMaaiinnee  iinn  tthhee  ooffff  sseeaassoonn  

  

 

Learn to Skate Norway Savings Bank Arena – This program will offer group figure 

skating and hockey instruction for children and adults at every level, from beginner to 

advanced.  This program will cater to the Girl Scouts, Boy Scouts, Home School, Parks 

and Recreation and other organizations, which make skating a part of their schedule.  

LTS Norway Savings Bank Arena is a feeder program to Maine Gladiators Youth 

Hockey and future figure skating programs.  

  

  
General Programming 
 

TThhee  vviissiioonn  ooff  TThhee  NNoorrwwaayy  SSaavviinnggss  BBaannkk  AArreennaa  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt  iiss  ttoo  ddeevveelloopp  pprrooggrraammmmiinngg  

bbeeyyoonndd  wwhhaatt  hhaass  bbeeeenn  ttyyppiiccaall  iinn  iiccee  sskkaattiinngg  ffaacciilliittiieess..    AA  ffeeww  eexxaammpplleess  ooff  tthhiiss  aarree::    
  

  HHiigghh  SScchhooooll  iinnttrraammuurraall  hhoocckkeeyy  lleeaagguuee  

  HHiigghh  SScchhooooll  iinnttrraammuurraall  bbrroooommbbaallll  lleeaagguuee  

  YYoouunngg  AAdduulltt  HHoocckkeeyy  LLeeaagguuee  

  SSllooww  PPuucckk  HHoocckkeeyy  LLeeaagguuee  ((5500++))  

  BBrroooommbbaallll  LLeeaagguueess    

  SScchhooooll  GGrroouupp  OOuuttiinnggss  

  PPhhyyssiiccaall  EEdduuccaattiioonn  CCllaasssseess  

  PPTTAA  SScchhooooll  EEvveennttss  

  AAfftteerr  PPrroomm  EEvveennttss  
       



 8 

 
 
 

Market Segmentation 
 

Norway Savings Bank Arena should appeal to four major market segments.   
 

1. Youth – Learning to ice skate appeals to both boys and girls ages 4 to 12.  
Programming is geared towards this age group for introductory lessons in 
both figure skating and ice hockey.  This age group is very quick to learn 
the basics and therefore become very enthusiastic about their ability to 
improve their skills quickly and become involved further.  Developing this 
customer base helps establish long-term patrons that will use the Norway 
Savings Bank Arena on a regular basis. 

 
2. Teenagers – 13 to 18 year olds get involved in programs offered at the 

ice arena as well.  Many teenagers are entrenched in competitive figure 
skating and hockey programs and will be at The Norway Savings Bank 
Arena four or five times a week.  For the teenagers not using the facility 
as a primary sport interest there is a focus to use the facility as a 
destination and social gathering place to meet similar age groups of the 
opposite sex. Potential weekend evening public skating sessions cater to 
this groups musical and entertainment preferences.  We intend to be the 
first rink in the area to develop video entertainment along with a state of 
the art light show on weekend evenings.  Word will travel quickly and it 
will become the “place to be” for this age group. 

 
 

3. Adults - This market will use the ice center on a regular basis to provide 
regularly scheduled exercise and pursue their passion for figure skating, 
public skating, and/or ice hockey.  Lunchtime public skating sessions will 
be attractive to both professional workers in the area and homemakers as 
well. 

 
In-house “no-check” hockey leagues provide a competitive atmosphere 
and great camaraderie at several different levels of play.  Drop-in hockey 
is another popular activity that does not require the commitment of 
playing in an organized league.  Adult synchronized precision skating is 
also an area that is becoming extremely popular and even boasts a 
national championship competition sanctioned through the United Skates 
Figure Skating.       

    
4. Families – This is an important market segment for our facility.  The 

Norway Savings Bank Arena has “something for everyone” and that will 
attract families that want to become members of the facility as well as 
families who simply want a few hours of fun now and again.  We are 
currently looking into developing our daytime weekend public skating 
sessions that will cater to the family atmosphere with a potential discount 
package to encourage family skating and allow us the opportunity to 
market our programs to this sector. This segment will also be the main 
target for summer camps and activities that allow for fun and education 
for the children while the parents enjoy some time to themselves. 
 



 9 

 
 

Target Market Segment Strategy 
 

Due to the size and convenient location of the facility, many people will be attracted to 
the Norway Savings Bank Arena to see what is offered.  However, management will not 
be content to just wait for customers to come to the arena.  Instead, the marketing 
strategy will focus on those market segments whose recreational needs are satisfied by 
Norway Savings Bank Arena programs.  The great thing about marketing the Norway 
Savings Bank Arena that each market segment relates; in certain ways, to all the others. 
 
Management’s main objective with this early marketing strategy will be to get people into 
the facility.  Once people see what is offered, and feel the atmosphere that is created, 
they will want to return and participate in the many activities and programs that will be 
available to them.  
 
Some of the ways we intend to get people interested in the facility include: 
 
 

 Hosting and/or supporting various community events that will bring in many 
people who otherwise would not come. 

 Co-Op advertising with local retail, entertainment, and fast food businesses. 
 

 Working with the Parks and Recreation Department to create fanfare for new 
classes and a continuing program of events. 

 
Norway Savings Bank Arena will look into utilizing print and radio media to promote both 
the facility and the programs that are being offered to attract new people from throughout 
Central and Southern Maine. 
 
 

 

Competition 
 

Again, there are no other dual surface arenas in Maine. This is one of the largest factors 
in the potential for success or failure of an indoor ice arena facility.  Our objective 
however is not to run anyone else out of business but to capitalize on the growing 
skating market in Central and Southern Maine.   
 
The closest facilities are the Androscoggin Bank Colisee that is 3.5 miles away and 
caters to Lewiston High School and the Portland Junior Pirates. Underhill Arena is 2.6 
miles away and caters to the student body of Bates College.  
 
The next page provides a spreadsheet of ice rinks in the outlying areas. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 10 

Rink Name Androscoggin Bank Colisee Underhill Arena 

Address 190 Birch Street. 145 Russell Street. 

City State Zip Lewiston, Maine 04240 Lewiston, Maine 04240 

Phone 207-783-2009 207-786-6255 

website www.thecolisee.com 
http://athletics.bates.edu/facilities/underhill-
arena 

Miles from Arena 3.5 Miles 2.5 Miles 

Rinks 1 NHL 1 NHL 

Seating 3,677 400 

Seasonal? Seasonal Seasonal 

Additional info Ice Hockey and Entertainment Facility. 
Small, University operated ice facility.  
Caters to Bates College student body. 

Owner Firland Management Bates College 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

User Groups - (Major Program Areas Defined) 
 
 
Public Skating 

 
Public skaters include individuals associated with organized groups as well as skating 
enthusiasts and the remainder of the general public who do not skate regularly.  
 
Traditional public skating sessions are 1 ½ - 2 hours long and are offered two to four 
times a week.  Expected attendance at these sessions will range from 20 to 200 people, 
depending on the season and time of day.  At many arenas, the public skating segment 
represents a sizable portion of the total hours of prime-time ice use; it also represents 
substantial income for the facility. 

 
 
 
Youth Hockey 

 
Hockey programs for youth ages 4 – 17 are typically operated either by the arena staff or 
as is most common, a local non-profit volunteer association that purchases ice time from 
the arena and schedules their clinics, practices, and games as directed by their elected 
board of directors.   

 
Group Lessons 

 
Group lessons, or “learn to skate” programs, are typically run by arena management 
who in turn hire local skating professionals to teach the lessons on an hourly basis.  One 



 11 

instructor can typically teach 10 to 15 students, and it is possible to have four or five 
groups and instructors on the ice at any one time.  The ice surface is divided up by the 
ability level of the participants. 
 
The length of the group lessons may vary from a suggested minimum of six weeks to a 
maximum of ten weeks.  A well run, well publicized, and popular learn to skate program 
is an excellent way to introduce the pleasure of skating to a community.  Participants 
generally take several series of lessons.  Once they master the activity, they become 
excited by skating and advance into a skating club or hockey organization. 
 
The United States Figure Skating Association and the Ice Skating Institute both have 
beginning lesson programs with various levels of tests to reward the progress of each 
skater.  Tests need to be carefully spaced so that pupils can take them frequently and 
experience the satisfaction of accomplishment and a badge. 

 
Figure Skating 

 
Figure skating has become popular among young people because of the publicity 
created by the Olympics and the many ice skating shows now on television.  While in the 
process of building a figure skating program, the arena usually will provide ice time that 
individuals may purchase (with a maximum of 25 skaters allowed on each session).  
During this scheduled time skaters may practice their routines, receive private lessons 
from an instructor of their choice, and play music associated with each skaters program. 
This competitive program builds off of the success of the arena’s “learn to skate” 
classes. 
 
As a figure skating program matures, a non-profit club, which is usually sanctioned 
through either the United Figure Skating Association or the Ice Skating Institute, is most 
likely formed.  At this point the club will usually secure ice time on their own and program 
it to benefit their members.  These clubs will also pursue hosting competitions and 
community ice shows. 

 
 
Adult Leagues 

 
Adult hockey leagues can be very lucrative and is preferably administered by an arena 
staff member.  Fees are charged on either an individual basis and/or a team basis.  USA 
Hockey registration is preferable for each individual as it provides supplemental 
insurance for a minimal fee, which decreases liability risk on the arenas behalf.  As youth 
programs build in a facility, adult leagues have historically used late evening ice slots.  
Additional charges associated with operating in-house leagues include scorekeepers 

and referees. 
 
Broomball 

 
Broomball is played by two opposing teams on ice without skates.  It is similar to hockey, 
except that players wear sneakers and use brooms instead of skates and hockey sticks.  
It is great exercise and popular with non-skating adults.  Players prefer to play on rough 
ice rather than on a freshly made sheet of ice.   



 12 

 
 
Drop-in Hockey 

 
Drop-in hockey is an informal game for players who drop in at a time scheduled just for 
this activity.  These players are not necessarily affiliated with a league.  Groups typically 
consist of 10-15 players who range in age from 16 – 35.  Players pay an individual fee to 
participate during the scheduled time (usually an off-peak time). 
 

     
Private Rentals 
 
Private rentals are comprised of individuals, church groups, businesses, or organized 
teams that will rent the ice for birthday parties, to play broomball as mentioned above, or 
to provide additional hockey practice outside of league play.  A studio (undersized) rink 
is perfect for birthday party rentals and should be fully utilized for that purpose on 
weekends. 
 
3-on-3 Hockey 
 
3-on-3 hockey is played on a smaller surface using 3 players per side instead of the 
usual 5 players and is becoming more popular in recent years.  A studio rink is perfect 
for this type of league play and requires fewer players to fill a team.  It is considered a 
skill development tool for youth hockey players and an opportunity for all ages of players 
to be more involved in the action of a game. 
 
 

 

STRATEGY AND IMPLEMENTATION SUMMARY 
 
Due to proven programs using/coming to this facility Learn to Skate NSBA, Rousseau’s 
camps, Maine Gladiators, and a freestyle skating class, management believes Norway 
Savings Bank Arena will become a successful business venture very quickly.  Each of 
these programs is proven and steadily increasing in numbers.  They will provide the 
foundation of the arena revenue.  All of these programs will be actively and continuously 
promoted. 
 
Competitive Edge 

 
The Norway Savings Bank Arena’s competitive edge comes from having two quality ice 
surfaces with quality amenities that include: nice size locker rooms for hockey teams and 
figure skaters, elevated bleacher seating for both ice surfaces, high quality food 
concession with warm dining area, coffee shop, wi-fi hot spot, pro shop, and potential 
Fitness Center to accommodate cross-training needs of all users 
 
Our balanced programming and guest relations will be exceptional.  The location of the 
arena will attract after school traffic.  It will draw customers after high school sporting 
practices and events such as football, baseball, track, and lacrosse.  The contemporary 
and modern mood will interest hockey tournaments and national figure skating 
competitions.  Management will have a high priority in providing a safe, secure, family-
oriented environment for patrons. 
 



 13 

By maintaining a focus on this strategy, marketing, program development, and guest 
relations, Norway Savings Bank Arena will continuously be known as the top ice arena in 
the State.  Management is aware, however, that this competitive edge may be diluted if 
they become complacent in program development and implementation.  It is important 
for Norway Savings Bank Arena to keep up with current trends in the ice skating industry 
and this will be accomplished through maintaining membership in appropriate 
organizations and by sending key staff members to industry work shops, conferences, 
and trade shows. 
 
Sales Strategy 

 
Success in the ice skating industry is based on the programming, service and amenities 
provided by the facility.  The “something for everyone” slogan fits perfectly with The 
Norway Savings Bank Arena.  All of the users of our facility must feel like they are 
getting the best possible value for their money.  And parents must feel that their children 
are safe in the caring and capable hands of Norway Savings Bank Arena coaches and 
staff. 
 
Each person desiring information on programs or memberships will be able to sit down 
with a staff member and be informed of the ice arena’s options that are available to 
them.  During this discussion, the person will also be informed of all of the services, 
programs, and amenities The Norway Savings Bank Arena has to offer.  It is important to 
establish a relationship of trust with our guests, as retaining a customer base over time 
is a key aspect of this business. 
 
 
Management Summary 
 
The management team for Norway Savings Bank Arena will depend primarily on a 
General Manager, Facilities Supervisor, and Administrative Assistant. The management 
team will utilize their expertise and supervision backgrounds to hire, train, and oversee 
the operations of the Norway Savings Bank Arena. 
 
Staff will be well trained in their areas of responsibility in order that The Norway Savings 
Bank Arena staff meets the guests needs as efficiently and effectively as possible.  It is 
the intention to continually seek input from customers to meet their needs.  This will be 
accomplished through user group and individual surveys, comment cards, staff feedback 
and program evaluation forms that seek input from guests registered in all programs. 
 
Business Summary 
 
The success of Norway Savings Bank Arena will be dependent upon effective 
management, marketing and pricing.  Our partnership understands that arena marketing, 
operations, and even physical ice maintenance, requires a balancing of the demands of 
many competing associations, organizations, special interest groups and the general 
public.  Even in a strong market, such as ours, project success will be dependent upon 
many management and operational factors.  We understand and will continually address 
these factors to ensure the success of this project. 
 
The current management staff came into the facility in June of 2014, and has been 
redeveloping the Norway Savings Bank Arena budget. As the budget had been 
previously set, the Norway Savings Bank Arena would have suffered a loss of close to 
$500,000. Through creative programming and working with existing user groups that 



 14 

short fall has been closed to an estimated $400,000. With the current lease agreement 
with Slap Shot LLC absorbing roughly 60% of the gross revenue we feel this is 
unsustainable. I am not familiar with the current bond rates or taxes, but this may be 
something to look into in the immediate future. There is potential to greatly reduce the 
debt service payment.  
 
Our goal is to create new programs and camps that will use ice during the peak and non 
peak season. These programs will create additional revenue long term. In the short term, 
it will take time for these to grow and become established. The creation of new 
tournaments along with the continued growth of existing tournaments will create a long 
term revenue source as well as attract participants to area business and hotels. 
 
Also, we are exploring turf and a fitness center for the Arena. These will provide income 
that is not dependent on the ice. There are only so many hours in a day that people can 
skate and we feel it is extremely important to try and bring in other sources of revenue. 
This spring we plan to ice out rink 1 and compare the energy savings to the energy used 
when both sheets have ice. The Arena has not been operational for one full fiscal year; 
we really need to see the actuals for one or two years to determine where the gaps in 
the scheduling are as well as the utility usage. Over the next couple of years this will 
help to accurately forecast the operational expenses of the Arena. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 15 

 

 

FINANCIAL ASSUMPTIONS 
 
 
FINANCING 
 
Currently our debt service is $42,207.02 per month or $506,484.24 per year. As 
previously mentioned; there is potential for significant savings through the possibility of 
the City bonding the Arena. We strongly suggest that the City consider this once all of 
the information is gathered. 
 
INCOME 
 
Revenues are based on the programming schedule that can be found on the next two 
pages.  It is important to maintain a consistent and balanced schedule for the growth of 
the programs, which relate directly to the growth in revenue.  The ice arena will be open 
52 weeks in the year. The months of September through February will be the most 
heavily scheduled season, representing 25 weeks of the year.  The following schedule 
shows a 115 hours being scheduled per week.  The month of March, April and May, 
traditionally show a decrease in hours scheduled to 57 hours per week as Rink #1 will 
have the ice removed during this time period and into the June through August schedule 
as well.  These months represent 12 weeks of the year.  From June through August (13 
weeks) rentals again pick up slightly with 62 hours per week being utilized.  The hourly 
rental for the ice is currently set at $225 per hour. We are researching a rate increase to 
$235 per hour for fiscal year 2016. 
 
Again, the next several pages provide the schedules that the majority of revenues are 
based upon. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 



 16 

NORWAY SAVINGS BANK ARENA 
SCHEDULE & USAGE FOR RINK 1 

  
SURFACE 200'x85' 

 
  

                SEP THROUGH 
FEB 

                MON TUE WED THU FRI SAT SUN 

    
HS 

Hockey   
HS 

Hockey       

5:00 AM               

6:00 AM           
 

  

7:00 AM               

8:00 AM Figure Lo             

9:00 AM           YouthH YouthH 

10:00 
AM           YouthH YouthH 

11:00 
AM           YouthH YouthH 

12:00 
PM   Drop-In H   Drop-In H   YouthH YouthH 

1:00 PM           YouthH YouthH 

2:00 PM   Rental   Rental   YouthH YouthH 

3:00 PM           YouthH SMMSHL 

4:00 PM 
HS 

Hockey 
HS 

Hockey 
HS 

Hockey 
HS 

Hockey 
HS 

Hockey YouthH SMMSHL 

5:00 PM 
HS 

Hockey 
HS 

Hockey 
HS 

Hockey 
HS 

Hockey 
HS 

Hockey 
HS 

Hockey SMMSHL 

6:00 PM 
HS 

Hockey 
HS 

Hockey 
HS 

Hockey 
HS 

Hockey 
HS 

Hockey 
HS 

Hockey Adult H 

7:00 PM YouthH YouthH   YouthH YouthH   Adult H 

8:00 PM YouthH YouthH   YouthH YouthH   Adult H 

9:00 PM         Adult H Adult H Adult H 

10:00 
PM     Adult H Adult H Adult H   Broomball 

11:00 
PM     Adult H Adult H       

12:00 
AM               

                MAR-
MAY 

         MON TUE WED THU FRI SAT SUN 

              
 5:00 AM               

6:00 AM           
 

  

7:00 AM               

8:00 AM               

9:00 AM               

10:00 
AM               

11:00 
AM               

12:00 
PM               

1:00 PM               

2:00 PM               

3:00 PM               

4:00 PM               



 17 

5:00 PM               

6:00 PM               

7:00 PM               

8:00 PM               

9:00 PM               

10:00 
PM               

11:00 
PM 

 
    

 
      

12:00 
AM               

        JUN-JUL-AUG 
        MON TUE WED THU FRI SAT SUN 

                

5:00 AM               

6:00 AM               

7:00 AM               

8:00 AM               

9:00 AM               

10:00 
AM               

11:00 
AM               

12:00 
PM               

1:00 PM               

2:00 PM               

3:00 PM               

4:00 PM               

5:00 PM               

6:00 PM               

7:00 PM               

8:00 PM               

9:00 PM               

10:00 
PM               

11:00 
PM               

12:00 
AM               

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 18 

 
 
 

NORWAY SAVINGS BANK ARENA 

SCHEDULE & USAGE FOR RINK  2 

  
SURFACE 200'x85' 

 
  

        SEP THROUGH FEB 
      

          MON TUE WED THU FRI SAT SUN 

                

5:00 AM   Rental 
HS 

Hockey Rental       

6:00 AM               

7:00 AM               

8:00 AM               

9:00 AM               

10:00 AM     School     YouthH YouthH 

11:00 AM           YouthH YouthH 

12:00 PM Drop-In H Drop-In H Public S Drop-In H Drop-In H YouthH YouthH 

1:00 PM     Public S     YouthH YouthH 

2:00 PM           YouthH Public S 

3:00 PM 
HS 

Hockey 
HS 

Hockey   
HS 

Hockey 
HS 

Hockey YouthH Public S 

4:00 PM 
HS 

Hockey 
HS 

Hockey   
HS 

Hockey 
HS 

Hockey YouthH SMMSHL 

5:00 PM 
HS 

Hockey 
HS 

Hockey   
HS 

Hockey 
HS 

Hockey   SMMSHL 

6:00 PM YouthH YouthH   YouthH YouthH   SMMSHL 

7:00 PM YouthH YouthH   YouthH YouthH 
HS 

Hockey Adult H 

8:00 PM           
HS 

Hockey Adult H 

9:00 PM   Adult H Adult H Adult H   
HS 

Hockey Adult H 

10:00 PM         Drop-In H     

11:00 PM               

12:00 AM               

        MAR-MAY 
       

          MON TUE WED THU FRI SAT SUN 

                

5:00 AM               

6:00 AM               

7:00 AM               

8:00 AM               

9:00 AM               

10:00 AM     School         

11:00 AM Lssn Lssn Lssn       Rental 

12:00 PM Lssn Lssn Public S       Rental 



 19 

1:00 PM     Public S     YouthH Rental 

2:00 PM             Public S 

3:00 PM   Drop-In H   Drop-In H     Public S 

4:00 PM Clinic Clinic Clinic Clinic Clinic Rental Rental 

5:00 PM Clinic Clinic Clinic Clinic Clinic Rental Clinic 

6:00 PM YouthH Rental YouthH YouthH YouthH YouthH Clinic 

7:00 PM YouthH Rental YouthH YouthH YouthH YouthH Adult H 

8:00 PM Adult H Adult H YouthH Adult H YouthH YouthH Adult H 

9:00 PM Adult H Adult H Adult H Adult H YouthH YouthH   

10:00 PM               

11:00 PM               

12:00 AM               

        JUN-JUL-
AUG 

       

          MON TUE WED THU FRI SAT SUN 

                

5:00 AM               

6:00 AM               

7:00 AM               

8:00 AM         Figure Lo YouthH   

9:00 AM           YouthH   

10:00 AM       Lssn Lssn YouthH   

11:00 AM       Lssn Lssn Rental   

12:00 PM Drop-In H Rental Public S Rental Drop-In H Rental   

1:00 PM     Public S     Rental   

2:00 PM Clinic Clinic Clinic Clinic Clinic   Public S 

3:00 PM Clinic Clinic Clinic Clinic Clinic   Public S 

4:00 PM Clinic Clinic Clinic Clinic Clinic Drop-In H   

5:00 PM   
HS 

Hockey YouthH 
HS 

Hockey       

6:00 PM Drop-In H 
HS 

Hockey YouthH 
HS 

Hockey Drop-In H   Adult H 

7:00 PM YouthH 
HS 

Hockey Adult H 
HS 

Hockey YouthH   Adult H 

8:00 PM YouthH 
HS 

Hockey Adult H 
HS 

Hockey Teen   Rental 

9:00 PM Rental Adult H   Adult H Teen   Rental 

10:00 PM         Drop-In H     

11:00 PM               

12:00 AM               

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 20 

 

NORWAY SAVINGS BANK ARENA 

HOURLY RENTAL BY USER GROUP 

        
 

        
 

  SEP-FEB MAR-MAY JUN-AUG   
TOTAL 
HOURS   %  

ADULT HOCKEY 425 108 78   
             
611    14%  

HIGH SCHOOL HOCKEY 825 0 104   
             
929    21%  

DROP-IN HOCKEY 175 24 78   
             
277    6%  

YOUTH HOCKEY 1025 192 104   
          
1,321    30%  

PUBLIC SKATE 100 48 52   
             
200    5%  

FIGURE SKATE HI 0 0 0                  -      0% 
 

FIGURE SKATE LO 25 0 13                  38    1% 
 

CAMPS & CLINICS 0 144 195   
             
339    8%  

BROOMBALL 25 0 0                  25    1% 
 

0 0 0 0                  -      0% 
 

LSSN 0 60 52   
             
112    3%  

TOURNAMENT 0 0 0                  -      0% 
 

PRIVATE RENTALS 100 96 104   
             
300    7%  

SMMSHL 150 0 0   
             
150    3%  

TEEN SKATE 0 0 26                  26    1% 
 

SCHL GRPS 25 12 0                  37    1% 
 

TOTAL 
          
2,875  

             
684  

             
806    

          
4,365    100%  

                
 

        
 

# OF PUBLIC SESSIONS             
 

 

PUBLIC SKATE                50                 24                 26    
             
100    

 

 

TEEN SKATE                -                   -                   13                   13    
 

 

        
 

# WEEKS = 50                                
2 WEEKS FOR MAINT 25 12 13   50   

% 
HOURS  

WEEKLY HRS SCHEDULED 115 57 62         
 

USED ICE HRS 
          
2,875  

             
684  

             
806    

          
4,365    31%  

UNUSED ICE 
          
4,125  

          
2,676  

          
2,834    

          
9,635    69%  

HRS AVAILABLE AT 20/DAY 
          
7,000  

          
3,360  

          
3,640    

        
14,000    100%  

% UNUSED 59% 80% 78%   69%     
 

# SHEETS OF ICE 2 2 2   2     
 

 



 21 

 

                                       NORWAY SAVINGS BANK ARENA 
                                          SUMMARY OPERATIONAL ASSUMPTIONS 
  

       

       

       

INCOME 

RINK 1 
+ 2 

HOURS  
$/HR 
RATE 

# 
USERS 

$/USER 
RATE  

 
CALCULATIONS 

 ADULT HOCKEY  
         
611  

 $  
225.00  

  
  

 
                 68,738  

 DROP-IN HOCKEY or STICK 
TIME  

         
277    12 

 $      
10.00  

 
                 33,240  

 PUBLIC SKATE  
         
200        

 
                        -    

 YOUTH HOCKEY  
      
1,321  

 $  
225.00      

 
               297,225  

  HIGH SCHOOL HOCKEY  
         
929  

 $  
225.00      

 
               209,025  

 FIGURE SKATE HI             -      10 
 $        
8.00  

 
                        -    

 FIGURE SKATE LO  
           
38    6 

 $        
8.00  

 
                   1,824  

 CAMPS &CLINICS  
         
339    8 

 $      
20.00  

 
                 54,240  

 BROOMBALL  
           
25  

 $  
150.00      

 
                   3,750  

          
 

  

 LSSN  
         
112    10 

 $        
9.00  

 
                 10,080  

 TOURNAMENTS             -    
 $  
225.00      

 
                        -    

 PRIVATE RENTALS  
         
300  

 $  
225.00      

 
                 67,500  

 SMMSHL  
         
150  $225      

 
                 33,750  

 TEEN SKATE  
           
26        

 
                        -    

 SCHL GRPS  
           
37  

 $  
200.00      

 
                   7,400  

 TOTAL  
      
4,365        

 
  

      
  

      
  

PUBLIC SKATE 
         
100    70 

 $        
5.00  

 
                 35,000  

TEEN SKATE 
           
13    20 

 $        
5.00  

 
                   1,300  

SKATE RENTAL     25% 
 $        
3.00  

 
                   5,445  

      
               828,517  

 
 
 
 



 22 

 

NORWAY SAVINGS BANK ARENA
PROJECTED QTRLY INCOME STATEMENT

REVENUES QTR 1 QTR 2 QTR 3 QTR 4 Total

% TTL 

Rev/Exp

Admissions  Public Skating 8,633$              9,067$              9,850$              8,750$              36,300$                      4%

Skate Rental  1,295                1,360                1,478                1,313                5,445                          1%

Group Lessons  1,800                5,160                3,120                -                    10,080                        1%

Figure Skating 400                   208                   616                   600                   1,824                          0%

Youth Hockey Rental 91,275              36,600              54,038              115,313            297,225                      30%

Camps & Clinics 7,680                25,760              20,800              -                    54,240                        6%

Adult Hockey, Drop In Hockey, Broomball 29,198              16,065              24,184              36,281              105,728                      11%

Private Rentals and School Groups 17,167              23,800              20,183              13,750              74,900                        8%

Concessions - Food & Beverage -                    -                    -                    -                    -                             0%

Concessions - Vending -                    -                    -                    -                    -                             0%

High School Hockey 61,875              7,800                46,538              92,813              209,025                      21%

Pro Shop Sales -                    -                    -                    -                    -                             0%

Sponsorships and Advertising 37,500              37,500              37,500              37,500              150,000                      15%

 Leased Space 9,375                9,375                9,375                9,375                37,500                        4%

Video Games & Locker Rental -                    -                    -                    -                    -                             0%

Skate Sharpening -                    -                    -                    -                    -                             0%

TOTAL REVENUES 266,198$          172,695$          227,681$          315,694$          982,267$                    100%

OPERATING EXPENSES

F/T Salaries 52,593$            52,593$            52,593$            52,593$            210,370$                    17%

P/T Salaries -                    -                    -                    -                    -                             0%

Social Security Tax 4,441                2,548                3,661                5,443                16,093                        1%

Employee Benefits 8,415                8,415                8,415                8,415                33,659                        3%

Work Comp Insurance 1,250                1,250                1,250                1,250                5,000                          0%

Insurance / Property & Liability 7,000                7,000                7,000                7,000                28,000                        2%

Property Taxes -                    -                    -                    -                    -                             0%

Concessions - Food & Beverage -                    -                    -                    -                    -                             0%

Pro Shop Expense -                    -                    -                    -                    -                             0%

Advertising 5,519                3,166                4,550                6,765                20,000                        2%

Auto Allowance 138                   79                     114                   169                   500                             0%

Capital Improvement 13,798              7,916                11,375              16,912              50,000                        4%

Contract Services 552                   317                   455                   676                   2,000                          0%

Coachinig Staff 8,279                4,749                6,825                10,147              30,000                        2%

Postage 828                   475                   682                   1,015                3,000                          0%

R & M Equipment 2,346                1,346                1,934                2,875                8,500                          1%

R & M Facilities 2,346                1,346                1,934                2,875                8,500                          1%

R & M Grounds 5,000                4,800                4,800                5,400                20,000                        2%

Coachinig Staff 8,279                4,749                6,825                10,147              30,000                        2%

Subscriptions & Dues 552                   317                   455                   676                   2,000                          0%

Supplies 4,967                2,850                4,095                6,088                18,000                        1%

Telephone 1,656                950                   1,365                2,029                6,000                          0%

Refrigeration Plant Maintenance 1,380                792                   1,137                1,691                5,000                          0%

Utilities 55,000              55,000              55,000              55,000              220,000                      18%

Other Expense 2,760                1,583                2,275                3,382                10,000                        1%

Interest Expense (Debt Service) 93,202              93,202              93,202              93,202              372,808                      30%

Principal Payment 33,659.25 33,659.25 33,659.25 33,659.25 134,637                      11%

TOTAL EXPENSES  313,958$          289,099$          303,600$          327,411$          1,234,067$                 100%

* INCOME(LOSS) (47,760)$           (116,405)$         (75,919)$           (11,717)$           (251,801)$                  



 23 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 24 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 25  

N
O

R
W

A
Y

 S
A

V
IN

G
S

 B
A

N
K

 A
R

E
N

A

P
R

O
JE

C
T

E
D

 M
O

N
T

H
L

Y
 IN

C
O

M
E

 S
T

A
T

E
M

E
N

T
 

R
E

V
E

N
U

E
S

Ja
n

F
e

b
M

a
r

A
p

r
M

a
y

Ju
n

Ju
l

A
u

g
S

e
p

O
ct

N
o

v
D

e
c

T
o

ta
l

A
dm

issions  P
ublic S

kating
2,917

          
2,917

       
2,800

          
2,800

          
2,800

         
3,467

          
3,467

           
3,467

          
2,917

           
2,917

           
2,917

          
2,917

          
36,300

         
36,300

$           

S
kate R

ental  
438

             
438

          
420

             
420

             
420

            
520

            
520

              
520

            
438

              
438

              
438

            
438

             
5,445

          
5,445

               

G
roup Lessons  

-
              

-
           

1,800
          

1,800
          

1,800
         

1,560
          

1,560
           

1,560
          

-
               

-
               

-
             

-
              

10,080
         

10,080
             

F
igure S

kating
200

             
200

          
-

              
-

             
-

             
208

            
208

              
208

            
200

              
200

              
200

            
200

             
1,824

          
1,824

               

Y
outh H

ockey R
ental

38,438
         

38,438
      

14,400
        

14,400
        

14,400
       

7,800
          

7,800
           

7,800
          

38,438
         

38,438
         

38,438
        

38,438
         

297,225
       

297,225
           

C
am

ps &
 C

linics
-

              
-

           
7,680

          
7,680

          
7,680

         
10,400

        
10,400

         
10,400

        
-

               
-

               
-

             
-

              
54,240

         
54,240

             

A
dult H

ockey, D
rop In H

ockey, B
room

ball
12,094

         
12,094

      
5,010

          
5,010

          
5,010

         
6,045

          
6,045

           
6,045

          
12,094

         
12,094

         
12,094

        
12,094

         
105,728

       
105,728

           

H
igh S

chool H
ockey

30,938
         

30,938
      

-
              

-
             

-
             

7,800
          

7,800
           

7,800
          

30,938
         

30,938
         

30,938
        

30,938
         

209,025
       

209,025
           

P
rivate R

entals and S
chool G

roups
4,583

          
4,583

       
8,000

          
8,000

          
8,000

         
7,800

          
7,800

           
7,800

          
4,583

           
4,583

           
4,583

          
4,583

          
74,900

         
74,900

             

C
oncessions - F

ood &
 B

everage 
-

              
-

           
-

              
-

             
-

             
-

             
-

              
-

             
-

               
-

               
-

             
-

              
-

              
-

                  

C
oncessions - V

ending
-

              
-

           
-

              
-

             
-

             
-

             
-

              
-

             
-

               
-

               
-

             
-

              
-

              
-

                  

P
ro S

hop S
ales

-
              

-
           

-
              

-
             

-
             

-
             

-
              

-
             

-
               

-
               

-
             

-
              

-
              

-
                  

S
ponsorships and A

dvertising
37,500

        
37,500

        
37,500

         
37,500

         
150,000

       
150,000

           

 Leased S
pace

9,375
          

9,375
          

9,375
           

9,375
          

37,500
         

37,500
             

V
ideo G

am
es &

 Locker R
ental

-
              

-
           

-
              

-
             

-
             

-
             

-
              

-
             

-
               

-
               

-
             

-
              

-
              

-
                  

S
kate S

harpening
-

              
-

           
-

              
-

             
-

             
-

             
-

              
-

             
-

               
-

               
-

             
-

              
-

              
-

                  

T
O

T
A

L
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

S
89,606

         
89,606

      
86,985

        
40,110

        
40,110

       
92,475

        
45,600

         
45,600

        
136,481

        
89,606

         
89,606

        
136,481

       
982,267

       
982,267

$         

E
X

P
E

N
S

E
S

F
/T S

alaries
17,531

         
17,531

      
17,531

        
17,531

        
17,531

       
17,531

        
17,531

         
17,531

        
17,531

         
17,531

         
17,531

        
17,531

         
210,370

       
210,370

$         

P
/T S

alaries
-

              
-

           
-

              
-

             
-

             
-

             
-

              
-

             
-

               
-

               
-

             
-

              
-

              
-

                  

S
ocial S

ecurity Tax
1,814

          
1,814

       
812

             
812

             
812

            
923

            
923

              
923

            
1,814

           
1,814

           
1,814

          
1,814

          
16,093

         
16,093

             

E
m

ployee B
enefits

2,805
          

2,805
       

2,805
          

2,805
          

2,805
         

2,805
          

2,805
           

2,805
          

2,805
           

2,805
           

2,805
          

2,805
          

33,659
         

33,659
             

W
ork C

om
p Insurance

417
             

417
          

417
             

417
             

417
            

417
            

417
              

417
            

417
              

417
              

417
            

417
             

5,000
          

5,000
               

Insurance / P
roperty &

 Liability
2,333

          
2,333

       
2,333

          
2,333

          
2,333

         
2,333

          
2,333

           
2,333

          
2,333

           
2,333

           
2,333

          
2,333

          
28,000

         
28,000

             

P
roperty Taxes

-
             

-
              

-
                  

C
oncessions - F

ood &
 B

everage 
-

              
-

           
-

              
-

             
-

             
-

             
-

              
-

             
-

               
-

               
-

             
-

              
-

              
-

                  

P
ro S

hop E
xpense

-
              

-
           

-
              

-
             

-
             

-
             

-
              

-
             

-
               

-
               

-
             

-
              

-
              

-
                  

A
dvertising

2,255
          

2,255
       

1,009
          

1,009
          

1,009
         

1,147
          

1,147
           

1,147
          

2,255
           

2,255
           

2,255
          

2,255
          

20,000
         

20,000
             

A
uto A

llow
ance

56
               

56
            

25
               

25
              

25
              

29
              

29
               

29
              

56
                

56
                

56
              

56
               

500
             

500
                 

C
apital Im

provem
ent

5,637
          

5,637
       

2,523
          

2,523
          

2,523
         

2,869
          

2,869
           

2,869
          

5,637
           

5,637
           

5,637
          

5,637
          

50,000
         

50,000
             

C
ontract S

ervices 
225

             
225

          
101

             
101

             
101

            
115

            
115

              
115

            
225

              
225

              
225

            
225

             
2,000

          
2,000

               

0
-

              
-

           
-

              
-

             
-

             
-

             
-

              
-

             
-

               
-

               
-

             
-

              
-

              
-

                  

P
ostage

338
             

338
          

151
             

151
             

151
            

172
            

172
              

172
            

338
              

338
              

338
            

338
             

3,000
          

3,000
               

R
 &

 M
 E

quipm
ent

958
             

958
          

429
             

429
             

429
            

488
            

488
              

488
            

958
              

958
              

958
            

958
             

8,500
          

8,500
               

R
 &

 M
 F

acilities
958

             
958

          
429

             
429

             
429

            
488

            
488

              
488

            
958

              
958

              
958

            
958

             
8,500

          
8,500

               

R
 &

 M
 G

rounds
1,800

          
1,600

       
1,600

          
1,600

          
1,600

         
1,600

          
1,600

           
1,600

          
1,600

           
1,800

           
1,800

          
1,800

          
20,000

         
20,000

             

C
oachinig S

taff
3,382

          
3,382

       
1,514

          
1,514

          
1,514

         
1,721

          
1,721

           
1,721

          
3,382

           
3,382

           
3,382

          
3,382

          
30,000

         
30,000

             

S
ubscriptions &

 D
ues

225
             

225
          

101
             

101
             

101
            

115
            

115
              

115
            

225
              

225
              

225
            

225
             

2,000
          

2,000
               

S
upplies

2,029
          

2,029
       

908
             

908
             

908
            

1,033
          

1,033
           

1,033
          

2,029
           

2,029
           

2,029
          

2,029
          

18,000
         

18,000
             

Telephone
676

             
676

          
303

             
303

             
303

            
344

            
344

              
344

            
676

              
676

              
676

            
676

             
6,000

          
6,000

               

R
efrigeration P

lant M
aintenance

564
             

564
          

252
             

252
             

252
            

287
            

287
              

287
            

564
              

564
              

564
            

564
             

5,000
          

5,000
               

U
tilities 

18,333
         

18,333
      

18,333
        

18,333
        

18,333
       

18,333
        

18,333
         

18,333
        

18,333
         

18,333
         

18,333
        

18,333
         

220,000
       

220,000
           

O
ther E

xpense
1,127

          
1,127

       
505

             
505

             
505

            
574

            
574

              
574

            
1,127

           
1,127

           
1,127

          
1,127

          
10,000

         
10,000

             

Interest E
xpense (D

ebt S
ervice)

31,067
         

31,067
      

31,067
        

31,067
        

31,067
       

31,067
        

31,067
         

31,067
        

31,067
         

31,067
         

31,067
        

31,067
         

372,808
       

372,808
           

P
rincipal P

aym
ent

($10,990.23)
(11,031)

     
($11,072.81)

($11,114.34)
($11,156.02)

($11,197.85)
($11,239.84)

($11,281.99)
($11,324.30)

($11,366.77)
($11,409.39)

($11,452.18)
(134,637)

      
134,637

T
O

T
A

L
 E

X
P

E
N

S
E

S
  

83,545
$       

83,303
$    

72,077
$       

72,036
$      

71,994
$      

73,193
$      

73,151
$       

73,109
$      

83,010
$        

83,168
$        

83,125
$      

83,083
$       

934,793
$     

1,204,067
$       

* IN
C

O
M

E
(L

O
S

S
)

6,062
$         

6,303
$      

14,908
$       

(31,926)
$     

(31,884)
$     

19,282
$      

(27,551)
$      

(27,509)
$     

53,471
$        

6,438
$         

6,481
$        

53,399
$       

47,473
$       

(221,801)
$        



 26 
 

N
O

R
W

A
Y

 S
A

V
IN

G
S

 B
A

N
K

 A
R

E
N

A

10 Y
R

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

E
D

 IN
C

O
M

E
 S

T
A

T
E

M
E

N
T

R
E

V
E

N
U

E
S

F
Y

16
F

Y
17

F
Y

18
F

Y
19

F
Y

20
F

Y
21

F
Y

22
F

Y
23

F
Y

24
F

Y
25

T
o

ta
l

A
dm

issions  P
ublic S

kating
36,300

$            
37,389

$            
38,511

$            
42,362

$            
41,515

$            
42,760

$            
44,043

$            
48,447

$            
46,025

$            
47,405

$            
424,756

$            

S
kate R

ental  
5,445

               
5,608

               
5,777

               
6,354

               
6,227

               
6,352

               
6,479

               
6,997

               
6,647

               
6,780

               
62,666

               

G
roup Lessons  

10,080
             

10,786
             

11,541
             

12,925
             

12,667
             

13,554
             

14,502
             

16,243
             

15,918
             

17,032
             

135,247
              

F
igure S

kating
1,824

               
1,897

               
2,011

               
2,212

               
2,433

               
2,482

               
2,531

               
2,734

               
2,597

               
2,649

               
23,370

               

Y
outh H

ockey R
ental

297,225
            

306,142
            

315,326
            

331,092
            

324,470
            

334,205
            

344,231
            

361,442
            

343,370
            

350,238
            

3,307,741
           

C
am

ps &
 C

linics
54,240

             
58,037

             
62,680

             
70,201

             
68,797

             
73,613

             
79,502

             
89,042

             
87,262

             
93,370

             
736,744

              

A
dult H

ockey, D
rop In H

ockey, B
room

ball
105,728

            
109,957

            
120,952

            
130,628

            
128,016

            
133,137

            
138,462

            
149,539

            
142,062

            
147,744

            
1,306,225

           

H
igh S

chool H
ockey

209,025
            

215,296
            

221,755
            

232,842
            

228,186
            

232,749
            

237,404
            

249,274
            

236,811
            

241,547
            

2,304,889
           

P
rivate R

entals and S
chool G

roups
74,900

             
76,398

             
77,926

             
81,043

             
79,422

             
81,011

             
82,631

             
85,936

             
81,639

             
83,272

             
804,178

              

C
oncessions - F

ood &
 B

everage 
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                     

C
oncessions - V

ending
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                     

P
ro S

hop S
ales

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                     

S
ponsorships and A

dvertising
150,000

            
242,250

            
254,363

            
274,712

            
269,217

            
274,602

            
280,094

            
302,501

            
287,376

            
293,124

            
2,628,237

           

 Leased S
pace

37,500
             

37,875
             

38,254
             

38,254
             

37,489
             

37,489
             

37,864
             

37,864
             

38,242
             

38,242
             

379,071
              

V
ideo G

am
es &

 Locker R
ental

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                     

S
kate S

harpening
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                     

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                     

T
O

T
A

L
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

S
982,267

$          
1,101,634

$       
1,149,093

$       
1,222,626

$       
1,198,439

$       
1,231,951

$       
1,267,742

$       
1,350,019

$       
1,287,949

$       
1,321,403

$       
12,113,123

$       

E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

S

F
/T S

alaries
210,370

$          
216,681

$          
223,182

$          
229,877

$          
236,773

$          
243,876

$          
251,193

$          
258,729

$          
266,490

$          
274,485

$          
2,411,656

$         

P
/T S

alaries
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                     

S
ocial S

ecurity Tax
16,093

             
16,576

             
17,073

             
17,586

             
18,113

             
18,657

             
19,216

             
19,793

             
20,387

             
20,998

             
184,492

              

E
m

ployee B
enefits

33,659
             

34,332
             

35,019
             

36,770
             

37,505
             

38,255
             

39,021
             

39,801
             

40,597
             

41,409
             

376,369
              

W
ork C

om
p Insurance

5,000
               

5,100
               

5,202
               

5,306
               

5,412
               

5,520
               

5,631
               

5,743
               

5,858
               

5,975
               

54,749
               

Insurance / P
roperty &

 Liability
28,000

             
28,560

             
29,131

             
29,714

             
30,308

             
30,914

             
31,533

             
32,163

             
32,806

             
33,463

             
306,592

              

P
roperty Taxes

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                     

C
oncessions - F

ood &
 B

everage 
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                     

P
ro S

hop E
xpense

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                   

-
                     

A
dvertising

20,000
             

20,400
             

20,808
             

21,224
             

21,649
             

22,082
             

22,523
             

22,974
             

23,433
             

23,902
             

218,994
              

A
uto A

llow
ance

500
                  

505
                  

510
                  

515
                  

520
                  

526
                  

531
                  

536
                  

541
                  

547
                  

5,231
                 

C
apital Im

provem
ent

50,000
             

50,500
             

51,005
             

51,515
             

52,030
             

52,551
             

53,076
             

53,607
             

54,143
             

54,684
             

523,111
              

C
ontract S

ervices 
2,000

               
2,020

               
2,040

               
2,061

               
2,081

               
2,102

               
2,123

               
2,144

               
2,166

               
2,187

               
20,924

               

0
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                   
-

                     

P
ostage

3,000
               

3,030
               

3,060
               

3,091
               

3,122
               

3,153
               

3,185
               

3,216
               

3,249
               

3,281
               

31,387
               

R
 &

 M
 E

quipm
ent

8,500
               

8,925
               

9,818
               

10,308
             

10,824
             

11,365
             

11,933
             

12,530
             

13,156
             

13,814
             

111,173
              

R
 &

 M
 F

acilities
8,500

               
8,925

               
9,371

               
9,840

               
10,332

             
10,848

             
11,391

             
11,960

             
12,558

             
13,186

             
106,912

              

R
 &

 M
 G

rounds
20,000

             
20,400

             
20,808

             
21,224

             
21,649

             
22,082

             
22,523

             
22,974

             
23,433

             
23,902

             
218,994

              

C
oachinig S

taff
30,000

             
30,000

             
30,300

             
30,300

             
30,603

             
30,603

             
30,909

             
30,909

             
31,218

             
31,218

             
306,060

              

S
ubscriptions &

 D
ues

2,000
               

2,000
               

2,000
               

2,000
               

2,000
               

2,000
               

2,000
               

2,000
               

2,000
               

2,000
               

20,000
               

S
upplies

18,000
             

18,360
             

18,727
             

19,102
             

19,484
             

19,873
             

20,271
             

20,676
             

21,090
             

21,512
             

197,095
              

Telephone
6,000

               
6,120

               
6,242

               
6,367

               
6,495

               
6,819

               
6,956

               
7,095

               
7,237

               
7,381

               
66,712

               

R
efrigeration P

lant M
aintenance

5,000
               

5,100
               

5,202
               

5,306
               

5,412
               

5,520
               

5,631
               

5,743
               

5,858
               

5,975
               

54,749
               

U
tilities 

220,000
            

231,000
            

235,620
            

247,401
            

252,349
            

257,396
            

262,544
            

275,671
            

281,185
            

286,808
            

2,549,974
           

O
ther E

xpense
10,000

             
10,000

             
10,000

             
10,000

             
10,000

             
10,000

             
10,000

             
10,000

             
10,000

             
10,000

             
100,000

              

Interest E
xpense (D

ebt S
ervice)

372,808
            

366,623
            

360,153
            

353,387
            

346,309
            

338,907
            

331,164
            

323,066
            

314,596
            

305,736
            

3,412,749
           

P
rincipal P

aym
ent

134,637
140,822.36

147,291.72
167,211.54

174,239.81
182,927.78

192,048.94
201,624.90

211,687.34
222,233.07

1,774,724
           

T
O

T
A

L
 E

X
P

E
N

S
E

S
  

1,204,067
$       

1,225,980
$       

1,242,564
$       

1,280,105
$       

1,297,210
$       

1,315,978
$       

1,335,402
$       

1,362,956
$       

1,383,689
$       

1,404,698
$       

13,052,649
$       

IN
C

O
M

E
(L

O
S

S
) B

e
fo

re
 T

a
x

e
s

(221,801)
$         

(124,346)
$         

(93,471)
$           

(57,479)
$           

(98,771)
$           

(84,026)
$           

(67,659)
$           

(12,936)
$           

(95,740)
$           

(83,295)
$           

(939,525)
$           



 27 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Printed 12/10/2014, 02:06 PM

Page 1 of 6Norway Savings Bank Arena

Customer Type

Hours Tot Revenue % Total% TotalCustomer 

9/1/2014 to 3/31/2015 / Sun, Mon, Tues, Wed, Thurs, Fri, Sat / 12:00 AM to 12:00 AM / w/Int Cust

TaxFacility Rev.

All Facilities

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - Full Hours for Events in the Time Range - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - Hours Adjusted for Time Range - - -

Other ChgsHours % Total Facility Rev. % Total

Usage Statistics by Customer Type - Customer/Event Type Detail

Event Type

Adult Programming 293.0 11.87% $64,175.00 12.71%$64,175.00 $0.00$0.00293.0 11.87% $64,175.00 12.71%

69.0 2.79% $15,525.00 3.08%Boston Kremes $15,525.00 $0.00$0.0069.0 2.79% $15,525.00 3.08%

69.0 2.79% $15,525.00 3.08%Adult leagues $15,525.00 $0.00$0.0069.0 2.79% $15,525.00 3.08%

48.0 1.94% $9,650.00 1.91%Geno Veilleux $9,650.00 $0.00$0.0048.0 1.94% $9,650.00 1.91%

48.0 1.94% $9,650.00 1.91%Adult leagues $9,650.00 $0.00$0.0048.0 1.94% $9,650.00 1.91%

170.0 6.89% $37,650.00 7.46%L/A Seniors Hockey League $37,650.00 $0.00$0.00170.0 6.89% $37,650.00 7.46%

170.0 6.89% $37,650.00 7.46%Adult leagues $37,650.00 $0.00$0.00170.0 6.89% $37,650.00 7.46%

6.0 0.24% $1,350.00 0.27%Rousseau's Hockey Clinic, Inc $1,350.00 $0.00$0.006.0 0.24% $1,350.00 0.27%

6.0 0.24% $1,350.00 0.27%Camp/clinics $1,350.00 $0.00$0.006.0 0.24% $1,350.00 0.27%

Internal Programming 186.5 7.55% $450.00 0.09%$450.00 $0.00$0.00186.5 7.55% $450.00 0.09%

2.0 0.08% $450.00 0.09%Auburn Parks & Rec $450.00 $0.00$0.002.0 0.08% $450.00 0.09%

2.0 0.08% $450.00 0.09%Instructional Skate $450.00 $0.00$0.002.0 0.08% $450.00 0.09%

4.0 0.16% $0.00 0.00%Christy Gardner $0.00 $0.00$0.004.0 0.16% $0.00 0.00%

4.0 0.16% $0.00 0.00%Practice $0.00 $0.00$0.004.0 0.16% $0.00 0.00%

15.5 0.63% $0.00 0.00%Norway Savings Bank Arena $0.00 $0.00$0.0015.5 0.63% $0.00 0.00%

14.0 0.57% $0.00 0.00%Boys Varsity Game $0.00 $0.00$0.0014.0 0.57% $0.00 0.00%

0.5 0.02% $0.00 0.00%Practice $0.00 $0.00$0.000.5 0.02% $0.00 0.00%

1.0 0.04% $0.00 0.00%Private Rental $0.00 $0.00$0.001.0 0.04% $0.00 0.00%

18.0 0.73% $0.00 0.00%NSBA Adult Pick Up $0.00 $0.00$0.0018.0 0.73% $0.00 0.00%

18.0 0.73% $0.00 0.00%Adult Pick Up $0.00 $0.00$0.0018.0 0.73% $0.00 0.00%

110.0 4.46% $0.00 0.00%Public Skate $0.00 $0.00$0.00110.0 4.46% $0.00 0.00%

110.0 4.46% $0.00 0.00%Public Skate $0.00 $0.00$0.00110.0 4.46% $0.00 0.00%

Powered by MaxEnterprise®, a product of Maximum Solutions, Inc. (2013 A1V.18)



Printed 12/10/2014, 02:06 PM

Page 2 of 6Norway Savings Bank Arena

Customer Type

Hours Tot Revenue % Total% TotalCustomer 

9/1/2014 to 3/31/2015 / Sun, Mon, Tues, Wed, Thurs, Fri, Sat / 12:00 AM to 12:00 AM / w/Int Cust

TaxFacility Rev.

All Facilities

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - Full Hours for Events in the Time Range - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - Hours Adjusted for Time Range - - -

Other ChgsHours % Total Facility Rev. % Total

Usage Statistics by Customer Type - Customer/Event Type Detail

Event Type

37.0 1.50% $0.00 0.00%Shinny Hockey $0.00 $0.00$0.0037.0 1.50% $0.00 0.00%

37.0 1.50% $0.00 0.00%Shinny Hockey $0.00 $0.00$0.0037.0 1.50% $0.00 0.00%

Private Rental 225.33 9.13% $43,262.99 8.57%$43,262.99 $0.00$0.00225.33 9.13% $43,262.99 8.57%

4.0 0.16% $700.00 0.14%Andre Levasseur $700.00 $0.00$0.004.0 0.16% $700.00 0.14%

4.0 0.16% $700.00 0.14%Private Rental $700.00 $0.00$0.004.0 0.16% $700.00 0.14%

3.0 0.12% $675.00 0.13%Auburn MS Hockey Club $675.00 $0.00$0.003.0 0.12% $675.00 0.13%

3.0 0.12% $675.00 0.13%Private Rental $675.00 $0.00$0.003.0 0.12% $675.00 0.13%

30.0 1.22% $6,750.00 1.34%Blue Line Sporting Goods $6,750.00 $0.00$0.0030.0 1.22% $6,750.00 1.34%

30.0 1.22% $6,750.00 1.34%Private Rental $6,750.00 $0.00$0.0030.0 1.22% $6,750.00 1.34%

79.33 3.21% $13,013.00 2.58%Bob Berube $13,013.00 $0.00$0.0079.33 3.21% $13,013.00 2.58%

79.33 3.21% $13,013.00 2.58%Tournament $13,013.00 $0.00$0.0079.33 3.21% $13,013.00 2.58%

21.0 0.85% $4,725.00 0.94%Brenda Williams $4,725.00 $0.00$0.0021.0 0.85% $4,725.00 0.94%

21.0 0.85% $4,725.00 0.94%Private Rental $4,725.00 $0.00$0.0021.0 0.85% $4,725.00 0.94%

11.0 0.45% $2,475.00 0.49%Chris Clark $2,475.00 $0.00$0.0011.0 0.45% $2,475.00 0.49%

11.0 0.45% $2,475.00 0.49%Private Rental $2,475.00 $0.00$0.0011.0 0.45% $2,475.00 0.49%

12.0 0.49% $2,700.00 0.53%Graeme Townshend $2,700.00 $0.00$0.0012.0 0.49% $2,700.00 0.53%

12.0 0.49% $2,700.00 0.53%Private Rental $2,700.00 $0.00$0.0012.0 0.49% $2,700.00 0.53%

7.0 0.28% $1,575.00 0.31%Joshua Choiniere $1,575.00 $0.00$0.007.0 0.28% $1,575.00 0.31%

7.0 0.28% $1,575.00 0.31%Private Rental $1,575.00 $0.00$0.007.0 0.28% $1,575.00 0.31%

22.0 0.89% $4,950.00 0.98%Martha McCarthy $4,950.00 $0.00$0.0022.0 0.89% $4,950.00 0.98%

22.0 0.89% $4,950.00 0.98%Adult leagues $4,950.00 $0.00$0.0022.0 0.89% $4,950.00 0.98%

Powered by MaxEnterprise®, a product of Maximum Solutions, Inc. (2013 A1V.18)



Printed 12/10/2014, 02:06 PM

Page 3 of 6Norway Savings Bank Arena

Customer Type

Hours Tot Revenue % Total% TotalCustomer 

9/1/2014 to 3/31/2015 / Sun, Mon, Tues, Wed, Thurs, Fri, Sat / 12:00 AM to 12:00 AM / w/Int Cust

TaxFacility Rev.

All Facilities

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - Full Hours for Events in the Time Range - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - Hours Adjusted for Time Range - - -

Other ChgsHours % Total Facility Rev. % Total

Usage Statistics by Customer Type - Customer/Event Type Detail

Event Type

10.0 0.41% $1,500.00 0.30%Mike Berube $1,500.00 $0.00$0.0010.0 0.41% $1,500.00 0.30%

10.0 0.41% $1,500.00 0.30%Private Rental $1,500.00 $0.00$0.0010.0 0.41% $1,500.00 0.30%

16.0 0.65% $2,174.99 0.43%Private Rental $2,174.99 $0.00$0.0016.0 0.65% $2,174.99 0.43%

11.0 0.45% $1,299.99 0.26%Private Rental $1,299.99 $0.00$0.0011.0 0.45% $1,299.99 0.26%

5.0 0.20% $875.00 0.17%Tournament $875.00 $0.00$0.005.0 0.20% $875.00 0.17%

1.0 0.04% $225.00 0.04%SDA Middle School $225.00 $0.00$0.001.0 0.04% $225.00 0.04%

1.0 0.04% $225.00 0.04%Private Rental $225.00 $0.00$0.001.0 0.04% $225.00 0.04%

9.0 0.36% $1,800.00 0.36%Timberwolves $1,800.00 $0.00$0.009.0 0.36% $1,800.00 0.36%

9.0 0.36% $1,800.00 0.36%Private Rental $1,800.00 $0.00$0.009.0 0.36% $1,800.00 0.36%

School Programming 622.83 25.23% $140,137.50 27.76%$140,137.50 $0.00$0.00622.83 25.23% $140,137.50 27.76%

12.0 0.49% $2,700.00 0.53%Brunswick High School $2,700.00 $0.00$0.0012.0 0.49% $2,700.00 0.53%

12.0 0.49% $2,700.00 0.53%Practice $2,700.00 $0.00$0.0012.0 0.49% $2,700.00 0.53%

2.0 0.08% $450.00 0.09%Cape Elizabeth High School $450.00 $0.00$0.002.0 0.08% $450.00 0.09%

2.0 0.08% $450.00 0.09%Girls Varsity Practi $450.00 $0.00$0.002.0 0.08% $450.00 0.09%

104.5 4.23% $23,512.50 4.66%Edward Little High School $23,512.50 $0.00$0.00104.5 4.23% $23,512.50 4.66%

3.0 0.12% $675.00 0.13%Boys JV Game $675.00 $0.00$0.003.0 0.12% $675.00 0.13%

30.5 1.24% $6,862.50 1.36%Boys Varsity Game $6,862.50 $0.00$0.0030.5 1.24% $6,862.50 1.36%

71.0 2.88% $15,975.00 3.16%Practice $15,975.00 $0.00$0.0071.0 2.88% $15,975.00 3.16%

63.0 2.55% $14,175.00 2.81%Leavitt High School $14,175.00 $0.00$0.0063.0 2.55% $14,175.00 2.81%

3.0 0.12% $675.00 0.13%Boys JV Game $675.00 $0.00$0.003.0 0.12% $675.00 0.13%

16.0 0.65% $3,600.00 0.71%Boys Varsity Game $3,600.00 $0.00$0.0016.0 0.65% $3,600.00 0.71%

44.0 1.78% $9,900.00 1.96%Practice $9,900.00 $0.00$0.0044.0 1.78% $9,900.00 1.96%

Powered by MaxEnterprise®, a product of Maximum Solutions, Inc. (2013 A1V.18)



Printed 12/10/2014, 02:06 PM

Page 4 of 6Norway Savings Bank Arena

Customer Type

Hours Tot Revenue % Total% TotalCustomer 

9/1/2014 to 3/31/2015 / Sun, Mon, Tues, Wed, Thurs, Fri, Sat / 12:00 AM to 12:00 AM / w/Int Cust

TaxFacility Rev.

All Facilities

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - Full Hours for Events in the Time Range - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - Hours Adjusted for Time Range - - -

Other ChgsHours % Total Facility Rev. % Total

Usage Statistics by Customer Type - Customer/Event Type Detail

Event Type

76.0 3.08% $17,100.00 3.39%Poland/Gray-New Gloucester HS $17,100.00 $0.00$0.0076.0 3.08% $17,100.00 3.39%

4.0 0.16% $900.00 0.18%Boys JV Game $900.00 $0.00$0.004.0 0.16% $900.00 0.18%

18.0 0.73% $4,050.00 0.80%Boys Varsity Game $4,050.00 $0.00$0.0018.0 0.73% $4,050.00 0.80%

54.0 2.19% $12,150.00 2.41%Practice $12,150.00 $0.00$0.0054.0 2.19% $12,150.00 2.41%

85.5 3.46% $19,237.50 3.81%Red Hornets $19,237.50 $0.00$0.0085.5 3.46% $19,237.50 3.81%

26.5 1.07% $5,962.50 1.18%Girls Varsity Game $5,962.50 $0.00$0.0026.5 1.07% $5,962.50 1.18%

59.0 2.39% $13,275.00 2.63%Girls Varsity Practi $13,275.00 $0.00$0.0059.0 2.39% $13,275.00 2.63%

13.0 0.53% $2,925.00 0.58%Scarborough HS Boys $2,925.00 $0.00$0.0013.0 0.53% $2,925.00 0.58%

4.0 0.16% $900.00 0.18%Boys Varsity Game $900.00 $0.00$0.004.0 0.16% $900.00 0.18%

9.0 0.36% $2,025.00 0.40%Practice $2,025.00 $0.00$0.009.0 0.36% $2,025.00 0.40%

17.67 0.72% $3,975.00 0.79%Scarborough HS Girls $3,975.00 $0.00$0.0017.67 0.72% $3,975.00 0.79%

7.67 0.31% $1,725.00 0.34%Girls Varsity Game $1,725.00 $0.00$0.007.67 0.31% $1,725.00 0.34%

10.0 0.41% $2,250.00 0.45%Practice $2,250.00 $0.00$0.0010.0 0.41% $2,250.00 0.45%

51.0 2.07% $11,475.00 2.27%Southern Maine Middle School L $11,475.00 $0.00$0.0051.0 2.07% $11,475.00 2.27%

51.0 2.07% $11,475.00 2.27%Game $11,475.00 $0.00$0.0051.0 2.07% $11,475.00 2.27%

122.0 4.94% $27,450.00 5.44%St. Dominics Academy Boys $27,450.00 $0.00$0.00122.0 4.94% $27,450.00 5.44%

8.0 0.32% $1,800.00 0.36%Boys JV Game $1,800.00 $0.00$0.008.0 0.32% $1,800.00 0.36%

12.0 0.49% $2,700.00 0.53%Boys JV Practice $2,700.00 $0.00$0.0012.0 0.49% $2,700.00 0.53%

35.0 1.42% $7,875.00 1.56%Boys Varsity Game $7,875.00 $0.00$0.0035.0 1.42% $7,875.00 1.56%

67.0 2.71% $15,075.00 2.99%Practice $15,075.00 $0.00$0.0067.0 2.71% $15,075.00 2.99%

76.17 3.09% $17,137.50 3.39%St. Dominics Academy Girls $17,137.50 $0.00$0.0076.17 3.09% $17,137.50 3.39%

15.17 0.61% $3,412.50 0.68%Girls Varsity Game $3,412.50 $0.00$0.0015.17 0.61% $3,412.50 0.68%

Powered by MaxEnterprise®, a product of Maximum Solutions, Inc. (2013 A1V.18)



Printed 12/10/2014, 02:06 PM

Page 5 of 6Norway Savings Bank Arena

Customer Type

Hours Tot Revenue % Total% TotalCustomer 

9/1/2014 to 3/31/2015 / Sun, Mon, Tues, Wed, Thurs, Fri, Sat / 12:00 AM to 12:00 AM / w/Int Cust

TaxFacility Rev.

All Facilities

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - Full Hours for Events in the Time Range - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - Hours Adjusted for Time Range - - -

Other ChgsHours % Total Facility Rev. % Total

Usage Statistics by Customer Type - Customer/Event Type Detail

Event Type

61.0 2.47% $13,725.00 2.72%Practice $13,725.00 $0.00$0.0061.0 2.47% $13,725.00 2.72%

Youth Programming 1141.25 46.22% $256,773.75 50.87%$256,773.75 $0.00$0.001141.25 46.22% $256,773.75 50.87%

2.0 0.08% $450.00 0.09%Casco Bay Youth Hockey $450.00 $0.00$0.002.0 0.08% $450.00 0.09%

1.0 0.04% $225.00 0.04%Youth Game $225.00 $0.00$0.001.0 0.04% $225.00 0.04%

1.0 0.04% $225.00 0.04%Youth Practice $225.00 $0.00$0.001.0 0.04% $225.00 0.04%

154.08 6.24% $34,661.25 6.87%Maine Amatuer Hockey Associati $34,661.25 $0.00$0.00154.08 6.24% $34,661.25 6.87%

1.25 0.05% $293.75 0.06%Practice $293.75 $0.00$0.001.25 0.05% $293.75 0.06%

4.25 0.17% $998.75 0.20%Select 12s $998.75 $0.00$0.004.25 0.17% $998.75 0.20%

3.0 0.12% $705.00 0.14%Select 13s $705.00 $0.00$0.003.0 0.12% $705.00 0.14%

4.25 0.17% $998.75 0.20%Select 14s $998.75 $0.00$0.004.25 0.17% $998.75 0.20%

4.25 0.17% $998.75 0.20%Select 15s $998.75 $0.00$0.004.25 0.17% $998.75 0.20%

137.08 5.55% $30,666.25 6.07%Tournament $30,666.25 $0.00$0.00137.08 5.55% $30,666.25 6.07%

957.17 38.77% $215,362.50 42.66%Maine Gladiators $215,362.50 $0.00$0.00957.17 38.77% $215,362.50 42.66%

479.17 19.41% $107,812.50 21.36%Youth Game $107,812.50 $0.00$0.00479.17 19.41% $107,812.50 21.36%

478.0 19.36% $107,550.00 21.31%Youth Practice $107,550.00 $0.00$0.00478.0 19.36% $107,550.00 21.31%

22.0 0.89% $4,950.00 0.98%Maine Hockey Academy $4,950.00 $0.00$0.0022.0 0.89% $4,950.00 0.98%

22.0 0.89% $4,950.00 0.98%Private Rental $4,950.00 $0.00$0.0022.0 0.89% $4,950.00 0.98%

6.0 0.24% $1,350.00 0.27%Power Play Clinic $1,350.00 $0.00$0.006.0 0.24% $1,350.00 0.27%

6.0 0.24% $1,350.00 0.27%Private Rental $1,350.00 $0.00$0.006.0 0.24% $1,350.00 0.27%

Powered by MaxEnterprise®, a product of Maximum Solutions, Inc. (2013 A1V.18)



Printed 12/10/2014, 02:06 PM

Page 6 of 6Norway Savings Bank Arena

Customer Type

Hours Tot Revenue % Total% TotalCustomer 

9/1/2014 to 3/31/2015 / Sun, Mon, Tues, Wed, Thurs, Fri, Sat / 12:00 AM to 12:00 AM / w/Int Cust

TaxFacility Rev.

All Facilities

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - Full Hours for Events in the Time Range - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - Hours Adjusted for Time Range - - -

Other ChgsHours % Total Facility Rev. % Total

Usage Statistics by Customer Type - Customer/Event Type Detail

Event Type

2468.92 $504,799.24Grand Total:

End of Listing

$504,799.24 $0.00$0.002468.92 $504,799.24

Powered by MaxEnterprise®, a product of Maximum Solutions, Inc. (2013 A1V.18)







City Council 

Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

 

  

 
 

 

Subject: Acceptance of the FY14 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) 

 

Information: The FY 14 CAFR is complete and needs to be accepted. 

 

 

 

Advantages: N/A 

 

 

Disadvantages: N/A 

 

 

City Budgetary Impacts: None 

 

 

Staff Recommended Action: Passage 

 

Previous Meetings and History: Presentation by the auditing firm Runyon Kersteen and Ouellette at the 

workshop on 12/15/14. Printed documents were distributed to Council at the December 1, 2014 meeting. 

 

Attachments:  

 

Order 100-12152014 

Council Workshop or Meeting Date: 12/15/14  Order  100-12152014* 

Author:   Jill Eastman, Finance Director 



Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  David Young, At Large 

Adam Lee, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 

 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

ORDER 100-12152014 

 
ORDERED, that the Auburn City Council accept the Fiscal Year 2014 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 

as presented by Runyon Kersteen Ouellette on December 15, 2014. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
       













City of Auburn, Maine 
“Maine’s City of Opportunity” 

___________________________      ______ 
Financial Services 

60 Court Street • Suite 411 • Auburn, ME 04210 
(207) 333-6600 Voice • (207) 333-6601 Automated • (207) 333-6620 Fax 

www.auburnmaine.org 
      
 

 
 
 
 
 
TO:    Howard Kroll, Interim City Manager 

FROM:   Jill Eastman, Finance Director 

REF:    November 2014 Financial Report 

DATE:  December 10, 2014 
 
The following is a discussion regarding the significant variances found in the City’s November financial 
report. Please note that although the monthly financial report contains amounts reported by the 
School Department, this discussion is limited to the City’s financial results and does not attempt to 
explain any variances for the School Department. 
 

The City has completed its fifth month of the current fiscal year. As a guideline for tracking purposes, 
revenues and expenditures should amount to approximately 41.7% of the annual budget.  However, 
not all costs and revenues are distributed evenly throughout the year; individual line items can vary 
based upon cyclical activity.    
 

Revenues 
 

Revenues collected through November 30th, including the school department were $33,671,795, or 
44.24%, of the budget. The municipal revenues including property taxes were $26,042,624, or 48.21% 
of the budget which is less than the same period last year by 1.05%. The accounts listed below are 
noteworthy. 

 

A. September 15th the first installment for real estate taxes were due. The current year tax 
revenue is at 51.38% as compared to 50.22% last year.  

 

B. Excise tax for the month of November is at 47.34%. This is an $70,316 increase from FY 
14. Our excise revenues for FY15 are 5.64% above projections as of November 30, 2014.  

 

C. State Revenue Sharing for the month of November is 32.7779% or $540,939. This is 
20.5% decrease this year from last November.  
 
 
 

 



 2 

Expenditures 
 
City expenditures through November 2014 were $17,972,210 or 47.46%, of the budget. This is 1.18% 
less than the same period last year. Noteworthy variances are: 
 

A. The operating departments are all in line with where they should be at this time. Several line 
items are paid quarterly, semi-annually or annually thus creating the appearance of being over 
budget. I have and will continue to monitor each department’s expenditures throughout the 
fiscal year. 

 
Investments  
 
This section contains an investment schedule as of November 30th.  Currently the City’s funds are 
earning an average interest rate of .19%.  
 
 
 
         
        Respectfully submitted, 

        
          

Jill M. Eastman 
 Finance Director 



 UNAUDITED UNAUDITED AUDITED
November 30 October 30 Increase JUNE 30

2014 2014 (Decrease) 2014
ASSETS

CASH 14,295,401$         15,684,489$       (1,389,088)$          5,319,835$         
RECEIVABLES -                        
  ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES 1,919,593             2,565,770           (646,177)               1,447,551           
  TAXES RECEIVABLE-CURRENT 19,422,411           19,920,522         (498,111)               140,913              
  DELINQUENT TAXES 629,215                626,497              2,718                    533,344              
  TAX LIENS 888,623                950,685              (62,062)                 1,390,006           
  NET DUE TO/FROM OTHER FUNDS (630,938)               160,782              (791,721)               8,116,581           

 
TOTAL ASSETS 36,524,305$         39,908,745$       (3,384,440)$          16,948,230$       

 
 

LIABILITIES & FUND BALANCES  
 

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE (150,978)$             (275,964)$           124,985$              (568,395)$           
PAYROLL LIABILITIES (83,987)                 (376,531)             292,544                -                      
ACCRUED PAYROLL (2,875)                   (2,875)                 -                        (2,480,654)          
STATE FEES PAYABLE (24,117)                 (27,975)               3,858                    -                      
ESCROWED AMOUNTS (51,877)                 (51,651)               (226)                      (43,526)               
DEFERRED REVENUE (20,627,784)          (21,185,238)        557,454                (1,792,296)          

 
     TOTAL LIABILITIES (20,941,618)$        (21,920,233)$      978,616$              (4,884,871)$        

 
FUND BALANCE - UNASSIGNED (14,491,735)$        (16,897,559)$      2,405,825$           (9,895,359)$        
FUND BALANCE - RESTRICTED FOR  
     WORKERS COMP & UNEMPLOYMENT 776,017                776,017              -                        -                      

FUND BALANCE - RESTRICTED (1,866,970)            (1,866,970)          -                        (2,168,000)          
 

     TOTAL FUND BALANCE (15,582,688)$        (17,988,512)$      2,405,825$           (12,063,359)$      
 

  
     TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE (36,524,305)$        (39,908,745)$      3,384,440$           (16,948,230)$      

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
 BALANCE SHEET - CITY GENERAL FUND, WC AND UNEMPLOYMENT FUND 

AS of November 2014, October 2014, and June 2013 



REVENUES - GENERAL FUND COMPARATIVE
THROUGH November 30, 2014 VS November 30, 2013 

ACTUAL ACTUAL
FY 2015 REVENUES % OF FY 2014 REVENUES % OF  

REVENUE SOURCE BUDGET THRU NOV 2014 BUDGET BUDGET THRU NOV 2013 BUDGET VARIANCE
TAXES
  PROPERTY TAX REVENUE- 43,055,996$        22,122,125$        51.38% 42,844,641$     21,517,198$      50.22% 604,927$          
  PRIOR YEAR REVENUE -$                     538,961$              -$                 463,460  75,501$            
  HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION REIMBURSEMENT 495,000$             383,752$             77.53% 482,575$          371,573$           77.00% 12,179$            
  ALLOWANCE FOR ABATEMENT -$                     -$                      -$                 -$                        -$                 
  ALLOWANCE FOR UNCOLLECTIBLE TAXES -$                     -$                      -$                 -$                        -$                 
  EXCISE 3,185,000$          1,507,848$          47.34% 3,068,500$       1,437,532$        46.85% 70,316$            
  PENALTIES & INTEREST 145,000$             44,192$               30.48% 140,000$          37,649$             26.89% 6,543$              

     TOTAL TAXES 46,880,996$        24,596,878$        52.47% 46,535,716$     23,827,412$      51.20% 769,466$          
  

LICENSES AND PERMITS   
  BUSINESS 48,300$               19,318$               39.99% 47,300$            19,950$             42.18% (633)$               
  NON-BUSINESS 339,300$             149,947$             44.19% 338,300$          168,774$           49.89% (18,827)$          

     TOTAL LICENSES 387,600$             169,264$             43.67% 385,600$          188,724$           48.94% (19,460)$          
  

INTERGOVERNMENTAL ASSISTANCE   
  STATE-LOCAL ROAD ASSISTANCE 440,000$             397,504$             90.34% 440,000$          473,451$           107.60% (75,947)$          
  STATE REVENUE SHARING 1,649,470$          540,939$             32.79% 1,649,470$       680,729$           41.27% (139,790)$        
  WELFARE REIMBURSEMENT 70,000$               21,034$               30.05% 53,000$            24,838$             46.86% (3,804)$            
  OTHER STATE AID 22,000$               -$                     0.00% 22,000$            -$                       0.00% -$                 
  CITY OF LEWISTON 155,000$             -$                     0.00% 155,000$          -$                       0.00% -$                 
     TOTAL INTERGOVERNMENTAL ASSISTANCE 2,336,470$          959,477$             41.07% 2,319,470$       1,179,018$        50.83% (219,541)$        

  
CHARGE FOR SERVICES   
  GENERAL GOVERNMENT 132,040$             54,966$               41.63% 140,240$          70,343$             50.16% (15,377)$          
  PUBLIC SAFETY 485,703$             111,882$             23.03% 366,152$          61,258$             16.73% 50,624$            
  EMS AGREEMENT 987,551$             -$                     0.00% 100,000$          41,667$             41.67% (41,667)$          

     TOTAL CHARGE FOR SERVICES 1,605,294$          166,848$             10.39% 606,392$          173,268$           28.57% (6,420)$            
  

FINES   
  PARKING TICKETS & MISC FINES 26,000$               27,408$               105.42% 40,000$            7,976$               19.94% 19,432$            

   
MISCELLANEOUS    
  INVESTMENT INCOME 10,000$               1,362$                 13.62% 20,000$            208$                  1.04% 1,154$              
  INTEREST-BOND PROCEEDS 2,000$                 -$                     0.00% 2,000$              -$                       0.00% -$                 
  RENTS 122,000$             -$                     0.00% 122,000$          -$                       0.00% -$                 
  UNCLASSIFIED 20,000$               6,287$                 31.43% 17,500$            181,993$           1039.96% (175,706)$        
  SALE OF RECYCLABLES -$                     -$                      4,800$              -$                       0.00% -$                 
  COMMERCIAL SOLID WASTE FEES -$                     20,486$                -$                 22,168$              (1,682)$            
  SALE OF PROPERTY 20,000$               1,200$                 6.00% 20,000$            60,131$             300.66% (58,931)$          
  RECREATION PROGRAMS/ARENA -$                     -$                      -$                 -$                        -$                 
  MMWAC HOST FEES 206,000$             87,191$               42.33% 204,000$          85,747$             42.03% 1,444$              
  9-1-1 DEBT SERVICE REIMBURSEMENT -$                     -$                      -$                 -$                       0.00% -$                 
  TRANSFER IN: TIF 500,000$             -$                     0.00% 520,000$          -$                       0.00% -$                 
  TRANSFER IN: POLICE 20,000$               0.00% -$                 -$                 
  TRANSFER IN: PARKING PROGRAM 55,000$               0.00% -$                 -$                 
  TRANSFER IN: PD DRUG MONEY 45,000$               0.00% -$                 -$                 
  TRANSFER IN: REC SPEC REVENUE 41,720$               0.00% -$                 -$                 
  TRANSFER IN: SPECIAL REVENUE 290,000$             0.00% -$                 -$                 
  ENERGY EFFICIENCY -$                     -$                      2,000$              279$                  13.95% (279)$               
  CDBG 58,000$               -$                     0.00% 58,000$            -$                       0.00% -$                 
  UTILITY REIMBURSEMENT 37,500$               6,223$                 16.60% 37,500$            10,177$             27.14% (3,954)$            
  CITY FUND BALANCE CONTRIBUTION 1,350,000$          -$                     0.00% 1,350,000$       -$                       0.00% -$                 

     TOTAL MISCELLANEOUS 2,777,220$          122,749$             4.42% 2,357,800$       360,703$           15.30% (237,954)$        
-$                       

TOTAL GENERAL FUND REVENUES 54,013,580$        26,042,624$        48.21% 52,244,978$     25,737,101$      49.26% 305,523$          

SCHOOL REVENUES
  EDUCATION SUBSIDY 20,411,239$        7,435,817$          36.43% 17,942,071$     8,932,415$        49.78% (1,496,598)$     
  EDUCATION 774,572$             193,353$             24.96% 1,358,724$       168,584$           12.41% 24,769$            
  SCHOOL FUND BALANCE CONTRIBUTION 906,882$             -$                     0.00% 855,251$          -$                       0.00% -$                 

TOTAL SCHOOL 22,092,693$        7,629,171$          34.53% 20,156,046$     9,100,999$        45.15% (1,471,828)$     

GRAND TOTAL REVENUES 76,106,273$        33,671,795$        44.24% 72,401,024$     34,838,100$      48.12% (1,166,305)$     

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE



Unaudited  Unaudited  
FY 2015 EXP % OF FY 2014 EXP % OF

DEPARTMENT BUDGET THRU NOV 2014 BUDGET BUDGET THRU NOV 2013 BUDGET VARIANCE
ADMINISTRATION  
   MAYOR AND COUNCIL 78,532$                39,082$              49.77% 71,079$          30,583$              43.03% 8,499$          
   CITY MANAGER 280,750$              109,410$            38.97% 238,903$        100,458$            42.05% 8,952$          
   ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 359,500$              124,489$            34.63% 318,933$        120,630$            37.82% 3,859$          
   ASSESSING SERVICES 177,320$              52,088$              29.38% 172,277$        70,616$              40.99% (18,528)$       
   CITY CLERK 164,593$              71,321$              43.33% 162,045$        71,038$              43.84% 283$             
   FINANCIAL SERVICES 427,815$              171,632$            40.12% 405,976$        162,376$            40.00% 9,256$          
   HUMAN RESOURCES 139,578$              54,330$              38.92% 139,566$        52,693$              37.75% 1,637$          
   INFORMATION COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY 413,829$              224,658$            54.29% 395,350$        222,641$            56.31% 2,017$          
   LEGAL SERVICES 65,000$                10,227$              15.73% 100,000$        17,047$              17.05% (6,820)$         

TOTAL ADMINISTRATION 2,106,917$           857,237$            40.69% 2,004,129$     848,082$            42.32% 9,155$          

COMMUNITY SERVICES
   PLANNING & PERMITTING 902,494$              314,796$            34.88% 775,230$        312,962$            40.37% 1,834$          
   HEALTH & SOCIAL SERVICES 192,954$              73,006$              37.84% 189,539$        91,441$              48.24% (18,435)$       
   PUBLIC LIBRARY 960,692$              392,163$            40.82% 946,737$        464,618$            49.08% (72,455)$       

TOTAL COMMUNITY SERVICES 2,056,140$           779,965$            37.93% 2,759,028$     869,021$            31.50% (89,056)$       
 

FISCAL SERVICES
   DEBT SERVICE 6,263,936$           5,774,574$         92.19% 6,321,584$     5,801,341$         91.77% (26,767)$       
   FACILITIES 698,335$              236,550$            33.87% 715,667$        236,459$            33.04% 91$               
   WORKERS COMPENSATION 468,081$              -$                        0.00% 431,446$        -$                        0.00% -$                  
   WAGES & BENEFITS 4,737,117$           2,028,613$         42.82% 4,397,585$     1,906,169$         43.35% 122,444$      
   EMERGENCY RESERVE (10108062-670000) 375,289$              -$                        0.00% 375,289$        -$                        0.00% -$                  

TOTAL FISCAL SERVICES 12,542,758$         8,039,737$         64.10% 12,241,571$   7,943,969$         64.89% 95,768$        

PUBLIC SAFETY
   FIRE DEPARTMENT 4,057,633$           1,766,794$         43.54% 4,024,789$     1,634,797$         40.62% 131,997$      
   FIRE EMS 635,468$              215,922$            33.98%  215,922$      
   POLICE DEPARTMENT 3,738,108$           1,468,391$         39.28% 3,589,583$     1,385,454$         38.60% 82,937$        

TOTAL PUBLIC SAFETY 8,431,209$           3,451,107$         40.93% 7,614,372$     3,020,251$         39.67% 430,856$      

PUBLIC WORKS
   PUBLIC SERVICES DEPARTMENT 5,806,379$           2,123,859$         36.58% 5,577,954$     1,852,995$         33.22% 270,864$      
   WATER AND SEWER 599,013$              305,756$            51.04% 558,835$        282,963$            50.63% 22,793$        

TOTAL PUBLIC WORKS 6,405,392$           2,429,615$         37.93% 5,289,267$     2,135,958$         40.38% 293,657$      

INTERGOVERNMENTAL PROGRAMS
   AUBURN-LEWISTON AIRPORT 105,000$              52,500$              50.00% 105,000$        52,500$              50.00% -$                  
   E911 COMMUNICATION CENTER 1,067,249$           262,326$            24.58% 1,036,409$     518,425$            50.02% (256,099)$     
   LATC-PUBLIC TRANSIT 235,373$              52,844$              22.45% 235,496$        117,686$            49.97% (64,842)$       
   LAEGC-ECONOMIC COUNCIL -$                          -$                         -$                   -$                         -$                  
   LA ARTS 17,000$                -$                        0.00% -$                   -$                         -$                  
   TAX SHARING 270,000$              -$                        0.00% 270,000$        41,793$              15.48% (41,793)$       

TOTAL INTERGOVERNMENTAL 1,694,622$           367,670$            21.70% 1,646,905$     730,404$            44.35% (362,734)$     

COUNTY TAX 2,046,880$           2,046,879$         100.00% 2,029,513$     2,029,512$         100.00% 17,367$        
TIF (10108058-580000) 2,584,032$           -$                        0.00% 2,555,723$     -$                        0.00% -$                  
OVERLAY -$                          -$                         -$                   -$                        0.00% -$                  

-$                  
TOTAL CITY DEPARTMENTS 37,867,950$         17,972,210$       47.46% 36,140,508$   17,577,197$       48.64% 395,013$      

EDUCATION DEPARTMENT 38,241,323$         11,216,578$       29.33% 37,128,028$   13,414,290$       36.13% (2,197,712)$  
  

TOTAL GENERAL FUND EXPENDITURES 76,109,273$         29,188,788$       38.35% 73,268,536$   30,991,487$       42.30% (1,802,699)$  

 CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
EXPENDITURES - GENERAL FUND COMPARATIVE

THROUGH November 30, 2014 VS November 30, 2013 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
INVESTMENT SCHEDULE
AS OF November 30, 2014

BALANCE BALANCE INTEREST WEIGHTED
INVESTMENT FUND November 30, 2014 October 31, 2014 RATE AVG YIELD

BANKNORTH MNY MKT 24-1242924 GENERAL FUND 55,437.66$                   55,437.66$                   0.15%
BANKNORTH MNY MKT 24-1745910 GF-WORKERS COMP 49,295.87$                   49,295.87$                   0.08%
BANKNORTH MNY MKT 24-1745944 GF-UNEMPLOYMENT 67,027.81$                   67,027.81$                   0.15%
BANKNORTH CD 7033 GF-UNEMPLOYMENT 102,404.84$                 102,404.84$                 0.15%
BANKNORTH MNY MKT 24-1809302 SPECIAL REVENUE 52,656.90$                   52,656.90$                   0.15%
BANKNORTH MNY MKT 24-1745902 SR-PERMIT PARKING 198,366.52$                 198,366.52$                 0.15%
BANKNORTH MNY MKT 24-1745895 SR-TIF 1,119,935.07$              1,119,935.07$              0.15%
BANKNORTH MNY MKT 24-1746819 CAPITAL PROJECTS 4,778,142.71$              4,778,142.71$              0.20%
BANKNORTH MNY MKT 24-1745928 ICE ARENA 249,764.86$                 249,764.86$                 0.15%

GRAND TOTAL 6,673,032.24$              6,673,032.24$              0.19%



City of Auburn, Maine 
“Maine’s City of Opportunity” 

___________________________      ______ 
Financial Services 

60 Court Street • Suite 411 • Auburn, ME 04210 
(207) 333-6600 Voice • (207) 333-6601 Automated • (207) 333-6620 Fax 

www.auburnmaine.org 
      
 

 
 
To: Howard Kroll, Interim City Manager 
From: Jill Eastman, Finance Director 
Re: Arena Financial Reports for November 30, 2014 
 
Attached you will find a Statement of Net Assets and a Statement of Activities for the Ingersoll Arena  
and the Norway Savings Bank Arena as of November 30, 2014. I have also attached budget to actual 
reports for Norway Savings Bank Arena for revenue and expenditures.  
 
INGERSOLL ARENA 
 
Statement of Net Assets: 
The Statement of Net Assets lists current assets, noncurrent assets, liabilities and net assets.  
 
Current Assets: 
As of the end of November 2014 the total current assets were $129,692. These consisted of cash and 
cash equivalents of $249,765, and an interfund payable of $120,073, which means that Ingersoll owes 
the General Fund $120,073, so net cash available to Ingersoll is $129,692 at the end of November. 
 
Noncurrent Assets: 
Noncurrent assets are the building, equipment and any building and land improvements, less 
depreciation. The total value of noncurrent assets as of November 30, 2014 were $232,292. The 
equipment that was transferred to Norway Savings Bank Arena or sold have been removed from the 
Ingersoll balance sheet as well as the related accumulated depreciation. 
 
Liabilities: 
Ingersoll had no liabilities as of November 30, 2014 
 
Statement of Activities: 
 
The statement of activities shows the current operating revenue collected for the fiscal year and the 
operating expenses as well as any nonoperating revenue and expenses. 
 
Ingersoll Arena had no operating revenues through November 2014. 
 
The operating expenses for Ingersoll Arena through November 2014, were $3,505. These expenses 
include supplies, utilities, and repairs and maintenance. 
 
As of November 2014 Ingersoll has an operating loss of ($3,505).  
 
Non-operating revenue and expenses consist of interest income and debt service payments. The interest 
income to date is $120 and debt service expense to date is $81,563.  
 
As of November 30, 2014 Ingersoll has a decrease in net assets of $84,948. 



 2 

NORWAY SAVINGS BANK ARENA 
 
Statement of Net Assets: 
The Statement of Net Assets lists current assets, noncurrent assets, liabilities and net assets.  
 
Current Assets: 
As of the end of November 2014 the total current assets of Norway Savings Bank Arena were ($74,856). 
These consisted of cash and cash equivalents of $91,281, and an interfund payable of $166,137, which 
means that Norway owes the General Fund $166,137 at the end of November.  
 
Noncurrent Assets: 
Norway’s noncurrent assets are equipment that was purchased, less depreciation (depreciation is 
posted at year end). There was an adjustment to the equipment to account for equipment that was 
transferred from Ingersoll Arena. The total value of the noncurrent assets as of November 30, 2014 was 
$239,332. 
 
Liabilities: 
Norway Arena had accounts payable of $2 as of November 30, 2014.  
 
Statement of Activities: 
 
The statement of activities shows the current operating revenue collected for the fiscal year and the 
operating expenses as well as any nonoperating revenue and expenses. 
 
The operating revenues for Norway Arena through November 2014 are $268,593. This revenue comes 
from the concessions, sign advertisements, pro shop lease, youth programming, shinny hockey, public 
skating and ice rentals. 
 
The operating expenses for Norway Arena through November 2014 were $452,046. These expenses 
include personnel costs, supplies, utilities, repairs, capital purchases and maintenance.  
 
As of November 2014 Norway Arena has an operating loss of  $183,453 compared to the October 2014 
operating loss of $203,953. 
 
As of November 30, 2014 Norway Arena has a decrease in net assets of $183,453. 
 
I have also attached budget to actual reports for revenue and expenditures. 
 
 
 
 



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Statement of Net Assets

Proprietary Funds
November 30, 2014 

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Ingersoll Norway
Savings

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 249,765$        91,281$        
Interfund receivables (120,073)$       (166,137)$     
Accounts receivable -                      -                    

Total current assets 129,692          (74,856)         
Noncurrent assets:

Capital assets:
Buildings 672,279          35,905          
Equipment 66,415            285,813        
Land improvements 18,584            
     Less accumulated depreciation (524,986)         (82,386)         

Total noncurrent assets 232,292          239,332        
Total assets 361,984          164,476        

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable -$                    2$                 
Total liabilities -                      2                   

NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets 232,292$        239,332$      
Unrestricted 129,692$        (74,858)$       

Total net assets 361,984$        164,474$      



CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets

Proprietary Funds
Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Statement of Activities
 November 30, 2014 

Norway
Ingersoll Savings
Ice Arena Arena

Operating revenues:
Charges for services -$                   268,593$       

Operating expenses:
Personnel -                     123,250         
Supplies -                     23,119            
Utilities 2,930            64,989            
Repairs and maintenance 575                6,860              
Rent 211,035         
Depreciation -                     -                      
Capital expenses -                      
Other expenses -                     22,793            

Total operating expenses 3,505            452,046         

Operating  gain (loss) (3,505)           (183,453)        

Nonoperating revenue (expense):
Interest income 120                -                      
Interest expense (debt service) (81,563)         -                      

Total nonoperating expense (81,443)         -                      

Gain before transfer (84,948)         (183,453)        

Transfers out -                     -                      

Change in net assets (84,948)         (183,453)        

Total net assets, July 1 446,932        347,927         

Total net assets, October 31, 2014 361,984$      164,474$       



REVENUES - NORWAY SAVINGS BANK ARENA
Through November 30, 2014 

ACTUAL
FY 2015 REVENUES % OF

REVENUE SOURCE BUDGET THRU NOV 2014 BUDGET
 

CHARGE FOR SERVICES  
  Concssions 30,000$            233$                      0.78%
  Sign Advertisements 233,225$          106,682$               45.74%
  Pro Shop 8,500$              2,878$                   33.86%
  Programs 172,450$          25,704$                 14.91%
  Rental Income 753,260$          130,352$               17.31%
  Tournaments 24,500$            2,625$                   10.71%

     TOTAL CHARGE FOR SERVICES 1,221,935$       268,474$               21.97%
 

INTEREST ON INVESTMENTS -$                      

GRAND TOTAL REVENUES 1,221,935$       268,474$               21.97%

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE



EXPENDITURES - NORWAY SAVINGS BANK ARENA
Through November 30, 2014 

ACTUAL
FY 2015 EXPENDITURES % OF

REVENUE SOURCE BUDGET THRU NOV 2014 BUDGET
 
 

  Salaries & Benefits 318,446$          123,250$               38.70%
  Purchased Services 67,800$            29,653$                 43.74%
  Supplies 9,000$              23,119$                 256.88%
  Utilities 204,846$          64,989$                 31.73%
  Capital Outlay 80,000$            -$                       0.00%
  Rent 528,408$          211,035$               39.94%

1,208,500$       452,046$               37.41%
 

GRAND TOTAL EXPENDITURES 1,208,500$       452,046$               37.41%

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE



 
          

Page 1 of 3 
 

 
 
 
 
 
December 5, 2014     
 
Commissioners Bell, Greenwood, and Makas 
Androscoggin County 
2 Turner Street 
Auburn, Maine 04210 
 
 
Dear Commissioners Bell, Greenwood, and Makas: 
 
We were very surprised to learn that commissioners received health benefits from the County, some full 
family coverage at that, and the fact that 100% of the premiums are paid by county taxpayers. We are 
now quite aware that Androscoggin County is not alone in offering health benefits to its part-time 
elected commissioners. We are also aware of the history in Androscoggin County which once offered 
100% taxpayer health benefits to commissioners for life. Neither of these facts justifies nor weakens our 
very strong position that it is highly inappropriate and an entitlement that needs to end.  It is our 
unanimous sentiment and philosophical position that part-time, elected county commissioners should not 
receive taxpayer funded health coverage at any level. We do understand and agree that a reasonable 
annual stipend should be paid to help defray the personal cost of serving the public. What a “reasonable” 
amount for a stipend should be is certainly a matter that could be endlessly debated and that is not the 
focus of this letter and not our primary concern. We also want to point out that our collective position 
regarding health benefits for commissioners does not apply to other elected positions in county 
government that are fulltime jobs such as sheriff, judges, etc. We take no issue with benefits for those 
positions. 
 
Running for a municipal officer or county commissioner position is a personal decision to serve the 
public. Profiting from part-time elected office, including expensive taxpayer-funded health coverage, is 
a gross overreach that takes undue advantage of your public office and the taxpayers that support it. 
Public service should not be for personal gain other than to deepen one’s own sense of commitment to 
service. 
 
 The Board of commissioners is increasing from three to seven members. Now more than ever, there 
should be no credible argument that serving as a county commissioner is akin to regular employment 
and certainly not fulltime employment.  There will indeed be a time period in 2015 that requires 
additional work of the commissioners to oversee a proper search and hiring process to select the right 
person as its first manager, develop bylaws, and other related tasks. However, any extra work required 
of the seven commissioners during this period of transition, in our view, is part of the responsibilities 
that come with the honor of serving. Additionally, the commissioners will also have legal and 
presumably other resources to draw upon to assist in these tasks. We see no credible argument that the 
workload of the commissioners, particularly with the board growing from three to seven members, will 
be significant enough to emulate fulltime employment and therefore be deserving of additional 
compensation, including health coverage,  over what the Budget Committee voted to appropriate. 
 

TOWN of SABATTUS 
190 Middle Road • Sabattus, Maine 04280 

Phone: (207) 375-4331 • Fax: (207) 375-4104 



 
          

Page 2 of 3 
 

At least as, if not more, egregious to us than the idea of commissioners receiving taxpayer-funded health 
coverage is the recent process in which two of the three commissioners voted to ignore the unanimous 
vote of the Budget Committee. The third commissioner simply chose not to vote at all citing abstention. 
Abstention should only be used in matters of a potential or direct conflict of interest. All three 
commissioners certainly had a direct conflict of interest on this particular vote whereas each of the three 
commissioners stands to gain personally from overturning the vote of the Budget Committee. All three 
should have ‘abstained’ from taking a vote. 
 
From a legal perspective, we believe it very much remains an unanswered question whether or not the 
commissioners actually have legal authority to effectively overturn a vote of the Budget Committee 
related to commissioner compensation including benefits. The County’s attorney may support the 
commissioners’ interpretation; however we, members of the Budget Committee, and many others 
disagree. At the moment, that’s all that exists on the matter - opposing opinions. If this matter isn’t 
resolved soon, the issue of proper authority can only be resolved definitively in court. We certainly hope 
it does not come to that end. 
 
Many of us supported and advocated for the passage of the county charter specifically due to the 
promise of significant change to governance structure. Professional management and what we were told 
by members of the charter commission was to be the role of the Budget Committee were compelling 
reasons for us to support the county charter’s passage. The recent actions of the commissioners 
undermine the very spirit of the charter, if not the letter of the law itself. Your actions state loud and 
clearly you intend to conduct your business as usual despite the hard work of the County’s Charter 
Commission, the Budget Committee, and the will of a majority of Androscoggin County voters. 
 
Androscoggin County government has a real opportunity at hand in this time of transition. Efforts in the 
past to regionalize services have been deeply mired in politics, and a general distrust between 
communities and County government. But hard economic times and the promise of new County 
management create what could be a tremendous opportunity at hand. The County, under professional 
management and a Board of seven could establish a forum and process to pull together people from each 
of its member communities and explore areas to collectively make the most impact in purchasing and 
delivery of services on a much broader level than current practice. Some services, not all, should be 
delivered on a more regional basis to be more efficient, more cost effective, and avoid future cost 
increases for our collective taxpayers. 
 
Regardless of the initiative, any possible hope of success absolutely requires credibility. It requires 
credibility both in the process and the central entity facilitating the effort. The current controversy over 
the commissioners’ compensation and ignoring the charter and Budget Committee greatly compromises 
the credibility of the current Board and County government. It perpetuate and deepen the criticisms, 
distrust, and lack of hope that Androscoggin County can move beyond its past and work collaboratively 
with its member communities. 
 
There is still an opportunity, albeit a fleeting one if not addressed very soon, to turn this unfortunate 
situation around. We do not believe the Commissioners’ 2-0-1 vote adhered to the charter and therefore 
is not legal. However, that can only be resolved if the commissioners reverse their course of action, or 
the matter is decided in court. If the commissioners voluntarily reverse course and declare that the 
Budget Committee vote stands, it would certainly go a long way to restore credibility in, and respect for 
County government and support the new charter instead of damaging it. Valuable time, energy and  
  



 
          

Page 3 of 3 
 

resources could instead be collectively focused on pulling the Androscoggin member communities 
together to welcome a new county manager to help facilitate change, explore common ground, and seek 
and achieve opportunities to work more effectively on a regional basis. 
 
We sincerely implore the current Board of three commissioners to publicly declare your recent vote to 
be invalid, or take another vote to rescind it if you feel that is more proper. However if the current Board 
of three is not inclined to do so, then we implore a majority of the new board of seven to set this 
situation right and adhere to the Budget Committee vote.
 
 
Respectfully, 
 
 
______________________________   ______________________________ 
Mark Duquette, Chair      Michelle Ames, Selectman 
 
 
______________________________   ______________________________ 
André Marquis., Vice-Chair     Jeffrey Baril, Selectman 
 
 
______________________________ 
Donat Fournier Jr., Selectman 
 
 
 
cc:  Androscoggin County Commissioners-elect: Chicoine, Roy, Fournier and Christner 
 Androscoggin County Clerk: Patricia Fournier 
 Androscoggin County Budget Committee Members 
 Municipal Officials in Androscoggin County
 
 



City Council 

Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

 

  

 
 

 

Subject: Council Action on Budget Ordinance Sec 2-485 Change-second reading. 

 

Information: Staff is recommending a change in the budget expenditure cap ordinance Sec 2-485 a. to a tax 

commitment cap, and to add Sec 2-485 c. Appropriation Resolve, adding tax due dates and interest rate on 

delinquent taxes to the appropriation resolve. 

.  

 

Advantages: With a tax commitment cap the City can take advantage of new revenue sources to fund 

expenditures without raising the tax commitment. The current ordinance does not take any new revenues into 

consideration, therefore it does not give the City any incentive to find new revenue to help fund the budget. 

 

When the budget is passed the due dates and interest rate on delinquent taxes will be set. This saves us having a 

separate agenda item and gives the Assessing department and tax department the ability to begin working on the 

commitment and tax bills to get them ready to mail by mid July. 

 

Disadvantages: Public perception links taxes to expenses only, so the Council and staff will have to work 

cooperatively to share that the tax commitment (difference between expenses and revenues) is what drives 

taxes. 

 

 

City Budgetary Impacts:  

 

 

Staff Recommended Action: Recommend passage of ordinance change. Second reading. 

 

Previous Meetings and History: This was briefly discussed during the FY15 budget process and discussed at 

Council Workshop on November 17, 2014, public hearing and first reading on 12-1-2014, and failed the first 

reading 3-4. 

 

Attachments:  

Amended Ordinance 10-12012014 

Council Workshop or Meeting Date: 12/15/14  Ordinance  10-12012014 

Author:   Jill Eastman, Finance Director 



Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  David Young, At Large 

Adam Lee, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

           

ORDINANCE  10-12012014 

 
 

 Sec. 2-485. - Council action on budget increase.  

(a) 

Budget expenditure tax commitment cap. Beginning with the fiscal year 2008 2016 budget, the city council 

will not approve any increase in the budget tax commitment, City and School combined which exceeds the 

consumer price index (urban) as compiled for the 12-month period ending as of December 31 prior the 

start of the succeeding fiscal year.  

(b) 

Exception. When deemed necessary by the city council, this provision may be waived by a majority vote of 

the city council.  

 

(c) 

Appropriation resolve. The tax due date and the interest rate on delinquent taxes will be included in the 

appropriation resolve. 

 

 



City Council 

Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

 

  

 
 

 

 

Subject: 

Approval of a new Special Amusement Permit application for Jasmine Café, LLC., 730 Center Street 

 

Information: Jasmine Café, LLC., 730 Center Street, an existing business, applied for a Special Amusement 

Permit. Police, Fire and Code have granted approval.  

 

Advantages: Helps to promote a business friendly community, may attract additional patrons and potentially 

create additional jobs in the community. 

 

Disadvantages: None 
 

City Budgetary Impacts: N/A 

 

Staff Recommended Action: Recommend approval of the Special Amusement Permit for Jasmine Café, LLC., 

730 Center Street. Public hearing. 

 

Previous Meetings and History: N/A 

 

Attachments:  

 Special Amusement Permit application 

 Criminal Background Check 

 Public Hearing Ad 

 Order 101-12152014 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Council Workshop or Meeting Date: 12/15/2014  Order  101-12152014 

    

    Author:   Sue Clements-Dallaire, City Clerk 

  

  

  

































Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  David Young, At Large 

Adam Lee, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 

 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

ORDER 101-12152014 

 
ORDERED, that the City Council hereby approves the Special Amusement Permit (Class C – either Restaurants 

or Lounges/Bars with entertainment, including dancing) for Jasmine Café, LLC., 730 Center Street. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

 

  

 
 

 

 

Subject: Hartt Transportation Industrial Park Omnibus Tax Increment Finance District #19 

 

 

Information: Hartt Transportation purchased land, subdivided and environmentally permitted an industrial 

park. This proposal is to create tax increment finance (TIF) district #19 for the geography contained within this 

development. Similar to the downtown district, by creating an omnibus structure this will allow (with approval 

from the City Council) for the issuance of credit enhancement agreements (CEA) for any lot contained within 

the park.   

 

The proposal (subject to your approval) is to capture 40% of the tax increment* and apply funds to the 

following work program: 1) reserve 40% of the residual for a CEA to Hartt for the recovery of their investment 

in public infrastructure for 20 years or until $1,250,000 has been recovered, whichever comes first (consistent 

with the development agreement approved by the City Council -- attached). 

 

*Please Note -- taxes derived from the baseline value of $1,178,340 will go to the general fund for the life of 

the district. 

 

Pro’s & Con’s: City of Auburn will have a fully permitted industrial park that a private investor has financed.  

Hartt will develop a new terminal for their use, thereby creating an increase in assessed value.  They will only 

receive additional reimbursement when they have other investors adding new value on the other lots.  The 

establishment of this partnership insures that vacant, subdivided and permitted lots are ready to be developed. 

 

I don’t see any downside to this proposal. 

 

 

Financial:  Under this proposal the City of Auburn general fund will receive all the remaining tax revenue (less 

the State of Maine penalties for the unsheltered portion).  

 

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: Authorize the City Manager to execute all documents and submit this TIF 

district to the Maine Department of Economic & Community Development. 

 

Previous Meetings and History: Hartt Development Agreement passed by City Council (7-0) June 16, 2014 

Workshop December 1, 2014 

 

Attachments: TIF Development Program and Financial Plan 

  Development agreement with Hartt 

  Order 102-12152014 

 

 

 

Council Meeting Date:               12-15-2014 Order  102-12152014 

Author:   Roland Miller 



City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

 



 
 

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

#19 HARTT TRANSPORTATION INDUSTRIAL PARK 

 OMNIBUS MUNICIPAL TAX INCREMENT  

FINANCING DISTRICT AND 

DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 
 
 
 
 

December 15, 2014 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by: 

 Jill Cunningham, Economic Development Assistant 

Roland Miller, Community & Economic Dev. Director 

 



 

2 <Table of Contents |  

 

City of Auburn 

Table of Contents 
Table of Contents .......................................................................................................................................... 2 

Municipal Cover Letter.................................................................................................................................. 3 

Application Cover Sheet ................................................................................................................................ 4 

Statutory Requirements & Thresholds ......................................................................................................... 5 

Development Program .................................................................................................................................. 7 

Introduction .............................................................................................................................................. 7 

Financial Plan ............................................................................................................................................ 8 

Cost Estimated for Development Program ........................................................................................... 8 

Indebtedness ......................................................................................................................................... 8 

Anticipated Revenues ........................................................................................................................... 8 

Description of the terms and conditions of any agreements, contracts or other obligations related 
to the development program ............................................................................................................... 8 

Duration of Development Program ...................................................................................................... 9 

Physical Description of District ................................................................................................................. 9 

Description of Public Facilities to be Constructed .................................................................................... 9 

Relocation of Displaced Persons ............................................................................................................... 9 

Proposed Regulations and Facilities to Improve Transportation ............................................................. 9 

Environmental Controls ............................................................................................................................ 9 

Plan of Operation under Completion ........................................................................................................ 9 

Public Hearing ........................................................................................................................................... 9 

Authorizing Votes ...................................................................................................................................... 9 

 
Exhibit A 1 –Municipal TIF 19 Tax District Map  
Exhibit A 2 – Municipal Borders Map 
Exhibit B – Assessors Certificate  
Exhibit C – Financial Projection 
Exhibit D – Tax Shift Calculations 
Exhibit E – Public Hearing Notice 
Exhibit F – Attested Minutes from Public Hearing 
Exhibit G - Resolve from Auburn City Council Meeting 
Exhibit H – Order 51-06162014 
Exhibit I – Hartt Transportation Industrial Park Development Agreement 
Exhibit J - Planning Board Meeting Minutes - Approval 11.8.08 
Exhibit K – Credit Enhancement Agreement with Hartt Transportation Systems, Inc 
 
  



 

3 Municipal Cover Letter |  

 

City of Auburn 

 Municipal Cover Letter 

 City of Auburn, Maine 

“Maine’s City of Opportunity” 

___________________________      ______ 
Economic Development  

 December 15, 2014 
 
 
 
 

Commissioner George Gervais  
Maine Department of Economic and Community Development 
Burton M. Cross Office Building 
59 State House Station 
Augusta, ME  04333-0059 

 
Re:   City of Auburn, #19 Hartt Transportation Industrial Park Omnibus Municipal Tax 
Increment Financing District and Development Program     
         

Dear Commissioner Gervais: 
 
 In accordance with Chapter 206 of Title 30-A of the Maine Revised Statutes, as amended, I am 
pleased to submit the application for the Hartt Transportation Industrial Park Omnibus Municipal 
Development Tax Increment Financing District and Development Program.  
  
 With this letter, I attest and certify all the information provided is true and correct to the best of 
my knowledge.  Should you have any additional questions or concerns, please do not hesitate to contact 
my office, or the city’s Economic Development staff. 

 
Sincerely, 

 
      Howard Kroll 
      City Manager 
 

 
cc:    Roland Miller, Economic Development Director 
 Jill Cunningham, Economic Development Assistant 

 

60 Court Street  Auburn, ME 04210  (207) 333-6600   

www.auburnmaine.org 



 

4  |  

 

City of Auburn 

 

Application Cover Sheet 
 

M U N I C I P A L   T A X   I N C R E M E N T   F I N A N C I N G  

 

A. General Information 

 

1. Municipality Name: City of Auburn 

2. Address: 60 Court St, Auburn, ME 04210 

3. Telephone: 207-333-6601   4. Fax: 207-333-6620 5. Email: JCunningham@auburnmaine.gov 

6. Municipal Contact Person: Jill Cunningham & Roland Miller    

   
7. Business Name:    

8. Address: 

9. Telephone:      10. Fax: 11. Email: 

12. Business Contact Person:    

 

13. Principal Place of Business: 

14. Company Structure (e.g. corporation, sub-chapter S, etc.): 

15. Place of Incorporation: 

16. Names of Officers: 

17. Principal Owner(s) Name: 

18. Address: 
 

B. Disclosure 

 

1. Check the public purpose that will be met by the business using this incentive (any that apply): 

Ž  job creation        Ž  job retention   Ž  capital investment    

   training investment    X   tax base improvement          public facilities improvement    

Ž  other (list):  

2. Check the specific items for which TIF revenues will be used (any that apply): 

Ž  real estate purchase Ž  machinery & equipment purchase Ž  training costs    

Ž  debt reduction  X Ž  other (list): public improvements, construction costs 

 
 

 

  

This is intended to be an omnibus TIF District and 
Development Program allowing multiple Credit Enhancement 
Agreements with (“companies or developers”) of individual 
lots at the Hartt Industrial Park. The percentage of property 
taxes to be reimbursed to developers will be determined by 
City of Auburn Staff and brought to Auburn City Council for 
final approval.  



 

5 Statutory Requirements & Thresholds |  

 

City of Auburn 

Statutory Requirements & Thresholds 
#19 Hartt Transportation Industrial Park Omnibus Municipal Tax Increment Financing District 
 

A. ACRE LIMITATION 

1. Total Acreage of Municipality 41,430 
 

2. Total Acreage of Proposed Municipal TIF District 43 

3. Total Downtown acres contained in the Proposed Municipal TIF District 
 

0 
 

4. Total Transit acres contained in the Proposed Municipal TIF District 
0 

5. Total acreage of Proposed Municipal TIF District counted towards 2% cap (A2-A3-A4) 
43 
 

6. Percentage of total acreage in proposed municipal TIF District (cannot exceed 2%) Divide A5 by A1 
0.10% 

7. Total acreage of all existing and proposed municipal TIF districts in the municipality. Add A2 to sum of all 
existing TIF district acreage.  

Municipal 
TIF # Acres  

# 4 
52.41 

# 6 

# 8 54.00 

# 9 57.74 

# 10 266 

# 12 144 

# 13 29.67 

# 14 38.91 

# 15 1.50 

# 17 3.84 

# 18 8.53 

# 19 43 
 

699.6 

8. Total acreage of an existing or Proposed Downtown TIF District in the municipality. 
266 
 

9. Total acreage of all existing Pine Tree Development Zone TIF Districts in the municipality. 
0 

10. Total acreage of all existing or Proposed Transit TIF Districts in the municipality. 
0 

11. Total acreage of all existing and Proposed Municipal TIF Districts in the municipality counted toward 5% 
cap. Subtract A8+A9+A10 from A7. 

433.6 

12. Percentage of total acreage in all existing and proposed Municipal TIF Districts (cannot exceed 5%) Divide 
A11 by A1. 

 

1.05% 
 

13. Total Acreage of all real property in the Proposed Municipal TIF District that is: 
 
 
 
 

(Note: a, b, or c must be at least 25%) Acres % 

a. Blighted                                                   (Divide acres by A2)   

b.    In need of rehabilitation/conservation     (Divide acres by A2)   

c.     Suitable for industrial/commercial site   (Divide acres by A2) 43 100% 



 

6  |  

 

City of Auburn 

TOTAL   

B. VALUATION LIMITATION 

1. Total Aggregate Value of Municipality (TAV)   
Use most recent April 1

st 
$2,005,721,383 

2. Original Assessed Value (OAV) of Proposed Municipal TIF District.  
Use March 31

st
 of tax year preceding date of municipal designation 

$1,178,340 

3. Total OAV of all existing and Proposed Municipal TIF Districts in the municipality.  
Add b2 to sum of all existing TIF district OAVs   

Municipal  
TIF # OAV 

# 4 $1,702,000 

# 6 $520,900 

# 8 $366,000 

# 9 $5,956,300 

# 10 $84,411,000 

# 12 $334,200 

# 13 $5,425,400 

# 14 
$11,155,800 

# 15 

# 17 $468,800 

# 18 $1,564,100 

# 19 $1,178,340 
 

$113,082,840 

4. OAV of an existing or proposed Downtown TIF District in the municipality. $84,411,000 

5. OAV of all existing Pine Tree Development Zone TIF Districts in the municipality. 
 

$0 

6. OAV of all existing or Proposed Transit TIF Districts in the municipality. $0 

7. Total OAV of all existing and Proposed Municipal TIF Districts in the municipality counted toward 5% cap 
Subtract B4+B5+B6 from B3 

 

$28,671,840 

8. Percentage of total OAV to TAV in all existing and Proposed Municipal TIF Districts (cannot exceed 5%) 
Divide B7 by B1 

1.43% 
 

 
  



 

7 Development Program |  

 

City of Auburn 

Development Program  
 

Introduction  
 
Industrial land suitable for development and served by air, rail and highway transportation is in short 
supply in the City of Auburn (the “City”). The City has been making efforts to encourage and accomplish 
development of an industrial park to serve that need. The Hartt Transportation Corporation (the 
“Developer”); in cooperation with the City, have suitable land for industrial development adjacent to 
Kittyhawk Ave to the north east, Hotel Rd to the north west. This land is conveniently located near the 
Maine Turnpike.  
 
The City desires to attract and retain quality jobs and commercial development, create and maintain a 
healthy tax base, improve the economy of the City and the State of Maine, and provide for construction 
of new public infrastructure and improvements to facilitate economic development. In order to fulfill 
these goals, certain properties are being designated as the Hartt Transportation Industrial Park Omnibus 
Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing District, an area consisting of approximately 43 +/-
acres, comprising a portion of the City, as shown on Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein 
by reference (the “District”). This district will be bounded by Kittyhawk Ave to the north east and Hotel 
Rd to the north west.   
 
The Development Program described herein is proposed for the purpose of administering the District as 
a municipal tax increment financing (“TIF”) district pursuant to Chapter 206 of Title 30-A of the Maine 
Revised Statutes. Upon resolution of the Auburn City Council designating the District and adopting this 
Development Program on December 15, 2014, the designation of the District and adoption of the 
Development Program become final subject to approval by the Commissioner of the Maine Department 
of Economic Community Development (“DECD”).  
 
The purpose of the District is reimburse  Hartt’s costs associated  with certain public improvements 
within or in support of the District, such as streets, access roads, bridges, street lights, storm drains, 
intersections, sidewalks, wetland mitigation and utilities such as power, water, sewer, natural gas, 
communications and data transmission (the “Public Improvements”). 
 
With this in mind, the City of Auburn anticipates the creation of “omnibus” municipal TIF district and 
development program, which would allow Credit Enhancement Agreements (“CEAs”) to be negotiated 
with the City for the purpose of businesses developing site locations. The City will ‘capture’ 40% of the 
increased assessed value associated with new construction at the locations, as ‘Captured Assessed 
Value’ (CAV), for the purpose of funding the CEAs, and when circumstances allow, funding certain 
municipal economic development activities. Terms and conditions for each CEA will be negotiated by the 
City Manager or his designee, and presented for public hearing and vote by City Council.    
 
The designation of the District and approval of the Development Program can achieve and address the 
issues and goals as stated previously in this introduction. An industrial park with an innovative, forward 
looking and omnibus (“TIF”) in place and approved framework for future development can greatly 
enhance the City’s statewide reputation and profile as a business location and enhance attractiveness of 
the District as a future industrial location, making the overall project more financially viable.  
 
The City will use the captured tax increment revenues from the District to finance the Project as 



 

8 Development Program |  

 

City of Auburn 

permitted under 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5225, (the “Project Costs”), including the cost of Public District 
Improvements.  The estimated Project Costs to be included, as part of this Development Program. 

Financial Plan 
 
The proposed municipal TIF district will encompass approximately 43 acres of taxable property with a 
total assessed land value as of April 1, 2013 in the amount of $1,178,340. This development Program 
requires the establishment of a Development Program Fund consisting of a Sinking Fund Account 
pledged to and charged with payment of debt service on any Public Indebtedness and a Project Cost 
Account pledged to and charged with payments of Public Project Costs.  
 
The Development program Fund is established consisting of a project cost account (“Project Cost 
Account”) pledged to and charged with payment of project costs outlined in the financial plan.  
 
The Project Cost Account shall consist of one or more City cost subaccounts (the “City Project Cost 
Subaccount”) pledged to and charged with the payment of costs of the City’s project costs, and one or 
more developer cost subaccounts (the “Developer Project Cost Subaccounts”) pledged to and charged 
with payment of the costs of reimbursement consistent with an approved individual credit 
enhancement agreements.   
 
All project Costs will be funded directly or reimbursed from incremental tax revenues of the District or 
from proceeds of the Bonds.  

Cost Estimated for Development Program  
See Exhibit I. 

Public Indebtedness 
Except as determined by further action of the City Council, none of the costs of any private 
development within the District will be financed through issuance of any municipal indebtedness. 

Development may, if qualified, be financed with proceeds of private activity bonds used by the City 
for which the applicable developer, and not the City, will have the sole responsibility to repay. The 

Public District Improvements and other Project Costs will be funded by the Bonds.  

Anticipated Revenues 
The anticipated municipal TIF Revenues will be generated by real property improvements made within 
the district. Investment by District developers in the City of Auburn is estimated to result in a collective 
municipal assessed value of $1,178,340. See Exhibit B for more detail.  

Description of the terms and conditions of any agreements, contracts or other obligations 
related to the development program 
The City anticipates entering into CEAs with developers within the District to reimburse up to 40% of the 
property taxes paid on the Increased Assessed Value (IAV) in the District for twenty (20) years, or a 
recovery threshold not to exceed $1.25 million, whichever comes first. This is to reimburse Hartt for 
building infrastructure consistent with Development Agreement signed on June 16, 2014.  
 
Negotiation and execution of multiple CEAs is within sole council discretion giving the district program 
omnibus capacity. The proceeds of each CEA will be utilized by the companies or developers to defray 
the costs of construction, financing, and general improvement within the District as described in this 
Development Program. 



 

9 Development Program |  

 

City of Auburn 

 
Duration of Development Program 
The duration of the District will begin after designation of the District by the Auburn City Council and the 
effective date of its approval by the Commissioner of Maine Department of Economic and Community 
Development (the original assessed value is based on the valuation as of March 31, 2014 (April 1, 2013) 
with the first payment during the 2014-2015 fiscal year and end in 20 years. 

Physical Description of District 
The District consists of 10 parcels adding up to 43 acres. The District is delineated on Exhibit A hereto.   

Description of Public Facilities to be Constructed  
There are no public facilities to be constructed with this project.  

Relocation of Displaced Persons 
No persons or businesses will be displaced or relocated as a result of the development activities 
proposed in the District.  

Proposed Regulations and Facilities to Improve Transportation 
Developer agrees to construct and equip a 30,000 ft. sq. ft. trucking terminal office and garage. 

Environmental Controls 
The improvements contemplated by this Development Program will comply with all federal, state and 
local environmental and land development laws, rules, regulations, and ordinances.  

Plan of Operation after Completion 
The improvements in the District will at all times be owned by the Developers, its successors or 
assigns, which will be responsible for payment of all maintenance expenses, insurance and taxes on 
said improvements.  
During the life of the District, the City Manager or the Manager's designee will be responsible for all 
administrative matters concerning the implementation and operation of the District. The Developers 
shall be solely responsible for implementation of the Project in the District. 

Public Hearing 
Attached hereto as Exhibit E is a copy of the Notice of Public Hearing held in accordance with the 
requirements of 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5226(1). The Notice was published in the Lewiston Sun Journal, a 
newspaper of general circulation in Auburn on December 4, 2014 a day at least ten (10) days prior to the 
public hearing. A public hearing was held at the City Council meeting on December 15, 2014.  

Authorizing Votes  
Attached as Exhibit G are copies of the votes by the City Council of the City of Auburn meeting thereof 
duly called and held on December 15, 2014 approving the designation of the District and adoption of 
this Development Program. 



120-020

120-015-007

120-015-004

120-015-005

120-015-002

120-015-001

120-015-006

120-015-003

120-015-009

120-015-008

HO
TE
L R
D

MAIN
E TR

NPK

KITTYHAWK AV

MAIN
E TR

NPK

0 250 500Feet

§
The data used in these applications were 
derived from  Auburn’s digital databases. 
While every effort has been m ade to ensure 
that these data are accurate and reliable, 
the City of Auburn cannot accept any 
responsibility for any errors, om issions, or 
positional accuracy, and therefore, there 
are no warranties which accom pany this 
product. Users of the inform ation displayed 
on this m ap are strongly cautioned to verify 
all inform ation before m ak ing any decisions.

City of Auburn
60 Court St

Auburn, ME  04210
207-333-6601

www.auburnmaine.gov

GO
FF

 S
T

TIF #19 Hartt Transportation Industrial Park
Omnibus Municipal TIF District

TIF #19



MINOT AV

PA
RK

 AV

AUBURN RD

LAKE SHORE DR

RIV
ER

 R
DSUMMER ST

TURNER RD

HOTEL RD

WASHINGTO
N ST

MA
IN

 ST
CE

NT
ER

 ST

RODMAN RD

RIV
ER

 RD

PARK AV

MINOT AV

CENTER ST

MINOT AV

AU
BU

RN
 R

D

MAIN ST

§
The data used in these applications were 
derived from Auburn’s digital databases. 
While every effort has been made to ensure 
that these data are accurate and reliable, 
the City of Auburn cannot accept any 
responsibility for any errors, omissions, or 
positional accuracy, and therefore, there 
are no warranties which accompany this 
product. Users of the information displayed 
on this map are strongly cautioned to verify 
all information before making any decisions.

City of Auburn
60 Court St

Auburn, ME  04210
207-333-6601

www.auburnmaine.gov

GO
FF

 S
T

0 1 20.5 Miles

TIF #19 Hartt Transportation Industrial Park
Omnibus Municipal TIF District

TIF #19



#19 HARTT TRANSPORTATION INDUSTRIAL PARK OMNIBUS MUNICIPAL DEVELOPMENT AND TAX 
 INCREMENT FINANCING DISTRICT  

DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 
EXHIBIT B 

CERTIFICATE OF CITY ASSESSOR  
CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 

The undersigned City Assessor for the City of Auburn, Maine, does hereby certify pursuant to 
the provisions of 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5227 (2) that the taxable real property value of the Hartt 
Transportation Industrial Park Omnibus Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing District 
#19, as described in the development program is $1,178,340 as of March 31, 2014 (April 1, 2013). 

A list of all parcels in listed below, which shows each individual parcel’s value as of March 31, 
2014 (April 1, 2013). 

Taxable Real Property: 

Map/Lot Acres  Taxable Real Property 

120-020 12.19  $  208,800.00  
120-015-001 4.04  $  180,300.00  
120-015-002 4.2  $  122,500.00  
120-015-003 2.26  $    94,600.00  
120-015-004 4.31  $  124,000.00  
120-015-005 4.3  $  123,900.00  
120-015-006 3.42  $    11,140.00  
120-015-007 6.45  $  154,300.00  
120-015-008 0.29  $      3,400.00  
120-015-009 1.16  $  155,400.00  

 

IN WITNESS HEREOF, this certificate has been executed this 24th day of November, 2014. 

   

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
CITY ASSESSOR: 

 

____________________________________ 
 

Print Name:  _________________________ 



City of Auburn      
#19 Hartt Transportation Industrial Park Omnibus District 

Exhibit C - Financial Projections

1,178,340$     

20 years

Tax Year
Projected 
Mill Rate

Original 
Base Value

Projected Annual
Assessed Value

Hartt Credit 
Enhancement 

Agreement

Projected Tax 
Increment

Revenue to General 
Fund

IAV 
Capture

FY14-15 0.02095 1,178,340$             1,178,340$           -$                                
FY15-16 0.02095 1,178,340$             6,178,340$           51,774$            52,976$                         40%
FY16-17 0.02095 1,178,340$             6,178,340$           51,774$            52,976$                         40%
FY17-18 0.02095 1,178,340$             12,178,340$         102,054$         128,396$                       40%
FY18-19 0.02095 1,178,340$             18,178,340$         152,334$         203,816$                       40%
FY19-20 0.02095 1,178,340$             26,178,340$         219,374$         304,376$                       40%
FY20-21 0.02095 1,178,340$             32,178,340$         269,654$         379,796$                       40%
FY21-22 0.02095 1,178,340$             32,178,340$         269,654$         379,796$                       40%
FY22-23 0.02095 1,178,340$             38,178,340$         133,379$         641,771$                       40%
FY23-24 0.02095 1,178,340$             38,178,340$         775,150$                       40%
FY24-25 0.02095 1,178,340$             38,178,340$         775,150$                       40%
FY25-26 0.02095 1,178,340$             38,178,340$         775,150$                       40%
FY26-27 0.02095 1,178,340$             38,178,340$         775,150$                       40%
FY27-28 0.02095 1,178,340$             38,178,340$         775,150$                       40%
FY28-29 0.02095 1,178,340$             38,178,340$         775,150$                       40%
FY29-30 0.02095 1,178,340$             38,178,340$         775,150$                       40%
FY30-31 0.02095 1,178,340$             38,178,340$         775,150$                       40%
FY31-32 0.02095 1,178,340$             38,178,340$         775,150$                       40%
FY32-33 0.02095 1,178,340$             38,178,340$         775,150$                       40%
FY33-34 0.02095 1,178,340$             38,178,340$         775,150$                       40%
FY34-35 0.02095 1,178,340$             38,178,340$         775,150$                       40%

Totals: 1,250,000$      11,445,700$                 

Investment Assumptions

FY13-14

FY14-15

FY15-16 5,000,000$                   

FY16-17

FY17-18 6,000,000$                   

FY18-19 6,000,000$                   

FY19-20 8,000,000$                   

FY20-21 6,000,000$                   

FY21-22

FY22-23 6,000,000$                   

Total 37,000,000$                 

Inputs

Y13-14 Valuatio

Term



TAX SHIFT FORMULAS* 
 
It is required during any application for designation as a tax increment financing district to calculate tax shifts 
that result from the creation of the District.  These tax shifts are noted in the following basic formulae that use 
local property tax valuation as a basis for calculations. These formulae provided by DECD are: 
 

- Municipal Share of County Taxes 
- Revenue Sharing 
- Education Costs 
 

The following is the process used to derive these tax shifts. 
 
County Tax Shift 
 
In order to produce this result, information must be obtained from the Maine Revenue Services and the County 
government of which the District will reside in. First, the most recent County State Valuation should be 
obtained. The averaged Captured Assessed Value for the District for the life of the project will then be 
determined. The averaged Captured Assessed Value is then divided by the Current County State Valuation. To 
find the estimated average county tax over the life of the District, you must obtain the County Tax for the Town 
for the last five years. The average change is then determined and projected to the middle of the districts life.  
This projected tax was multiplied by the factor developed above to arrive at the County Tax Shift. 
 
  (Captured Assessed Value)          X      Estimated Average 
(Captured Assessed Value + Current County State Valuation)    Annual County Tax 
 
 
Revenue Sharing Shift 
 
The total Municipal Revenue Sharing amount was obtained fro the State Treasurer in order to complete the 
following formula: 
  
Step 1:  
 Municipal Population X Local Property Tax Levied       = Current Factor 
   State Local Valuation 
Step 2: 
 Municipal Population X Local Property Tax Levied       = Adjusted Factor 
 State Local Valuation + Captured Assessed Value  
Step 3: 
  Current Factor = 1.X 
 Adjusted Factor 
Step 4: 
 1.X – 1.0 = .X 
Step 5: 
 .X (Total Municipal Revenue Sharing Amount) = Revenue Sharing Shift 
Education Tax Shift 
 
State law requires that an estimate be made of how much of a loss in State aid to education a community would 
experience had the TIF District not been created.  The premise for this requirement is that if the TIF did not 
exist and the development still occurred, other taxing jurisdictions would benefit by the (TIF) Town paying 
more and receiving less. 
 



Historically, the methodology used to determine the fiscal impact from the establishment of a TIF District was 
to multiply the Captured Assessed Value by the constant .009.  The result would be an annual and cumulative 
“Education Tax Shift” for the proposed district. Changes in the distribution of State funding for education have 
required TIF applicants to develop other methodologies that more accurately reflect the “Education Shift”. 
 
*From Department of Economic and Community Development – Municipal Tax Increment Financing Manual 11-20-2011 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
  

City of Auburn  
#19 Hartt Transportation Industrial Park Omnibus District  

Exhibit D - Tax Shift Projections 
     

Tax Year  

Avoided Loss in  
State Allocation  
For Education  

Avoided Loss in 
Revenue Sharing  

Avoided Increase  
In County Tax  Total Tax Shifts  

FY14-15              10,605.06                      994.49                   303.09   $    11,887.35  
FY15-16              10,605.06                      994.49                   303.09   $    11,887.35  
FY16-17              10,605.06                      994.49                   303.09   $    11,887.35  
FY17-18              10,605.06                      994.49                   303.09   $    11,887.35  
FY18-19              10,605.06                      994.49                   303.09   $    11,887.35  
FY19-20              10,605.06                      994.49                   303.09   $    11,887.35  
FY20-21              10,605.06                      994.49                   303.09   $    11,887.35  
FY22-23              10,605.06                      994.49                   303.09   $    11,887.35  
FY23-24              10,605.06                      994.49                   303.09   $    11,887.35  
FY24-25              10,605.06                      994.49                   303.09   $    11,887.35  
FY25-26              10,605.06                      994.49                   303.09   $    11,887.35  
FY26-27              10,605.06                      994.49                   303.09   $    11,887.35  
FY27-28              10,605.06                      994.49                   303.09   $    11,887.35  
FY28-29              10,605.06                      994.49                   303.09   $    11,887.35  
FY29-30              10,605.06                      994.49                   303.09   $    11,887.35  
FY30-31              10,605.06                      994.49                   303.09   $    11,887.35  
FY31-32              10,605.06                      994.49                   303.09   $    11,887.35  
FY32-33              10,605.06                      994.49                   303.09   $    11,887.35  
FY33-34              10,605.06                      994.49                   303.09   $    11,887.35  
FY34-35              10,605.06                      994.49                   303.09   $    11,887.35  
Totals:  $        212,101.20      $          19,889.80       $          6,061.80   

 

 
 

     

     
     
     
     
     
     
     



     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     

 



EXHIBIT E 

 

CITY OF AUBURN 
PUBLIC NOTICE  

 
 Notice is hereby given that the City of Auburn, Maine, will hold a public hearing on December 
15, 2014 at 7PM or as soon as possible thereafter at the City Council Chambers, Auburn Hall building, 60 
Court St, Auburn, ME. The purpose of receiving public comments on the designation of its proposed 
Hartt Transportation Industrial Park Omnibus Tax Increment Financing District #19 and the adoption of 
said Municipal Development and Tax Increment Finance District, pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 
206 of Title 30-A of the Maine Revised Statutes, as amended.  
 
 The proposed Hartt Transportation Industrial Park Omnibus Municipal Development and Tax 
Increment Financing District consists of certain property, approximately 43 acres, located with Kittyhawk 
Ave to the north east and Hotel Rd to the north west.   
 
 A copy of the proposed development program for the district is on file with the City Clerk and 
may be reviewed at the offices of the city clerk during normal business hours. All interested parties are 
invited to attend the public hearing and will be given an opportunity to be heard at that time.  
 
 
Please publish: Wednesday Dec 3rd, 2014 



Exhibit H









Exhibit J 
Auburn Planning Board Meeting Minutes 

November 18, 2008 
 
Roll Call - Present: 
Dan Moreno, Rob Farrington; Acting Chair, Tim Goss, Preston Chapman Richard 
Whiting, and William Skelton. 
 
Minutes: 
A motion was made by Tim Goss, seconded by Dan Moreno and voted unanimously to 
approve the minutes of the July 8, 2008, August 12, 2008, September 9, 2008 and 
October 14, 2008 Planning Board meetings. 
 
Public Hearings: 

Kittyhawk Business Park – Final Major Subdivision - 565 Kittyhawk Avenue - Joe 
Casalinova of Building Solutions, LLC., Agent for Hartt Transportation Systems Inc 
is seeking Final Major Subdivision Review for the proposed Kittyhawk Commercial 
Subdivision, a seven (7) Lot Subdivision of 30+/- acres, to be located at 565 
Kittyhawk Avenue, (PID # 120-015), Pursuant to Section 7.3 of Chapter 29. 

Eric Cousens went over the staff report. 
  
Joseph Casalinova of Building Solutions said the biggest change was going from a 6-
lot to a 7-lot subdivision and felt they had addressed all of the technical aspects of all 
of the department’s requirements. 
 
Open Public Hearing 
No Comments. 
 
A motion was made by Tim Goss, seconded by Dan Moreno and all voted unanimously 
to close the public hearing. (5-0-0) 
 
A motion was made by Richard Whiting, seconded by Preston Chapman and all voted 
unanimously to approve. (5-0-0) 
 
Pine Tree Pellet Fuels Inc – Special Exception - 512 Trapp Road - Request of David 
Kidwell agent for Pine Tree Pellett Fuels LLC. to establish a new use of the property 
at 512 Trapp Road as a wood pellet manufacturer pursuant to Section 3.31.B.2.a of 
Chapter 29. 

Eric Cousens read the staff report. 
 
The applicant, David Kidwell of Pine Tree Pellet Fuels, submitted for Public Record a 
document comparing the noise levels of a similar type operation. 

 1 



 
Open Public Hearing 
 
Kenneth Bellefleur of 100 Royal River Road stated the following: 

• Concerned about the raw material delivery; said he was skeptical that they can run 
a business with just 1 load of 20 tons of pellets per week. 

• Stated that roads were usually posted in the winter and wondered what the 
business would do at that time. 

• Questioned the 4 persons employed limitation. 
• Said he had an issue of the proposed timeline that was outlined in the staff report 

for the previous business. 
• Stated vandalism had stopped after all items of value had been taken and was 

concerned about new business not being monitored and vandals returning. 
• Said he had an issue with the term “incidental” in the Zoning Ordinance. He said 

the saw mill should be going along with a wood harvesting operation that’s also 
located onsite by the letter of the intent of the ordinance. 

• Said he didn’t see any evidence that this building was ever legally non-
conforming. He said there was nothing documenting when the building was 
constructed or when Maine Pride took it over and began operating that it was 
legally non-conforming. 

 
A motion was made by Tim Goss, seconded by Dan Moreno and all voted unanimously 
to close the public hearing. (5-0-0) 
 
A motion was made by Richard Whiting, seconded by Tim Goss and all voted 
unanimously to table the public hearing. (5-0-0) 
 
Gendron Distribution Center - Special Exception & Site Plan & PUD-I. - Approval 
request of Sebago Technics Inc. agent for Gendron and Gendron Inc. to modify the 
Gendron Distribution Center Plans to include a new property line at 55 Logistics Drive 
(Portion of ID# 119-004) pursuant to Section 3.51, 3.71.B.1.l. & Section 3.71.B.2.gg 
of Chapter 29. 

Eric Read the staff report. 
 
Michael Gotto of Sebago Technics explained the proposal. 
 
Open Public Hearing 
No Comments. 
 
A motion was made by Tim Goss, seconded by Dan Moreno and all voted unanimously 
to close the public hearing. (5-0-0) 
 
A motion was made by Tim Goss, seconded by Preston Chapman and all voted 
unanimously to approve. (5-0-0) 
 

 2 



Old Business: None 

New Business: Eric mentioned there would be 2 items on the agenda for the December 

meeting.    

Miscellaneous: None 

Adjournment 

 

 

 3 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CREDIT ENHANCEMENT AGREEMENT 

 

Between 

 

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 

 

And 

 

Hartt Transportation Systems, Inc 

 

Dated as of December 15, 2014



2 City of Auburn 
 

 

 

Table of Contents 
ARTICLE  1:   DEFINITIONS ............................................................................................................................................... 4 

Section 1.1. Definitions. ........................................................................................................................................................ 4 

Section 1.2.  Interpretation and Construction. ....................................................................................................................... 6 

ARTICLE II: DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM FUND AND FUNDING REQUIREMENTS ................................................ 7 

Section 2.1.  Creation of  Development  Program   Fund. ..................................................................................................... 7 

Section 2.2. Liens. ................................................................................................................................................................. 7 

Section 2.3. Deposits into Development Program Fund. ....................................................................................................... 7 

Section 2.4.  Use of Monies in Development Program Fund. ................................................................................................ 7 

Section 2.5.  Monies Held for Benefit of Developer. ............................................................................................................. 8 

Section 2.6.  Investments. ...................................................................................................................................................... 8 

Section 2.7. Administrative Expenses.................................................................................................................................... 8 

ARTICLE  III:   PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS ....................................................................................................................... 8 

Section 3.1. Developer Payments. ......................................................................................................................................... 9 

Section 3.2. Credit Enhancement Payments. ......................................................................................................................... 9 

Section 3.3. Failure to Make Payment. .................................................................................................................................. 9 

Section 3.4. Manner of Payments. ....................................................................................................................................... 10 

Section 3.5. Obligations Unconditional. .............................................................................................................................. 10 

Section 3.6. Limited Obligation. .......................................................................................................................................... 10 

ARTICLE IV:   PLEDGE AND SECURITY INTEREST.................................................................................................... 10 

Section 4.1.  Pledge of Hartt Transportation Systems, Inc Project Cost Account................................................................ 11 

Section 4.2. Protection of Interest. ....................................................................................................................................... 11 

Section 4.3. Further Instruments. ......................................................................................................................................... 11 

Section 4.4.  No Disposition of Hartt Transportation Systems, Inc Project Cost Account. ................................................. 11 

Section 4.5.  Access to Books and Records. ........................................................................................................................ 11 

ARTICLE V:   DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES ................................................................................................................... 11 

Section 5.1.  Events of Default. ........................................................................................................................................... 11 

Section 5.2. Remedies on Default. ....................................................................................................................................... 12 

Section 5.3. Remedies Cumulative. ..................................................................................................................................... 12 

Section 5.4.  Waiver of Governmental Immunity. ............................................................................................................... 13 

Section 5.5. Tax Laws. ......................................................................................................................................................... 13 

ARTICLE VI:  EFFECTIVE DATE, TERM AND TERMINATION .................................................................................. 13 

Section 6.1.  Effective Date and Term. ................................................................................................................................ 13 

Section 6.2. Cancellation and Expiration of Term. .............................................................................................................. 13 

ARTICLE VII:  ASSIGNMENT AND PLEDGE OF DEVELOPER'S INTEREST ............................................................ 14 

Section 7.1. Consent to Pledge and/or Assignment. ............................................................................................................ 14 

Section 7.2.  Pledge, Assignment or Security Interest. ........................................................................................................ 14 

Section 7.3. Assignment. ..................................................................................................................................................... 14 

ARTICLE VIII:  MISCELLANEOUS .................................................................................................................................. 14 

Section 8.1.  Successors. ...................................................................................................................................................... 14 



3 City of Auburn 
 

 

Section 8.2.  Parties in Interest............................................................................................................................................. 15 

Section 8.3. Non-Severability. ............................................................................................................................................. 15 

Section 8.4. No Personal Liability of Officials of the City. ................................................................................................. 15 

Section 8.5. Counterparts. .................................................................................................................................................... 15 

Section 8.6. Governing Law. ............................................................................................................................................... 15 

Section 8.7. Notices. ............................................................................................................................................................ 15 

Section 8.8. Amendments. ................................................................................................................................................... 16 

Section 8.9. Integration. ....................................................................................................................................................... 16 

Section 8.10. Authority of the City. ..................................................................................................................................... 16 

Section 8.11.  Indemnification. ............................................................................................................................................ 16 

Section 8.12. Net Agreement. .............................................................................................................................................. 17 

Section 8.13.  Benefit of Assignees or Pledges. ................................................................................................................... 17 
 



4 City of Auburn 
 

 

[ T y p e  t h e  c o m p a n y  a d d r e s s ]   

Page 4 

CREDIT ENHANCEMENT AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN THE 

CITY OF AUBURN 

AND 

Hartt Transportation Systems, Inc 

 
 

This Credit Enhancement Agreement dated as of December 15, 2014 between the City of Auburn, 
Maine (the "City"), a municipal body corporate and politic and a political subdivision of the State, 
and Hartt Transportation Systems, Inc) (the "Developer"). 
 
WITNESSETH  THAT: 
 
 

Whereas, the City designated the #19 Hartt Transportation Industrial Park Omnibus Municipal Tax 

Increment Financing District (the "District") pursuant to Chapter 206 of Title 30-A of the Maine 

Revised Statutes by action of the Auburn City Council on December 15, 2014 (the "Vote"), and 

pursuant to the same Vote adopted a Development Program and Financial Plan for the District (the 

"Development Program"); and 

 
Whereas, the City submitted the Development Program to Department of Economic and Community 

Development for the Department's review and approval of the District and a Development Program 

on December 2014; and 

 
Whereas, the Development Program contemplates the execution and delivery of this Agreement by 

the City and the Developer; and 

 
Whereas, the execution and delivery of this agreement by the City has been authorized and approved 

pursuant to a resolution and vote of the City Council on December 15, 2014; and 

 
Now therefore, in consideration of the foregoing and in consideration of the mutual promises and 

covenants set forth herein, the parties hereby agree as follows: 

 

ARTICLE  1:   DEFINITIONS 
 

Section 1.1. Definitions. 

 
The terms defined in this Article 1 shall, for all purposes of this Agreement, have the 

meanings herein specified, unless the context clearly requires otherwise: 

 
"Act" means Chapter 206 of Title 30-A of the Maine Revised Statutes and regulations adopted 

hereunder, as amended from time to time. 

 
"Administrative expense(s)" means the costs incurred by the City in administering the 

Development Program and this Agreement. 

 
"Agreement" means this Credit Enhancement Agreement between the City and the Developer 



5 City of Auburn 
 

 

[ T y p e  t h e  c o m p a n y  a d d r e s s ]   

Page 5 

dated as of the date set forth above. 

 
"City" means the City of Auburn, Maine.  

"Department" means Department of Economic and Community Development.  

"Developer" means Hartt Transporation Systems, Inc, their successors and assigns. 

 

"Developer's Share" means 40% of the tax revenues derived from the new added value of the 

project in tax fiscal years 2015-35 or a recovery threshold not to exceed $1.25 million, which 

ever comes first. 

 

"Development Program" means the #19 Hartt Transportation Industrial Park Omnibus 

Municipal Tax Increment Financing District Development Program, which was approved by 

the Department on December 2014. 

 

"Development Program Fund" means the development program fund described in the 

Financial Plan section of the Development Program and established and maintained pursuant 

to Article III hereof. 

 

"District" means the #19 Hartt Transportation Industrial Park Omnibus Municipal Tax 

Increment Financing District more particularly described in the Development  Program and to 

be designated by the City pursuant to Chapter 206 of Title 30-A of the Maine Revised 

Statutes, as amended, by vote at the City Council meeting. 

 

"Effective Date" means the date hereof. 

 

"Financial Plan" means a financial plan described in the "Financial Plan" section of the 

Development  Program. 

 

"Original Assessed Value" means $1,178,340. 

 

"Project" means the road development costs and Hartt Terminal project as described in the 

Development Program. 

 

"Property" means all real property located within the District. 

 

"Property Taxes" means any and all valorem property taxes assessed against the Property 

within the District by the City or on its been behalf. 

 

"Qualified Investments" means any and all securities, obligations or accounts in which 

municipalities may invest their funds pursuant to 30-A MRSA subsections, as amended from 

time to time. 

 

"Regulations" means the regulations enacted by the Department pursuant to the Act.  

"State" means the State of Maine. 



6 City of Auburn 
 

 

[ T y p e  t h e  c o m p a n y  a d d r e s s ]   

Page 6 

 

"Tax Increment Revenues" means the portion of all real property taxes assessed in any Tax 

Year by the City, in excess of any state, county or special district tax, upon the captured 

assessed value of property in the District. 

 

"Tax Payment Date" means the date(s), as determined by the City from time to time, on 

which property taxes assessed by the City are due and payable without interest from owners 

of property located within the City. 

 

"Tax Year" means the twelve-month period beginning July 1 and ending June 30 or any 

other tax year hereafter adopted by the City. 

 
Section 1.2.  Interpretation and Construction. 

 

In this Agreement unless the context otherwise requires: 

 

The terms "hereby," "hereof," "hereto," "herein," "hereunder" and any similar terms,  as used 

in this Agreement, refer to this Agreement,  and the term "hereafter" means after, and the term 

"heretofore" means before, the date of delivery of this Agreement. 

 

Words importing a particular gender mean and include correlative words of every other gender  

and words  importing  a singular number mean  and include the plural number and vice versa. 

 

Words importing persons mean and include firms, associations, partnerships (including limited 

partnerships), trusts, corporations and other legal entities, including public or governmental 

bodies, as well as any natural persons. 

 

Any headings preceding the texts of the several Articles and Sections of this Agreement,  and  

any  table  of  contents  or  marginal  notes  appended  to  the  copies hereof, shall be solely for 

convenience of reference and shall not constitute a part of this Agreement, nor shall they affect 

its meaning, construction or effect. 

 

All notices to be given hereunder shall be given in writing and, unless a certain number of days 

is specified, within a reasonable time. 

 

If any clause, provision or Section of this Agreement shall be ruled invalid by any court of 

competent jurisdiction, the invalidity of such clause, provision or Section shall not affect any 

of the remaining provisions hereof except as expressly provided in Section 3.5. 

 

Any term used herein and in the Act or the Regulations and not defined herein shall have the 

meaning ascribed to such term in the Act or the Regulations. 

 
 
 

 

 



7 City of Auburn 
 

 

[ T y p e  t h e  c o m p a n y  a d d r e s s ]   

Page 7 

ARTICLE II: DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM FUND AND FUNDING 

REQUIREMENTS 
Section 2.1.  Creation of  Development  Program   Fund. 

 
Within thirty (30) days after the Effective Date, the City shall create and establish a segregated 

sub-account in the name of the City designated as the "Hartt Transportation Systems, Inc Fund” 

within the #19 Hartt Transportation Industrial Park Omnibus Municipal Tax Increment 

Financing District Development Program Fund” or "Development Program Fund" pursuant to, 

and in accordance with the terms  and conditions of, the Development Program and within the 

Development Program Fund will establish a segregated account for the benefit of the Developer 

"Hartt Transportation Systems, Inc Project Cost Account". 

 

Section 2.2. Liens. 

 
Except as provided in this Agreement, the City shall not create any lien or encumbrance on, or 

create or transfer any other interest of any nature whatsoever in, nor shall it hypothecate, the 

Hartt Transportation Systems, Inc Project Cost Account or any funds therein or revenues 

resulting from investment of funds therein, other than the interest of the Developer hereunder; 

provided, however, nothing herein shall prohibit creation of real and personal property tax 

liens on the Developer's property in accordance with, and, entitled to the priority provided 

under, State law. 

 

Section 2.3. Deposits into Development Program Fund. 

 
Starting with the 2014-2015 tax year and for each year thereafter until 2034-2035 there shall 

be deposited into the Development Program Fund contemporaneously with each payment of 

property tax by the Developer during the term of this Agreement an amount equal to 40% of 

the property tax payment constituting Tax Increment Revenues from within the District for the 

period to which the payment relates; provided, however that such deposits to the Development 

Program Fund shall be due and payable solely from such property tax payments. The term of 

this agreement will be 20 years or a recovery threshold not to exceed $1.25 million, whichever 

comes first. The City shall retain any and all revenues resulting from investment of moneys on 

deposit in the Development Program Fund and shall be reimbursed for the City's 

Administrative Expense in administering the Program and this Agreement, which sum shall 

not exceed $10,000 per year from the Development Program Fund out of the City's share. 

Contemporaneously with the deposit into the Development Program Fund, the City shall 

deposit into the Hartt Transportation Systems, Inc Cost Account, an amount equal to the 

Developer's Share, provided that the aggregate amount paid under this agreement shall not 

exceed the total Project Cost incurred by the Developer for the term of the Development 

Program within the District. 

 
Section 2.4.  Use of Monies in Development Program Fund. 

 
Monies deposited in the Hartt Transportation Systems, Inc exclusive of investment earnings 

thereon, shall be used and applied exclusively to fund the City's payment obligation described 

in Article III hereof. All investment earnings shall be for the benefit of the City and free of any 



8 City of Auburn 
 

 

[ T y p e  t h e  c o m p a n y  a d d r e s s ]   

Page 8 

interest of the Developer under this Agreement. 

 
Section 2.5.  Monies Held for Benefit of Developer. 

 
All monies actually paid into the Development Program Fund under the provisions hereof and 

the provisions of the Development Program and all investment earnings thereon shall be held 

by the City for the benefit of the Developer and the City as their interest may appear. 

 
All monies actually paid into the Hartt Transportation Systems, Inc Project Cost Account 

under the provisions hereof and the provisions of the Development program shall be held by 

the City, in trust, for the benefit of the Developer. 

 

Cost paid by the developer and subject to reimbursement include: 

 1) Road, sewer and underground  $702,000 

 2) Power    $208,000 

 3) Design & Permitting  $140,000 

 4) Fees & Contingencies     $60,000 

              $1,110,000 

 

Kitty Hawk modifications*    $140,000 

Total Reimbursement                   $1,250,000   

 

*(To be completed within the first five years) 

 

Section 2.6.  Investments. 

 
The monies in the Development Program Fund shall be invested and reinvested in Qualified 

Investments as determined by the City. The City shall have discretion regarding the 

investments of such monies, provided such monies are invested in Qualified Investments. As 

and when any amounts thus invested may be needed for disbursements, the City shall cause a 

sufficient amount of such investments to be sold or otherwise converted into cash to the credit 

of the Development Program Fund. The City shall have the sole and exclusive right to 

designate the investments to be sold and to otherwise direct the sale or conversion to cash of 

investments made with monies in the Development Program Fund. The City shall not be liable 

on account of its investment decisions as long as such decisions are made in accordance with 

this section. 

 

Section 2.7. Administrative Expenses. 

 
Annually the City shall be reimbursed from the Development Program Fund, from interest 

earned on the deposited funds, its administrative costs and administering the Program and this 

Agreement up to the maximum sum per year of $10,000. Such Administrative Expense shall 

not be paid from the Developer's Share. 

 

ARTICLE  III:   PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS 

 



9 City of Auburn 
 

 

[ T y p e  t h e  c o m p a n y  a d d r e s s ]   

Page 9 

Section 3.1. Developer Payments. 

 
The Developer shall pay, when due, all amounts due pursuant to this Agreement. The City may 

withhold from any payment to be made by the City pursuant to this Agreement at any time any 

amount due from the Developer pursuant to this Agreement that is due and unpaid. 

 
Section 3.2. Credit Enhancement Payments. 

 
Within thirty (30) days following the date of receipt of each tax payment with respect to 

property within the District, the City shall pay to the Developer all amounts then on deposit in 

the Hartt Transportation Systems, Inc Project Cost Account, exclusive of investment earnings 

thereon. Such payments shall be used to satisfy debt service on indebtedness incurred to 

finance qualified "Project Costs" incurred by the Developer as that term is defined under 

Chapter 206 of Title 30-A. of the Maine Revised Statutes and as described in the Development 

Program or used to pay directly, or reimburse Developer for payment of, such Project Costs. 

Said payments shall commence with respect to tax payments made in the 2014-2015 tax year 

and continue for the period described in Section 2.3 hereof. 

 
If, with respect to any tax payment date, Developer fails to pay any portion of the Property 

Taxes assessed by the City, because of a valuation dispute or otherwise, the 

Property taxes actually paid by Developer with respect to such tax payment date shall, first, be 

applied to taxes due on account of Original Assessed Value and, second constitute Retained 

Tax Increment Revenues. 

 
The Developer (and its successors and assigns, as owners of property in the District) shall pay 

to the City, when due, all Property Taxes and assessments with respect to property of the 

Developer in the City of Auburn. If such Property Taxes and assessments are not paid when 

due, the City may withhold and suspend all payments under this Agreement until such 

Property Taxes and assessments and all interest thereon and other costs relating thereto are 

paid in full. In addition, if the Developer institutes any tax abatement proceedings with respect 

to any Property in the district, the City may withhold and suspend all payments of the 

Developer's Share of the Tax Increment with respect to the items of Property subject to the 

abatement proceedings, and shall deposit the withheld amount into a separate interest-bearing 

escrow account. Upon final action and completion of such abatement proceedings, the proper 

amount (based on the results of the abatement proceedings plus an allocable share of the 

interest accrued thereon) held in escrow account shall be paid to the Developer. 

 
Section 3.3. Failure to Make Payment. 

 
If the City should fail to, or be unable to, make any payment pursuant to this agreement, any 

such payments shall continue as a limited obligation of the City as provided in this Agreement. 

The Developer shall have the right to initiate and maintain an action to specifically enforce the 

City's obligation hereunder, including without limitation, the City's obligation to deposit Tax 

Increment Revenues to the Development Program Fund and thereafter to the Hartt 

Transportation Systems, Inc Project Cost account and its obligation to make payment to the 

Developer. 

 



10 City of Auburn 
 

 

[ T y p e  t h e  c o m p a n y  a d d r e s s ]   

Page 10 

Section 3.4. Manner of Payments. 

 
The payments provided for in this Article III shall be paid directly to the Developer in the 

manner provided hereinabove for its own use and benefit. A City of Auburn check will be 

acceptable. 

 
Section 3.5. Obligations Unconditional. 

 
Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, the obligations of the City to make 

the payments from the Development Program Fund described in this Agreement in accordance 

with the terms hereof shall be absolute and unconditional irrespective of any defense or any 

right of set off, recoupment or counterclaim it might otherwise have against the Developer. 

Except as otherwise expressly provided in this agreement, the City shall not suspend or 

discontinue any such payment or terminate this agreement for any cause, including without 

limitation, any act or circumstance that may constitute failure of consideration or frustration of 

purpose or any damage to our destruction of the Project or any change in the tax or other laws 

of the United  States, the State or any political subdivision of either thereof, or any failure of 

the Developer to perform and observe any agreement or covenant, whether expressed or 

implied, or any duty, liability or obligation arising out of or connected with this Agreement. 

Notwithstanding the above, the City and the Developer each reserve the right to terminate this 

Agreement (except section 8.11 pertaining to indemnification) upon a final judgment by a 

court of competent jurisdiction that the Agreement or Development Program adopted in 

connection herewith is illegal or invalid. In such event, the termination shall be effective as of 

the date of such decision and neither party shall have any obligation or liability hereunder, 

under the Development Program or in respect of any of the transactions contemplated hereby, 

and shall be left in whatever positions, financial or otherwise, they may be in as of the date of 

termination. Such termination shall not, however, affect the Developer's obligation to defend 

and indemnify the City, which obligation shall survive any such termination. 

 

Section 3.6. Limited Obligation. 

 
The City's obligation to make payment in accordance with this Agreement shall be a limited 

obligation of the City payable solely from the Development Program Fund, excluding any 

earnings thereon, pledged therefore under this Agreement. The City's obligation hereunder 

shall not constitute a general debt or a general obligation or charge against or pledge of the 

faith and credit or taxing power of the City, the State, or any municipality or political 

subdivision thereof, but shall be payable solely from the Development Program Fund, 

excluding any earnings thereon. This Agreement shall not directly or indirectly or contingently 

obligate the City, the State, or any other municipality or political subdivision to levy or to 

pledge any form of taxation whatever therefore or to make any appropriation for payment due 

pursuant to this Agreement, except in the City's obligation to assess Property taxes upon the 

Project and the pledge of the Developer's Hartt Transportation Systems, Inc  Project Cost 

Account, excluding earnings thereon, established under this Agreement. 

 
ARTICLE IV:   PLEDGE AND SECURITY INTEREST 

 



11 City of Auburn 
 

 

[ T y p e  t h e  c o m p a n y  a d d r e s s ]   

Page 11 

Section 4.1.  Pledge of Hartt Transportation Systems, Inc Project Cost Account. 

 
In consideration of this Agreement and other valuable consideration and for the purpose of 

securing payment of the amounts provided for hereunder to the Developer by the City, 

according to the terms and conditions contained herein, and subject to the City's right pursuant 

to this agreement, the City does hereby grant a security interest in and pledge the Developer 

the Hartt Transportation Systems, Inc Project Cost Account and sums of money and other 

securities and investments therein, excluding earnings thereon. 

 
Section 4.2. Protection of Interest. 

 
The City shall cooperate with the Developer in causing appropriate financing statements and 

continuation statements setting forth the Developers interest in the Hartt Transportation 

Systems, Inc Project Cost Account to be duly filed and recorded in the appropriate State 

offices as required by and permitted under the provisions of the Uniform Commercial Code or 

other similar law as adopted by the State and any other applicable jurisdiction, as from time to 

time amended, in order to perfect and maintain the security interests created hereunder. To the 

extent deemed necessary by the Developer, the City will at such time and from time to time as 

requested by Developer establish the Hartt Transportation Systems, Inc Project Cost Account 

as a segregated fund under the control of an escrow agent, trustee or other fiduciary so as to 

perfect Developer's interest therein. 

 

Section 4.3. Further Instruments. 

 
The City shall, upon the reasonable request of the Developer, from time to time execute and 

deliver such further instruments and take such further action as may be reasonable and as may 

be required to carry out the provisions of this Agreement; provided, however, that no such 

instruments or actions shall pledge the credit of the City, materially disadvantage the City, or 

materially change this Agreement. 

 
Section 4.4.  No Disposition of Hartt Transportation Systems, Inc Project Cost Account. 

 
Except as permitted hereunder, the City shall not sell, lease, pledge, assign or otherwise 

dispose, encumber or hypothecate any interest in the Hartt Transportation Systems, Inc Project 

Cost Account. 

 

Section 4.5.  Access to Books and Records. 

 
All books, records and documents in the possession of the City relating to the District, the 

Development Program, the Agreement and the monies, revenues and receipts on deposit or 

required to be deposited into the Hartt Transportation Systems, Inc Project Cost Account shall 

at all reasonable times be open to inspection by the Developer, its agents and employees. 

 

ARTICLE V:   DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 
 

Section 5.1.  Events of Default. 



12 City of Auburn 
 

 

[ T y p e  t h e  c o m p a n y  a d d r e s s ]   

Page 12 

 
Each of the following events shall constitute and be referred to in this Agreement as an "Event 

of Default": 
 

Any failure by the City to pay any amount from the Hartt Transportation Systems, Inc Project 

Cost Account to the Developer when the same shall become due and payable; 

 
Any failure by the City to make deposits of Tax Increment Revenues into the Development 

Program Fund as and when due; 

 
Any  failure by  the  City to make  deposits  into Hartt Transportation Systems, Inc Project 

Cost Account as and when due; 

 
Any failure by a party hereto to observe and perform in all material respects any covenant, 

condition, agreement or provision contained herein on the part of the party to be observed or 

performed; and 

 
If a decree or order of a court or agency or supervisory authority having jurisdiction in the 

premises for the appointment of a conservator or receiver or liquidator of, any insolvency, 

readjustment of debt, marshaling of assets  and liabilities or similar proceedings, both for the 

winding up or liquidation of a party's affairs shall have been entered against the party or the 

party shall have consented to the appointment of a conservator or receiver or liquidator and 

any such proceedings of or relating to the party or of or relating to all or substantially all of its 

property, including without limitation, the filing of a voluntary petition in bankruptcy by the 

party or the failure by the party to have a petition in bankruptcy dismissed within a period of 

90 consecutive days following its filing or in the event and order for release has been entered 

under the Bankruptcy Code with respect to the party. 

 

Section 5.2. Remedies on Default. 

 
Whenever any Event of Default referred to in section 5.1 hereof shall have occurred and be 

continuing for a period of fifteen (15) days after a party's receipt from the other party of 

written notice of an Event of Default by the party, the other party may (a) specifically enforce 

the performance or observance of any obligations, agreement or covenants of the defaulting 

party under this Agreement and any documents, instruments and agreements contemplated 

hereby or to enforce any rights or remedies available hereunder or (b) suspend its performance 

under this Agreement for so long as the Event of Default continues or remains uncured. 

 
Section 5.3. Remedies Cumulative. 

 
No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to a party is intended to be exclusive of any 

other available remedy or remedies but each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and 

shall be in addition to the remedy given under this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at 

law, in equity or by statute. Delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon 

any Event of Default, to insist upon the strict performance of any covenant or Agreement 

herein set forth or to exercise any right or remedy upon the occurrence of an Event of Default 

shall not impair any such right or power or be considered or taken as a waiver or 



13 City of Auburn 
 

 

[ T y p e  t h e  c o m p a n y  a d d r e s s ]   

Page 13 

relinquishment for the future of the rights to insist upon and to enforce, from time to time and 

as often as may be deemed expedient, by injunction or other appropriate legal or equitable 

remedy, strict compliance by the party with all of the covenants and conditions hereof, or of 

the rights to exercise any such right or remedy, if such Events of Default be continued or 

repeated. 

 

Section 5.4.  Waiver of Governmental Immunity. 

 
To the extent allowed by law, the City hereby waives its governmental immunity (but not any 

tort immunity) with respect to any action or suit undertaken by Developer, its successors or 

assigns, arising out of, resulting from or involving any alleged default by the City hereunder or 

failure by the City to observe or perform any of its obligations hereunder, it being understood 

and agreed that such waiver is a material inducement to the Developer entering into this 

Agreement and continuing its pursuit of the Project. The parties agree that in the event of any 

dispute or disagreement hereunder the City shall continue to make payment of all amounts due 

hereunder in the manner and at the times specified herein until final resolution of such dispute, 

whether by mutual agreement or final decision of a court, arbitrator or otherwise dispute 

resolution mechanism. Except as expressly provided in this Agreement, the City hereby waives 

any right to withhold, suspend or setoff payments during the pendency of any such dispute. 

Provided, however, that nothing herein shall be deemed a waiver to the City's tort immunity. 

The City agrees that it will not in any manner challenge or contest the validity of this 

Agreement, the Development Plan or the proceedings for the adoption and approval of the 

same. 

 

Section 5.5. Tax Laws. 

 
The parties acknowledge that all laws of the state now in effect or hereafter enacted with 

respect to taxation of property shall be applicable and that the City, by entering into this 

Agreement, is not excusing any nonpayment of taxes by Developer. Without limiting the 

foregoing, the City and the Developer shall always be entitled to exercise all rights and 

remedies regarding assessment, collection and payment of taxes assessed on Developer's 

property. 

 

ARTICLE VI:  EFFECTIVE DATE, TERM AND TERMINATION 
 

Section 6.1.  Effective Date and Term. 

 
This agreement shall remain in full force from the Effective Date and shall expire July 1, 2035 

or upon the payment of all amounts due to the Developer hereunder and the performance of all 

obligations on the part of the City hereunder unless sooner terminated pursuant to Section 3.5, 

this Section 6.1, Section 8.3 or any other applicable provision of this Agreement. Thereafter, 

all property within the district shall be taxable by the City to the extent provided by law. 

 
Section 6.2. Cancellation and Expiration of Term. 

 
At the termination or other expiration of this Agreement and following full payment of all 



14 City of Auburn 
 

 

[ T y p e  t h e  c o m p a n y  a d d r e s s ]   

Page 14 

amounts due and owing to the Developer hereunder or provision for payment thereof, the City 

and the Developer shall each execute and deliver such documents and take or cause to  be 

taken  such actions  as may  be  necessary  to  evidence the  termination  of this Agreement. 

 

ARTICLE VII:  ASSIGNMENT AND PLEDGE OF DEVELOPER'S INTEREST 

 
Section 7.1. Consent to Pledge and/or Assignment. 

 
The City hereby acknowledges that it is the intent of the Developer to pledge and assign its 

right, title and interest in, to and under this Agreement as collateral for financing for the 

project, although no obligation is hereby imposed on the Developer to make such assignment 

or pledge. Recognizing this intention, the City does hereby consent and agree to the pledge and 

assignment of all the developers right, title and interest in, to and under this Agreement and in 

and to the payments to be made to Developer hereunder, to third parties as collateral or 

security for indebtedness, on one or more occasions during the term hereof. 

 

Section 7.2.  Pledge, Assignment or Security Interest. 

 
Subject to the limitations set forth in Section 3.3, City agrees to execute and deliver any 

assignments, pledge agreements, consents or other confirmations required by the protective 

pledge or assignee, including without limitation recognition of the pledge or assignee as the 

holder of all right, title and interest herein (to the extent provided by the Act) and as the payee 

of amounts due and payable hereunder and any and all such other documentation as shall 

confirm to such pledge or assignee the position of such assignee or pledge and binding nature 

of this Agreement and provide to the pledge or assignee such rights and/or remedies as the 

Developer under this Agreement for the establishing, protection and protection of its interest 

herein. 

 

Section 7.3. Assignment. 

 
The Developer shall have the unrestricted right to transfer and assign all or any portion of its 

rights in, to and under this Agreement, at any time, and from time to time, as Developer may, 

in its sole discretion, deem appropriate, provided that the Developer is not in default of this 

Agreement at the time of such assignment. An assignment to a party which is not an affiliate of 

the Developer may be made only with the consent of the City, which consent will not 

unreasonably be withheld. 

 
 

ARTICLE VIII:  MISCELLANEOUS 
 

Section 8.1.  Successors. 

 
In the event of the dissolution of the City or the Developer or any sale or other transfer of all or 

substantially all of the Project, the covenants, stipulations, promises and Agreement set forth 

herein, by or on behalf of or for the benefit of such party shall bind or inure to the benefit of 

the successors and assigns thereof from time to time and any entity, officer, board, 



15 City of Auburn 
 

 

[ T y p e  t h e  c o m p a n y  a d d r e s s ]   

Page 15 

commission, agency or instrumentality to whom or to which any power or duty of such party 

shall be transferred. 

 
Section 8.2.  Parties in Interest. 

 
Except as herein otherwise specifically provided, nothing in this Agreement expressed or 

implied is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any person, firm or corporation other 

than the City and the Developer any right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this 

Agreement, it being intended that this agreement shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of 

the City and the Developer. 

 

Section 8.3. Non-Severability. 

 
In case any one or more of the material provisions of this agreement shall, for any reason, be 

held to be illegal or invalid, then this Agreement (except Section 8.11 pertaining to 

indemnification) may, at the option of either party, be terminated as of the date on which such 

holding becomes final. To exercise such option, the terminating party shall send written notice 

of termination to the other party within sixty (60) days after the date on which such holding 

becomes final. 

 
Section 8.4. No Personal Liability of Officials of the City. 

 
No covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement of the City contained herein shall be deemed 

to be  a covenant, stipulation or obligation of any present or future elected or appointed 

official, officer, agent, servant or employee of the City in his or her individual capacity and 

neither any member of the City Council, the City Manager or the Assessor of the City, nor any 

registered voter of the City nor any official, officer, employee or agent of the City shall be 

liable personally with respect to this Agreement or be subject to any personal liability or 

accountability by reason hereof. 

 
Section 8.5. Counterparts. 

 
This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which, when so 

executed and delivered, shall be an original, but such counterparts shall together constitute but 

one and the same Agreement. 

 
Section 8.6. Governing Law. 

 
The laws of the State shall govern the construction and enforcement of this agreement in all 

respects. 

 
Section 8.7. Notices. 

 
All notices, certificates, requests, requisitions or other communications by the City or the 

Developer pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be sufficiently given and 

shall deemed given when mailed by first-class mail, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 



16 City of Auburn 
 

 

[ T y p e  t h e  c o m p a n y  a d d r e s s ]   

Page 16 

 
If to the City: 

 
Howard Kroll, City Manager City of Auburn 

60 Court Street, Suite 243 

Auburn, ME 04210 With a copy to: 

Roland Miller, Economic Development Director City of Auburn 

60 Court Street, Suite 102 

Auburn, ME 04210 

 
If to the Developer: 

 
Hartt Transportation Systems, Inc 

PO Box 1385 

Bangor, ME 04402 

 
Either of the parties may, by written notice given to the other, designate any different address 

to its subsequent notices, certificates, requests or other communications shall be sent 

hereunder. 

 

Section 8.8. Amendments. 

 
Neither this Agreement nor the Development Program may be amended without the express 

written consent of the parties hereto. 

 

Section 8.9. Integration. 

 
This Agreement completely and fully supersedes all other prior or contemporaneous 

understandings or agreements, both written and oral, between the City and the Developer 

relating to the specific subject matter of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated 

hereby. 

 

Section 8.10. Authority of the City. 

 
The Developer and the City waive any right to which either may have to contest, and shall not 

take any action to challenge, the other's authority to enter into, perform or enforce the 

Agreement or to carry out the Development Program or the validity or enforceability of this 

Agreement, the District or the Development Program. The City and the Developer shall each 

utilize their respective best efforts to uphold the District, the Development Program, this 

Agreement and the City's authority to enter into this Agreement and the validity and 

enforceability of the District, the Development Program and this Agreement, including without 

limitation opposing, to the extent permitted by law, any litigation or proceeding challenging 

such authority, validity or enforceability. 

 
Section 8.11.  Indemnification. 

 



17 City of Auburn 
 

 

[ T y p e  t h e  c o m p a n y  a d d r e s s ]   

Page 17 

Developer  shall at its own expense defend, indemnify,  and hold  harmless the City, its 

officers, agents, and employees from and against any and all liability, claims, damages, 

penalties,  losses,  expenses,  or judgments  relating  in  any  manner  to  the  District,  the 

Project, the Development  Program or this Agreement  or arising from injury or death to any 

person  or property  damage  sustained  by  anyone  in and  about  the  District  or the Project 

or as a result of activities or services at the Project, resulting from any negligent  · act  or  

omission  of  Developer,  its officers,  agents,  servants,  employees,  or persons  in privities 

with Developer, except to the extent that such injury, death, or property damage results from 

any negligent act or omission of the City, its officers, agents, employees or servants. Developer  

shall,  at  its  own  cost  and  expense,  defend  any  and  all  suits  or actions,  just   or  unjust  

which  may  be  brought  against  City  upon  any  such  above mentioned matter, claim or 

claims, including claims of contractors, employees, laborers, material men, and suppliers.  In 

cases in which the City is a party, the City shall have the right to participate at its own 

discretion and at its own expense and no such suit or action shall be settled without prior 

written consent of the City. 

 

Without limiting the foregoing, the Developer agrees to reimburse any expenses incurred by 

the City in connection with this Agreement, the Project, the Development Program or any 

other instrument executed and delivered by the City in connection with this Agreement or the 

Development Program. 

 

Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, this section shall survive any 

termination of this agreement. 

 

The foregoing indemnification shall not apply to any action brought by the Developer to 

enforce this Agreement or to realize the benefit of this Agreement. 

 
 

Section 8.12. Net Agreement. 

 
This Agreement shall be deemed and construed to be a "net agreement," and the City shall pay 

absolutely net during the term hereof all payments required hereunder, free of any deductions, 

and without abatement, deductions or setoffs; provided, it is understood that the City's payment 

obligations are to be satisfied solely from Retained Tax Increment Revenues actually paid in 

by the Developer and received by the City, and earnings thereon. 

 
Section 8.13.  Benefit of Assignees or Pledges. 

 
The City agrees that this Agreement is executed in part to induce assignees or pledges to 

provide financing for the Project and accordingly all covenants and agreements on the part of 

the City as to the amounts payable hereunder are hereby declared to be for the benefit of any 

such assignee or pledge from time to time of the Developer's right, title and interest herein. 

 
 
  



15  

 

 

 

 

INWITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Auburn and the Developer have executed this Agreement this  

day of ___________, 2014. 

 

 

 

___________________________________ By:__________________________________________ 

Witness        Its City Manager 

 

 

 

 

State of Maine Androscoggin County 

 

Before me personally appeared __________________________ who swore that the above was her true 

fact and deed.  

 

 

 

       _________________________________________ 

       Notary Public 

       My commission expires: _____________________ 

 

 

 

 

__________________________________ By:_____________________________________________ 

Witness      Its President  

       Hartt Transportation Systems, Inc 

 

 

 

 

      Date:________________________________________ 

 

State of Maine 

Androscoggin County 

 

Before me personally appeared ________________________ who swore that the above was her true 

fact and deed.  

 

 

      ______________________________________________ 

      Notary Public 

      My commission expires: _____________________ 

 

 



Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  David Young, At Large 

Adam Lee, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan P. LaBonte, Mayor 

 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

ORDER 102-12152014 

 
ORDERED, that the City Manager is authorized to execute all documents and submit #19 Hartt Transportation 

Industrial Park Omnibus Municipal Tax Increment Finance District to the State of Maine Department of 

Economic & Community Development. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



City Council 

Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

 

  

 
 

 

Subject: Automobile Graveyard/Junkyard permit for Morris Auto 

 

Information: It has taken some time to get the property in compliance but the owner has made substantial 

operating improvements over the past few months.  Attached is a staff memo with additional information.   

 

Advantages: Allow the property owner a chance to prove that he can continue operate in compliance over the 

next 9 +/- months and avoid the legal fees associated with enforcement to penalize the operator for past failures 

to comply.   

 

Disadvantages:  We won’t recoup existing staff and minimal legal costs and the owner may fail to comply in 

the future. We have projects that require our attention and pursuing enforcement on this one would not be the 

best use of staff time.   

 

City Budgetary Impacts: Avoid further expenses.   

 

Staff Recommended Action: Approve the license for the remainder of the year and make it clear to the owner 

that we will conduct random inspections and take action if needed.   

 

Previous Meetings and History: The public hearing and Automobile Graveyard/Junkyard permit renewal for 

Morris Auto went before Council on September 22, 2014 and due to on-going violations, the permit was denied. 

After working diligently with the applicant, he is finally in compliance. 

 

Attachments:  

Memo from Eric Cousens 

30-A Sec. 3753 

30-A Sec. 3754 

30-A Sec. 3756 

Public hearing ad 

Order 103-12152014 

Council Workshop or Meeting Date: 12-15-2014  Order  103-12152014 

Author:   Sue Clements-Dallaire 













Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  Joshua Shea, At Large 

David Young, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan LaBonte, Mayor 

 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

ORDER 103-12152014 
 

   
ORDERED, that the City Council hereby approves the request for an Auto Graveyard/Junkyard permit for Morris 

Auto Parts, 940 Washington Street North. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



City Council 

Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

 

  Council Meeting Date: 12/15/2014  

 

  Subject: Executive Session  

 

Information: Discussion regarding a real estate matter, pursuant to 1 M.R.S.A. Section 405(6)(C). 

 
Executive Session:  On occasion, the City Council discusses matters which are required or allowed by State law to be considered in executive 

session.  Executive sessions are not open to the public.  The matters that are discussed in executive session are required to be kept confidential 

until they become a matter of public discussion.  In order to go into executive session, a Councilor must make a motion in public.  The motion 

must be recorded, and 3/5 of the members of the Council must vote to go into executive session.  An executive session is not required to be 

scheduled in advance as an agenda item, although when it is known at the time that the agenda is finalized, it will be listed on the agenda. The 

only topics which may be discussed in executive session are those that fall within one of the categories set forth in Title 1 M.R.S.A. Section 

405(6).  Those applicable to municipal government are: 

 

A. Discussion or consideration of the employment, appointment, assignment, duties, promotion, demotion, compensation, evaluation, 

disciplining, resignation or dismissal of an individual or group of public officials, appointees or employees of the body or agency or the 

investigation or hearing of charges or complaints against a person or persons subject to the following conditions:  

(1) An executive session may be held only if public discussion could be reasonably expected to cause damage to the individual's 

reputation or the individual's right to privacy would be violated; 

(2) Any person charged or investigated must be permitted to be present at an executive session if that person so desires; 

(3) Any person charged or investigated may request in writing that the investigation or hearing of charges or complaints against that 

person be conducted in open session. A request, if made to the agency, must be honored; and  

(4) Any person bringing charges, complaints or allegations of misconduct against the individual under discussion must be permitted to be 

present. 

This paragraph does not apply to discussion of a budget or budget proposal;  

 

B. Discussion or consideration by a school board of suspension or expulsion of a public school student or a student at a private school, the 

cost of whose education is paid from public funds, as long as:  

(1) The student and legal counsel and, if the student is a minor, the student's parents or legal guardians are permitted to be present at an 

executive session if the student, parents or guardians so desire;  

 

C. Discussion or consideration of the condition, acquisition or the use of real or personal property permanently attached to real property 

or interests therein or disposition of publicly held property or economic development only if premature disclosures of the information would 

prejudice the competitive or bargaining position of the body or agency;  

 

D. Discussion of labor contracts and proposals and meetings between a public agency and its negotiators. The parties must be named 

before the body or agency may go into executive session. Negotiations between the representatives of a public employer and public employees 

may be open to the public if both parties agree to conduct negotiations in open sessions;  

 

E. Consultations between a body or agency and its attorney concerning the legal rights and duties of the body or agency, pending or 

contemplated litigation, settlement offers and matters where the duties of the public body's or agency's counsel to the attorney's client pursuant 

to the code of professional responsibility clearly conflict with this subchapter or where premature general public knowledge would clearly place 

the State, municipality or other public agency or person at a substantial disadvantage;  

 

F. Discussions of information contained in records made, maintained or received by a body or agency when access by the general public 

to those records is prohibited by statute; 

 

G. Discussion or approval of the content of examinations administered by a body or agency for licensing, permitting or employment 

purposes; consultation between a body or agency and any entity that provides examination services to that body or agency regarding the content 

of an examination; and review of examinations with the person examined; and  

 

H. Consultations between municipal officers and a code enforcement officer representing the municipality pursuant to Title 30-A, section 

4452, subsection 1, paragraph C in the prosecution of an enforcement matter pending in District Court when the consultation relates to that 

pending enforcement matter.  



City Council 

Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

 

  Council Meeting Date: 12/15/2014  

 

  Subject: Executive Session  

 

Information: Discussion regarding a real labor contracts, pursuant to 1 M.R.S.A. Section 405(6)(D). 

 
Executive Session:  On occasion, the City Council discusses matters which are required or allowed by State law to be considered in executive 

session.  Executive sessions are not open to the public.  The matters that are discussed in executive session are required to be kept confidential 

until they become a matter of public discussion.  In order to go into executive session, a Councilor must make a motion in public.  The motion 

must be recorded, and 3/5 of the members of the Council must vote to go into executive session.  An executive session is not required to be 

scheduled in advance as an agenda item, although when it is known at the time that the agenda is finalized, it will be listed on the agenda. The 

only topics which may be discussed in executive session are those that fall within one of the categories set forth in Title 1 M.R.S.A. Section 

405(6).  Those applicable to municipal government are: 

 

A. Discussion or consideration of the employment, appointment, assignment, duties, promotion, demotion, compensation, evaluation, 

disciplining, resignation or dismissal of an individual or group of public officials, appointees or employees of the body or agency or the 

investigation or hearing of charges or complaints against a person or persons subject to the following conditions:  

(1) An executive session may be held only if public discussion could be reasonably expected to cause damage to the individual's 

reputation or the individual's right to privacy would be violated; 

(2) Any person charged or investigated must be permitted to be present at an executive session if that person so desires; 

(3) Any person charged or investigated may request in writing that the investigation or hearing of charges or complaints against that 

person be conducted in open session. A request, if made to the agency, must be honored; and  

(4) Any person bringing charges, complaints or allegations of misconduct against the individual under discussion must be permitted to be 

present. 

This paragraph does not apply to discussion of a budget or budget proposal;  

 

B. Discussion or consideration by a school board of suspension or expulsion of a public school student or a student at a private school, the 

cost of whose education is paid from public funds, as long as:  

(1) The student and legal counsel and, if the student is a minor, the student's parents or legal guardians are permitted to be present at an 

executive session if the student, parents or guardians so desire;  

 

C. Discussion or consideration of the condition, acquisition or the use of real or personal property permanently attached to real property 

or interests therein or disposition of publicly held property or economic development only if premature disclosures of the information would 

prejudice the competitive or bargaining position of the body or agency;  

 

D. Discussion of labor contracts and proposals and meetings between a public agency and its negotiators. The parties must be named 

before the body or agency may go into executive session. Negotiations between the representatives of a public employer and public employees 

may be open to the public if both parties agree to conduct negotiations in open sessions;  

 

E. Consultations between a body or agency and its attorney concerning the legal rights and duties of the body or agency, pending or 

contemplated litigation, settlement offers and matters where the duties of the public body's or agency's counsel to the attorney's client pursuant 

to the code of professional responsibility clearly conflict with this subchapter or where premature general public knowledge would clearly place 

the State, municipality or other public agency or person at a substantial disadvantage;  

 

F. Discussions of information contained in records made, maintained or received by a body or agency when access by the general public 

to those records is prohibited by statute; 

 

G. Discussion or approval of the content of examinations administered by a body or agency for licensing, permitting or employment 

purposes; consultation between a body or agency and any entity that provides examination services to that body or agency regarding the content 

of an examination; and review of examinations with the person examined; and  

 

H. Consultations between municipal officers and a code enforcement officer representing the municipality pursuant to Title 30-A, section 

4452, subsection 1, paragraph C in the prosecution of an enforcement matter pending in District Court when the consultation relates to that 

pending enforcement matter.  


	Agenda
	Workshop Item A - Audit Presentation
	Workshop Item B - Norway Savings Bank Arena Update
	Consent Item 1 - FY14 CAFR
	November 24, 2014 Minutes
	December 1, 2014 Minutes
	November Finance Report 
	Communication - Letter from Sabattus Selectmen
	Unfinished Business - Proposed Ordinance Ammendment
	New Business - Jasmine Cafe Special Amusement Permit
	New Business - Hartt Transportation TIF
	New Business - Morris Auto Parts Junkyard Permit



